WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC Form PREM14A February 14, 2007 Table of Contents

## **UNITED STATES**

## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# **SCHEDULE 14A**

## (RULE 14A-101)

## INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT

# **SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

### Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant x Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

- x Preliminary Proxy Statement
- " Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- " Definitive Proxy Statement
- " Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material Pursuant to § 240.14a-12

### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box)

- " No fee required
- x Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
- Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
- (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 19,568,641 shares of common stock of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
- (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

The filling fee is based on (i) \$8.9531, the negotiated per-share price for common stock of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., multiplied by (ii) 19,568,641, the number of shares of common stock of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. to be issued, multiplied by (iii) 0.000107, the merger consideration multiplier in accordance with Section 14(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

- (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$175,200,000
- (5) Total fee paid: \$18,746.40
- " Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- " Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

## Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

- (1) Amount Previously Paid:
- (2) Form, Schedule or Registration No.:
- (3) Filing Party:
- (4) Date Filed:

#### **Preliminary Copy**

#### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### 6200 The Corners Parkway

#### Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365

\_\_\_\_\_, 2007

Dear Stockholder:

On February 5, 2007, we sent you a letter that addressed a number of important matters. Included in these matters was an agreement to acquire or internalize our third-party advisor companies which provide the day-to-day operations for Wells REIT.

Enclosed is a letter from the Chairman of the Special Committee of our Board of Directors, a proxy statement that explains these matters in detail, a notice of a special stockholders meeting, and a proxy card so that you may vote on four important proposals.

We encourage you to read all of these documents carefully and to vote on these four proposals as soon as possible. The deadline for receiving your vote is \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007. Remember, your individual vote is very important.

For more information and to hear directly from Donald Moss, one of the independent directors of our Board, please visit our Web site at <u>www.wellsreit.com</u>. As always, if you have questions, please contact your financial representative or the Wells Client Services Department at 800-557-4830 or send an e-mail to <u>investor.services@wellsref.com</u>.

Thank you for your continued trust and confidence as a Wells REIT investor.

Sincerely,

Leo F. Wells, III

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

Enclosures

#### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### 6200 The Corners Parkway

#### Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365

To Our Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting of Stockholders of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. to be held on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007, at The Atlanta Athletic Club, 1930 Bobby Jones Drive, Duluth, Georgia 30097 at 1:30 p.m. Eastern time (such meeting, and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the Special Meeting ). Our board of directors (the Board ) and officers look forward to greeting you personally. Enclosed for your review are the proxy card, proxy statement, and notice setting forth the business to come before the Special Meeting.

At the Special Meeting, you are being asked to consider and vote on the following four proposals:

The Internalization Proposal. A proposal to approve the internalization of the Advisor (defined below) with and into Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (which we refer to in the accompanying proxy statement as the Internalization Proposal ) by approving the Definitive Merger Agreement (defined below) and the transactions contemplated thereby (which we refer to in the proxy statement as both the Internalization and the Internalization Transaction ). Since we commenced operations in 1998, our day-to-day operations, including investment analysis, acquisitions, financings, development, due diligence, asset management, property management and certain administrative services, such as financial, tax and regulatory compliance reporting, have been provided by Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital) and Wells Management Company, Inc. (Wells Management), both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (Wells REF), pursuant to certain advisory, asset management and property management agreements. Such advisory, asset management and property management agreements have since been transferred and contributed to Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. (WREAS), and WREAS is currently responsible for providing the services formerly rendered to us by Wells Management and Wells Capital. In addition, certain of our properties having primarily government tenants are being managed by Wells Government Services, Inc. (WGS). WREAS and WGS are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells Advisory Services I, LLC ( WASI ) (references to the Advisor in the accompanying proxy statement include, collectively, WREAS, WGS and their predecessors, as applicable, including those portions of the operations of Wells Capital and Wells Management which previously provided advisory and management services to us under such advisory, asset management and property management agreements). In the Internalization, all of the outstanding shares of the capital stock of WREAS and WGS will be exchanged for a total consideration of \$175 million, comprised entirely of 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (the Internalization Consideration ), which constitutes approximately 4.2% of our currently outstanding common stock. Wells Capital will also exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units in Wells OP for 22,339 shares of our common stock as part of the Internalization Transaction. Upon consummation of the Internalization, WREAS and WGS will be our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the Advisor s employees will become our employees. In connection with the Internalization, we will no longer pay the fees and expense reimbursements associated with our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of our property management agreements to our external advisors, and we will become self-advised. Our executive officers and certain of our directors, including our new Chief Executive Officer and President, Donald A. Miller, CFA, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers collectively own economic interests in WASI, which is the sole stockholder of WREAS and WGS, and will

- 1 -

indirectly receive as a result of the Internalization an aggregate of approximately \$168 million in shares of our common stock valued at the same per-share amount used to determine the amount of shares to be issued to WASI as the Internalization Consideration. Even if approved by our stockholders, the Internalization Proposal will not be implemented unless other conditions to the Internalization are satisfied. We may waive certain of these conditions in our sole discretion;

*The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of an amendment and restatement of our articles of incorporation (the Articles ), in order to modify certain provisions to reflect that we have become self-advised (the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal ). Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs;

*The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of a further amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will become effective in the event of a future listing of our common stock, if any, on a national securities exchange or quotation of our common stock by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. or an over-the-counter market (the Listing ), to modify certain provisions to conform more closely to the charters of other real estate investment trusts ( REITs ) whose securities are publicly traded and listed ( Listed REITs ) (the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal ). There can be no assurance that we will determine to list our common stock or, if we make such determination, that we will successfully list our common stock. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs and until shortly before a Listing, if any, of our common stock;

*The Incentive Plan Proposal.* Approval and adoption of our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Incentive Plan Proposal ). If approved, this proposal will be implemented regardless of whether the other proposals being considered at the Special Meeting are approved by our stockholders; and

*Other Proposals.* Any other matters that properly may be presented at the Special Meeting including proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting with respect to proposals for which insufficient votes to approve were cast and, with respect to any such proposals, to permit further solicitation of additional proxies by our Board.

The accompanying proxy statement contains a more complete description of the Internalization Proposal, certain potential conflicts of interest that may exist among us, our executive officers and some of our directors, and the Advisor and its stockholders, and each of the other proposals described above. A copy of the merger agreement dated as of February 2, 2007 by and among us and WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS, WGS, and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, WRT Acquisition Company, LLC and WGS Acquisition Company, LLC (the Definitive Merger Agreement ), the operative document which describes the material terms of the Internalization, is attached as **Appendix A** to

the accompanying proxy statement. We urge you to carefully review the accompanying proxy statement and appendices, which discuss each of the proposals in more detail.

#### **Benefits of Internalization and Potential Listing**

We believe that converting from our current externally advised structure to a self-advised or internally advised management structure would result in many important benefits, including:

Improving our financial operations based upon our belief that an Internalization Transaction would be accretive over time to our earnings per share and our funds from operations (FFO) per share as a result of the reduction in operating costs that will result from us no longer having to pay advisory, property management and other fees and expense reimbursements to our external advisors under our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of

our property management agreements (FFO generally means the amount of a company s net earnings after taxes adjusted to include real estate depreciation and amortization for a specified period of time). No assurances can be given, however, that any such accretion in our earnings per share or FFO per share would actually occur;

Establishing an internal management team which would be fully dedicated and solely focused on our Company s strategic plans for enhancing stockholder value;

Better positioning us for a future Listing, partially based on our belief that there is a perception in the marketplace that an internalized structure, among other things, achieves a better alignment of interests between management and the stockholders and eliminates certain conflicts of interest associated with having an external advisor. No assurances can be given, however, that a Listing will actually occur or, if it did occur, that being self-advised would result in a more successful Listing; and

Improving retention of our key management personnel, as we anticipate that our key management personnel will have an equity stake in our company.

In connection with considering a potential Internalization Transaction, our Board also considered the benefits of a potential Listing, including, among other things, creating significantly greater liquidity for our stockholders, increasing our stockholders autonomy in connection with the management of their cash and tax positions, allowing us greater access to capital markets to fund our future growth, and enabling us to pursue certain growth strategies. In addition, our current Articles require that, in the event a Listing does not occur on or before January 30, 2008, we are required to immediately undertake an orderly liquidation and sale of our assets and distribute the net sales proceeds from such liquidation to our stockholders. Based on these factors, we intend to consider a Listing following the consummation of the Internalization Transaction, if and when market conditions and other circumstances make it desirable or it is otherwise in the best interests of our stockholders to do so. No assurance can be given that, if a determination is made to List, we will be able to successfully implement a Listing or that market conditions existing in the future will make it desirable for us to do so. While we believe that the Internalization Transaction should help facilitate a Listing, the Internalization Transaction we are proposing is not contingent upon the completion of a Listing. Even if a Listing does occur, an active trading market for our common stock may not develop or, if it does develop initially, may not be sustained. Further, the price at which our common stock may trade in the future is unknown.

We believe any future Listing will be more likely to be successful if we are self-advised. A vast majority of Listed REITs, including REITs like us that own predominantly office and industrial commercial properties, are self-advised. We believe the prevalence of the self-advised model reflects a marketplace preference for Listed REITs that are self-advised and that, if our common stock were Listed, investors and market analysts would view us more favorably if we were self-advised, as opposed to being externally advised. If the Board elects to pursue a Listing, no further stockholder action would be required to do so.

The Internalization, which our Board is recommending for your approval, will be effectuated pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement. In connection with the Internalization, we have entered into an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer and President, and may enter into other employment agreements with one or more other individuals associated with the Advisor or its affiliates, including an individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers.

Our executive officers and certain of our directors are affiliates of the Advisor and own interests in WASI, the parent of WREAS and WGS. These relationships result in those officers and directors having material financial interests in the Internalization. In part, to address these potential conflicts of interest and to satisfy certain requirements contained in our Articles, our Board formed a special

- 3 -

committee consisting of four of our independent directors, who are not our officers and who have no financial interest in the Advisor or in the consideration paid in connection with the Internalization (the Special Committee ). The Special Committee was authorized, among other things: to evaluate and investigate certain future strategic alternatives available to us, including, among other things, potentially becoming internally advised via the acquisition of, or merger with, certain of the real estate acquisition, disposition, property and asset management and support businesses currently conducted and provided to us by Wells REF and its affiliates; to consider and negotiate the terms of any such transaction; and to make a recommendation to the Board on whether to pursue any such transaction. In evaluating the Internalization, the Special Committee engaged and consulted with its own legal and financial advisors and considered various factors which are more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement.

In anticipation of the Internalization, we are proposing to amend and restate our Articles to reflect that we will be self-advised effective on the closing of the Internalization. To facilitate a possible future Listing, we are proposing a second set of amendments to our Articles that would become effective only upon consummation of a Listing, to conform more closely with the charters of other Listed REITs. In connection with these amendments to our Articles, we also will amend our bylaws (the Bylaws ) in order to make certain conforming and other changes; however, such changes to our Bylaws will not require action by our stockholders.

Additionally, in anticipation of the Internalization, our Board has authorized, and is recommending that you approve, the adoption of a 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. This plan was established by the Special Committee and our newly established compensation committee, which worked with an employment compensation consultant to survey and study the market compensation ranges of our competitors, and is designed to help us to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified individuals and more directly align the interests of our management with those of our stockholders. Certain employment agreements with our senior management following the Internalization will provide, among other things, for long-term incentive compensation awards that will be paid pursuant to the plan we are proposing for adoption. If the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is not approved by our stockholders, it could materially adversely affect our ability to retain senior management and attract qualified replacements and other personnel.

Our Board recommends that you vote **FOR** each of the proposals to be considered and voted on at the Special Meeting (Messrs. Leo F. Wells, III and Douglas P. Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization, recused themselves from consideration of the Board s recommendation with respect to the Internalization Proposal).

**Your vote is very important.** Regardless of the number of shares of our common stock that you own, it is very important that your shares be represented at the Special Meeting. You may authorize your proxy over the Internet, as well as by telephone or by mailing a proxy card. Authorizing your proxy over the Internet, by telephone, or by written proxy will ensure your representation at the Special Meeting if you choose not to attend in person. Please complete the proxy card and return it in the accompanying postage-paid envelope or grant your proxy by telephone or over the Internet, even if you plan to attend the Special Meeting. If you attend the Special Meeting in person, you may, if you wish, withdraw your proxy and vote in person.

#### BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

W. Wayne Woody Independent Director of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. Chairman of the Special Committee

Atlanta, Georgia

\_\_\_\_\_, 2007

- 4 -

#### NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING

#### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

6200 The Corners Parkway

Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365

**Proxy Statement and** 

Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders

To Be Held \_\_\_\_\_, 2007

To Our Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting of Stockholders of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. to be held on \_\_\_\_\_\_2007, at The Atlanta Athletic Club, 1930 Bobby Jones Drive, Duluth, Georgia 30097 at 1:30 p.m. Eastern time (such meeting, and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the Special Meeting ).

At the Special Meeting, you are being asked to consider and vote on the following four proposals:

*The Internalization Proposal.* A proposal to approve the internalization of the Advisor (defined in the proxy statement) with and into Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (which we refer to in the accompanying proxy statement as the Internalization Proposal ) by approving the Definitive Merger Agreement (defined in the proxy statement) and the transactions contemplated thereby (which we refer to as both the Internalization and the Internalization Transaction ). In the Internalization, all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of WREAS and WGS (as each is defined in the proxy statement) will be exchanged for a total consideration of \$175 million, comprised entirely of 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (the Internalization Consideration ). Upon consummation of the Internalization, WREAS and WGS will be our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and we will become self-advised. Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Merger Agreement, approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon (excluding for this purpose shares of common stock beneficially owned by any affiliates of Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc., Wells Capital, Inc., Wells Management Company, Inc. or Wells Advisory Services I, LLC). Even if approved by our stockholders, the Internalization Proposal will not be implemented unless other conditions to the Internalization are satisfied. We may waive certain of these conditions in our sole discretion;

*The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of an amendment and restatement of our articles of incorporation (the Articles ), in order to modify certain provisions to reflect that we have become self-managed and self-advised (the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal ). Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs;

*The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of a further amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will become effective in the event of a future listing of our common stock, if any, on a national securities exchange or quotation of our common stock by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. or an over-the-counter market (the Listing ), to modify certain provisions to conform more closely to the charters of other real estate investment trusts whose securities are publicly traded and listed (the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal ). Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our

outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon. There can be no assurance that we will determine to list our common stock or, if we make such determination, that we will successfully list our common stock. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs and until shortly before a Listing, if any, of our common stock;

*The Incentive Plan Proposal.* Approval and adoption of our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Incentive Plan Proposal ). Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock represented in person or by proxy at the Special Meeting and actually voted on the matter (a majority of votes cast), so long as the total votes cast represent at least 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. If approved, this proposal will be implemented regardless of whether the other proposals being considered at the Special Meeting are approved by our stockholders; and

*Other Proposals.* Any other matters that properly may be presented at the Special Meeting including proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting with respect to proposals for which insufficient votes to approve were cast and, with respect to any such proposals, to permit further solicitation of additional proxies by our Board.

These items of business are described for you in detail in the accompanying proxy statement. We encourage you to read the proxy statement, and the documents attached as appendices to the proxy statement, carefully and in their entirety. Only holders of record of our shares of common stock at the close of business on \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007 will be entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Special Meeting or at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

You are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting in person. All stockholders, whether or not they plan to attend the Special Meeting, are requested to complete, date and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it promptly in the envelope provided. You also may authorize your proxy by telephone or via the Internet by following the instructions on the proxy card. **It is important that your shares be voted.** By returning your proxy promptly, you can help us avoid additional expenses by helping to ensure that a quorum is met so the Special Meeting can be held. If you decide to attend the Special Meeting, you may revoke your proxy and vote your shares of common stock in person.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Leo F. Wells, III Chairman

Atlanta, Georgia

\_\_\_\_\_, 2007

- 2 -

#### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### 6200 The Corners Parkway

#### Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365

#### PROXY STATEMENT

#### **General Information**

This proxy statement is furnished by the board of directors (the Board ) of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation, in connection with the solicitation by our Board of proxies to be voted at the Special Meeting of Stockholders to be held on \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007, at The Atlanta Athletic Club, 1930 Bobby Jones Drive, Duluth, Georgia 30097 at 1:30 p.m. Eastern time (such meeting, and any adjournments or postponements thereof, the Special Meeting ) for the purposes set forth herein and in the accompanying Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders. Only holders of record of our shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share (our shares of common stock ), at the close of business on \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007 (the Record Date ) will be entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Special Meeting. This proxy statement and the proxy card are first being mailed on or about \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007 to stockholders of record as of the Record Date.

As of the Record Date, \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ of our shares of common stock were outstanding and entitled to vote. Each share of common stock entitles the holder thereof to one vote on each of the matters to be voted upon at the Special Meeting. Pursuant to our charter (the Articles ), our directors and officers and their respective affiliates will be prohibited from voting on the Internalization Proposal (as defined below).

#### **Proxy and Voting Procedures**

Any proxy, if received in time, properly signed and not revoked, will be voted at the Special Meeting in accordance with the directions of the stockholder granting the proxy. If no directions are specified, the proxy will be voted **FOR**:

*The Internalization Proposal.* A proposal to approve the internalization of the Advisor (defined below) with and into Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (which we refer to as the Internalization Proposal ). Since we commenced operations in 1998, our day-to-day operations, including investment analysis, acquisitions, financings, development, due diligence, asset management, property management and certain administrative services, such as financial, tax and regulatory compliance reporting, have been provided by Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital ) and Wells Management Company, Inc. (Wells Management ), both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (Wells REF ), pursuant to certain advisory, asset management and property management agreements. Such advisory, asset management and property management agreements have since been transferred and contributed to Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. (WREAS ), and WREAS is currently responsible for providing the services formerly rendered to us by Wells Government Services, Inc. (WGS ). WREAS and WGS are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells Advisory Services I, LLC (WASI ) (references to the Advisor in this proxy statement include, collectively, WREAS, WGS and their predecessors, as applicable, including those portions of the operations of Wells Capital and Wells Management services to us under such advisory, asset management and property management which previously provided advisory and management services to us under such advisory, asset management and property management which previously provided advisory and management services to us under such advisory, asset management and property management agreements). In the Internalization, all of the outstanding shares of the capital stock of WREAS and WGS will be exchanged for a total consideration of \$175 million, comprised

i

entirely of 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (the Internalization Consideration ), which constitutes approximately 4.2% of our currently outstanding common stock. In connection with the Internalization, Wells Capital will also exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units in our operating partnership, Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), for 22,339 shares of our common stock. Upon consummation of the Internalization, WREAS and WGS will be our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the Advisor s employees will become our employees. In connection with the Internalization, we will no longer pay the fees and expense reimbursements associated with our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of our directors, including our new Chief Executive Officer and President, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers, through their ownership of economic interests in WASI, collectively own economic interests in the Advisor and will indirectly receive as a result of the Internalization an aggregate of approximately \$168 million in shares of our common stock valued at the same per-share amount used to determine the amount of shares to be issued to WASI as Internalization Consideration. Even if approved by our stockholders, the Internalization Proposal will not be implemented unless other conditions to the Internalization are satisfied. We may waive certain of these conditions in our sole discretion;

*The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of an amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will become effective upon consummation of the Internalization, to modify certain provisions to reflect that we have become self-managed and self-advised (the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal). Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs. Further, our Board reserves the right not to implement the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is, prior to such implementation, our Board determines that the implementation of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not in our best interest;

*The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.* Approval of a further amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will only become effective in the event of a future listing of our common stock, if any, on a national securities exchange, including the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the NYSE ), or quotation of our common stock by The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (the NASDAQ ) or an over-the-counter market (the Listing ) to modify certain provisions to conform more closely to the charters of other real estate investment trusts ( REITs ) whose securities are publicly traded and listed ( Listed REITs ) (the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal ). There can be no assurance that we will determine to list our common stock or, if we make such determination, that we will successfully list our common stock. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs and until shortly before a Listing, if any, of our common stock. Further, our Board reserves the right not to implement the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal even if it is approved by our stockholders if, prior to such implementation, our Board determines that the implementation of the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not in our best interest; and

*The Incentive Plan Proposal.* Approval and adoption of our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Incentive Plan Proposal ). If approved, this proposal will be implemented regardless of whether the other proposals being considered at the Special Meeting are approved by our stockholders.

Unless otherwise specified, a proxy also will confer authority on the persons named therein to vote in their discretion on any other matters that properly may be presented at the Special Meeting, including proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting in respect of proposals for which insufficient votes to

ii

approve were cast in order to permit solicitation of additional proxies by our Board in respect of those proposals.

Our Board unanimously recommends that you vote **FOR** each of the proposals to be considered and voted on at the Special Meeting (Messrs. Leo F. Wells, III and Douglas P. Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization, recused themselves from consideration of the Board s recommendation with respect to the Internalization Proposal).

#### **Appraisal Rights**

Under Maryland law and our Articles, you will not be entitled to rights of appraisal with respect to the Internalization Proposal. Accordingly, to the extent that you object to the Internalization Proposal, you will not have the right to have a court judicially determine (and you will not receive) the fair value for your shares of common stock under the provisions of Maryland law governing appraisal rights. However, if you do not vote in favor of Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and otherwise comply with the relevant statutory provisions of Maryland law governing appraisal rights, you may be entitled to rights of appraisal under Maryland law with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. Because we are not aware of any applicable authority as to whether amendments to our Articles such as those contemplated by the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would be deemed to substantially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder, in the event you wish to make your own determination of whether you have rights of appraisal with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we encourage you to consider applicable Maryland law and to consider engaging Maryland counsel. We reserve the right to challenge your determination, if any, as to whether rights of appraisal exist in connection with the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal Rights Statute. See also **Appendix G** hereto, which sets forth the relevant statutory provisions.

#### Proxies

You can revoke any proxy you previously gave at any time before votes are tabulated at the Special Meeting (1) by delivering a written statement to Douglas P. Williams, our secretary (the Secretary ), expressly stating that the proxy is revoked, (2) by completing and properly executing a new proxy card that is dated later than the date of your prior proxy card and delivering it to our Secretary at or before the Special Meeting, or (3) by attending the Special Meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the Special Meeting will not, in and of itself, constitute revocation of a proxy.

A proxy card is enclosed for your use. The proxy card contains instructions for responding either by telephone, by Internet or by mail. Votes cast in person or by proxy at the Special Meeting will be tabulated and a determination will be made as to whether or not a quorum is present by the inspectors of election appointed for the Special Meeting. The presence, in person or by proxy, of stockholders entitled to cast at least 50% of the votes entitled to be cast by all stockholders as of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007 will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting.

We will treat abstentions as shares that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum. With respect to the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, abstentions will have the effect of a vote cast against the proposal. With respect to the Incentive Plan Proposal, abstentions will have no effect, provided that the total votes cast represent at least 50% of the shares

iii

entitled to vote. If the total votes cast on the Incentive Plan Proposal represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote, abstentions would have the effect of a vote against the Incentive Plan Proposal.

If a broker returns an executed proxy card, but marks the card to reflect a withholding of voting authority on matters as to which the broker is not permitted to vote (a broker non-vote ), the holder of the shares of common stock covered by the proxy card will be treated as present for quorum purposes. The effect of broker non-votes on voting will be as follows: (1) with respect to the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, broker non-votes will have the effect of a vote cast against the proposal; and (2) with respect to the Incentive Plan Proposal, broker non-votes will have no effect, provided that the total votes cast represent at least 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the Special Meeting, but if the total votes cast represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the special Meeting, but if the total votes cast represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the special Meeting, but if the total votes cast represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the special Meeting or a nintent to abstain as to any matter, the shares represented by that proxy card will be considered present for quorum purposes and those shares will be voted on such matters in accordance with the recommendations of our Board or, in the absence of such a recommendation, in the proxy holder s discretion.

Our Special Meeting may be adjourned with respect to proposals for which insufficient votes to approve were cast. With respect to proposals for which an insufficient number of votes to approve are received, our Board may continue to solicit proxies. For those proposals for which sufficient votes to approve have been received, we may take such action contained therein.

#### Solicitation Expenses

We will pay all the costs of soliciting these proxies. In addition to these mailed proxy materials, employees of our affiliates and The Bank of New York, our proxy solicitor, may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone, or by other means of communication. Employees of affiliates will not be paid any additional compensation for soliciting proxies, and The Bank of New York will be paid an administrative fee of approximately \$4,000 and \$0.22 per phone vote and \$0.07 per Internet vote, plus out-of-pocket expenses for its basic solicitation services, which include review of proxy materials, dissemination of brokers search cards, distribution of proxy materials, solicitation of brokers, banks, and institutional holders, and delivery of executed proxies. We may also reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding proxy and solicitation materials to beneficial owners.

#### Where to Obtain More Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ). We file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy these reports, proxy statements and other information at the SEC s Public Reference Section at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website, located at <u>www.sec.gov</u>, that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding companies and individuals that file electronically with the SEC.

The information contained in this proxy statement speaks only as of the date indicated on the cover of this proxy statement unless the information specifically indicates that another date applies. The information that we later file with the SEC may update and supersede the information in this proxy statement.

iv

#### **Important Note**

No person is authorized to make any representation with respect to the matters described in this proxy statement other than those contained herein and, if given or made, such representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us, the Advisor or any other person or entity. This proxy statement provides you with detailed information about the proposals to be considered and voted upon at the Special Meeting. The information in this proxy statement is current as of the date of this proxy statement. Stockholders are urged to carefully review this proxy statement, including the accompanying appendices, which discuss each of the proposals to be considered and voted upon at the Special Meeting in more detail.

We encourage you to carefully review the section of this proxy statement captioned Risk Factors beginning on page 27, which describes certain factors which should be considered in evaluating the Internalization Proposal and the other proposals to be voted on at the Special Meeting.

The date of this proxy statement is \_\_\_\_\_, 2007.

v

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING	1
SUMMARY OF THE INTERNALIZATION PROPOSAL 1	5
RISK FACTORS 2	27
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF THE ADVISOR 3	34
Overview3Critical Accounting Policies3Liquidity and Capital Resources3	85 85 86
	86
COMPARATIVE PER-SHARE DATA OF THE COMPANY AND THE ADVISOR         3	88
Our Company         3           Our Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements         4	89 89 10 12
Management Agreements4Reasons for Internalization and Potential Listing4Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction4Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors5	13 14 15 54
	57 57
Payment of Internalization Consideration 6	57 57 58
Acquisition of Property Management Offices and Property Management Agreements         6           Conduct of Business Prior to Closing         6	58 58 59 71
Covenants Relating to Dividends       7         Covenants Concerning Post-Closing Employment Arrangements       7         Post-Closing Covenants       7	73 73 73
Representations and Warranties       7         Indemnification       8	75 78 81
Expenses       8         Temporary License to use the Name Wells       8	34 35 35
Ancillary Agreements Related to Internalization       8         Escrow Agreement       8	35 36 36 37

Transition Services Agreement	88
Support Services Agreement	90
Registration Rights Agreement	91
Headquarters Sublease Agreement	93
Our New Chief Executive Officer and President	95
Employment Agreements	96
Certain Financial and Other Information Regarding the Internalization	97
Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations	97
Regulatory Matters	100
Common Share Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	101
No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Internalization Proposal	102
Vote Required to Approve the Internalization Proposal	102
Consequences of Failure to Approve the Internalization or if the Internalization Otherwise Does Not Occur	102
Consequences of Fundre to Hpp10+e the Internation of It the Internation Other Hise Does Not Occur	
PROPOSAL II: THE PRE-LISTING CHARTER AMENDMENT PROPOSAL	103
Introduction	103
Amendments to Our Existing Articles Reflect That We Will Become Self-Advised if the Internalization Proposal Is Approved	103
Amendments to Our Existing Articles Relating to Amendments	104
Conforming Changes and Other Ministerial Modifications	105
Appraisal Rights	105
Vote Required	105
Consequences of Failure to Approve the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal	106
PROPOSAL III: THE POST-LISTING CHARTER AMENDMENT PROPOSAL	107
Introduction	107
Amendments to Our Articles to Conform More Closely to Charters of Listed REITs	107
Miscellaneous Modifications	111
Conforming Changes and Other Ministerial Modifications	112
Appraisal Rights	112
Conforming Amendments to Our Bylaws	112
Reverse Stock Split	113
Vote Required	113
Consequences of Failure to Approve the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal	113
consequences of Fandre to Approve the Fost-Eisting Charter Amendment Froposar	114
PROPOSAL IV: THE INCENTIVE PLAN PROPOSAL	115
Summary of the Plan	115
Awards Under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan	116
Performance Goals	118
Adjustments in General; Certain Change-in-Control Provisions	118
Amendment and Termination	119
Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	119
No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Incentive Plan Proposal	121
Vote Required	121
Consequences of Failure to Approve the Incentive Plan Proposal	121
Compensation of Our Executive Officers and Directors	122
Outstanding Soliciting Dealer Warrants	126
WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.	127

vii

BUSINESS General	127 127
Real Estate Investment Objectives	127
Financing Objectives Operating Objectives	128 128
Employees	129
Insurance	129
Competition Litization Against Poloted Portion	129 129
Litigation Against Related Parties	
PROPERTIES	130 130
<u>Overview</u> Property Statistics	130
<u>Certain Restrictions Related to our Properties</u>	130
Unconsolidated Joint Ventures With Affiliates of Wells Capital	132
Lines of Credit and Notes Payable	133
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	133
MARKET FOR WELLS REIT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES	5
<u>OF EQUITY SECURITIES</u>	134
<u>Overview</u>	134
<u>Distributions</u> Redemptions	135 136
<u>SELECTED FINANCIAL DAT</u> A	136
MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF	
WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.	137
<u>Overview</u> General Economic Conditions and Real Estate Market Commentary	137 138
Liquidity and Capital Resources	130
Results of Operations	142
Funds from Operations	151
Election as a REIT	153
Inflation	154
<u>Application of Critical Accounting Policies</u> Related-Party Transactions and Agreements	154 156
Commitments and Contingencies	150
Subsequent Events	156
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS	157
EXPLANATION OF MARYLAND APPRAISAL RIGHTS STATUTE	159
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING DELIVERY OF SECURITY HOLDER DOCUMENTS	160
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	160
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	161

 Appendix A
 Definitive Merger Agreement

Appendix B Fairness Opinion of Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc.

Appendix C Form of Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement (the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal)

 
 Appendix D
 Form of Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement (the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal) Marked to Show Proposed Changes

- Appendix E Form of Third Articles of Amendment and Restatement (the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal)
- Appendix F
   Form of Third Articles of Amendment and Restatement (the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal) Marked to

   Show Proposed Changes
   Show Proposed Changes
- Appendix G Maryland General Corporation Law Appraisal Rights
- Appendix H Form of 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan
- Appendix I Form of Proxy Card

ix

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING

We are providing you with this proxy statement, which contains information about the items to be voted upon at our special stockholders meeting on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007 (the Special Meeting ). To make this information easier to understand, we have presented some of the information below in a question and answer format. Except where otherwise noted, references to Wells REIT, the Company, we, us, or our herein shall refer to Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., its operating partnership, Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), and their consolidated joint ventures.

#### Q: Why did you send me this proxy statement?

A: We sent you this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card because our board of directors (our Board ) is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares at the Special Meeting. This proxy statement summarizes information that we are required to provide to you under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and which is designed to assist you in voting.

#### **Q:** What is a proxy?

A: A proxy is a person who votes the shares of stock of another person who could not attend a meeting. The term proxy also refers to the proxy card. When you return the enclosed proxy card, you are giving us your permission to vote your shares of common stock at the Special Meeting. The people who will vote your shares of common stock at the Special Meeting are Donald A. Miller, CFA, Douglas P. Williams or Randall D. Fretz, each of whom is an officer of Wells REIT. They will vote your shares of common stock as you instruct, unless you return the proxy card and give no instructions. In this case, they will vote FOR all of the proposals and in accordance with the recommendation of our Board or, in the absence of such a recommendation, in their discretion, for any other proposals to be voted upon. They will not vote your shares of common stock, if you do not return the enclosed proxy card. This is why it is important for you to return the proxy card to us (or otherwise vote your shares) as soon as possible whether or not you plan on attending the meeting in person.

#### Q: When is the Special Meeting and where will it be held?

A: The Special Meeting will be held on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007, at 1:30 p.m. at The Atlanta Athletic Club, 1930 Bobby Jones Drive, Duluth, Georgia 30097.

#### **Q:** Who is soliciting my proxy?

A: This proxy is being solicited by the board of directors of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

#### Q: How many shares of common stock can vote?

A: As of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007, there were \_\_\_\_\_\_ shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. Every stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held.

- **Q:** What is a quorum ?
- A: A quorum consists of the presence in person or by proxy of stockholders holding at least 50% of the outstanding shares. There must be a quorum present in order for the Special Meeting to be a duly held meeting at which business can be conducted. If you submit a properly executed proxy card, even if you abstain from voting, then you will at least be considered part of the quorum.

#### Q: What may I vote on?

A: You may vote on the following:

*The Internalization Proposal*: the approval of the internalization of the Advisor by approving the Definitive Merger Agreement and transactions contemplated thereby (referred to herein as both the Internalization and the Internalization Transaction );

*The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal*: the approval of an amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will become effective upon consummation of the Internalization, to modify certain provisions to reflect that we have become self-advised;

*The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal*: the approval of a further amendment and restatement of our Articles, which will become effective shortly before a Listing of our common stock, if any, to modify certain provisions to conform more closely to the charters of Listed REITs;

The Incentive Plan Proposal: the approval of our new 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan; and

*Other Proposals:* Any other matters that may properly be presented at the Special Meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the Special Meeting, including proposals to adjourn the Special Meeting with respect to proposals for which insufficient votes to approve were cast and, with respect to any such proposals, to permit further solicitation of additional proxies by our Board.

#### Q: How does the Board recommend I vote on the proposals?

A: Our Board unanimously recommends a vote FOR each of the proposals listed in this proxy statement. Messrs. Leo F. Wells, III and Douglas P. Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization, recused themselves from consideration of the Board s recommendation with respect to the Internalization Proposal.

#### **Q:** Why has the Internalization been proposed?

A: Because at the time we commenced operations in 1998 the size and scope of our business operations were insufficient to support the overhead costs associated with a self-advised structure, we contracted with outside advisors to provide all personnel, accounting, administrative and other support services and resources necessary for our business operations. Since then, we have grown rapidly, however, and currently have over \$5 billion in assets based upon the most recent valuation of our real estate portfolio. Based upon our current size and the scope of our operations, we believe that we comfortably exceed the critical mass required to support a self-advised structure. Prior to the closing of the Internalization Transaction (the Closing ), the Advisor is required under the Definitive Merger Agreement to hire various individuals associated with Wells Capital, Wells Management and their affiliates, who have previously provided

## Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

various advisory and management services to us, and who will become our employees upon Internalization. In addition, if we consummate the Internalization, we may hire other individuals from unaffiliated companies. We anticipate that, subject to the discretion of our compensation committee, we will issue stock options or other deferred

equity awards to our employees pursuant to our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, if such plan is approved by our stockholders. We believe the Internalization will provide us with an experienced management team with industry expertise, management capabilities and a unique knowledge of our assets and business strategies.

We believe that converting from our current externally advised structure to a self-advised or internally advised management structure would result in many important benefits, including:

That an Internalization Transaction would be accretive over time to our earnings per share and our funds from operations (FFO) per share as a result of the reduction in operating costs that will result from us no longer having to pay advisory, property management and other fees and expense reimbursements to our external advisors under our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of our property management agreements (FFO generally means the amount of a company s net earnings after taxes adjusted to include real estate depreciation and amortization for a specified period of time). No assurances can be given, however, that any such accretion in our earnings per share or FFO per share would actually occur;

That establishing an internal management team which would be fully dedicated and solely focused on our operations and strategic plans would enhance stockholder value;

That, if the Board determines that a Listing is in our best interests, a self-advised or internally advised management structure would better position us for a future Listing, partially based on our belief that there is a perception in the marketplace that an internalized structure, among other things, achieves a better alignment of interests between management and the stockholders and eliminates certain conflicts of interest associated with having an external advisor. No assurances can be given, however, that a Listing will actually occur or, if it did occur, that being self-advised would result in a more successful Listing; and

That an internalized management structure may have a positive impact on the retention of key management personnel, as we anticipate that our key management personnel will have an equity stake in our Company.

In connection with considering a potential Internalization Transaction, our Board also considered the benefits of a potential Listing, including, among other things, creating significantly greater liquidity for our stockholders, increasing our stockholders autonomy in connection with the management of their cash and tax positions, allowing us greater access to capital markets to fund our future growth, and enabling us to pursue certain growth strategies. In addition, our Articles require that, in the event a Listing does not occur on or before January 30, 2008, we are required to immediately undertake an orderly liquidation and sale of our assets and distribute the net sales proceeds from such liquidation to our stockholders. Based on these factors, we intend to consider a Listing following the consummation of the Internalization Transaction, if and when market conditions and other circumstances make it desirable or it is otherwise in the best interests of our stockholders to do so. No assurance can be given that, if a determination is made to List, we will be able to successfully implement a Listing or that market conditions existing in the future will make it desirable for us to do so. While we believe that the Internalization Transaction should help facilitate a Listing, the Internalization Transaction we are proposing is not contingent upon the completion of a Listing. Even if a Listing does occur, an active trading market for our common stock may not develop or, if it does develop initially, may not be sustained. Further, the price at which our common stock may trade in the future is unknown.

We believe any future Listing will be more likely to be successful if we are self-advised. A vast majority of Listed REITs, including REITs like us that own predominantly office and industrial commercial properties, are self-advised. We believe the prevalence of the self-advised model reflects a marketplace preference for

Listed REITs that are self-advised and that, if our common stock were Listed, investors and market analysts would view us more favorably if we were self-advised, as opposed to being externally advised. If the Board elects to pursue a Listing, no further stockholder action would be required to do so.

Notwithstanding corporate governance mechanisms implemented to resolve potential conflicts of interest and protect our stockholders, we believe there may be a negative perception of externally-advised Listed REITs in the marketplace. We believe that the relationship between externally-advised REITs and their outside advisors is susceptible to, or is at least generally viewed as susceptible to, conflicts of interest, many of which can be avoided by being self-advised.

In addition, we believe that remaining externally-advised could have a negative effect on the price of our common stock in the future in the event we become Listed. As a result, we believe the internalization of the Advisor through the Internalization in advance of a potential Listing is an important step in the process of becoming a Listed REIT.

After due deliberation and consideration of various factors, including those described above, and upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, our Board determined that it would be fair and reasonable to us and advisable and in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders to become self-advised. We propose to accomplish this by acquiring the Advisor and thereby internalizing the operations of the Advisor.

For additional reasons why the Internalization has been proposed, please see Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Reasons for Internalization and Potential Listing, Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction and Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors in this proxy statement.

# Q: Why don t we terminate the existing advisory, asset management and property management agreements with the Advisor and hire another external advisor instead of pursuing the Internalization?

Under the terms of the current advisory, asset management and property management agreements currently in effect (the Acquisition A: Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, respectively), the Advisor has responsibility for our day-to-day operations subject to the supervision of our Board, including providing the management of our day-to-day operations; serving as our investment and financial advisor; formulating and overseeing the implementation of strategies for the administration, promotion, management, operation, maintenance, improvement, financing and refinancing, leasing and disposition of properties on an overall portfolio basis; maintaining and preserving our books and records, including stock records; administering, managing and maintaining stock transfers; managing communications with our stockholders; establishing technology infrastructure for stockholder support and service; performing property management functions for a number of our properties and overseeing the performance of our third-party property managers; reviewing and analyzing operating budgets, capital budgets and leasing plans of each of our properties; managing and supervising any offering of our securities, including the preparation of all related registrations and documents and other matters related to the offering process; consulting with the Board in evaluating and obtaining adequate insurance coverage based upon risk management determinations; reviewing and analyzing the on-going financial information pertaining to each of our properties and the overall portfolio of our properties; recommending the disposal of, reinvestment of the proceeds from the sale of, or otherwise dealing with our investments in properties; maintaining accounting systems, records and data and any other information requested concerning our activities as required and preparing and filing periodic financial reports and returns required to be filed with the SEC and any other regulatory agency, including annual financial statements; providing tax and compliance services and coordinating with our independent accountants and other consultants, on related tax matters; and performing all reporting, record keeping, internal controls and

similar matters in a manner to allow us to comply with applicable law including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We believe that if we were to terminate the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, as opposed to pursuing the Internalization, we would forego all the intended benefits of the Internalization described above. In addition, we believe that a termination of the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement would cause a significant disruption to our business affairs. If we were to terminate the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, we would need to either (1) identify and hire another qualified advisor and there is no assurance that the fees or expenses that we would incur with any such other advisor would be less than those we currently pay, or (2) identify and hire a full staff of our own employees to perform all of the services currently provided by the Advisor, and it would likely require significant effort and expense over a considerable period of time to find another qualified advisor or to fill all of these positions. There is no assurance that any significant number of the Advisor s or its affiliates employees would become our employees if we were to terminate the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement or the Master Property Management Agreement and then offer to hire them. Even if we were able to hire new employees, these employees would not have the same level of experience and familiarity with our business as the Advisor s or its affiliates personnel. Moreover, such new employees would lack the experience of having advised us since our inception, and would not have the knowledge of our portfolio or the close business relationships with our tenants, lenders or third-party property management companies that the Advisor s or its affiliates personnel have developed. We are unable to quantify the impact of the loss of the employees, relationships and proprietary assets provided by the Advisor or its affiliates. By acquiring the Advisor, we believe that we would reduce any disruptions to our business affairs, because certain of the Advisor s personnel who have been, or are expected to be, instrumental in our growth and continued operations will become our employees upon the closing of the Internalization. In addition, we would avoid the requirement to pay the subordinated performance fee which would otherwise be due to Wells Management upon a termination of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement.

For a detailed discussion concerning the Advisor and the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, please see Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Our Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements in this proxy statement.

#### **Q:** What is the effect of the Internalization?

A: If the conditions to consummation of the Internalization specified in the Definitive Merger Agreement are satisfied or (to the extent permissible) waived, as a result of the Internalization, the common stock of the WREAS and WGS, which is held by Wells Advisory Services I, LLC (WASI), will be converted into 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (the Internalization Consideration). In addition, in connection with the Internalization, Wells Capital will exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP in exchange for 22,339 shares of our common stock. The conditions to our performance obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement include, among other things, receipt of the approval of our stockholders and may be waived by us in our sole discretion. Upon completion of the Internalization, WREAS and WGS will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and we will become self-managed and self-advised. After that time, we no longer will bear the cost of the advisory and property management fees and expense reimbursements currently payable to our external advisors under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement. We will, however, be obligated to pay the salaries, other compensation and benefits of our employees and our other operating



expenses, along with certain amounts under two service agreements to be entered into between the Advisor and Wells REF. See Proposal I Description of the Internalization Transaction Closing.

Further, as a result of the Internalization, our executive officers and certain of our directors, including our new Chief Executive Officer and President, who own membership interests in WASI will benefit, through their interests in WASI, in the Internalization Consideration.

Upon completion of the Internalization, your ownership of our shares of common stock will be diluted as a result of the new issuance of the 19,546,302 shares of common stock constituting the Internalization Consideration, in addition to the 22,339 shares of our common stock to be issued to Wells Capital in exchange for its limited partnership units in Wells OP, which in the aggregate represents approximately 4.2% of our currently outstanding common stock. Simultaneously with the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, we entered into an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, who was elected by our Board as our new Chief Executive Officer and President. In addition, we may enter into other employment agreements with various individuals prior to the closing date of the Internalization. Pursuant to any such employment agreements, we may issue long-term incentive compensation awards in the form of share, option or other equity grants under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, if that plan is approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting. Those awards potentially will result in additional dilution of your share ownership. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Employment Agreements and Proposal IV The Incentive Plan Proposal.

#### **Q:** What was the process used to determine the amount of the Internalization Consideration?

A: The Internalization Consideration was determined based upon negotiations between the Special Committee (which is described below) and Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (Wells REF), in consultation with their respective legal and financial advisors. Our executive officers and certain of our directors, also serve, or during such negotiations served, as officers and directors of Wells REF and hold in the aggregate approximately 95% of the economic interests in WASI, the parent of WREAS and WGS. These relationships result in such directors and our current executive officers having material financial interests in the Internalization. In part, in order to address these potential conflicts of interest and in order to satisfy certain requirements contained in our Articles, our Board established a special committee (the Special Committee) consisting of Messrs. W. Wayne Woody, Michael R. Buchanan, Richard W. Carpenter and William H. Keogler, Jr., each of whom is an Independent Director. The members of the Special Committee have no economic interest in the consummation of the Internalization that differs from those of our other stockholders. The Special Committee was authorized, among other things: to evaluate and investigate certain future strategic alternatives available to us, including, among other things, a potential transaction involving the restructuring of our operations to an internally advised structure via the acquisition of, or merger with, certain of the real estate acquisition, disposition, property and asset management and support businesses currently conducted and provided to us by Wells REF and its affiliates; to consider and negotiate the terms of any such transaction; and to make a recommendation to the Board on whether to pursue any such transaction.

Pursuant to this authority, the Special Committee retained its own legal counsel and Robert A. Stanger & Co., Inc. to act as its financial advisor. Pursuant to extensive negotiations that occurred between the Special Committee and the representatives of Wells REF, in consultation with their respective legal and financial advisors, the parties agreed to \$175 million (the Internalization Consideration ) as the amount we would pay to acquire the Advisor and that the Internalization Consideration would be paid by issuing 19,546,302 shares of our common stock to WASI. In addition, in connection with the Internalization, Wells Capital will exchange the 20,000 limited partnership units it currently owns in Wells OP for 22,339 shares of our common stock. In connection with its evaluation of the Internalization, the Special Committee and our

6

Board received a written opinion dated January 31, 2007 of Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc. (Houlihan Lokey) as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, to us of the consideration to be paid by us in the Internalization.

After due deliberation and consideration of various factors, the Special Committee unanimously recommended to our Board that it approve the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the other documents and transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement. After careful consideration and upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, our Board (other than Messrs. Wells and Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization and who recused themselves from consideration of and the vote on this matter) approved the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement. Our Board and the Special Committee believe that the terms of the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the documents and other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive and the documents and other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the documents and other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive and the documents and other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the documents and other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement are fair and reasonable to us and are advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders.

#### Q: How did you determine who is an Independent Director for purposes of serving on the Special Committee?

A: Our Articles require that certain activities related to our Advisor must be approved by a majority of our Independent Directors. Independent Director is defined in our Articles to mean a director who is not, and within the last two years has not been, directly or indirectly associated with the Advisor by virtue of:

ownership of an interest in the Advisor or its Affiliates (as defined below),

employment by the Advisor or its Affiliates,

service as an officer or director of the Advisor or its Affiliates,

performance of services for us, other than as a director,

service as a director or trustee of more than three REITs advised by the Advisor, or

maintenance of a material business or professional relationship with the Advisor or any of its Affiliates. An indirect relationship includes circumstances in which a director s spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers- or fathers-in-law, sons- or daughters-in-law, or brothers- or sisters-in-law are or have been associated with the Advisor, any of its Affiliates or us. A business or professional relationship is considered material if the gross revenue derived by the director from the Advisor and its Affiliates exceeds 5% of either the director s annual gross revenue during either of the last two years or the director s net worth on a fair-market-value basis.

The term Affiliate, for this purpose, means:

any person or entity directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controlling, controlled by, or under common control with another person or entity;

any person or entity directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or holding with power to vote 10% or more of the outstanding voting securities of another person or entity;

## Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

any officer, director, general partner, or trustee of such person or entity;

any person 10% or more of whose outstanding voting securities are directly or indirectly owned, controlled or held, with power to vote, by such other person; and

7

if such other person or entity is an officer, director, general partner, or trustee of a person or entity, the person or entity for which such person or entity acts in any such capacity.

The members of the Special Committee each qualify as Independent Directors. In addition, none of them has any economic interest in the Internalization (except to the extent they own shares of our common stock or options or warrants to acquire shares of our common stock, none of which represent more than 0.005% of our outstanding shares in the aggregate). See Proposal I Description of the Internalization Transaction Common Share Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

#### Q: What rights will I have if I oppose the Internalization?

A: You can vote against the Internalization by indicating a vote against the Internalization Proposal on your proxy card and by signing and mailing your proxy card, by authorizing your proxy over the Internet (pursuant to the instructions on the proxy card), by telephone, or by voting against the Internalization in person at the Special Meeting.

Stockholders will not have appraisal rights with respect to the Internalization Proposal or the Incentive Plan Proposal; however, you may have appraisal rights if the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is approved. Because we are not aware of any applicable authority as to whether such is the case, in the event you wish to make your own determination of whether you have rights of appraisal with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we encourage you to consider applicable Maryland law and to consider engaging Maryland counsel. For a discussion regarding your appraisal rights, see Proposal I The Internalization Proposal No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Internalization Proposal, Proposal II The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal Rights, See also Explanation of Maryland Appraisal Rights Statute and Appendix G attached hereto, which sets forth the relevant statutory provisions.

#### Q: When do you expect the Internalization to be consummated?

A: Assuming all conditions to the Internalization are satisfied or waived, we expect to consummate the Internalization on the third business day following the satisfaction or waiver of all such conditions or on such other date as may be agreed upon by us and the Advisor.
 Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization must be consummated on or before August 1, 2007. If the Internalization is not consummated within the applicable period described above, the Definitive Merger Agreement may be terminated by either us or the Advisor.

- Q: Why is our Board recommending that our Articles be amended and restated to modify certain provisions to reflect, if the Internalization Proposal is approved and the Internalization is consummated, that we have become self-advised and to conform more closely to the charters of Listed REITs?
- A: Our Articles contain a number of guidelines for transactions between us and the Advisor and our and its respective Affiliates. As discussed elsewhere in this proxy statement, if the Internalization is consummated, WREAS and WGS will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries, their operations will therefore become part of our business, and we will become self-advised. Accordingly, if the Internalization is consummated, the provisions in our Articles relating to the Advisor, its Affiliates and to transactions and relations between us

and the Advisor and its Affiliates will no longer be applicable to our situation. One of the main purposes of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is to remove these inapplicable provisions effective upon the completion of the Internalization. In addition, if a Listing occurs, it will be possible to remove a number of the limitations and restrictions that are included in our existing Articles, but which our Board believes restrict and could possibly prevent us from pursuing favorable investment opportunities. These restrictions were mandated by the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts published by the North American Securities Administrators Association (the NASAA REIT Guidelines ) and were applicable because we previously raised funds through public offerings of our common stock without listing our securities on a national securities exchange. If our securities are Listed, those restrictions no longer will be required because the NASAA REIT Guidelines do not apply to offerings of shares that are Listed. The charters of most Listed REITs do not contain these kinds of limitations and restrictions, and accordingly, if we did not eliminate these restrictions effective upon the completion of a Listing, these restrictions could impair our ability to compete effectively for investments and management talent. Our Board believes that these limitations and restrictions should be removed so that we can be governed by a charter that is more similar to the charters of Listed REITs. The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal also broadens the indemnification provisions applicable to our current and former directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. We believe that these provisions are similar to the provisions customarily provided by many other publicly traded companies and will facilitate our ability to attract and retain qualified director and officer candidates. In addition, if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is approved, certain stockholder voting provisions contained in our Articles will be eliminated. Although the amendments to our Articles contained in the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal reduce or otherwise eliminate certain voting rights that you currently have, we are of the view that these proposed amendments will provide greater flexibility with respect to the implementation of our business plan and will make us more competitive with Listed REITs. If the two proposed charter amendments take effect, our Board will amend our Bylaws to eliminate inconsistencies resulting from the proposed amendments to our Articles and to make certain other changes to our Bylaws.

If approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will be implemented regardless of whether a Listing occurs, as long as the Internalization Proposal is approved and the Internalization is consummated. Any or all of the closing conditions to our performance obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement may be waived by us in our sole discretion. Further, if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is approved, it will not be implemented unless the Internalization Proposal is approved and the Internalization is consummated and until shortly before a Listing, if any, of our common stock.

#### Q: Why is our Board recommending that we approve and adopt the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan?

A: Our Board believes that the ability to offer incentive compensation pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan described herein will help us attract, retain and motivate highly qualified individuals and more directly align the interests of our management with those of our stockholders. Many of our competitors currently have incentive compensation plans. Our Board believes that if we do not adopt plans which provide adequate incentives to our management and other employees, in line with the plans of our competitors, we will be at a competitive disadvantage in our ability to attract and retain highly qualified employees. In establishing the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, our newly established compensation committee worked with its employment compensation consultant to survey and study the market compensation ranges of our competitors. Furthermore, our Board believes that issuing shares of common stock to management and other employees pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, under appropriate circumstances, will more directly align their interests with those of our stockholders and can be used as an effective motivational tool.

If approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the Incentive Plan Proposal will be implemented regardless of whether the other proposals being considered at the Special Meeting are approved by our stockholders.

#### Q: Will the composition of our Board change as a result of the Internalization Transaction?

Yes. In connection with execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, Donald A. Miller, CFA, was elected by our Board as one of our A: directors to fill the current vacancy on our Board. In addition, in connection with the Board approving the Internalization Transaction, members of the Board agreed to take several actions to discontinue having directors (other than Leo F. Wells, III) serve on both our Board and a board of directors of a Wells REF related entity that may compete with us. Three of our Independent Directors, Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter and Neil H. Strickland, and Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer and a director, each of whom also serves on the board of directors of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust II, Inc. (Wells REIT II), have agreed to resign as our directors, effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, and Donald S. Moss and W. Wayne Woody, two of our Independent Directors, have agreed to resign from the board of directors of Wells REIT II, also effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction. Accordingly, we currently anticipate that, at the time of the closing of the Internalization Transaction, our Board will be comprised of Leo F. Wells, III, Donald A. Miller, CFA, Michael R. Buchanan, William H. Keogler, Jr., Donald S. Moss, and W. Wayne Woody. Further, Mr. Wells has agreed to resign as a director at the time of a Listing of our common stock, should that occur, unless a majority of certain designated Independent Directors determines at that time that it is in our best interest that he remain a director, and upon Mr. Wells resignation as a director, for a period ending the earlier of (1) two years after a Listing of our common stock, should that occur, or (2) the first date on which Mr. Wells does not beneficially own at least 1% of our outstanding common stock, he will be entitled to designate an individual to be appointed to fill the vacancy created by such resignation and to be nominated for election to our Board at any annual meeting where directors are elected during such period, provided that such individual is reasonably acceptable to our Board and is not on the board of directors of any Wells REF related entity that may compete with us. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Changes to our Board and Resolution of Certain Conflicts of Interest on our Board.

#### Q: Who is entitled to vote?

A: All stockholders who own shares of our common stock at the close of business on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2007, the record date, will be entitled to vote at the Special Meeting.

#### Q: How do I vote?

A: You may vote your shares of common stock either in person or by proxy. Whether you plan to attend the meeting and vote in person or not, we urge you to have your vote recorded. Stockholders have the following three options for submitting their votes by proxy:
(1) via the Internet; (2) by telephone; or (3) by mail, using the enclosed proxy card. If you have Internet access, we encourage you to record your vote on the Internet. It is convenient, and it saves Wells REIT significant postage and processing costs. In addition, when you vote via the Internet or by phone prior to the meeting date, your vote is recorded immediately and there is no risk that postal delays will cause your vote to arrive late and, therefore, not be counted. For further instructions on voting, see your enclosed proxy card in this proxy statement. If you attend the Special Meeting, you may also submit your vote in person, and any previous votes that you submitted, whether by Internet, phone or mail, will be superseded by the vote that you cast at the Special Meeting. If you return your signed proxy card but do not mark the boxes showing how you wish to vote,

your shares of common stock will be voted FOR each of the proposals and in accordance with the recommendation of the Board or, in the absence of such a recommendation, in their discretion, for each of the other proposals to be voted upon at the Special Meeting.

#### **Q:** Will my vote make a difference?

A: Yes. Your vote is needed to ensure that the proposals can be acted upon. Because we are a widely-held REIT (with more than 100,000 stockholders and, unlike most other public companies, no large brokerage houses own substantial blocks of our shares), YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT! Your immediate response will help avoid potential delays and may save Wells REIT significant additional expenses associated with soliciting stockholder votes. We encourage you to participate in the governance of Wells REIT.

#### Q: What if I return my proxy card and then change my mind?

- A: You have the right to revoke your proxy at any time before the meeting by:
  - (1) notifying Douglas P. Williams, our Secretary;
  - (2) attending the meeting and voting in person; or
  - (3) returning another proxy card dated after your first proxy card which is received before the Special Meeting date.

#### **Q:** How will the proxies be voted?

A: Any proxy, if it is received in time, is properly signed and is not revoked, will be voted at the Special Meeting in accordance with the directions of the stockholder signing the proxy. If no directions are specified as to the applicable proposal, the proxy will be voted **FOR**:

the approval of the Internalization Proposal;

the approval of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal;

the approval of the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal; and

the approval of the Incentive Plan Proposal.

#### Q: If my shares are held in street name by my broker, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A: Your broker will not be able to vote your shares without instructions from you on any of the proposals to be considered at the Special Meeting. For all proposals, your broker will vote your shares only if you provide instructions to your broker on how to vote your shares. If

### Table of Contents

## Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

you want to vote on these proposals, you should contact your broker and ask what directions your broker will need from you.

#### **Q:** What is the effect of abstentions and broker non-votes?

A: We will treat abstentions as shares that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum. With respect to the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, abstentions will have the effect of a vote cast against the proposal. With respect to the Incentive Plan Proposal, abstentions will have no effect, provided that the total votes cast represent at least 50% of the shares entitled to vote. If the total votes cast represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote, abstentions would have the effect of a vote against the Incentive Plan Proposal.

1	1
1	I

If a broker returns an executed proxy card, but marks the card to reflect a withholding of voting authority on matters as to which the broker is not permitted to vote (a broker non-vote ), the holder of the shares of common stock covered by the proxy card will be treated as present for quorum purposes, and the effect on voting will be as follows: (1) with respect to the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, broker non-votes will have the effect of a vote cast against the proposal; and (2) with respect to the Incentive Plan Proposal, broker non-votes will have no effect, provided that the total votes cast represent at least 50% of the shares entitled to vote; however, if the total votes cast represent less than 50% of the shares entitled to vote, then broker non-votes would have the effect of a vote against the Incentive Plan Proposal. If a broker returns a properly executed proxy card, but as to any matter does not provide voting instruction or an intent to abstain, the shares represented by that proxy card will be considered present for quorum purposes and those shares will be voted on the matter in the proxy holder s discretion.

#### Q: How will voting on any other business be conducted?

A: Although we do not know of any business to be considered at the Special Meeting other than the proposals discussed above, if any other business is properly presented at the Special Meeting, your signed proxy card gives authority to Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new President, Douglas P. Williams, our Executive Vice President and Secretary, or Randall D. Fretz, our Senior Vice President, or any of them, to vote on such matters in accordance with the recommendation of the Board or, in the absence of such a recommendation, in their discretion.

#### Q: When are the stockholder proposals for the next annual meeting of stockholders due?

A: In order to be eligible for inclusion in the proxy solicitation materials for our next annual meeting of stockholders in 2007, any director nominations and other stockholder proposals must have been received by our Secretary, Mr. Douglas P. Williams, at Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., 6200 The Corners Parkway, Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365 no later than December 29, 2006. In order to be eligible for presentation at our 2007 annual meeting, our Bylaws require that written notice of any director nominations or other stockholder proposals must be received by our Secretary no later than May 19, 2007, but any such director nominations or stockholder proposals received after December 29, 2006 will not be included in our proxy solicitation materials.

#### Q: Who pays the cost of this proxy solicitation?

A: We will pay all the costs of soliciting these proxies. In addition to these mailed proxy materials, employees of our affiliates and The Bank of New York, our proxy solicitor, may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone, or by other means of communication. Employees of affiliates will not be paid any additional compensation for soliciting proxies, and The Bank of New York will be paid an administrative fee of approximately \$4,000 and \$0.22 per phone vote and \$0.07 per Internet vote, plus out-of-pocket expenses for its basic solicitation services, which include review of proxy materials, dissemination of brokers search cards, distribution of proxy materials, solicitation of brokers, banks, and institutional holders, and delivery of executed proxies. We may also reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding proxy and solicitation materials to beneficial owners.

12

#### Q: Is this proxy statement the only way that proxies are being solicited?

A: No. In addition to mailing proxy solicitation material, our directors and employees of Wells REF, as well as third party proxy service companies we retain, may also solicit proxies in person, via the Internet, by telephone or by any other electronic means of communication we deem appropriate.

#### Q: If I share my residence with another Wells REIT stockholder, how many copies of the Proxy Statement should I receive?

A: The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has adopted a rule concerning the delivery of disclosure documents. The rule allows us to send a single set of any annual report, proxy statement, proxy statement combined with a prospectus, or information statement to any household at which two or more stockholders reside if they share the same last name or we reasonably believe they are members of the same family. This procedure is referred to as Householding. This rule benefits both you and Wells REIT. It reduces the volume of duplicate information received at your household and helps Wells REIT reduce expenses. Each stockholder subject to Householding will continue to receive a separate proxy card or voting instruction card.

Wells REIT will deliver promptly, upon written or oral request, a separate copy of the Proxy Statement to a stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the document was previously delivered. If you received a single set of disclosure documents for this year, but you would prefer to receive your own copy, you may direct requests for separate copies to the following address: Client Services Department at P.O. Box 2828, Norcross, Georgia 30091-2828, or call us at 1-800-557-4830. If you are a stockholder that receives multiple copies of our proxy materials, you may request Householding by contacting us in the same manner and requesting a Householding consent.

#### Q: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?

A: You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies of this proxy statement and multiple proxy cards or voting instruction cards. For example, if you hold your shares in more than one brokerage account, you will receive a separate voting instruction card for each brokerage account in which you hold shares. If you are a holder of record and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will receive more than one proxy card. Please complete, sign, date and return each proxy card and voting instruction card that you receive. You may also follow the instructions on the proxy cards for telephonic or internet proxy authorization for each proxy card that you receive.

#### Q: What if I consent to have one set of materials mailed now, but change my mind later?

A: Call or write Wells REIT to cancel the Householding instructions for yourself. You will then be sent a separate proxy statement within 30 days of receipt of your instruction.

# Q: The reason I receive multiple sets of materials is because some of the stock belongs to my children. What happens when they move out and no longer live in my household?

A: When there is an address change for one of the members of the household, materials will be sent directly to the stockholder at his/her new address.

#### Q: If I plan to attend the Special Meeting in person, should I notify anyone?

A: While you are not required to notify anyone in order to attend the Special Meeting, if you do plan to attend the meeting, we would appreciate it if you would mark the appropriate box on the enclosed proxy card to let us know how many stockholders will be attending the meeting so that we will be able to prepare a suitable meeting room for the attendees. Even if you plan to attend the Special Meeting, we recommend that you also submit your proxy or voting instructions as described above so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend the Special Meeting.

#### Q: Where can I find out more information about you?

A: We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ). We file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy these reports, proxy statements and other information at the SEC s Public Reference Section at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Section by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website, located at <u>www.sec.gov</u>, that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding companies and individuals that file electronically with the SEC. The information contained in this proxy statement speaks only as of the date indicated on the cover of this proxy statement unless the information specifically indicates that another date applies. The information that we later file with the SEC may update and supersede the information in this proxy statement. Requests for copies of our filings should be directed to Client Services Department at P.O. Box 2828, Norcross, Georgia 30091-2828, or call us at 1-800-557-4830.

#### Q: How can I get additional copies of this proxy statement or other information filed with the SEC relating to this solicitation?

A: You may obtain additional copies of this proxy statement and all other relevant documents filed by us with the SEC free of charge at the SEC s website located a<u>t www.sec.go</u>v, from our website a<u>t www.wellsreit.com</u>, or by calling our Client Services Department at 1-800-557-4830.

#### SUMMARY OF THE INTERNALIZATION PROPOSAL

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Internalization Proposal as described in this proxy statement. You should carefully read this entire document as well as the additional documents to which it refers for a more complete description of the Internalization Proposal. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization.

The Internalization Proposal	At the Special Meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Internalization, whereby WREAS and WGS will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal.
Parties to the Internalization	<b>Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.</b> , a Maryland corporation (Wells REIT), was incorporated on July 3, 1997, commenced active operations on June 5, 1998, and qualifies as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes. Substantially all of our business is conducted through Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), a Delaware limited partnership, or subsidiaries of Wells OP. We are the sole general partner of Wells OP, and Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital) is currently the sole limited partner of Wells OP but, as described elsewhere in this proxy statement, will exchange its limited partnership units in Wells OP for shares of our common stock as a part of the Internalization Transaction. Wells OP owns properties directly, through wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with real estate limited partnership sponsored by Wells Capital. Prior to the closing of the Internalization, we intend to form a wholly-owned subsidiary that will be admitted as a limited partner to Wells OP. See Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. Business.

**WRT Acquisition Company, LLC**, a Georgia limited liability company (WRT Acquisition), was formed on January 19, 2007 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells REIT. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction.

**WGS Acquisition Company, LLC**, a Georgia limited liability company (WGS Acquisition), was formed on January 19, 2007 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells REIT. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction.

Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc., a Georgia corporation (Wells REF), was incorporated on February 17, 1997 and is wholly-owned by Leo F. Wells, III, our former President, and current Chairman and director. Wells REF is the sole shareholder of Wells Management and Wells Capital. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Master Property Management Agreements.

**Wells Capital, Inc.**, a Georgia corporation (Wells Capital), was incorporated on April 20, 1984 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells REF, which is wholly-owned by Leo F. Wells, III, our former President and current Chairman and director. Wells Capital has been one of our advisors since 1998 and is also the advisor to Wells REIT II, Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. and Institutional

REIT, Inc., three publicly registered, non-listed REITs sponsored by affiliates of the Advisor, and a general partner or sponsor of 15 public real estate limited partnerships and various private real estate programs. As part of the capitalization of WASI described below, Wells Capital transferred and assigned its interest in the Acquisition Advisory Agreement to WASI. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Master Property Management Agreements.

Wells Management Company, Inc., a Georgia corporation (Wells Management), was incorporated on February 17, 1983 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells REF, which is wholly-owned by Leo F. Wells, III, our former President and our current Chairman and director. Wells Management has also been one of our advisors and our property manager since 1998, and is currently also a property manager for Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc., along with the 15 public real estate limited partnerships and private real estate programs referred to above. Wells Management formed both WREAS and WGS as described below. Wells Management (and other affiliates) then formed WASI and transferred and contributed its interests in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement to WASI in the manner described below. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Master Property Management Agreements.

Wells Advisory Services I, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company ( WASI ), was formed on December 21, 2005, and is owned by Wells Management, Wells Capital and by eight executives of Wells REF, each of whom own an approximately 1% economic interest in WASI, including Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and one of our directors, Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer and President and one of our directors, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers. Wells Management and Wells Capital are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells REF, which is wholly-owned by Leo F. Wells, III, our former President and our current Chairman and director. As part of the formation of WASI, Wells Management transferred and assigned to WASI its interest in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and transferred and assigned all of the issued and outstanding common stock of WREAS to WASI; Wells Capital transferred and assigned its interest in the Acquisition Advisory Agreement to WASI; and each of the eight executives made cash capital contributions to WASI. As a result, WREAS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI. Wells Management then made an additional capital contribution to WASI on February 15, 2006 by transferring and assigning its interest in the Master Property Management Agreement to WASI. In addition, as set forth below, Wells Management also transferred and assigned all of the issued and outstanding stock of Wells Government Services, Inc. (WGS) to WASI, and as a result, WGS also became a

wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements.

Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc., a Georgia corporation (WREAS), was incorporated on December 30, 2004 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells Management. As set forth above, Wells Management and Wells Capital, along with eight executives of Wells REF, subsequently formed WASI; Wells Management transferred and assigned all of the issued and outstanding stock of WREAS to WASI; and WREAS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI. WASI subsequently transferred and assigned its interests in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement to its wholly-owned subsidiary, WREAS. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Master Property Management Agreements. WREAS is currently a party to certain support services agreements pursuant to which WREAS receives various support services and personnel from Wells REF and its affiliates.

Wells Government Services, Inc., a Georgia corporation (WGS), was incorporated on June 1, 2004 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells Management. WGS is the property manager for 12 office buildings we own in the Washington D.C. area, most of which are leased primarily to government tenants. As set forth above, in January 2007, Wells Management transferred and assigned all of the issued and outstanding common stock of WGS to WASI, and as a result, WGS also became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI.

References to the **Advisor** in this proxy statement include, collectively, WREAS, WGS and their predecessors, as applicable, including those portions of the operations of Wells Capital and Wells Management which previously provided advisory and management services to us under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement.

Consideration to be Paid inThe Definitive Merger Agreement provides that upon the consummation of the Internalization, all of the<br/>common stock of WREAS and WGS currently held by WASI will be converted into 19,546,302 shares of<br/>our common stock (the Internalization Consideration ), which constitutes approximately 4.2% of our<br/>currently outstanding common stock. In addition, in connection with the Internalization, Wells Capital will<br/>exchange the 20,000 limited partnership units it currently owns in Wells OP for 22,339 shares of our<br/>common stock. For the purposes of the Internalization Consideration and the number of shares to be issued<br/>to Wells Capital for its limited partnership units in Wells OP, shares of our common stock have been<br/>valued at a per-share price of \$8.9531. This per-share price was primarily based on the \$8.93 estimated net<br/>asset value per share resulting from a valuation recently performed on our properties as of September 30,<br/>2006, subject to the adjustment as described below. The valuation was provided by an independent third<br/>party which based its

estimate upon (1) the appraised value of our real estate assets as of September 30, 2006, and (2) consideration of the current value of the other assets and liabilities of Wells REIT as of September 30, 2006 (including the contingent liability for the subordinated disposition fee described below). This estimated net asset value per share is only an estimate, and is based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, which may not be accurate or complete. There were no liquidity discounts applied to this estimated valuation or discounts relating to the fact that we are currently externally managed, and no attempt was made to value the Company as an enterprise. Further, this should not be viewed as the amount a stockholder would receive in the event that we were to list our shares in the future or to liquidate our assets and distribute the proceeds to our stockholders since, among other things, this valuation was not reduced by potential real estate brokerage commissions or other costs of sale. The Special Committee used this valuation to determine the amount of shares of our common stock to issue to WASI as the Internalization Consideration; however, since the estimated net asset valuation took into account an approximately \$12.4 million subordinated disposition fee otherwise payable to the Advisor upon a liquidation of our properties at their September 30, 2006 appraised values, and the obligation to pay this contingent liability would be extinguished upon the acquisition of the Advisor, the parties agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement to use a per-share value of \$8.9531 (calculated by excluding the potential liability for the subordinated disposition fee) to determine the number of shares paid to WASI as the Internalization Consideration and the number of shares to be issued to Wells Capital for its limited partnership units in Wells OP. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Payment of Internalization Consideration, and Market For Wells REIT s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Background of the Internalization Our Board has been evaluating whether we should convert from our current external advisory structure to a self-advised structure in order to obtain the financial and other benefits described elsewhere in this proxy statement. Since our inception, our day-to-day operations have been managed by the Advisor under the supervision of our Board, pursuant to the terms and conditions of our advisory and property management agreements with the Advisor. We have grown rapidly since our inception, however, and now have over \$5 billion in assets based upon the most recent valuation of our real estate portfolio. Based upon our current size and the scope of our operations, we believe that we comfortably exceed the critical mass required to support a self-advised structure. If we consummate the Internalization, we expect to employ various individuals associated with the Advisor or its affiliates who have been, and are expected to continue to be, instrumental in our growth and continued operations. We believe the Internalization will provide us with an experienced management team with industry expertise, management capabilities and a unique knowledge of our assets and business strategies. Our Board also has been considering whether we should effect a Listing and how best to position ourselves for such a Listing. We believe any future Listing will be more successful if we are self-managed and self-advised. Among other things, a Listing would create

greater liquidity for our stockholders, who at present have only very limited opportunities to sell their shares of common stock if and when they wish to do so. A Listing also could allow us greater access to capital to fund our future growth. We believe that completing the Internalization would better position us for a future Listing; however, we expect that the Internalization will be beneficial to us on a going forward basis even if we do not complete a Listing. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction.

### Principal Reasons for the Internalization

We believe that a self-advised structure will have several advantages, including the following:

That an Internalization Transaction would be accretive over time to our earnings per share and our FFO per share as a result of the reduction in operating costs that will result from us no longer having to pay advisory, property management and other fees and expense reimbursements to our external advisors under our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of our property management agreements. No assurances can be given, however, that any such accretion in our earnings per share or FFO per share would actually occur;

That establishing an internal management team which would be fully dedicated and solely focused on our operations and strategic plans would enhance stockholder value;

That, if the Board determines that a Listing is in our best interests, a self-advised or internally advised management structure would better position us for a future Listing, partially based on our belief that there is a perception in the marketplace that an internalized structure, among other things, achieves a better alignment of interests between management and the stockholders and eliminates certain conflicts of interest associated with having an external advisor. No assurance can be given, however, that a Listing will actually occur or, if it did occur, that being self-advised would result in a more successful Listing; and

That an internalized management structure may have a positive impact on the retention of key management personnel, as we anticipate that our key management personnel will have an equity stake in our success.

See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Reasons for Internalization and Potential Listing; Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction.

Table of Contents	
Certain Changes to our Charter	We are proposing various amendments to our current Charter in the Pre-Listing and Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposals.
	The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal contains various amendments necessary to reflect that we will become self-advised should the Internalization Proposal be approved. These amendments remove various provisions in our Charter related to the Advisor since these provisions will no longer be applicable once we internalize the Advisor. If this proposal is approved by our stockholders, it would become effective upon the Closing. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs. Further, our Board reserves the right not to implement the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal even if it is approved by our stockholders if, prior to such implementation, our Board determines that the implementation of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not in our best interest. <b>See Proposal II The Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal</b>
	The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal contains various amendments necessary for our Charter to conform more closely to the charters of most other Listed REITs. The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would remove many restrictions that are mandated by state securities administrators but will no longer be required if a Listing occurs, and to make various other changes that our Board believes are appropriate for a Listed REIT. These restrictions are not typically found in the charters of Listed REITs and, if not removed, we believe would put us at a competitive disadvantage should a Listing occur. Even if approved by our stockholders, this proposal will not be implemented unless the Internalization occurs and until shortly before a Listing, if any, of our common stock. Further, our Board reserves the right not to implement the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal even if it is approved by our stockholders if, prior to such implementation, our Board determines that the implementation of the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not in our best interest. See Proposal III The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.
Opinion of Houlihan Lokey	In connection with the Internalization, Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc. ( Houlihan Lokey ) delivered a written opinion dated January 31, 2007 to the Special Committee and our Board as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of Houlihan Lokey s opinion, to us of the consideration to be paid by us in the Internalization Transaction. The full text of the written opinion of Houlihan Lokey dated January 31, 2007, which describes, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, factors considered and limitations on the review undertaken, is attached as <b>Appendix B</b> to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference in its entirety into this document. You are encouraged to read the opinion carefully in its entirety. <b>Houlihan Lokey provided its opinion to the Special Committee and our Board to assist the Special Committee and our Board in their evaluation, from a</b>

	financial point of view, of the consideration provided for in the Definitive Merger Agreement. Houlihan Lokey s opinion does not address any other aspect of the Internalization and does not constitute a recommendation as to how you should vote or act in connection with the proposed Internalization. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Opinion of Houlihan Lokey.
Interests of Certain of Our Directors and Officers	Our executive officers and certain of our directors have material financial interests in the Internalization. In particular, Messrs. Leo F. Wells, III, Douglas P. Williams and Randall D. Fretz are also affiliates of the Advisor and own economic interests in the Advisor or its affiliates. Accordingly, the Internalization will result in Messrs. Wells, Williams and Fretz collectively receiving beneficial economic interests in approximately 18,373,524 shares of our common stock. Mr. Wells, our former President, our Chairman and one of our directors, will receive an indirect beneficial economic interest in our stock through his ownership of Wells REF, which is the sole shareholder of Wells Capital and Wells Management, which together own in the aggregate approximately 92% of the economic interests in WASI. In addition, Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and one of our directors, Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, and Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer and President and one of our directors, will each receive a beneficial economic interest in our stock through each of their individual approximately 1% economic interest in WASI. We also may hire one or more other individuals currently affiliated with Wells REF to become our executive officers in connection with the Closing of the Internalization Transaction, one of whom also holds an approximately 1% economic interest in WASI. As a result, we anticipate that such individuals will indirectly receive as a result of the Internalization an aggregate of approximately \$168 million in shares of our common stock valued at the same per-share amount used to determine the amount of shares to be issued to WASI as Internalization Consideration. In addition, in connection with the Internalization, Wells Capital will exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP for 22,339 shares of our common stock. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Our Company Interest of our officers and direc
Our Management Following the Internalization	Upon the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, Leo F. Wells, III, resigned as our President, and Donald A. Miller, CFA, was elected by our Board as our Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Miller was previously a Vice President of Wells REF and a Senior Vice President of Wells Capital and, in such capacities, was responsible for directing all aspects of the acquisitions, dispositions, property management, construction and leasing groups for Wells REF, Wells Capital and their affiliates, and in connection with these entities, for

	providing services to us under our existing advisory, asset management and property management agreements. While Mr. Miller has extensive real estate experience and we have confidence that he will be successful in his new position as our new Chief Executive Officer and President, Mr. Miller has no prior experience as a chief executive officer of a public company. Further, Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and a director, and Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, have advised our Board that they intend to resign their respective positions as our executive officers effective as of the closing of the Internalization Transaction. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Employment Agreements.				
Our Board Following Internalization	Effective on February 2, 2007, Mr. Miller was elected as a member of our Board. In addition, in connection with the Board approving the Internalization Transaction, members of the Board agreed to take several actions to avoid having directors (other than Leo F. Wells, III) serve on both our Board and a board of directors of a Wells REF related entity that may compete with us, three of our Independent Directors, Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter and Neil H. Strickland, and Douglas P. Williams, each of whom also serves on the board of directors of Wells REIT II, have agreed to resign as our directors, effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, and Donald S. Moss and W. Wayne Woody, two of our Independent Directors, have agreed to resign from the board of directors of Wells REIT II, also effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction. In addition, we anticipate that, at least in the short-term, Mr. Wells will remain our Chairman and a director, although upon a potential Listing, absent certain special circumstances, he has also agreed to resign as one of our directors of the time of any such potential Listing. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction of Certain Conflicts of Interest on our Board.				
Employment Agreements	Upon the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, we entered into an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, and we may enter into employment agreements with other executive officers, including a new Chief Financial Officer, prior to the Closing Date. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Employment Agreements.				

Table of Contents	
Registration Rights Agreement	We have granted registration rights to WASI and Wells Capital, and to their permitted transferees, with respect to the registration of the shares of our common stock issued in the Internalization, which will require us, under certain circumstances, to register those shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ). See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Registration Rights Agreement.
Additional New Agreements with Wells REIT Affiliated Companies	The Advisor is currently a party to certain support services agreements pursuant to which the Advisor receives various support services and personnel from Wells REF and its affiliates. The Definitive Merger Agreement provides that, upon or prior to the closing of the Internalization, the Advisor will enter into new agreements, including the Transition Services Agreement and the Support Services Agreement with Wells REF, and certain other agreements.
	Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, we will receive certain enumerated services necessary to operate the Advisor s business until we are able to arrange to internally provide such services or to outsource such services to third-party service providers. These consist primarily of services we believe we will need to continue to obtain from Wells REF at least until a potential Listing, including primarily investor relations support services, transfer agent related services, and investor communication support.
	The Support Services Agreement with Wells REF will provide the Advisor and us with certain support services, including payroll and benefits administration services and information technology services.
	At or prior to the Closing, one of our subsidiaries will enter into the Headquarters Sublease Agreement with Wells REF which will provide us with approximately 13,000 square feet on the fifth floor of the office building located at 6200 The Corners Parkway in Norcross, Georgia, which is owned by an affiliate of, and primarily occupied by, Wells REF and its affiliates.
	The projected costs of these various agreements were taken into account in calculating the projected contribution to our earnings from the Advisor as a result of the Internalization.
	See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Ancillary Agreements Related to Internalization.
Indemnification	In the Definitive Merger Agreement, we and Wells REF, WASI and their affiliates have agreed to indemnification obligations covering damages arising from certain matters following the Closing of the Internalization. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Indemnification.
	23

Closing	The Closing will occur three business days following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the Internalization set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the closing of the Internalization), or on such other date as we and WASI may mutually agree (the Closing Date ). See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Closing.
Business of the Advisor Pending the Internalization	The Definitive Merger Agreement requires that until the Closing, subject only to specified exceptions, WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF (1) shall, and shall cause the Advisor to, conduct the Advisor's business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, (2) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact the present organization of the Advisor, (3) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep available the services of the present officers and employees of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF and all other persons who provide material services to us and any employees identified to provide services to us after Closing, (4) shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF's relationships with others having business dealings with them that relate to the Advisor's business, and (5) shall not and shall not cause the Advisor to engage in certain actions specified in the Definitive Merger Agreement. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Conduct of Business Prior to Closing.
Conditions of the Internalization	The Internalization is subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of certain conditions set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement including, but not limited to, the approval by our stockholders of the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Incentive Plan Proposal. Any or all of the closing conditions to our performance obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement may be waived by us in our sole discretion. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Conditions to Closing.
Termination	The Definitive Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing, by mutual written consent of the parties before or after approval of the Internalization Proposal by our stockholders, or by either us or WASI and its affiliates under certain circumstances set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement. Further, the Definitive Merger Agreement may be terminated by either us or WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and Wells REF if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before August 1, 2007, although under certain circumstances, relating to our receipt of a superior offer from a third-party, we may be responsible for a payment to Wells REF of a \$3.5 million termination fee if we terminate the Definitive Merger Agreement. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Amendment; Waiver; Assignment; Termination.

Regulatory Matters	No material regulatory approvals or filings are required in order to effect the Internalization. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Regulatory Matters.					
No Appraisal Rights with Respect to the Internalization	You will not be entitled to appraisal rights with respect to the Internalization. However, if you do not vote in favor of Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and otherwise comply with the relevant statutory provisions of Maryland law governing appraisal rights, you may be entitled to rights of appraisal under Maryland law with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. While we are not aware of any direct authority as to whether amendments to our Articles such as those contemplated by the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would be deemed to substantially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder, in the event you wish to make your own determination of whether you have rights of appraisal with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we encourage you to consider applicable Maryland law and to consider engaging Maryland counsel. We reserve the right to challenge your determination, if any, as to whether rights of appraisal exist in connection with the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Internalization Proposal. For a discussion regarding your appraisal rights under Maryland law, see Explanation of Maryland Appraisal Rights Statute. See also <b>Appendix G</b> hereto, which sets forth the relevant statutory provisions.					
U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations	The Internalization will not result in the recognition of taxable income by us or our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes and will not affect our qualification as a REIT. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Certain Financial and Other Information Regarding the Internalization Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.					
Accounting Treatment	We intend to account for the Internalization Transaction as the consummation of a business combination between parties with a pre-existing relationship. We intend to allocate the Internalization Consideration to identifiable tangible and intangible assets, with the remainder allocated to goodwill. No portion of the Internalization Consideration was deemed to be related to the settlement of contracts with the Advisor. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Certain Financial and Other Information Regarding the Internalization Accounting Treatment.					

Risk FactorsThere are a number of risks associated with the Internalization that you should consider before returning<br/>your proxy. See Risk Factors.Board RecommendationsAfter careful consideration, including consideration of the unanimous recommendation of the Special<br/>Committee, our Board has unanimously approved (other than Messrs. Wells and Williams, who have<br/>material financial interests in the Internalization and who recused themselves from consideration of and the<br/>vote on this matter) the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the other transactions<br/>expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement. Our Board and the Special Committee<br/>believe that the terms of the Internalization are fair and reasonable to us and are advisable and in the best<br/>interests of us and our stockholders. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Recommendations of the<br/>Special Committee and Our Board of Directors. The Board recommendshat you vote FOR the<br/>Internalization Proposal (Messrs. Wells and Williams, who have a material financial interest in the<br/>Internalization, recused themselves from consideration of and the vote on this matter).

Our Board and the Special Committee deemed it advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, and our Board has recommended it to our stockholders for their approval. **Our Board unanimously approved the form of the Pre-Listing Restated Articles and recommends that you vote FOR the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.** 

Our Board and the Special Committee deemed it advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, and our Board has recommended it to our stockholders for their approval. **Our Board unanimously approved the form of the Post-Listing Restated Articles and recommends that you vote FOR the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.** 

Our Board has determined it advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Incentive Plan Proposal, and our Board has recommended it to our stockholders for their approval. Our Board unanimously approved the form of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan and recommends that you vote FOR the Incentive Plan Proposal.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

This proxy statement contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including, but not limited to, statements regarding our near-term objectives and long-term strategies, the expected Closing and certain other transactions, the possible effects of the adoption or failure to adopt the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, the anticipated benefits of the Internalization, our ability to hire executive officers, the potential Listing of our common stock, expectations of short-term and long-term liquidity requirements and needs, future stock redemptions, the declaration or payment of distributions, stock issuances under our distribution reinvestment plan (the DRP ) and other statements that are not historical facts, and/or statements containing words such as anticipate(s), expect(s), intend(s), plan(s), target(s), project(s), will. believe(s). woul may, estimate(s) and similar expressions. These statements are based on management s current expectations, beliefs and assumptions and are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could lead to actual results materially different from those described in the forward-looking statements. We can give no assurance that our expectations will be attained. Factors that could adversely affect our operations and prospects or which could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited to:

changes in local and national real estate market conditions and general economic conditions, including extended U.S. military combat operations abroad, the occurrence of or potential for terrorist attacks and the occurrence or perceived likelihood of the occurrence of contagious diseases or pandemics;

availability of capital from short-term borrowings or future equity offerings;

our ability to obtain additional long-term financing on satisfactory terms;

changes in interest rates and financial and capital markets;

our ability to continue to identify and acquire suitable investments;

our ability to consummate the transactions contemplated under the Definitive Merger Agreement, or other existing and future agreements;

failure of closing conditions to be satisfied and/or to secure certain third-party consents in connection with certain transactions;

changes in the structure of pending transactions;

whether the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Internalization Proposal are approved by our stockholders and whether the Internalization is consummated;

legislative or regulation developments that could have the effect of delaying or preventing the Internalization;

the effect of the announcement of the Internalization on our existing relationships, operating results and business generally;

### Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

our ability to successfully operate as an internally advised or self-advised REIT;

our ability to retain our employees or employees of the Advisor;

our ability to List;

changes in valuations of publicly traded REIT securities, if we are able to List;

changes in generally accepted accounting principles, policies and guidelines and/or their application to us;

our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT and to make payments which are necessary, including distributions to our stockholders, to maintain such qualification;

legislative or regulatory changes, including changes to laws governing the taxation of REITs;

such other risk factors as may be discussed herein and in other reports on file or subsequently filed with the SEC, including Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. See Where can I find more information about you? on page 14; and

additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this proxy statement. We expressly disclaim any obligation to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any statement is based, except as required by law.

# Certain of our current and future directors and officers have potential conflicts of interest due to their financial interests in the Internalization.

All of our current executive officers and certain of our directors have material financial interests in the Internalization. In particular, Messrs. Wells, Williams and Fretz are also officers and members of the Advisor or its affiliates and, through their ownership of membership interests in WASI, own indirect economic interests in WREAS and WGS. Messrs. Wells, Williams and Fretz will collectively receive beneficial economic interests in approximately 18,373,524 shares of our common stock as a result of the Internalization. Mr. Wells will receive an indirect beneficial economic interest in our stock through his ownership of Wells REF, which is the sole shareholder of Wells Capital and Wells Management, which together own in the aggregate approximately 92% of the economic interests in WASI. Messrs. Williams and Fretz will each receive a beneficial economic interest in approximately 195,463 shares of our common stock through each of their individual approximately 1% economic ownership interest in WASI. Further, Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer and President, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers, will each receive a beneficial economic interest in approximately 195,463 shares of our common stock through their individual approximately 1% economic ownership interests in WASI. In addition, as part of the Internalization, Wells Capital, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells REF, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Wells, will exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP for an additional 22,339 shares of our common stock.

# Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and enforcing some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization Transaction.

As discussed throughout this proxy statement, Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer, President and a director, will receive a beneficial economic interest in our common stock through his approximately 1% ownership interest in WASI, which will receive 19,546,302 in shares of our common stock (valued at approximately \$175 million) as a result of the Internalization Transaction. Certain provisions of the Definitive Merger Agreement and many of the ancillary agreements which will be executed in connection with the Internalization Transaction have significant financial impacts on WASI. In particular, Mr. Miller will be subject to conflicts of interest in connection with the enforcement against WASI of indemnification obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement, the enforcement of the Pledge and Security Agreement, and the release of escrowed shares of our common stock issued to WASI under the Escrow Agreement, each of which could have a negative effect on the number of shares actually issued to WASI in the Internalization Transaction and, accordingly, the number of shares in which Mr. Miller will have an economic interest and, thus, directly impact his personal financial interests.

# Future sales of shares of our Common Stock by the owners of the Advisor may adversely affect the fair market value of our shares of Common Stock.

While the shares WASI acquires in the Internalization as Internalization Consideration will be subject to a lock-up provision pursuant to the terms of the Pledge and Security Agreement, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by the owners of the Advisor after the expiration of the lock-up period, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the prices of our common stock if a Listing has occurred. In addition, these sales might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and price we deem appropriate.

#### Leo F. Wells, III will face conflicts of interest relating to the positions he holds with entities affiliated with Wells REF.

Leo F. Wells, III, our former President and current Chairman and director, who we anticipate will remain as our Chairman and one of our directors at least through a possible Listing, is also an executive officer and the chairman of the board of directors of Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc., and Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. As such, Mr. Wells owes fiduciary duties to these entities and their stockholders. Such fiduciary duties may from time to time conflict with the fiduciary duties owed to us and our stockholders. Therefore, Mr. Wells could take actions that are more favorable to these other entities than to us. Some of such conflicts may include the following:

decisions to purchase or sell certain properties which may also be purchased or sold by Wells REIT II or Institutional REIT, Inc.

decisions related to properties we may own in the same geographic areas as those owned by Wells REIT II or Institutional REIT, Inc. In those cases, a conflict could arise in the leasing of properties if we and these entities were to compete for the same tenants in negotiating leases, or a conflict could arise in connection with the resale of properties in the event that we and these entities were to attempt to sell similar properties at the same time.

decisions to enter into transactions with Wells REIT II or Institutional REIT, Inc., such as property acquisitions, joint ventures or financing arrangements.

decisions regarding the timing of property sales could be influenced by concerns that the sales would compete with those of Wells REIT II or Institutional REIT, Inc.

decisions regarding the timing of an offering of our common stock which could be influenced by concerns that the offering would compete with an offering of Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc. or Wells Timberland REIT, Inc.

See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Changes to our Board and Resolution of Certain Conflicts of Interest on our Board.

### Leo F. Wells, III and our other directors will face competing demands on their time relating to the positions they hold with other entities affiliated with Wells REF.

As discussed above, Leo F. Wells, III, is also an executive officer and the chairman of the board of directors of Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc., and Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. Mr. Wells also holds positions in various affiliates of Wells REF. Specifically, Mr. Wells is also the sole stockholder, sole director, President and Treasurer of Wells REF, which, through Wells Capital and other affiliates, provides advisory services to Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc., and Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. and has sponsored and/or serves as general partner of 15 public real estate limited partnerships and various private real estate programs. Mr. Wells is also the sole director, President and Treasurer of both Wells Management and Wells Capital. In addition, Donald S. Moss, one of our Independent Directors, is also a director of Wells Timberland REIT, Inc., and all of our current Independent Directors and Mr. Wells are trustees of the Wells Family of Real Estate Funds, an open-end management company organized as an Ohio business trust, which includes as one of its series the Wells S&P REIT Index Fund. As such, all of these individuals have competing demands on their time and will not devote their full attention to us.

#### After Internalization, we may have to compete with Wells REF and its affiliates for properties and tenants.

We have not and will not enter into any non-competition agreements with Wells REF or any of its affiliates in connection with the Internalization. Currently, Wells REF and its affiliates sponsor several public and private real estate programs, many of which invest in commercial properties similar to the properties in which we currently invest, or in which we may invest in the future. Therefore, due to the lack of any non-competition agreements, Wells REF and its affiliates may compete freely with us for certain properties or certain tenants at properties, which may have an adverse effect on our operating results, or may adversely affect the value of our shares if we List our shares in the future.

#### We may continue to invest with affiliates of Wells REF.

We have in the past invested in joint ventures with other programs sponsored by affiliates of Wells REF and currently own a number of properties in joint ventures with programs sponsored by affiliates of Wells REF. We may continue to invest in joint ventures with other programs sponsored by affiliates of Wells REF following the Internalization.

#### Our net income per share and FFO per share may decrease in the near term as a result of the Internalization.

Our net income and funds from operation (FFO) may decrease as a result of the Internalization. While we will no longer bear the costs of the various fees and expense reimbursements previously paid to our external advisors if and after we become self-advised, our expenses will include the compensation and benefits of our officers, employees and consultants, as well as overhead previously paid by our external advisors or their affiliates. Furthermore, these employees will be providing us services historically provided by our external advisors. There are no assurances that, following the Internalization Transaction, we will be able to provide those services at the same level or for the same costs as were previously provided to us under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, and there may be unforeseen costs, expenses and difficulties associated with providing those services on a self-advised basis. If the expenses we assume as a result of the Internalization are higher than we anticipate, our net income and FFO may be lower as a result of the Internalization than it otherwise would have been. In addition, 19,546,302 shares of our common stock will be issued as consideration for the Internalization and 22,339 shares of our common stock will be issued in exchange for Wells Capital s 20,000 limited partnership units in Wells OP in connection with the Internalization, thereby increasing the number of our outstanding shares of common stock by 19,586,641, and potentially causing our net income per share and FFO per share to decrease.

#### We may be exposed to risks to which we have not historically been exposed.

The Internalization will expose us to risks to which we have not historically been exposed. Excluding the effect of the eliminated asset management fees, our direct overhead, on a consolidated basis, will increase as a result of becoming self-advised. Under the current Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, the responsibility for such overhead is borne by the Advisor and its affiliates. In our current externally-advised structure, we do not directly employ any employees. As a result of the Internalization, we will directly employ persons who are currently associated with the Advisor or its affiliates and others currently employed by unaffiliated companies and will establish a new defined contribution retirement plan for our employees. We currently anticipate that we will have approximately 100 to 110 employees following the Internalization. As their employer, we will be subject to those potential liabilities that are commonly faced by employers, such as workers disability and compensation claims, potential labor disputes and other employees will be providing us services historically provided by our external Advisor with the support of the Support Services Agreement and the Transition Services Agreement. There are no assurances that the Advisor we will be acquiring in the Internalization, its management or employees will be able to provide us with the same level of services when we are self-advised as were previously provided to us under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, and there may be unforeseen costs, expenses and difficulties associated with the internalized Advisor providing services to us.

# We have not yet hired all of our executive officers, including our Chief Financial Officer, and there is no assurance we will be able hire these individuals in the near future.

We have currently only hired one of our top executive officers who will run our day-to-day operations if the Internalization is approved. The only executive officer we have hired to date is Donald A. Miller, CFA, who is our new Chief Executive Officer, President and a member of our Board. Although the Advisor we are acquiring is obligated under the Definitive Merger Agreement to hire certain individuals who will become our employees as a result of the Internalization and our compensation committee is in preliminary negotiations with certain individuals, we have not yet hired any other of our executive officers including our Chief Financial Officer. If we fail to hire qualified individuals for these key positions prior to the Closing Date, our operations and financial results could suffer. We can not assure you that we will be able to hire such individuals prior to or immediately after the Closing Date. Additionally, if we are unable to hire, or delayed in hiring, qualified individuals for these positions, it may delay our ability to List our common stock in the future.

#### After the Internalization, we will be dependent on our own executive officers and employees.

We will rely on a small number of persons, particularly Donald A. Miller, CFA, to carry out our business and investment strategies. Any of our senior management, including Mr. Miller, may cease to provide services to us at any time. In addition, Leo F. Wells, III, has resigned as our President, and Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and a director, and Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, have advised our Board that they intend to resign their executive officer positions effective as of the closing of the Internalization Transaction. Therefore, none of our previous executive officers will remain involved in the day-to-day operations of Wells REIT after Internalization. The loss of the services of any of our key management personnel, or our inability to recruit and retain qualified personnel in the future, could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. As we expand, we will continue to need to try to attract and retain qualified additional senior management, but may not be able to do so on acceptable terms.

# The failure of our stockholders to approve the Incentive Plan Proposal could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

We have entered into an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, our Chief Executive Officer and President, and may enter into the employment agreements with other individuals associated with the Advisor or its affiliates and others that we may hire. Such employment agreements will be with persons who will constitute our senior management following the Internalization. Our employment agreement with Mr. Miller does, and we anticipate that these other agreements will, provide, among other things, for incentive compensation awards and target bonuses that will be paid pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan if such plan is approved. If the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan or a similar plan is not approved by our stockholders, and we do not otherwise provide bonuses and other equity based incentive awards to Mr. Miller or other members of our management team with whom we may enter into employment agreements in the future, Mr. Miller will be entitled to terminate his employment agreement and other such executives may be entitled to terminate their respective agreements. Further, if the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is not approved by our stockholders, it could materially adversely affect us because we could be deprived of the services of our senior management and the ability to provide the incentives necessary to attract qualified replacements and other personnel.

# The share price of \$8.9531 agreed to by the parties to the Definitive Merger Agreement in their negotiation of the terms of the Internalization may not reflect the fair market value of our shares of common stock.

We recently engaged an independent appraisal firm to perform a valuation of our properties as of September 30, 2006. As a result of this valuation, our Board determined that the estimated net asset value of our shares of common stock, based primarily on the estimated net asset value of our real estate portfolio, was \$8.93 per share. The \$8.93 estimated net asset value per share was provided by an independent third party which based its estimate upon (1) the appraised value of our real estate assets as of September 30, 2006, and (2) consideration of the current value of our other assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006 (including the contingent liability for the subordinated disposition fee described below). This estimated net asset value per share is only an estimate, and is based upon a number of assumptions

and estimates, which may not be accurate or complete. There were no liquidity discounts applied to this estimated valuation or discounts relating to the fact that we are currently externally managed, and no attempt was made to value the Company as an enterprise. Further, this should not be viewed as the amount a stockholder would receive in the event that we were to list our shares in the future or to liquidate our assets and distribute the proceeds to our stockholders since, among other things, this valuation was not reduced by potential real estate brokerage commissions or other costs of sale. As described elsewhere in this proxy statement, the Special Committee negotiated the amount of the Internalization consideration by negotiating an aggregate price expressed in dollars (\$175 million) and agreeing to use the September 30, 2006 estimated net asset valuation as a basis for determining the number of shares that would represent \$175 million in value; however, since the estimated net asset valuation took into account an approximately \$12.4 million subordinated disposition fee otherwise payable to the Advisor upon a liquidation of our properties at their September 30, 2006 appraised values, and the obligation to pay this contingent liability would be extinguished upon the acquisition of the Advisor, the parties agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement to use a per-share value of \$8,9531 (calculated by excluding the potential liability for the subordinated disposition fee) to determine the amount of shares paid as Internalization Consideration and to Wells Capital in the Internalization Transaction. Since at present there is no active trading market for our shares of common stock, there is no objective way to precisely value the shares that WASI will receive in the Internalization. If we complete a Listing in the future, the prices at which our common stock trade following the Listing will provide a more objective indication of the value of each share received by WASI. If the fair market value of the 19,546,302 shares to be received by WASI in the Internalization turns out to be greater than \$8.9531 per share, WASI will have received consideration worth more than \$175 million for the Internalization. Conversely, if the fair market value of those shares turns out to be less than \$8.9531 per share, WASI will have received consideration worth less than \$175 million. Neither party has the right to terminate the Definitive Merger Agreement due to any change in the fair market value of our common stock. If we pursue and complete a Listing, our common stock may trade in the public market at prices higher or lower than \$8.9531 per share.

### Our organizational documents contain provisions which may discourage a takeover of us and could depress the price of our shares of Common Stock.

Our organizational documents contain provisions which may discourage a takeover of us and could depress the price of our common stock. Upon completion of the Internalization, approval and implementation of the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the implementation of anticipated amendments to our existing Bylaws, our organizational documents will contain provisions which may have an anti-takeover effect, inhibit a change of our management, or inhibit in certain circumstances tender offers for our common stock or proxy contests to change our Board. These provisions include: directors may only be removed for cause; the stockholders are restricted from altering the number of directors; ownership limits and restrictions on transferability that are intended to enable us to continue to qualify as a REIT; broad discretion to our Board to take action, without stockholder approval, to issue new classes of securities that may discourage a third party from acquiring us; the ability, through board action or bylaw amendment to opt-in to certain provisions of Maryland law that may impede efforts to effect a change in control of us; advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and stockholder nominations of directors; and the absence of cumulative voting rights. In addition, the employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, contains, and the terms of other of our employment agreements and grants under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan may contain, change-in-control provisions that might similarly have an anti-takeover effect, inhibit a change of our management, or inhibit in certain circumstances tender offers for our common stock or proxy contests to change our Board.

#### We may not be successful in executing potential growth strategies or other investment or operational strategies.

As set forth in the Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction section of this proxy statement, at a meeting of our Independent Directors held on January 31, 2007, certain representatives of Wells REF made a presentation involving, among other things, certain growth strategies following the Internalization Transaction, including the strategy of establishing property management offices, proposals to increase our leverage and to engage in significant property acquisitions, strategies involving engaging in certain joint venture transactions, and other growth strategies over the next few years, as well as other potential investment and operational strategies. Incurring increased levels of debt will result in increased interest expenses which could increase the risk

associated with our real estate portfolio. In addition, there are no assurances that we will be able to successfully execute strategies relating to additional property acquisitions, other growth strategies or other investment or operational strategies following Internalization.

#### We may not maintain our current level of dividends.

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of dividends to our stockholders, including but not limited to, the availability of cash flows from operations, our short-term and long-term liquidity requirements and needs, the level of reserves we establish for future capital expenditures, as well as the impact of pursuing potential growth strategies or other investment or operational strategies as described above. Further, if we List our common stock in the future, our board of directors would also consider additional factors in determining the amount and timing of dividends, such as the level of dividends paid by comparable Listed REITs. If we List our common stock, we believe it is probable that our dividend policy would change, likely resulting in the establishment of additional reserves for capital improvements and a reduction in our dividends consistent with dividends paid by comparable Listed REITs. However, the amount of this change is indeterminable at this time. In addition, there is no assurance that we would not decide to establish additional reserves for capital improvements or otherwise reduce our current level of dividends in the event we determine not to implement a Listing. For these reasons, among others, we may not maintain our current level of dividends.

#### The Internalization may have a negative effect on our REIT status for tax purposes.

In order to maintain our status as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we are not permitted to have current or accumulated earnings and profits carried over from the Advisor. Under the Definitive Merger Agreement, WREAS and WGS have agreed that, prior to the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, each will adopt resolutions declaring dividends to WASI so as to ensure that WREAS and WGS do not have any current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for federal income tax purposes) as of the Closing Date and that such dividends shall be paid prior to the Closing Date. Additionally, it is a condition of closing that we, WREAS and WGS receive written comfort from our accountants that neither WREAS nor WGS will have any current or accumulated earnings and profits as of the Closing Date of the Internalization. Nevertheless, if the IRS were to successfully assert that we did acquire current or accumulated earnings and profits, we would lose our REIT qualification for the year of the Internalization, any other taxable years during which we held such acquired earnings and profits and the four taxable years following any such year, unless, in the year of such determination, we make an additional distribution of the amount of earnings and profits determined to be acquired from the Advisor plus any required interest charge. In order to make such an additional distribution, we could be required to borrow funds or sell assets even if prevailing market conditions were not generally favorable.

In addition, as described in the Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations section of this proxy statement, it is not entirely clear how the assets to be acquired from the Advisor in the proposed Internalization will be classified for purposes of the Asset Tests and Income Tests applicable for REIT qualification purposes. For any taxable year that we fail to qualify as a REIT for any reason, we would not be entitled to a deduction for dividends paid to our stockholders in calculating our taxable income. Consequently, our net assets, our earnings, and our distributions to our stockholders would be substantially reduced because of our increased tax liability.

# If the Internalization is approved by our stockholders, we may face additional risks and costs associated with directly managing properties with government tenants.

We currently own nine properties where some or all of the tenants at such properties are federal government agencies. Because federal government agencies are the tenants at these properties, the lease agreements contain certain provisions required by federal law. The provisions of these leases require, among other things, that the contractor, which is the lessor or the owner of the property, agree to comply with certain rules and regulations, including but not limited to, rules and regulations related to anti-kickback procedures, examination of records, audits and records, equal opportunity provisions, prohibition against segregated facilities, certain executive orders, subcontractor cost or pricing data, and certain provisions intending to assist small businesses. Six of these properties are currently being managed by WGS,

which is currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI. As part of the Internalization, we will acquire WGS, which will be merged into and become WGS Acquisition, our wholly-owned subsidiary. As a result, after Internalization, we, through our wholly-owned subsidiary, will be directly managing these properties having federal government agencies as tenants. As a direct manager for these properties, we will be subject to additional risks associated with compliance with all such federal rules and regulations. In addition, there are certain additional requirements relating to the potential application of certain equal opportunity provisions and the related requirement to prepare written affirmative action plans applicable to government contractors and subcontractors. Some of the factors used to determine whether such requirements apply to a company which is affiliated with the actual government contractor, the legal entity which is the lessor under a lease with a federal government agencies, the government contractor in each case, were our wholly-owned subsidiaries and, as set forth above, the leasing of these properties was being handled by WGS, which was not under common ownership, common management or common control with us or our wholly-owned subsidiaries; however, after Internalization, we will own both the entities which are the government contractors and the property manager, WGS, increasing the risk that such equal opportunity requirements and requirements to prepare affirmative action plans pursuant to the applicable executive order may be determined to be applicable to us.

#### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF THE ADVISOR

As set forth elsewhere in this proxy statement, when we refer to the Advisor, we are referring to WREAS and WGS and their predecessors, as applicable, including those portions of the operations of WASI, Wells Management and Wells Capital, which previously provided advisory and management services to us under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement. Please read the following selected financial data of the Advisor in conjunction with Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Advisor and the financial statements and related notes of the Advisor included elsewhere in this proxy statement (in thousands, except for share data):

The following table sets forth selected financial data relating to the Advisor s historical financial condition and results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Please read the following selected financial data of the Advisor in conjunction with Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Advisor and the Advisor s (1) unaudited balance sheet as of September 30, 2006, and the related unaudited statements of income, changes in owner s deficit, and cash flows for the nine months then ended, together with the related notes thereto, (2) audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, and the related audited statements of income, changes in owner s deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, together 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related unaudited statements of income, changes in owner s deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, together with the related notes thereto, in each case included elsewhere in this proxy statement.

	(th	ousands)			(thousands)		
	For the Nine Months Ended September 30,			For			
		2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001
Total assets	\$	912	\$ 2,752	\$ 3,302	\$ 32,520	\$ 15,975	\$ 2,166
Owner s equity (deficit)	\$	(6,125)	\$ (5,317)	\$ (6,741)	\$ (1,811)	\$ (2,430)	\$ (4,316)
Total revenues	\$	25,157	\$ 35,263	\$ 36,829	\$ 127,432	\$ 73,687	\$ 31,079
Net income	\$	9,247	\$ 11,606	\$ 14,314	\$ 54,636	\$ 29,290	\$ 10,317
Cash flows from operations	\$	10,055	\$ 10,182	\$ 19,244	\$ 54,017	\$ 27,404	\$ 14,633
Cash flows used in financing activities	\$	(10,055)	\$ (10,182)	\$ (19,244)	\$ (54,017)	\$ (27,404)	\$ (14,633)

#### MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

#### **OPERATIONS OF THE ADVISOR**

The management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results operations of the Advisor consists of analyses and comparisons of the operating results of the Advisor for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, and the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

The following discussion and analysis of the Advisor s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Selected Financial Data of the Advisor and the audited financial statements and notes thereto. This discussion and analysis contains certain forward-looking statements. When used in this discussion and analysis, the words may, will, expect, anticipate, continue, estimate, projuintend, believe, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. There are various factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those which are expressed in, or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, but are not limited to, changes in general economic conditions, changes in real estate conditions, changes in our ability to acquire and lease properties on favorable terms and changes in our ability to satisfy fees and expense reimbursements due to the Advisor. Readers of this report are cautioned to consider these uncertainties in connection with all forward-looking statements.

#### Overview

The Advisor provides various services to us, including acquisition services, asset and property management services and other services related to raising capital in our public equity offerings. We are considered an affiliate of the Advisor, as certain of our officers and directors also serve as officers of and/or own interests in WREAS, Wells Management or Wells Capital. The Advisor s success depends upon its ability to continue its relationship with us and therefore, ultimately, the Advisor s success is dependent on our success. Due to the Advisor s dependence on us, the general trends of real estate prices and costs will have a natural bearing on the Advisor s ability to generate revenue and cash flows.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies**

#### General

The discussion and analysis of the Advisor s financial condition and results of operations is based upon its financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures. These estimates are based on judgment and historical experience, and are believed to be reasonable based on current circumstances. The Advisor s management evaluates these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis.

While management of the Advisor does not believe that the reported amounts would be materially different, application of these policies involves the exercise of judgment and the use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The following represent certain critical accounting policies that require the use of business judgment or significant estimates to be made.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

Revenues primarily include fees earned for providing asset management services and acquisition and advisory services to us. Asset management fees are earned as services are performed and are calculated as a percentage of the fair market value of all properties owned directly by us and of our interest in properties held through joint ventures. Acquisition and advisory fees are earned as we raise capital based on a percentage of gross equity proceeds raised for services related to investing those capital proceeds in real estate assets.

In addition, the Advisor earns reimbursement income for certain general and administrative costs and organization and offering costs paid on behalf of us, subject to certain limitations. The Advisor charges us for reimbursements of administrative costs based on management s estimate of the time spent and services used by us. In the opinion of management, these allocations provide a reasonable estimate of such expenses. The Advisor earns organization and offering cost reimbursements as capital is raised equal to the lesser of 3% of gross offering proceeds or actual costs incurred.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

Management expects that the Advisor s principal source of working capital and funding for distributions to owners will be cash flow provided by operations, including amounts due from affiliates. Over the short-term, management believes that this source of capital will continue to be adequate to meet the Advisor s liquidity requirements and capital commitments. These liquidity and capital requirements and commitments primarily include operating expenses associated with the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, Acquisition Advisory Agreement and Master Property Management Agreement.

#### Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

The Advisor generated operating cash flows of approximately \$10.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 due to generating revenues in excess of expenses during this period as is further explained in the Results of Operations section below for this period.

#### Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2005

The Advisor generated operating cash flows of approximately \$10.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 due to generating revenues in excess of expenses during this period as is further explained in the Results of Operations section below for this period.

#### Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2004

The Advisor generated operating cash flows of approximately \$19.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 due to generating revenues in excess of expenses during this period as is further explained in the Results of Operations section below for this period.

#### Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2003

The Advisor generated operating cash flows of approximately \$54.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2003 due to generating revenues in excess of expenses during this period as is further explained in the Results of Operations section below for this period.

#### **Results of Operations**

#### Comparison of Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 to the Year Ended December 31, 2005

The Advisor earned total revenues of approximately \$25.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, primarily related to asset and property management fees of approximately \$18.1 million (or 72.1% of total revenues), salaries and benefits reimbursements of approximately \$5.5 million (or 21.8% of total revenues), and acquisition and advisory fees of approximately \$1.3 million (or 5.3% of total revenues). The Advisor earned total revenues of approximately \$35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily related to asset and property management fees of approximately \$22.5 million (or 63.7% of total revenues), salaries and benefits reimbursements of approximately

\$8.7 million (or 24.6% of total revenues), and acquisition and advisory fees of approximately \$3.3 million (or 9.4% of total revenues). The percentage of total revenues represented by asset and property management fees increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily as a result of eliminating acquisition and advisory fees payable in connection with sales of our common stock pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan beginning in July 2006.

The Advisor incurred total expenses of approximately \$10.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, primarily related to salaries, bonuses and benefits of approximately \$7.7 million (or 75.9% of total expenses) and general and administrative expenses of approximately \$2.4 million (or 24.1% of total expenses). The Advisor incurred total expenses of approximately \$16.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily related to salaries, bonuses and benefits of approximately \$12.3 million (or 75.2% of total expenses) and general and administrative expenses of approximately \$4.1 million (or 24.8% of total expenses). As compared to the year ended December 31, 2005, the Advisor incurred less salaries, bonuses and benefits during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 on an annualized basis, primarily as a result of declaring and paying bonuses semi-annually and, as a result, recognizing bonuses for 12 months during the year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to recognizing bonuses for six months during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

#### Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2005 to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

The Advisor s total revenues decreased from approximately \$36.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily due to earning less in asset and property management fees as a result of changing the terms under which such fees are calculated from a percentage of our revenues in 2004 to a percentage of the estimated fair market value of our properties in 2005, and the decrease in the size of our portfolio following the April 2005 27-property sale.

The Advisor s total expenses increased from approximately \$13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$16.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily due to declaring and paying bonuses of approximately \$3.2 million during 2005, as compared to \$0 during 2004, partially offset by a decrease in salary and benefits expenses of approximately \$0.4 million commensurate with the decrease in the size of our real estate portfolio following the April 2005 27-property sale.

#### Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2004 to the Year Ended December 31, 2003

The Advisor s total revenues decreased from approximately \$127.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$36.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily due to earning approximately \$83.5 million less in acquisition and advisory fees and approximately \$21.1 million less in organization and offering cost reimbursements as a result of the closing of our public equity offering at the end of 2003, partially offset by earning additional asset and property management fees of approximately \$9.8 million as a result of acquiring and placing additional properties into service during 2003 and 2004.

The Advisor s total expenses decreased from approximately \$38.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily due to incurring approximately \$21.1 million less in organization and offering costs and approximately \$3.9 million less in salaries, bonuses and benefits as a result of the closing of our public equity offering at the end of 2003.

#### COMPARATIVE PER-SHARE DATA OF THE COMPANY AND THE ADVISOR

The following tabulation reflects (a) the historical net income or (loss) from continuing operations and book value per share of our common stock in comparison with the pro forma net income or (loss) from continuing operations and book value per share after giving effect to the property acquisitions and dispositions and the Internalization, as described on pages F-4 through F-7; (b) the historical net income or (loss) from continuing operations in comparison with the equivalent pro forma net income or (loss) from continuing operations and book value per share attributable to 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (the aggregate number of shares of our common stock into which the shares of common stock of WREAS and WGS will be converted in the Internalization based on the per-share price) (the Conversion Ratio ); and (c) the actual cash dividends per share compared with the equivalent pro forma of the cash dividend paid based on the Conversion Ratio. The information presented in this tabulation should be read in conjunction with the pro forma consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements of the respective companies and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this proxy statement (in thousands, except per-share amounts).

	Nine Mo	onths Ended		
			Ye	ar Ended
	Septe	mber 30,		
	2	2006	Decem	ber 31, 2005
Wells REIT:				
Net Income				
Historical	\$	0.20	\$	0.30
Pro Forma	\$	0.21	\$	0.27
Distributions				
Historical	\$	0.44	\$	0.61
Pro Forma	\$	0.44	\$	0.61
Book Value				
Historical	\$	6.27	\$	6.41
Pro Forma	\$	6.41	\$	6.34
<u>The Advisor</u> :				
Net Income				
Historical	\$	4,624	\$	5,803
Pro Forma	\$	2,052	\$	2,639
Distributions				
Historical	\$	5,028	\$	5,091
Pro Forma	\$	4,300	\$	5,962
Book Value				
Historical	\$	(3,063)	\$	(2,659)
Pro Forma	\$	62,604	\$	61,994

#### **PROPOSAL I:**

#### THE INTERNALIZATION PROPOSAL

#### **Our Company**

Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (Wells REIT or Company) is a Maryland corporation formed on July 3, 1997, which commenced active operations on June 5, 1998 and which qualifies as a real estate investment trust (REIT) for federal income tax purposes. Substantially all of our business is conducted through our operating partnership, Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), a Delaware limited partnership, or subsidiaries of Wells OP. Wells REIT is the sole general partner, and Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital) is currently the sole limited partner of Wells OP. Wells OP owns properties directly, through wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with unaffiliated partnerships sponsored by Wells Capital. We have a controlling interest in the unaffiliated joint ventures and, accordingly, consolidate the accounts of these entities. Conversely, we do not have a controlling interest in the joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital and, accordingly, do not consolidate the accounts of these entities.

We engage in the acquisition and ownership of commercial real estate properties, including properties that are under construction, newly constructed, or have operating histories. Our portfolio consists primarily of high-grade office and industrial buildings leased to large corporate tenants located throughout the United States. As of September 30, 2006, all properties currently owned by us are office buildings, warehouses, and manufacturing facilities or some combination thereof; however, we are not limited to such investments.

Our stock is not listed on a national exchange. However, our articles of incorporation currently require that we begin the process of liquidating our investments and distributing the resulting proceeds to our stockholders if our shares are not listed on a national exchange or over-the-counter market by January 30, 2008. This provision of our articles of incorporation can only be amended by a vote of our stockholders.

#### **Ownership of Wells Capital in Wells OP**

Wells Capital currently owns 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP for which it contributed \$200,000 and which constitutes 100% of the limited partner units of Wells OP outstanding at this time. Wells Capital may not sell any of these units during the period it serves as our advisor. In connection with the Internalization Transaction, Wells Capital will exchange its 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP for 22,339 shares of our common stock.

#### Interest of our officers and directors in the Advisor and certain of its Affiliates

Two of our directors, our Chairman, Leo F. Wells, III, and Douglas P. Williams, and two of our current executive officers, Mr. Williams and Randall D. Fretz, are also executive officers of Wells Capital, one of our external advisors, and Leo F. Wells, III is an executive officer of Wells Management, another of our external advisors and our property manager. Wells Capital and Wells Management are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells REF. Mr. Wells, who is also one of our directors, is the sole shareholder, sole director and President of Wells REF, and the President and sole director of Wells Capital and Wells Management, our former advisors and property manager. Mr. Williams, who is also our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and one of our directors, is a Vice President of Wells REF and Senior Vice President of Wells Capital. Mr. Fretz, who is our current Senior Vice President, is also Vice President of Wells REF and Senior Vice President of Wells Capital. In addition, Messrs. Fretz and Williams are both executive officers and directors of Wells Investment Securities, Inc., the dealer manager of the offering of shares of our common stock.

WASI, as the sole stockholder of both WREAS and WGS, will be the recipient of the Internalization Consideration in connection with this transaction. As set forth in the Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services,

Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements section of this proxy statement, WASI was formed on December 21, 2005 by Wells Management and Wells Capital (the majority members ), along with eight executives of Wells REF (the minority members ), including Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and one of our directors, Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer, President and one of our directors, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers, with each of the minority members owning an approximately 1% economic interest in WASI.

The operating agreement of WASI allocates the shares of our common stock to be received by WASI as the Internalization Consideration approximately 92% in the aggregate to Wells Management and Wells Capital and approximately 1% to each of the minority members (including Messrs. Williams, Fretz and Miller). As set forth above, both Wells Management and Wells Capital are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells REF, and Leo F. Wells, III, our Chairman, one of our directors and our former President, is the sole shareholder of Wells REF.

#### **Our Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements**

We currently have three agreements pursuant to which advisory and property management services are provided to us: the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, and the Master Property Management Agreement (each of which is described below).

#### Asset Management Advisory Agreement

We are currently a party to the Asset Management Advisory Agreement (the Asset Management Advisory Agreement ), originally between us and Wells Management, which has been assigned by Wells Management to WASI and then by WASI to WREAS. Under the terms of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, we incur asset management advisory fees payable to Wells Management for, among other things:

serving as our investment and financial advisor;

managing our day-to-day operations;

formulating and implementing strategies to administer, promote, manage, operate, maintain, improve, finance and refinance, market, lease, and dispose of properties; and

#### providing us certain accounting, compliance, and other administrative services.

The fees for these services are payable monthly in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 0.5% of the fair market value of all properties we own directly, plus our interest in properties held through joint ventures. This fee is reduced by (1) tenant-reimbursed property management fees paid to Wells Management, and (2) in the event that Wells Management retains an independent third-party property manager to manage one or more properties currently being managed by Wells Management, the amount of property management fees paid to such third-party property managers. At the option of Wells Management, up to 10% of such monthly fee may be paid in shares of our common stock. We incurred such fees of approximately \$6.2 million and \$5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and approximately \$18.0 million and \$16.5 million of such fees for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which are recorded as asset and property management fees-related party. We incurred such fees of \$0 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and \$0.4 million for the nine months ended 2005, respectively, which are recorded as asset and property management fees-related party. We incurred such fees of \$0 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and \$0.4 million for the nine months ended 2005, respectively, which are recorded as asset and property management fees-related party. We incurred such fees of \$0 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and \$0.4 million for the nine months ended 2005, respectively, which are recorded within income from discontinued operations.

Additionally, pursuant to the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, if the Internalization is not consummated, Wells Management is entitled to earn the following disposition and incentive fees, which are similar in nature to previous agreements:

For any property we sell, a disposition fee of the lesser of 50% of a competitive real estate commission or 3.0% of the sales price of the property, subordinated to the payment of distributions to stockholders equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital;

Incentive fee of 10% of net sales proceeds remaining after stockholders have received distributions equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital; or

Listing fee of 10% of the excess by which the market value of our common stock plus distributions paid prior to listing exceeds the sum of 100% of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital.

We incurred no disposition, incentive, or listing fees during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. However, on February 21, 2005, our Board approved a subordinated disposition fee of 0.33% of the gross sale price of the properties sold as part of the April 2005 27-property sale to be paid to Wells Management as a result of the closing of this transaction. Since the above conditions have not been met at this time, this fee was not paid at the closing of the property sale and will be paid only in the event and at the time that the conditions are met.

The Asset Management Advisory Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either side gives notice of its intent to not renew. In addition, either party may terminate the Asset Management Advisory Agreement upon 60 days written notice. If we terminate the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, we are required to pay Wells Management a subordinated performance fee. In such event, the subordinated performance fee that we would be required to pay to Wells Management is equal to (1) 10% of the amount, if any, by which (a) the appraised value of our properties at the termination date, less the amount of all indebtedness secured by such properties, plus total dividends distributed to our stockholders through the termination date, exceeds the sum of (b) all of the capital the stockholders have invested in our common stock, plus the amount that would be required to be paid to the stockholders to provide an annualized, non-cumulative return of 8.0% from inception through the termination date, less (2) any prior payments to Wells Management of its subordinated share of net sales proceeds.

#### Acquisition Advisory Agreement

We are currently a party to the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, originally between us and Wells Capital, which has been assigned by Wells Capital to WASI and then by WASI to WREAS. Under the terms of the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, we are obligated to pay a fee to Wells Capital for services relating to, among other things, capital-raising functions; the investigation, selection, and acquisition of properties; and certain transfer agent and stockholder communication functions. The fee payable to Wells Capital under the Acquisition Advisory Agreement is 3.5% of aggregate gross proceeds raised from the sale of our shares, exclusive of proceeds received from our dividend reinvestment plan used to fund repurchases of shares of common stock pursuant to our share redemption program. On November 15, 2005, our Board approved an amendment to the dividend reinvestment plan to, among other things, eliminate acquisition and advisory fees on shares sold under this plan beginning in September 2006. We incurred the following acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursement of acquisition expenses for the three months and nine months ended September 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively (in thousands):

	September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,		
			2006	2005		
Acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursement of acquisition expenses:	\$	0	\$	562	\$ 1,328	\$ 2,149

#### Master Property Management Agreement

We are currently a party to the Master Property Management, Leasing, and Construction Management Agreement (the Master Property Management Agreement ), originally between us and Wells Management, which has been assigned by Wells Management to WASI and then by WASI to WREAS. Under the Master Property Management Agreement, we retained Wells Management to manage, coordinate the leasing of, and manage construction activities related to certain of

our properties. Any amounts currently paid under the Master Property Management Agreement for properties that were managed by Wells Management under its prior Asset/Master Property Management Agreement (the Existing Portfolio Properties ) have the economic effect of reducing amounts payable for asset advisory services by being credited against amounts otherwise due under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement with respect to such properties. Management and leasing fees payable to Wells Management for properties to be acquired in the future are required to be specified in an amendment to the Master Property Management Agreement, which must be approved by our Board and will be payable in addition to fees payable pursuant to the Asset Management Advisory Agreement. Our current fees for the management and leasing of our properties, other than Existing Portfolio Properties, are generally consistent with the descriptions set forth below:

For properties for which Wells Management will provide property management services, we anticipate that we will pay Wells Management a market-based property management fee generally based on gross monthly income of the property.

For properties for which Wells Management provides leasing agent services, we anticipate that we will pay (1) a one-time initial lease-up fee in an amount not to exceed one-month s rent for the initial rent-up of a newly constructed building; (2) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of a new lease (not to exceed ten years); (3) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of any renewal or extension of any tenant lease; and (4) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable with respect to expansion space for the remaining portion of the initial lease term.

For properties for which Wells Management provides construction management services, we anticipate that we will pay (1) for planning and coordinating the construction of tenant-directed improvements, that portion of lease concessions for tenant-directed improvements as is specified in the lease or lease renewal, subject to a limit of 5% of such lease concessions; and (2) for other construction management services, a construction management fee to be determined and agreed to in an appropriate contract amendment.

The Master Property Management Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either party gives notice of its intent not to renew. In addition, either party may terminate the Master Property Management Agreement upon 60 days written notice.

Under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, we are required to reimburse each service provider for various costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its duties under such agreements, including reasonable wages and salaries and other employee related expenses such as taxes, insurance and benefits, of employees of the service provider who are directly engaged in providing services for or on behalf of Wells REIT. Under these agreements, reimbursements for such employee related expenses are capped at \$8,240,000 in the aggregate during any fiscal year, unless otherwise approved by a majority of our Independent Directors.

In addition, 13 office buildings currently owned by us which are located in the Washington, D.C. area, many of which are leased primarily to government tenants, are currently being managed by WGS pursuant to separate property management agreements between WGS and us or our wholly-owned subsidiaries owning such properties. Such property management agreements provide for property management fees payable to WGS ranging from 0.9% to 1.8% of gross rental income. WGS also manages one property in Washington, D.C. area that is owned by Wells REIT II.

#### **Property Management Offices**

While Wells Management maintains its principal office in Atlanta, Georgia, Wells Management and WGS also currently operate property management offices in Minneapolis, Tampa, Detroit, Dallas and Washington, D.C., out of which they currently manage properties owned by us as well as properties owned by other Wells REF affiliates. Although we are still in the process of hiring additional personnel and assuming property management of additional properties, a summary of the current operations of each of such offices is as follows:

	Number of	Total Number of	Number of Properties
Property Management Office	Employees	Properties Managed	Owned by Us
Minneapolis	9	10	3
Tampa	3	8	3
Detroit	1	6	5
Dallas	2	1	1
Washington, D.C.	10	14	13

Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Merger Agreement, we will acquire the property management offices listed above as part of the Internalization Transaction. In addition, Wells Management s business strategy is to continue to open additional property management offices in various cities around the country to provide property management services for us, certain Wells REF affiliates, and potentially other unaffiliated property owners. Wells Management intends to open additional property management offices in Los Angeles and Chicago prior to the closing of the transaction, and under the Definitive Merger Agreement we will also acquire those offices as part of the Internalization Transaction.

It is anticipated that, Wells Management will retain or establish property management offices in certain cities or regions where we will not initially have property management offices, out of which we anticipate that Wells Management will at least initially manage certain of our properties. In order to implement this, we intend to enter into new property management agreements with Wells Management for the management of such properties prior to the closing of the Internalization Transaction.

# Formation of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. and Assignment and Valuation of the Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements

WREAS was incorporated on December 30, 2004 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells Management. On December 21, 2005, Wells Management and Wells Capital, along with eight executives of Wells REF, including Douglas P. Williams, our current Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and one of our directors, Randall D. Fretz, our current Senior Vice President, Donald A. Miller, CFA, our new Chief Executive Officer and President and one of our directors, and five other executives of Wells REF, formed WASI, a Georgia limited liability company. As their initial capital contributions, Wells Management contributed and assigned to WASI its interest in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and all of the issued and outstanding common stock of WREAS, resulted in WREAS becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of WASI; Wells Capital contributed and assigned to WASI its interest in the Advisory Agreement; and each of the eight executives of Wells REF made cash capital contributions to WASI. Subsequently, Wells Management made an additional capital contribution by assigning its interest in the Master Property Management Agreement to WASI. Following these assignments, the payments we made under these three contracts were made to WASI, although Wells REF and its affiliates continued to provide certain of the services required under the contracts pursuant to the terms of certain support service agreements.

As a part of determining the relative values of the capital contributions made by Wells Management, Wells Capital and the eight executives of Wells REF (the minority members ) to WASI, Wells REF, the parent company of Wells Management and Wells Capital, engaged an independent third party to determine the estimated fair market values of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement as of the date such contracts were contributed to WASI to be used solely for such purposes. The valuation estimated the fair market value of each such contract using a discounted cash flow income approach commonly utilized in estimating the fair market value of intangible assets. As such, the valuation projected the after-tax cash flows associated with each of the contracts over an assumed finite period of time. In addition, different potential disposition scenarios including the continued existence of the contracts, the termination of the various contracts as a result of an orderly liquidation of our assets, and a Listing of our common stock were analyzed and probability weighted by management of Wells REF. Based upon such procedures, the estimated fair market values of the Asset

Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement were determined to be \$71,734,000, \$3,942,000 and \$1,762,000, respectively, as of their applicable assignment dates, with the aggregate value of all three of the contracts totaling approximately \$77.5 million. Discounts for lack of marketability, lack of control, and uncertainties resulting from the subordination of the economic interests of the minority members and Wells Capital were then applied to the valuations, and the proportionate percentage of equity attributable to Wells Management, Wells Capital and the minority members was calculated and agreed to by the members of WASI. Subsequently, WASI assigned its interests in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement to its wholly-owned subsidiary, WREAS. For a description of the allocation of the shares of our common stock to be received by WASI as a result of the Internalization Transaction under WASI s operating agreement, please see Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Our Company Interest of our officers and directors in the Advisor and certain of its Affiliates.

#### **Reasons for Internalization and Potential Listing**

Because when we commenced operations in 1998, the size and scope of our business operations were insufficient to support the overhead costs associated with a self-advised structure, we contracted with the Advisor to provide all personnel, accounting, administrative and other support services and resources necessary for our business operations. Since then, we have grown rapidly, however, and now have over \$5 billion in assets based upon the most recent valuation of our real estate portfolio. Based upon our current size and the scope of our operations, we believe that we now comfortably exceed the critical mass required to support a self-advised structure. If we consummate the Internalization, we will acquire certain of the employees of the Advisor who have been, and are expected to continue to be, instrumental in our growth and continued operations. We believe the Internalization will provide us with an experienced management team with industry expertise, management capabilities and a unique knowledge of our assets and business strategies.

We believe that converting from our current externally advised structure to a self-advised or internally advised management structure would result in many important benefits, including:

That an Internalization Transaction would be accretive over time to our earnings per share and our FFO per share as a result of the reduction in operating costs that will result from us no longer having to pay advisory, property management and other fees and expense reimbursements to our external advisors under our existing advisory and asset management agreements and certain of our property management agreements. No assurances can be given, however, that any such accretion in our earnings per share or FFO per share would actually occur;

That establishing an internal management team which would be fully dedicated and solely focused on our operations and strategic plans would enhance stockholder value;

That, if the Board determines that a Listing is in our best interests, a self-advised or internally advised management structure would better position us for a future Listing, partially based on our belief that there is a perception in the marketplace that an internalized structure, among other things, achieves a better alignment of interests between management and the stockholders and eliminates certain conflicts of interest associated with having an external advisor. No assurances can be given, however, that a Listing will actually occur or, if it did occur, that being self-advised would result in a more successful Listing; and

That an internalized management structure may have a positive impact on the retention of key management personnel, as we anticipate that our key management personnel will have an equity stake in our Company.

In connection with considering a potential Internalization Transaction, our Board also considered the benefits of a potential Listing, including, among other things, creating significantly greater liquidity for our stockholders, increasing our stockholders – autonomy in connection with the management of their cash and tax positions, allowing us greater access to capital markets to fund our future growth, and enabling us to pursue certain growth strategies. In addition, our Articles require that, in the event a Listing does not occur on or before January 30, 2008, we are required to immediately undertake an orderly liquidation and sale of our assets and distribute the net sales proceeds from such liquidation to our

stockholders. Based on these factors, we intend to consider a Listing following the consummation of the Internalization Transaction, if and when market conditions and other circumstances make it desirable or it is otherwise in the best interests of our stockholders to do so. No assurance can be given that, if a determination is made to List, we will be able to successfully implement a Listing or that market conditions existing in the future will make it desirable for us to do so. While we believe that the Internalization Transaction should help facilitate a Listing, the Internalization Transaction we are proposing is not contingent upon the completion of a Listing. Even if a Listing does occur, an active trading market for our common stock may not develop or, if it does develop initially, may not be sustained. Further, the price at which our common stock may trade in the future is unknown.

We believe any future Listing will be more likely to be successful if we are self-advised. A vast majority of Listed REITs, including REITs like us that own predominantly office and industrial commercial properties, are self-advised. We believe the prevalence of the self-advised model reflects a marketplace preference for Listed REITs that are self-advised and that, if our common stock were Listed, investors and market analysts would view us more favorably if we were self-advised, as opposed to being externally advised. If the Board elects to pursue a Listing, no further stockholder action would be required to do so.

Notwithstanding corporate governance mechanisms implemented to resolve potential conflicts of interest and protect our stockholders, we believe there may be a negative perception of externally-advised Listed REITs in the marketplace. We believe that the relationship between externally-advised REITs and their outside advisors is susceptible to, or is at least generally viewed as susceptible to, conflicts of interest, many of which can be avoided by being self-advised.

In addition, we believe that remaining externally-advised could have a negative effect on the price of our common stock in the future in the event we become Listed. As a result, we believe the internalization of the Advisor through the Internalization in advance of a potential Listing is an important step in the process of becoming a Listed REIT.

We have made approval of the Internalization Proposal a condition to closing under the Definitive Merger Agreement. We are seeking your approval of the Internalization Proposal because we believe it is appropriate to request our stockholders to approve the Internalization Proposal in light of the importance of the Internalization and because our executive officers and certain of our directors have material financial interests in the Internalization.

For additional reasons why the Internalization has been proposed, please see Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction and Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors below.

#### Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction

As set forth above, our articles of incorporation require that, unless we become a Listed REIT by January 30, 2008, we must commence the process of liquidating our properties. Accordingly, from time to time, our Board has discussed and considered various strategic alternatives, including potentially continuing as a going concern under our current business plan, a potential liquidation of our assets either through a sale of the Company or through a sale of our individual properties, and the possibility of a potential Listing of our common stock. While we believe that our externally advised structure was appropriate for our original operations, we believe that we comfortably exceed the critical mass required to support a self-advised structure and that such a structure is more common for a Listed REIT, and therefore, our Board discussed the possibility of internalizing certain of the property management and advisory operations currently being provided to us by Wells REF and its affiliates into our operations as it would better position us for a possible Listing and provide the other benefits described above.

In connection with such discussions, in December of 2004, Robert A. Stanger & Co., Inc. (Stanger), an investment banking firm specializing in providing financial advisory services to REITs and other real estate companies, provided the Board an overview of internalization transactions, including a review of prior transactions and alternative structures of a potential internalization.

In order to further facilitate its consideration of our strategic alternatives, our Board appointed a special committee (the Special Committee ) consisting of Messrs. W. Wayne Woody, Michael R. Buchanan, Richard W. Carpenter and William H. Keogler, Jr., each of whom is an Independent Director, to evaluate and investigate certain strategic alternatives available to us, including, among other things, potentially becoming internally advised via the acquisition of the real estate acquisition, disposition, property and asset management and support businesses (the Management Businesses ) currently conducted and provided to us by the Advisor and its affiliates (the Internalization Transaction ), to consider and negotiate the terms of any such transaction, and to make a recommendation to our Board on whether to pursue any such transaction. Mr. Woody was appointed as the Chairman of the Special Committee, and Rogers & Hardin LLP (Rogers & Hardin ) was retained as legal counsel to the Special Committee.

In January 2005 and February 2005, the Special Committee met and discussed, with input from representatives of Rogers & Hardin, the process by which the Special Committee would evaluate and investigate the strategic alternatives available to us, the legal duties of the Special Committee, and the issues which the Special Committee should address in connection with such an evaluation and investigation. The Special Committee also discussed generally a possible Internalization Transaction, including the possible benefits and disadvantages to us, the various executive, administrative, financial and other functions that might be included in such a transaction, as well strategic alternatives to such a transaction. Further, the Special Committee discussed its need for a financial advisor in connection with evaluating these issues.

During these discussions, the Special Committee determined that it would be beneficial to its evaluation and investigation of a potential Internalization Transaction to obtain from Wells REF certain preliminary information regarding its views of such a transaction. The Special Committee requested such information from Wells REF and Stanger was engaged by the Advisor to assist in responding to the Special Committee s requests regarding the structuring of possible functions and services to be internalized, the methods of formulating pro forma financial statements reflecting such internalized structure and the methods of valuing management companies. At a meeting of the Special Committee on July 18, 2005, Wells REF s management presented to the Special Committee information regarding Wells REF s view of the basic terms of a potential Internalization Transaction, including the management, financial and other functions that Wells REF would propose to internalize, its proposed organizational structure for us following such a transaction, and the potential financial benefits to us as a result of such a transaction, including the potential cost savings and projected financial benefits.

On August 30, 2005, at the request of the Special Committee, Stanger presented to the Special Committee an overview of current real estate market conditions and certain of the strategic alternatives available to us, including potentially maintaining the status quo, a potential liquidation of our assets and a possible Internalization Transaction and potential subsequent Listing. Stanger s presentation included a discussion of the possible strategic alternatives, certain potential advantages and disadvantages of such alternatives, a preliminary review of the financial impact on us and our stockholders of such alternatives and information regarding the experiences of other comparable REITs with respect to internalization and other alternatives.

Following this presentation, the Special Committee had discussions and determined to engage Stanger as the Special Committee s financial advisor, subject to reaching an agreement with Stanger regarding its fees and the services to be provided by Stanger. Following this meeting, the Special Committee, with input from its legal counsel, negotiated with Stanger with respect to the services to be provided by Stanger in its capacity as the financial advisor to the Special Committee and Stanger s compensation for such services.

At a meeting held on September 23, 2005, representatives of Stanger presented to our Board a summary of Stanger s proposed services and compensation. At such meeting, our Board authorized the Special Committee to retain Stanger as a financial advisor to the Special Committee. Thereafter, we entered into an agreement with Stanger to act as a financial advisor to the Special Committee in connection with evaluating the strategic alternatives available to us, including, among other things, continuing as a going concern under our then current business plan, a liquidation of assets

and a potential Internalization Transaction and potential subsequent Listing, and providing financial advisory services with respect to the evaluation and, if appropriate, negotiation of a potential Internalization Transaction.

From October 2005 through March 2006, at the direction of the Special Committee, representatives of Stanger requested additional information from Wells REF regarding a proposed Internalization Transaction, including information with respect to structure, personnel and finances. From time to time during this period, representatives of Stanger met with Wells REF s management to discuss the information requested and the materials provided by Wells REF in response to such requests. During this time, representatives of Stanger also updated the Special Committee regarding their discussions with Wells REF s management and discussed with the Special Committee the information Stanger had received from Wells REF and Stanger s analysis of such information, including that certain additional aspects of a proposed Internalization Transaction needed to be addressed by Wells REF. Based on the information provided by Wells REF, Stanger s analysis of such information and a committee requested that Wells REF to address the additional aspects of a potential transaction identified by Stanger, the Special Committee requested that Wells REF submit to the Special Committee a formal proposal for an Internalization Transaction.

On April 3, 2006, in response to the request from the Special Committee, Wells REF submitted a detailed proposal (the Initial Proposal) to the Special Committee regarding a proposed Internalization Transaction which included, among other things, a description of the core services of the Management Businesses and the positions necessary to fulfill the core services to be offered in the transaction, projected financial benefits and opportunities for value to us resulting from the transaction, a description of the proposed services that would continue to be provided by Wells REF and its affiliates after a transaction via service agreements, and the proposed consideration for the internalized management structure. The consideration for the acquisition of the Management Businesses which would result in an internalized management structure proposed by Wells REF in the Initial Proposal was 31,600,000 shares of the Company s common stock (approximately \$275 million in value at a proposed estimated share value of \$8.70 per share).

On April 7, 2006, the Special Committee met and discussed with representatives of Stanger and representatives from Rogers & Hardin the Initial Proposal and requested that Stanger conduct an analysis of such proposal on behalf of the Special Committee.

On May 17, 2006, at a meeting of the Special Committee, representatives of Stanger presented to the Special Committee Stanger s preliminary analysis of the Initial Proposal, including its analysis of the strategic alternatives available to us, the functional capabilities and staffing provisions contained in the Initial Proposal, the proposed consideration to be paid by us and the projected 2007 pro forma earnings contribution from the Management Business assuming completion of the proposed Internalization Transaction (the Projected Earnings ) as contemplated by the Initial Proposal. Representatives of Stanger also presented to the Special Committee Stanger s proposed revisions to certain of the financial terms of the Initial Proposal. The Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, discussed the terms of the Initial Proposal, including Stanger s analysis and proposed revisions, and the possible responses to the Initial Proposal. After such discussions, and based upon the input from and further due diligence to be conducted by Stanger, the Special Committee determined that it would obtain further information from Wells REF and then develop a formal response to the Initial Proposal.

In June and July 2006, at the direction of the Special Committee, Stanger requested further financial information from Wells REF and discussed with the management of Wells REF the terms of the Initial Proposal, Stanger s analysis of the Initial Proposal and other alternatives available to us. During this period, the Special Committee met on June 26, 2006 and July 10, 17 and 18, 2006. At these meetings, representatives of Stanger updated the Special Committee regarding their discussions with the management of Wells REF and Stanger s analysis of additional information provided to Stanger by Wells REF. The Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, discussed the issues raised by the Initial Proposal and discussed and formulated a proposed response to the Initial Proposal.

At the July 18, 2006 meeting, the Special Committee, together with representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, met with the other Independent Directors and discussed the status and process of negotiations with Wells REF, the issues identified by the Special Committee regarding the Initial Proposal and the Special Committee s intended

response to the Initial Proposal. Following this meeting, the Chairman of the Special Committee and a representative of Stanger met with Mr. Wells and outlined the Special Committee s response to the Initial Proposal. Mr. Wells requested that the Special Committee respond to the Initial Proposal in writing.

On July 24, 2006, the Special Committee submitted a written response to the Initial Proposal and advised Wells REF that it was prepared to recommend that our Board continue consideration of an internalization strategy in an effort to determine if a mutually acceptable transaction structure could be formulated for the acquisition of certain advisory, management and service capabilities from the Advisor at an anticipated price range of between \$140 million and \$160 million, to be paid primarily in the form of shares of our common stock, based on certain conditions, including (1) confirmation by an independent accounting firm of the projected increase in our earnings in the first year following an Internalization Transaction; (2) substantial completion by Wells REF of its business plan to establish property management capabilities and assume property management functions for certain properties which were then being conducted by third-party property managers; (3) Wells REF s agreement to allow Donald A. Miller, CFA, to become an employee of the Company and to negotiate and enter into a mutually acceptable multi-year employment agreement with the Company to serve as our Chief Executive Officer and President; (4) the identification of other key executives and personnel to be transferred to the Company as part of the Internalization Transactions; (5) reaching agreement on the terms under which Wells REF would provide certain transition and support services to the Company following the Internalization Transaction; and (6) consideration of the Company s growth strategies in the event an Internalization Transaction was pursued and consummated.

On July 28, 2006, Wells REF submitted its response to Special Committee s July 24, 2006 letter and advised the Special Committee: (1) that Wells REF was ready to work with the Special Committee s independent accounting firm with regard to its review of the Projected Earnings; (2) that it understood the necessity of providing a substantially complete business plan to establish property management capabilities and assume property management functions for certain properties which were then being managed by third-party property managers, consistent with the Projected Earnings; (3) that it would agree to Mr. Miller becoming an employee of the Company, who it was anticipated would enter into a mutually acceptable multi-year employment agreement with the Company to serve as the Company s Chief Executive Officer and President; (4) that it agreed to cooperate with us in identifying other key executives and personnel; (5) that it agreed to provide additional detail regarding the transition and support services to the Company; (6) that it offered to assist with the review and consideration of growth strategies for us following the Internalization; and (7) that it was proposing a price in the range of \$230 million to \$245 million dollars as consideration for the acquisition of the Management Businesses.

At a meeting of the Special Committee on August 1, 2006, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, reviewed and discussed the terms of Wells REF s July 28, 2006 letter. The Special Committee determined that, although Wells REF s July 28, 2006 letter reflected constructive steps by Wells REF with regard to the pricing and non-financial concerns of the Special Committee, the difference in the price range proposed by Wells REF and the price range supported by the Special Committee s analysis created doubt as to whether an agreement with respect to the proposed Internalization Transaction could be achieved.

In a letter to Wells REF dated August 1, 2006, the Special Committee advised Wells REF that the Special Committee was not able to accept the price of \$230 million to \$245 million proposed by Wells REF in its July 28, 2006 letter. On August 8, 2006, Wells REF responded to the Special Committee s August 1, 2006 letter by proposing a price of \$195 million for the Management Businesses in connection with the proposed Internalization Transaction after studying the options available to maximize both the return and the flexibility to our stockholders and in an attempt to move discussions forward.

At a meeting of the Special Committee on August 17, 2006, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, reviewed and discussed the terms of Wells REF s August 8, 2006 letter, which included a discussion of the Projected Earnings, and formulated the Special Committee s response to such letter. The

Special Committee also discussed the need to have the calculation of the Projected Earnings evaluated and tested as a condition of any Internalization Transaction. Furthermore, the Special Committee discussed the possibility of retaining an executive compensation consultant to advise the Special Committee with respect to compensation issues relating to the employment and retention of personnel by us relating to such a transaction.

On August 23, 2006, the Special Committee submitted a response to Wells REF s August 8, 2006 letter increasing the anticipated range of consideration for continuing negotiations of an Internalization Transaction to between \$150 million and \$168 million, conditioned upon, among other things, the verification of the Projected Earnings, substantial completion of the establishment of certain property management offices prior to the Closing of the Internalization, the satisfactory resolution of transition and support services agreements, the identification of key executives and other personnel to be transferred to the Company and related issues.

Between August 23, 2006 and September 1, 2006, representatives of Stanger and management of Wells REF had several telephone conferences in which they continued to discuss the unresolved terms of the proposed transaction.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on August 25, 2006, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, discussed the negotiations with Wells REF and alternatives to the proposed Internalization Transaction.

In response to the Special Committee s letter dated August 23, 2006, Wells REF responded in a letter to the Special Committee dated September 1, 2006, in which it advised the Special Committee, among other things, that it was having difficulty evaluating and responding to proposed consideration presented as a range of consideration, and the letter also identified timeframes in which Wells REF anticipated opening additional property management offices. The letter also presented Wells REF s assessment of favorable conditions in the public real estate market and the advantages of a potential Listing, and identified certain growth opportunities for us.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on September 12, 2006, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, reviewed and discussed the terms of Wells REF s September 1, 2006 letter and formulated the Special Committee s response to such letter.

On September 13, 2006, the Special Committee responded to Wells REF s letter and proposed consideration for the acquisition of the Management Businesses in an Internalization Transaction of \$160 million, conditioned upon, among other things, the verification by our independent accounting firm of the Projected Earnings, substantial completion of the establishment of property management offices, the identification of key executives anticipated to be included in a transaction and the determination of the number of shares to be issued in a proposed Internalization Transaction to be based upon the Company s most current net asset value per share as of the closing date of an Internalization Transaction.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on September 14, 2006, the Special Committee discussed with representatives of Stanger their recent conversations with the management of Wells REF regarding the letter from the Special Committee dated September 13, 2006. The Special Committee also discussed, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, how to proceed with the negotiations with Wells REF.

On September 19, 2006, Wells REF responded to the Special Committee s September 13, 2006 letter in a letter in which Wells REF proposed \$192 million as consideration for the Internalization Transaction, with the shares of our common stock to be issued in the proposed Internalization Transaction to be valued at the Company s then current estimated net asset value per share of \$8.70. The letter also noted that the Projected Earnings did not include certain potential contributions to our earnings as a result of implementing certain growth strategies following an Internalization Transaction. Wells REF also agreed that any support services would be provided to us following an Internalization Transaction at the lesser of the costs incurred by Wells REF or at prices charged for comparable-level services by independent third parties.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on September 26, 2006 to consider Wells REF s September 19, 2006 letter, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, discussed (1) the method of determining the Projected Earnings; (2) the effect of certain property appraisals of the Company s real estate assets, which were currently being conducted, on the Company s estimated net asset value and the calculation of the number of shares to be issued in the proposed Internalization Transaction; and (3) the possibility of holding a number of shares of our common stock constituting a portion of the purchase price in escrow to be returned to the Company in the event that the property management revenues included in the Projected Earnings were not realized. Based on these discussions, the Special Committee determined to increase the proposed consideration for the Internalization Transaction to \$170 million. At the request of the Special Committee, the remaining Independent Directors regarding the status of the negotiations and the financial due diligence review being conducted by Stanger.

On September 27, 2006 representatives of Stanger met with representatives of Wells REF to obtain clarification of certain aspects of Wells REF s response of September 19, and to continue negotiations of certain additional terms of the proposed Internalization Transaction, including the potential escrow of a portion of the consideration to be paid in a transaction.

On October 4, 2006, the Special Committee responded to Wells REF s September 19, 2006 letter in a letter to Wells REF in which the Special Committee, among other things, proposed consideration for acquisition of the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction of \$170 million, proposed that the form of consideration be shares of our common stock valued at the estimated net asset value per share based upon the updated 2006 property appraisals, and proposed that, upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, shares of our common stock be escrowed relating to property management revenues included in the Projected Earnings for properties not managed by us as of the closing that are anticipated to be managed by us prior to December 31, 2007.

On October 6, 2006, Wells REF responded to the Special Committee s October 4, 2006 letter by accepting the proposals of the Special Committee with respect to the form of consideration, the valuation of the shares to be issued, and the concept of escrowing shares at closing. In addition, Wells REF proposed consideration for the acquisition of the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction in the amount of \$180 million.

Following October 6, 2006, various discussions were held among representatives of Stanger and the management of Wells REF concerning the proposed consideration for the Internalization Transaction and other proposed terms of such transaction.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on October 10, 2006, the Special Committee, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, reviewed and discussed the terms of Wells REF s October 6, 2006 letter, Stanger s subsequent conversations with the management of Wells REF, the progress of the negotiations and the unresolved issues relating to the proposed Internalization Transaction. Based on these discussions, the Special Committee determined not to increase the proposed consideration for the Internalization Transaction from \$170 million and instructed representatives of Stanger to advise the management of Wells REF of this determination.

At a meeting of the Special Committee held on October 12, 2006, representatives of Stanger updated the Special Committee concerning their conversations with the management of Wells REF regarding the Special Committee s determination not to increase the proposed consideration for the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction from \$170 million and conveyed that the management of Wells REF had indicated to Stanger that Wells REF would be willing to reduce the proposed consideration for the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction to \$175 million. The Special Committee then discussed, with input from representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin, the consideration for the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction of \$170 million proposed by the Special Committee and \$175 million proposed by Wells REF, the concessions made by Wells REF during the negotiations, the Projected Earnings, the escrow of a portion of the shares to be issued in a transaction, and the additional issues to be negotiated in connection with the preparation of the definitive agreements. Based upon the foregoing, the

Special Committee agreed that its Chairman should contact management of Wells REF to confirm that Wells REF would agree to consideration of \$175 million and, if so, to advise Wells REF that the Special Committee was prepared to negotiate definitive agreements for the Internalization Transaction based on consideration of \$175 million and the other conditions previously agreed to by Wells REF.

On October 13, 2006, the Chairman of the Special Committee spoke with management of Wells REF who confirmed Wells REF s agreement to consideration of \$175 million for the Management Businesses in the Internalization Transaction and requested that the Special Committee provide a letter to Wells REF to that effect.

As a result, the Special Committee sent a letter to Wells REF on October 19, 2006 confirming the understanding of the Special Committee that the consideration to be paid to Wells REF in connection with the acquisition of the Management Businesses in a potential Internalization Transaction would be \$175 million and confirming that the Special Committee was prepared to move forward in the negotiation of a proposed transaction subject to a number of conditions, including the negotiation of an employment agreement with Mr. Miller to serve as our Chief Executive Officer and President, the identification of other key employees acceptable to us anticipated to be included in the transaction, the performance by our independent accounting firm of certain agreed-upon procedures associated with certain historical financial data of the Advisor to assist the Special Committee in evaluating the Projected Earnings, the negotiation of an acceptable definitive merger agreement between Wells REF and the Company and a final decision by the Special Committee and our Board as to whether to proceed with an Internalization Transaction.

On October 24, 2006, Wells REF submitted a letter to the Special Committee in response to its October 19, 2006 letter confirming Wells REF s acceptance of the proposed consideration of \$175 million for the Internalization Transaction and identifying remaining open issues including: (1) negotiation of an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA; (2) identifying a candidate for Chief Financial Officer; (3) completing due diligence; (4) documentation of the Definitive Merger Agreement; (5) review of the Projected Earnings by our accountants and other financial due diligence; and (6) negotiation of the support services agreements.

On November 1, 2006, representatives of Wells REF, Stanger, the Company s accountants, and the Special Committee s, the Company s, and Wells REF s respective legal counsel met to discuss the process relating to (1) negotiation of definitive agreements; (2) completion of legal, financial and accounting due diligence; (3) the status of the property appraisals; (4) preparation of the necessary financial statements; and (5) other matters necessary to complete the negotiation of the Internalization Transaction.

During November 2006, the Special Committee met four times. At these meetings, the Special Committee discussed hiring an investment banking firm to render a fairness opinion with respect to the Internalization Transaction, interviewed and reviewed presentations from four investment banking firms regarding their experience and qualifications in transactions such as the Internalization Transaction, and determined to engage Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc. (Houlihan Lokey) to render such opinion. The Special Committee, with the assistance of Rogers & Hardin, negotiated the terms of an engagement letter with representatives of Houlihan Lokey and, on December 9, 2006, engaged Houlihan Lokey to evaluate the fairness of the Internalization Transaction and render a fairness opinion with respect to the Internalization Transaction.

The Special Committee further discussed hiring a compensation consultant in connection with evaluating the compensation issues associated with the Internalization Transaction, including the negotiation of an employment agreement with Mr. Miller to serve as our Chief Executive Officer and President. With the assistance of representatives of Stanger, on November 7, 2006, the Special Committee engaged FPL Associates as the Special Committee s compensation consultant.

Also during November 2006, Rogers & Hardin prepared a draft of the Definitive Merger Agreement based on discussions with the Special Committee during their November meetings and input from Stanger. On November 17, 2006, Rogers & Hardin provided a draft of the Definitive Merger Agreement to Wells REF s counsel. Thereafter through

January 15, 2007, there ensued a series of meetings, negotiations and telephone calls between Rogers & Hardin and counsel for Wells REF negotiating the terms of the Definitive Merger Agreement and the ancillary documents.

During November and December 2006, representatives of Stanger participated in numerous conference calls and meetings with Wells REF s management regarding, among other things, the status of the property appraisals, the determination of the revised estimated net asset value based upon such appraisals, Stanger s review of the Projected Earnings and other due diligence matters. In addition, during said time period, representatives of Rogers & Hardin conducted legal due diligence.

On December 11, 2006, management of Wells REF informed Mr. Woody and representatives of Stanger that Wells REF had determined there was a difference of opinion regarding the method of determining the Projected Earnings. On December 12, 2006, at a meeting of the Special Committee, the Special Committee agreed that it was the position of the Special Committee that, upon the consummation of the proposed Internalization Transaction, the Company was to have fully functioning management and advisory capabilities, including having all requisite personnel necessary to manage our business, and that the calculation of the Projected Earnings should reflect all expenses associated with operating the Company in such a manner. The Special Committee then sent a letter to Wells REF to that effect. The following day Wells REF s management met with members of the Special Committee and advised the Special Committee that Wells REF accepted the positions outlined by the Special Committee.

Also, in December 2006, the Special Committee, with the assistance of Stanger, retained Ernst & Young LLP (Ernst & Young) to perform certain agreed-upon procedures with respect to reviewing the historical financial data of the Advisor to assist the Special Committee in testing and evaluating the Projected Earnings. During the end of December 2006 and the beginning of January 2007, Ernst & Young performed its procedures with respect to its engagement. On January 26, 2007, Ernst & Young delivered its report to the Special Committee which set forth the results of Ernst & Young s performance of the agreed-upon procedures.

The Special Committee also met on December 8 and 21, 2006 and January 9, 2007 to discuss the Internalization Transaction and the Definitive Merger Agreement and ancillary documents. At such meetings, representatives of Rogers & Hardin discussed with the Special Committee the terms and conditions of the recent drafts of the Definitive Merger Agreement and ancillary documents, along with counterproposals made by Wells REF on various provisions of the Definitive Merger Agreement and the ancillary documents. In addition, at such meetings, representatives of Stanger summarized the status of the financial and other due diligence being conducted on behalf of the Special Committee and discussed, among other things, its review of the property appraisals and the related estimated net asset value determination and its review of the Projected Earnings.

During this period, the Special Committee, along with the Special Committee s compensation consultant, began negotiations with Mr. Miller on the terms of his employment agreement with us as our new Chief Executive Officer and President.

On January 15, 2007, the Special Committee, together with the other Independent Directors, held a series of meetings at which representatives of Stanger and Rogers & Hardin updated the Independent Directors with respect to the terms of the proposed Definitive Merger Agreement and the ancillary documents and discussed the unresolved issues relating to the transaction. Stanger also provided an update with respect to its financial due diligence involving the Advisor, and Stanger s review of the Projected Earnings. During the course of the day on January 15, 2007, the Special Committee, through representatives of Rogers & Hardin, negotiated with Wells REF and its counsel the resolution of a substantial portion of the remaining issues with respect to the Definitive Merger Agreement, including the terms and amount of a termination fee, the estimated net asset value per share to be used to value the shares to be issued to WASI, and the terms by which Wells REF would guaranty to us certain property management fees from properties owned by entities for which Wells REF provides advisory services.

Following the January 15, 2007 meeting and through January 31, 2007, Rogers & Hardin and counsel to Wells REF exchanged several drafts of the Definitive Merger Agreement and ancillary documents and further negotiated their terms.

On January 22, 2007, our Board met and appointed Donald S. Moss, Bud Carter, William H. Keogler, Jr. and Neil H. Strickland to serve as our compensation committee, and it was agreed that the compensation committee would, among other things, complete the negotiations with Mr. Miller regarding his employment agreement.

Following the January 22, 2007 Board meeting, the Special Committee met to discuss the negotiations relating to the agreements and to receive an update from representatives of Stanger. In addition, at this meeting, representatives of Houlihan Lokey discussed the process undertaken by Houlihan Lokey to review the fairness of the Internalization Consideration and the methodologies conducted by Houlihan Lokey and provided an update of the status of their due diligence review and analysis.

The Special Committee (with the other Independent Directors present) also met on January 26, 2007 to discuss the open issues relating to the Definitive Merger Agreement and ancillary documents, to receive a report from the compensation committee with respect to the status of Mr. Miller s employment agreement and to discuss certain Board composition and corporate governance matters following an Internalization Transaction and in the event of any Listing. On January 29, 2007, the Special Committee and the other Independent Directors met twice to continue their discussion of the Board composition following an Internalization Transaction. In addition to these Special Committee meetings, several of the directors had various conversations with Mr. Wells, with other Independent Directors and with counsel regarding the Board composition and related issues from January 29, 2007 through January 31, 2007.

On January 31, 2007, the Special Committee, the other Independent Directors and Messrs. Wells and Williams, with input from counsel, discussed the appropriate composition of the Board in light of potential conflicts and that existing protocols for dealing with conflicts among Wells REF advised and managed entities would not address conflicts issues after the closing of the Internalization Transaction. Accordingly, our Board reached an agreement on certain matters involving the composition of our Board and other conflict resolution matters, as follows (1) in order to discontinue having directors (other than Mr. Wells) serve on both our Board and a board of directors of a Wells REF related entity that may compete with us following the closing of the Internalization Transaction, three of our Independent Directors (Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter and Neil H. Strickland) and Douglas P. Williams, agreed to resign as our directors, effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, and two of our Independent Directors (Donald S. Moss and W. Wayne Woody) agreed to resign as directors of Wells REIT II, also effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, (2) Leo F. Wells, III agreed that he would resign as a director upon any Listing, unless a majority of certain designated Independent Directors determines that it is in our best interest that he remain a director, and upon Mr. Wells resignation as a director, for a period ending the earlier of (A) two years after a Listing of our common stock, should that occur, or (B) the first date on which Mr. Wells does not beneficially own at least 1% of our outstanding common stock, he will be entitled to designate an individual to be appointed to fill the vacancy created by such resignation and to be nominated for election to our Board at any annual meeting where directors are elected during such period, provided that such individual is reasonably acceptable to our Board and is not on the board of directors of Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc. or any other Wells REF related entity that may compete with us or any of our subsidiaries. (3) the Board agreed to establish a conflicts committee upon Internalization to handle business conflicts which may arise relating to Mr. Wells involvement with Wells REF related entities that may compete with us, and (4) the Board agreed that a majority of Independent Directors will be required to approve any new directors to be appointed or nominated by our Board, and that Donald A. Miller, CFA, would be elected to fill a vacancy on our Board effective upon the execution of by his employment agreement (the Board Composition Matters ). See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Changes to our Board and Resolution of Certain Conflicts of Interest on our Board.

On January 31, 2007, the Special Committee held a meeting with our Independent Directors. At this meeting, representatives of Rogers & Hardin presented summaries of the terms and conditions of the Definitive Merger Agreement and all of the ancillary documents and reviewed the directors legal duties. In addition, at this meeting, representatives of

Stanger made a financial presentation to the Special Committee and our other Independent Directors; the Special Committee and our other Independent Directors reviewed the report of Ernst & Young regarding the agreed-upon procedures performed by it on the historical financial data of the Advisor to assist in evaluating the Projected Earnings; Mr. Miller made a presentation on behalf of the management of Wells REF involving, among other things, certain growth strategies for us following the Internalization Transaction, including the strategy of establishing property management offices, proposals to increase our leverage and to engage in significant property acquisitions, strategies involving engaging in certain joint venture transactions, and other growth strategies over the next few years, as well as other potential investment and operational strategies; representatives of Houlihan Lokey reviewed and presented Houlihan Lokey s fairness opinion; and our compensation committee discussed and recommended approval of the employment agreement with Mr. Miller. Following these presentations, and after each member of our Board agreed to the foregoing Board Composition Matters, the Special Committee unanimously voted to recommend to our Board that it approve the Internalization Transaction and the terms and conditions of the Definitive Merger Agreement and ancillary documents.

At a meeting of our full Board held immediately following the meeting of the Special Committee and Independent Directors on January 31, 2007, based on the unanimous vote and recommendation of the Special Committee and the other factors listed below under Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors, our Board (with Messrs. Wells and Williams recusing themselves) determined that the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement were fair and reasonable and were advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders. Accordingly, after due consideration and the vote) approved the Definitive Merger Agreement and the Internalization Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement were fair and reasonable and were advisable and in the Internalization Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement and the Internalization Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement, together with the Board Composition Matters, by a vote which included the affirmative vote of all of the Independent Directors. In addition, the Board approved the Pre-Listing Restated Articles (defined below), the Post-Listing Restated Articles (defined below), and the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, all subject to the approval of our stockholders. At such meeting, the Board also accepted the resignation of Leo F. Wells, III as our President, effective upon the execution of an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, and elected Mr. Miller as our Chief Executive Officer and President and as a director, also effective upon the execution of his employment agreement.

On February 1, 2007, in connection with the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, Mr. Wells executed an agreement with us reflecting his agreement to resign as a director upon any Listing unless, prior to that time, majority of certain designated Independent Directors, after consulting with legal and financial advisors, determines that it is in our best interest for him to remain on our Board for a period of time after Listing. At the time of such resignation and for a period ending on the earlier of (1) two years following the Listing or (2) such time as Mr. Wells is no longer the beneficial owner of at least 1% of our outstanding common stock, Mr. Wells shall have the right to designate an individual (other than Mr. Wells) to be appointed to fill the vacancy created by his resignation and to be nominated for election to our Board at a meeting of our stockholders held for the purpose of electing directors during such period, provided that such individual is reasonably acceptable to the Board and is not on the board of directors of any Wells REF related entity which competes with us or any of our subsidiaries.

On February 2, 2007, the Board met and approved certain modifications to Mr. Miller s employment agreement which were recommended by the compensation committee. Following this meeting, Mr. Miller s employment agreement was finalized, and the Definitive Merger Agreement and Mr. Miller s employment agreement were executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto.

### Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors

### Special Committee Recommendation; Reasons for Recommendation

In reaching its conclusion to unanimously recommend that our Board approve the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization Transaction and the other transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Special Committee took into account the following factors (without assigning relative weights) which the Special Committee believes weigh in favor of the Internalization Transaction:

the requirement under our charter that, by January 30, 2008, we either List our common stock on a national securities exchange or over-the-counter market or begin to liquidate our properties;

the belief of the Special Committee that, if we are able to List our common stock, our common stock would be viewed more favorably if we became self-advised instead of remaining externally advised;

the benefits of a potential Listing including, among other things, creating significantly greater liquidity for our stockholders and increasing our stockholders ability to manage their cash and tax positions;

the belief of the Special Committee that the Internalization Transaction could ultimately be accretive to our net earnings per share and FFO per share;

the proposed business plan for the Company which proposes to utilize growth strategies (including increased leverage) that are intended to be accretive over time to our net earnings per share and FFO per share;

the belief of the Special Committee that the Internalization Transaction would enable us to realize certain efficiencies arising from a self-advised structure in that we will pay for advisory and management services directly rather than paying a third-party fee for such services, thereby enabling us to eliminate the profits that were previously being realized by the Advisor for providing such services;

the terms and conditions of the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Transitional Services Agreement, the Support Services Agreement, the Headquarters Sublease, the Pledge Agreement, the Registration Rights Agreement and the Employment Agreement with Mr. Miller, including, among other things, (1) the type and amount of consideration to be paid in the Internalization Transaction, (2) the indemnities and the pledge and security obtained, and (3) certain conditions to our obligation to consummate the Internalization, including approval by our stockholders of the Internalization Transaction;

the agreement by Wells REF to escrow a portion of the shares of our common stock constituting the Internalization Consideration relating to the value of property management contracts anticipated to be acquired after the closing of the Internalization Transaction;

the retention of Mr. Miller as our Chief Executive Officer and President in connection with the Internalization Transaction;

the financial presentation of Houlihan Lokey, including its opinion dated January 31, 2007, to the Special Committee as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, to us of the consideration to be paid by us pursuant to the Internalization Transaction, as more fully described in the section entitled Opinion of Houlihan Lokey below;

the review by Stanger of the Projected Earnings and the other financial due diligence conducted by Stanger with respect to the Advisor s business;

the report of Ernst & Young to the Special Committee reporting the results of Ernst & Young s application of certain agreed-upon procedures on the historical financial data of the Advisor to assist the Special Committee and Stanger in their evaluation of the Projected Earnings;

the determination to value our shares of common stock for purposes of the Internalization Transaction using a revised net asset value determination based upon updated appraisals of our properties and the review by Stanger of such appraisals and estimated net asset value determination;

the possibility that a Listing may improve our access to public debt and equity capital;

our ability, through the Internalization Transaction, to control key functions that are important to the growth of our business;

the belief of the Special Committee that the beneficial ownership of our common stock by certain of our officers and directors would more directly align the interests of such officers and directors with those of our current stockholders and improve our ability to retain key personnel;

the proven expertise and substantial experience of the employees of the Advisor or its affiliates who would become our employees in connection with the Internalization Transaction;

the benefit of an internal management team which would be fully dedicated and solely focused on our strategic plans for enhancing stockholder value;

the ability of our Board to terminate the Definitive Merger Agreement upon the payment of a termination fee in the event of a Superior Proposal (defined below) as described in the Definitive Merger Agreement;

the conditions of our obligation to close the Internalization Transaction, including the approval of our stockholders; and

the potential for increases in external advisor fees in the future in the event we do not complete an Internalization Transaction. The Special Committee also took into account, without assigning relative weights to, the following factors. Although the Special Committee viewed these as potentially negative factors with respect to the Internalization Transaction, the Special Committee believed these factors were outweighed by the positive factors set forth above:

existing potential conflicts of interest between us and the Advisor, including the respective positions of our management team and certain of our directors with us and the Advisor and the compensation and/or other benefits to be indirectly received by such persons as a result of the Internalization Transaction, as well as the fact that: (i) Mr. Wells, our Chairman and a director, has indirect economic interest in approximately 92% of WASI, which will result in Mr. Wells receiving indirect economic interest in approximately 17,982,598 shares of our common stock; and (ii) Messrs. Williams, Miller, Fretz and another individual affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers each having a beneficial economic interest in approximately 1% in WASI which will result in each of them receiving an economic interest in approximately 195,463 shares of our common stock;

the risk factors associated with the Internalization Transaction as more fully described in the section entitled Risk Factors, including the potential conflicts of interest that will continue after consummation of the Internalization Transaction. See Risk Factors Certain of our current and future directors and officers have potential conflicts of interest due to their financial interests in the Internalization,

Leo F. Wells, III will face conflicts of interest relating to the positions he holds with entities affiliated with Wells REF, Leo F. Wells, III and our other directors will face competing demands on their time relating to the positions they hold with other entities affiliated with Wells REF and Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization Transaction ;

the potential liabilities associated with the direct employment of personnel, including the compensation which will be payable under Mr. Miller s Employment Agreement, workers disability and compensation claims, labor disputes and other employee-related grievances;

the potential liabilities that we may inherit from the Advisor as a result of the Internalization Transaction that would not be covered by the indemnities in the Definitive Merger Agreement;

the additional general and administrative expenses associated with being self-advised;

the uncertainty of initial pricing and the potential for price volatility following a potential Listing;

the risk that we will not be able to execute our proposed growth strategies;

the fact that our stockholders would receive a cash distribution upon a liquidation of our real estate portfolio; and

the potential adverse effect on future sales of our common stock by management or WASI.

The Special Committee determined that, in light of all the factors that it considered, the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization Transaction and the transactions expressly contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement are fair and reasonable and are advisable and in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders. Accordingly, the Special Committee **unanimously** recommended that our Board approve the Definitive Merger Agreement and the Internalization Transaction.

### **Board of Directors Recommendation**

Our Board (other than Messrs. Wells and Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization and who recused themselves from consideration of and the vote on the approval of the Definitive Merger Agreement) has approved the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the other transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement, having determined that the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization and the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement and are fair and reasonable to Wells REIT and are advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders. Accordingly, our Board (excluding Messrs. Wells and Williams, who have material financial interests in the Internalization and, accordingly, recused themselves from consideration of our Board s recommendation) recommends that stockholders vote FOR the Internalization Proposal.

Our Board based its determination that the Internalization is advisable and in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders primarily on:

the factors considered and conclusions of the Special Committee; and

the extensive negotiations of the Special Committee with representatives of Wells REF. Our Board did not find it practical to, and did not, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors considered in reaching its determination.

### **Opinion of Houlihan Lokey**

The Special Committee retained Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc. (Houlihan Lokey) to issue a fairness opinion to the Special Committee and our Board in connection with the Internalization. Houlihan Lokey is an internationally recognized investment banking firm which is regularly engaged in the valuation of businesses and securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for corporate and other purposes. The Special Committee selected Houlihan Lokey to issue the fairness opinion in connection with the Internalization based in part on Houlihan Lokey s experience in transactions similar to the Internalization and its reputation in the REIT sector and investment community.

On January 31, 2007, at a meeting of the Special Committee and the Independent Directors of our Board held to evaluate the Internalization Transaction, Houlihan Lokey delivered its oral opinion, which was confirmed by delivery of a written opinion to the Special Committee and our Board dated January 31, 2007, to the effect that, as of the date of the opinion and based on and subject to various assumptions and limitations described in its opinion, the consideration to be paid by us in the Internalization Transaction is fair to us from a financial point of view. For purposes of this section, such consideration is referred to as the Consideration.

The full text of Houlihan Lokey s written opinion to the Special Committee, which describes, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, factors considered and limitations on the review undertaken, is attached as Appendix B to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference in its entirety into this document. You are encouraged to read the Houlihan Lokey s opinion carefully in its entirety. The following summary of the

opinion is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of Houlihan Lokey s opinion. Houlihan Lokey provided its opinion to the Special Committee and our Board to assist the Special Committee and our Board in their evaluation of the Consideration from a financial point of view. Houlihan Lokey s opinion does not address any other aspect of the Internalization and does not constitute a recommendation as to how you should vote or act in connection with the proposed Internalization.

In connection with its opinion, Houlihan Lokey made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as it deemed necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. Among other things, they have:

reviewed our annual report to stockholders on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, and our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006;

reviewed audited financial statements of the Advisor for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, and unaudited financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2004 and interim financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006;

held discussions with the Special Committee, representatives of Stanger and counsel regarding us, the Internalization Transaction, and related matters;

held discussions with certain members of the management of Wells REF regarding the operations, financial condition, future prospects and projected operations and performance of the Advisor and regarding the Internalization Transaction;

reviewed the following agreements and documents:

the draft Definitive Merger Agreement dated January 30, 2007 and the Advisor Disclosure Schedule thereto, the Escrow Agreement and the Pledge and Security Agreement;

the draft Preliminary Proxy Statement for the Internalization Transaction dated January 25, 2007;

reviewed, but did not rely upon, a report on applying agreed-upon procedures prepared by the independent accountants dated January 13, 2007;

reviewed financial forecasts and projections prepared by the management of Wells REF with respect to the Advisor for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2006 and 2007;

reviewed the property appraisals for our properties dated as of September 30, 2006;

reviewed the report from a third party related to the estimated net asset value per share of our common stock as of September 30, 2006;

reviewed certain other publicly available financial data for certain companies that Houlihan Lokey deemed relevant and publicly available transaction prices and premiums paid in other change of control transactions that Houlihan Lokey deemed relevant for

companies in related industries to us and the Advisor; and

#### conducted such other financial studies, analyses and inquiries as Houlihan Lokey deemed appropriate. *Material Assumptions Made and Qualifications and Limitations on the Review Undertaken*

Houlihan Lokey relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of all data, material and other information furnished, or otherwise made available, to Houlihan Lokey, discussed with or reviewed by Houlihan Lokey, or publicly available, and did not assume any responsibility with respect to such data, material and other information. Further, based upon its due diligence with the management of Wells REF, Houlihan Lokey assumed that the Company does not currently intend to (1) liquidate or (2) sell all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or all or substantially all of the ownership interests in the Company, in one or several transactions, except for minority equity sales amongst the Company s stockholders and/or a potential listing of the Company s common shares on a national securities exchange or over-the-counter market. In addition, the management of Wells REF

advised Houlihan Lokey, and Houlihan Lokey assumed, that the financial forecasts and projections were reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the management of Wells REF as to the future financial results and condition of Wells REIT and the Advisor. Houlihan Lokey expressed no opinion with respect to such forecasts and projections or the assumptions on which they were based. Houlihan Lokey relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that there had been no material change in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects of Wells REIT or the Advisor since the date of the most recent financial statements provided, and that there was no information or facts that would make any of the information reviewed incomplete or misleading. Houlihan Lokey did not consider any aspect or implication of any transaction to which we or the Advisor were a party other than the Internalization Transaction.

Houlihan Lokey relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that (a) the representations and warranties of all parties to the agreements identified above and all other related documents referred to therein were true and correct, (b) each party to all such agreements will fully and timely perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by such party, (c) all conditions to the consummation of the Internalization Transaction will be satisfied without waiver thereof, and (d) the Internalization Transaction will be consummated in a timely manner in accordance with the terms described in the agreements provided to Houlihan Lokey, without any amendments or modifications thereto or any adjustment to the aggregate consideration (through offset, reduction, indemnity claims, post-closing purchase price adjustments or otherwise). Houlihan Lokey also relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that (1) the Internalization Transaction will be consummated in a manner that complies in all respects with all applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations, and (2) any governmental, regulatory, and other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Internalization Transaction will be obtained and that no delay, limitations, restrictions or conditions will be imposed or amendments, modifications or waivers made that would result in the disposition of any material portion of our assets or assets of the Advisor, or otherwise have an adverse effect on us or the Advisor or any expected benefits of the Internalization Transaction. In addition, Houlihan Lokey relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that the final forms of the draft documents identified above would not differ in any material respect from such draft documents.

Houlihan Lokey, other than as set forth above, was not requested to make, and did not make, any physical inspection or independent appraisal or evaluation of any of the assets, properties or liabilities (fixed, contingent or otherwise) of Wells REIT, the Advisor or any other party. Houlihan Lokey expressed no opinion regarding the liquidation value of any entity. Houlihan Lokey did not undertake any independent analysis of any potential or actual litigation, regulatory action, possible unasserted claims or other contingent liabilities, to which we or the Advisor is or may be a party or is or may be subject, or of any governmental investigation of any possible unasserted claims or other contingent liabilities to which we or the Advisor is or may be subject. Houlihan Lokey s opinion made no assumption concerning, and therefore did not consider, the possible assertion of claims, outcomes or damages arising out of any such matters.

Houlihan Lokey was not requested to, and did not, (a) initiate any discussions with, or solicit any indications of interest from, third parties with respect to the Internalization Transaction or any alternatives to the Internalization Transaction, (b) negotiate the terms of the Internalization Transaction or the potential value of our common stock, or proceeds to our common stockholders, that may be realized from such alternatives. Houlihan Lokey s opinion was based on financial, economic, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made available to Houlihan Lokey as of January 31, 2007. Houlihan Lokey did not undertake, and is under no obligation, to update, revise, reaffirm or withdraw its opinion (except to the extent that we request Houlihan Lokey to update its opinion within 90 days of its issuance), or otherwise comment on or consider events occurring after the date of its opinion. Houlihan Lokey did not consider, nor did it express any opinion with respect to, the current price of our common stock or the price that our common stock may trade at any time.

Houlihan Lokey s opinion was furnished for the use and benefit of the Special Committee and our Board in connection with their consideration of the Internalization Transaction and was not intended to, and does not, confer any

rights or remedies upon any other person, and was not intended to be used, and may not be used, for any other purpose, without Houlihan Lokey s express, prior written consent. Houlihan Lokey s opinion should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on Houlihan Lokey s part to any party. Houlihan Lokey s opinion was not intended to be, and does not constitute, a recommendation to any security holder or any other person as to how such person should act or vote with respect to the Internalization Transaction.

Houlihan Lokey was not requested to opine as to, and its opinion does not address: (1) the underlying business decision of the Special Committee, Wells REIT, the Advisor, their respective security holders or any other party to proceed with or effect the Internalization Transaction, (2) the terms of any agreements or documents related to, or the form or any other portion or aspect of, the Internalization Transaction, except as addressed in the opinion, (3) the fairness of any portion or aspect of the Internalization Transaction to the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of Wells REIT, or the Advisor, or any other party other than those set forth in Houlihan Lokey s opinion, (4) the relative merits of the Internalization Transaction as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for us, the Advisor or any other party or the effect of any other transaction in which we, the Advisor or any other party might engage. (5) the tax or legal consequences of the Internalization Transaction to either us or the Advisor, our respective security holders, or any other party, (6) the fairness of any portion or aspect of the Internalization Transaction to any one class or group of ours or any other party s security holders vis-à-vis any other class or group of ours or such other party s security holders (including without limitation the allocation of any consideration amongst such classes or groups of security holders), (7) whether or not Wells REIT, the Advisor, our respective security holders or any other party is receiving or paying reasonably equivalent value in the Internalization Transaction, or (8) the solvency, creditworthiness or fair value of Wells REIT, the Advisor or any other participant in the Internalization Transaction under any applicable laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance or similar matters. Houlihan Lokey did not provide any opinion, counsel or interpretation as to matters that required legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance, tax or other similar professional advice. Houlihan Lokey assumed that such opinions, counsel or interpretations were or will be obtained from the appropriate professional sources. Houlihan Lokey relied on the assessment by the Special Committee, Wells REIT and the Advisor and their respective advisers, as to all legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance and tax matters with respect to Wells REIT, the Advisor and the Internalization Transaction.

### Summary of Analyses

In preparing its opinion to the Special Committee and our Board, Houlihan Lokey performed a variety of analyses, including those described below. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process involving various quantitative and qualitative judgments and determinations with respect to the financial, comparative and other analytic methods employed and the adaptation and application of these methods to the unique facts and circumstances presented. As a consequence, neither a fairness opinion nor its underlying analyses is readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Houlihan Lokey arrived at its opinion based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole and did not draw, in isolation, conclusions from or with regard to any individual analysis, analytic method or factor. Houlihan Lokey made its determination as to fairness on the basis of its experience and professional judgment after considering the results of all of its analyses. Accordingly, Houlihan Lokey believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and selecting portions of Houlihan Lokey s analyses, analytic methods and factors or focusing on information presented in tabular format, without considering the narrative description of the analyses, the underlying methodologies and the assumptions, qualifications and limitations affecting each analysis would create a misleading or incomplete view of the processes underlying its opinion. Houlihan Lokey did not assign specific weights to any particular analyses.

No company or business used in Houlihan Lokey s analyses for comparative purposes is identical to us or the Advisor, and no transaction used in Houlihan Lokey s analyses for comparative purposes is identical to the Internalization Transaction. The estimates contained in Houlihan Lokey s analyses and the reference valuation ranges indicated by any particular analysis are illustrative and not necessarily indicative of actual values or predictive of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those suggested by the analyses. In addition, the analyses relating to the value of businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which such businesses or

securities actually may be purchased or sold, which may depend on a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control and the control of Houlihan Lokey. Much of the information used in, and accordingly the results of, Houlihan Lokey s analyses are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty and, therefore, none of Wells REIT, Houlihan Lokey or any other person assumes any responsibility if future results are materially different from those estimated or indicated.

Houlihan Lokey s opinion was provided to the Special Committee and our Board in connection with the Special Committee s and our Board s consideration of the Internalization and was one of many factors considered by the Special Committee and our Board in evaluating the Internalization. Neither Houlihan Lokey s opinion nor its analyses were determinative of the Consideration or of the views of the Special Committee and our Board with respect to the Internalization.

The following is a summary of the material valuation analyses prepared in connection with Houlihan Lokey s opinion rendered on January 31, 2007.

For purposes of its analyses, Houlihan Lokey reviewed a number of financial metrics including:

Enterprise Value the value of the relevant company s outstanding equity securities (taking into account its outstanding warrants and other convertible securities) plus the value of its net debt (the value of its outstanding indebtedness, preferred stock and capital lease obligations less the amount of cash on its balance sheet) and minority interests as of a specified date.

Net Operating Income or NOI the amount of the relevant company s earnings from operations after operating expenses, but before corporate selling, general, and administrative expenses for a specified time period.

EBITDA the amount of the relevant company s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization for a specified time period.

Funds From Operations or FFO the amount of the relevant company s net earnings after taxes adjusted to include real estate depreciation and amortization for a specified period of time.

Assets Under Management the market value of assets an investment company manages on behalf of investors.

Capitalization Rate or Cap Rate a percentage equal to the relevant company s NOI for a twelve-month period divided by the relevant company s enterprise value.

Payout Ratios the percentage of the relevant company s FFO that is paid out to stockholders as dividends.

Dividend Yield the amount of the relevant company s dividends paid out to stockholders over a twelve-month period divided by the relevant company s stock price.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, enterprise and per share equity values used in the selected companies analysis described below were calculated using the closing price of the common stock of the selected companies listed below as of January 29, 2007 and the enterprise values for the target companies used in the selected transactions analysis described below were calculated as of the announcement date of the relevant transaction based on the purchase prices paid in the selected transactions.

Advisor Valuation Analyses

*Precedent Transactions Analysis.* Houlihan Lokey calculated enterprise value as a multiple of EBITDA based on the purchase prices paid in selected transactions involving companies providing real estate services.

The selected precedent transactions were:

Target	Acquiror	Transaction Announced
Trammell Crow Company	CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc.	10/30/2006
Dividend Capital Advisors LLC	DCT Industrial Trust, Inc.	09/05/2006
CNL Retirement Properties, Inc.	Health Care Property Investors Inc.	05/02/2006
Colliers International Property Consultants,		
Inc. / Spaulding & Slye	Jones Lang LaSalle, Inc.	11/28/2005
Dalgleish & Co. Limited	CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc.	10/31/2005
CMN International, Inc.	First Service Corp.	10/14/2004
Property Fund Management PLC	Teesland PLC	09/24/2004
Inland Retail Real Estate Advisory		
Services Inc.	Inland Retail Real Estate Trust, Inc.	09/10/2004
Sotheby s Holdings, Inc./ Sotheby s		
International Realty, Inc.	Cendant Corporation	02/17/2004
The selected precedent transactions analysis indicated the fo	llowing:	

Selected Transactions	Enterprise Value as a multiple of EBITDA
High	27.5x
Low	5.9x
Mean	13.5x
Median	8.1x

Houlihan Lokey applied a range of multiples based on the selected precedent transactions to the Advisor s estimated 2006 EBITDA. In performing its analysis, Houlihan Lokey took into account the Advisor s size, historical financial performance, prospects, revenue mix and customer base relative to the selected precedent transactions. The precedent transactions analysis indicated an implied enterprise value range for the Advisor of \$160,000,000 to \$180,000,000, as compared to the Internalization Consideration of \$175,000,000.

Assets Under Management Analysis. Houlihan Lokey calculated the enterprise value as a percentage of assets under management for selected companies engaged in asset management activities, such as mutual funds and investment funds.

The selected companies were:

Affiliated Managers Group Inc. Eaton Vance Corp. GAMCO Investors, Inc. Nuveen Investments Waddell & Reed Financial Inc. The assets under management analysis indicated the following: Blackrock, Inc. Franklin Resources, Inc. Janus Capital Group Inc. Price (T. Rowe) Group Cohen & Steers, Inc.

#### Enterprise Value as a percentage

Selected Companies	of assets under management
Low	2.21%
High	6.49%
Mean	3.96%
Median	3.62%

Houlihan Lokey applied a range of percentages to the fair market value of the assets under management of the Advisor, which were based on internal estimates provided by Wells REF management and the Appraisals. In performing its analysis, Houlihan Lokey took into account the Advisor s size, historical financial performance, prospects, revenue mix and customer base relative to the selected asset management companies. The assets under management analysis indicated an implied enterprise value range for the Advisor of \$162,000,000 to \$216,000,000, as compared to the Internalization Consideration of \$175,000,000.

Selected Companies Analysis. Houlihan Lokey calculated enterprise value as a multiple of estimated EBITDA for selected real estate advisory companies and financial advisory companies.

The selected companies were:

Company	Туре
CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc.	Real Estate Advisory Company
Grubb & Ellis Company	Real Estate Advisory Company
Jones Lang LaSalle Inc.	Real Estate Advisory Company
Franklin Resources, Inc.	Financial Advisory Company
Nuveen Investments, Inc.	Financial Advisory Company
Marsh & McLennan Companies Inc.	Financial Advisory Company
T. Rowe Prices Group, Inc.	Financial Advisory Company
multiple analysis indicated the following:	

The selected market multiple analysis indicated the following:

### **Enterprise Value as a Multiple of EBITDA**

Selected Companies	Real Estate Advis	ory Companies	Financial Advis	ory Companies
	2006(E)	2007(E)	2006(E)	2007(E)
Low	13.5x	10.1x	10.9x	9.5x
High	16.2x	17.7x	15.1x	12.7x
Mean	14.8x	13.9x	13.6x	11.7x
Median	14.8x	13.8x	14.2x	12.2x

Houlihan Lokey applied a range of multiples based on the selected companies analysis to the Advisor s estimated 2006 and 2007 EBITDA. In performing its analysis, Houlihan Lokey took into account the Advisor s size, historical financial performance, prospects, revenue mix and customer base relative to the selected companies. Estimated financial data for the selected companies was derived from a review of publicly available research analyst estimates and reports and other information regarding the selected real estate advisory and financial advisory companies. The selected companies analysis indicated an implied enterprise value range for the Advisor of \$165,000,000 to \$185,000,000, as compared to the Internalization Consideration of \$175,000,000.

*Consideration Paid as a Percentage of Acquiror s Total Stock Analysis.* Houlihan Lokey calculated aggregate stock consideration paid to target companies as a percentage of the acquiror s total number of shares outstanding (immediately prior to the acquisition) in selected transactions involving companies providing real estate and financial advisory services.

The selected precedent transactions were:

Target	Acquiror	<b>Transaction Announced</b>
Dividend Capital Advisors LLC	DCT Industrial Trust, Inc.	10/06/2006
CNL Retirement Properties, Inc.	Health Care Property Investors Inc.	05/02/2006
Inland Retail Real Estate Advisory Services Inc.	Inland Retail Real Estate Trust, Inc.	09/10/2004
Related Capital Company	CharterMac	11/07/2003
Cedar Bay Realty Advisors, Inc.	Cedar Shopping Centers, Inc.	10/01/2003

Target	Acquiror	Transaction Announced
Carey Management LLC	W.P. Carey & Co., Inc.	06/28/2000
Inland Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc.	Inland Real Estate Corporation	03/31/2000
Starwood Financial Advisers	Starwood Financial Trust	06/16/1999
Captec Net Lease Realty Advisors, Inc.	Captec Net Lease Realty, Inc.	11/14/1997
Security Capital Group Incorporated	Prologis	09/09/1997
Security Capital Group Incorporated	Archstone Communities Trust	09/09/1997
Financial Asset Management LLC	Asset Investors Corporation	09/09/1997
Countrywide Asset Management Corp.	IndyMac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.	07/01/1997
CNL Realty Advisors	Commercial Net Lease Realty, Inc.	05/15/1997
QSV Properties, Inc.	U.S. Restaurant Properties Master L.P.	05/14/1997
Berkshire Realty Advisors	Berkshire Realty Company, Inc.	02/28/1997
Lexford Properties	Cardinal Realty Services Inc	08/01/1996
R.I.C. Advisors	Realty Income Corp	08/17/1995
R.M. Bradley & Co., Inc.	Bradley Real Estate, Inc.	01/01/1995
The consideration paid as a percentage of acquiror s total s	tock analysis indicated the following:	

Aggregate Stock Consideration Paid to Target as a Percentage of

Selected Transactions	Acquiror s Total Shares Outstanding
Low	3.2%
High	23.7%
Mean	8.6%
Median	6.2%

The consideration paid as a percentage of acquiror s total stock analysis, based on the selected transactions outlined above, was compared to the percentage of Wells REIT s outstanding stock being paid in its acquisition of Advisor of 4.2%, which is within the range of the percentages in the selected transactions and below the mean and the median.

#### Wells REIT Valuation

*Selected Companies Analysis.* Houlihan Lokey calculated enterprise value as multiples of EBITDA and FFO, and as a percentage of NOI, taking into consideration net debt, for selected real estate investment trusts for the latest 12-month period and estimates for 2006 and 2007.

The selected companies were:

Boston Properties, Inc.	Kilroy Realty Corporation	Crescent RE Equities Inc		
Hrpt Properties Trust	Mack-Cali Realty Corporation	SL Green Realty Corp.		
Highwoods Properties Inc.	Vornado Realty Trust	Brookfield Properties Corp		
The selected companies analysis indicated the following:				

Enterprise Value of a REIT as a Capitalization Rate Selected Companies LTM 2006(E) 2007(E) Low 4.4% 4.8% 5.1% High 8.9% 9.2% 9.7% Mean 5.9% 6.0% 6.4% Median 5.6% 5.6% 6.0%

	Enterprise Value	of a REIT as a M	ultiple of EBITI
Selected Companies	LTM	2006(E)	2007(E)
Low	12.0x	12.2x	11.6x
High	25.7x	24.8x	23.0x
Mean	20.3x	19.1x	18.3x
Median	19.6x	19.3x	18.5x
	Enterprise V	alue of a REIT as	a Multiple of
		FFO	
Selected Companies	LTM	2006(E)	2007(E)

Selected Companies	LTM	2006(E)	2007(E)
Low	8.9x	9.6x	10.2x
High	36.7x	25.6x	31.0x
Mean	20.5x	18.3x	20.0x
Median	18.1x	18.7x	20.6x

Houlihan Lokey applied capitalization rate and multiple ranges based on the selected companies analysis to corresponding financial data for Wells REIT, including estimates with respect to Wells REIT s future financial performance provided by Wells REF management. Estimated financial data for the selected companies was derived from a review of publicly available research analyst estimates and reports and other information for the selected real estate investment trusts. The selected companies analysis gave an overall indicated reference range value per share for Wells REIT s common stock of \$8.16 to \$9.39, as compared to the per share value of \$8.9531 for Wells REIT s common stock that is being used to determine the number of shares to be issued as the Consideration.

*Precedent Transactions Analysis.* Houlihan Lokey calculated enterprise value as a multiple of EBITDA and the implied capitalization rate, based on purchase prices paid in selected transactions involving real estate investment trusts.

The selected precedent transactions were:

Target	Acquiror	Transaction Announced
Equity Office Properties Trust	Blackstone Real Estate Advisors	11/19/2006
Reckson Associates Realty Corp.	Rome Acquisition Limited Partnership (Macklowe	
	and Carl Icahn)	11/16/2006
Glenborough Realty Trust, Incorporated	Morgan Stanley Real Estate	08/20/2006
Reckson Associates Realty Corp.	SL Green Realty Corp.	08/03/2006
Trizec Canada, Inc.	Brookfield Properties Corp./Blackstone Group	06/05/2006
Trizec Properties Inc.	Brookfield Properties Corp./Blackstone Group	06/05/2006
CarrAmerica Realty Corporation	Blackstone Real Estate Advisors	03/05/2006
Bedford Property Investors, Inc.	LBA Realty LLC	02/10/2006
Arden Realty, Inc.	GE Real Estate	12/22/2005
Prentiss Properties Trust	Brandywine Realty Trust	10/03/2005
CRT Properties, Inc.	DRA Advisors, LLC	06/17/2005
The selected precedent transactions analysis indicated the fo	llowing:	

Selected Transactions	Enterprise Value as a Multiple of EBITDA	Enterprise Value as a Capitalization Rate
Low	14.5x	5.5%
High	20.2x	7.8%
Mean	16.9x	6.6%
Median	16.7x	6.7%

Houlihan Lokey applied a range of multiples and capitalization rates based on the selected transactions analysis to Wells REIT s LTM, EBITDA and NOI, respectively. The selected precedent transactions analysis gave an overall indicated reference range value per share for Wells REIT s common stock of \$8.59 to \$9.82, as compared to the per share value of \$8.9531 for Wells REIT s common stock that is being used to determine the number of shares to be issued as the Consideration.

*Yield Analysis.* Houlihan Lokey also calculated the payout ratios and dividend yields for the companies identified in the selected companies analysis, as well as for other real estate partnerships, and applied the payout ratios and dividend yields indicated by that analysis to corresponding data for Wells REIT. The yield analysis indicated an implied reference range value per share of Wells REIT s common stock of \$8.38 to \$9.03, as compared to the per share value of \$8.9531 for Wells REIT s common stock that is being used to determine the number of shares to be issued as the Consideration.

### **Other Matters**

The type and amount of consideration payable in the Internalization were determined through negotiations between the Special Committee and Wells REF, rather than by any financial advisor, and were approved by the Special Committee. The decision to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement was solely that of the Special Committee and the Board. As described above, Houlihan Lokey s opinion and analyses were one of many factors considered by the Special Committee in its evaluation of the Internalization and should not be viewed as solely determinative of the views of the Special Committee, or our Board with respect to the Internalization or the Consideration.

We hired Houlihan Lokey to render an opinion to the Special Committee and our Board based on Houlihan Lokey s experience and reputation. Houlihan Lokey is regularly engaged to render financial opinions in connection with mergers and acquisitions, financial restructuring, tax matters, ESOP and ERISA matters, corporate planning, and for other purposes. We have agreed to pay Houlihan Lokey for its services in connection with the Internalization an aggregate fee of \$500,000, one-half of which was payable at the time of Houlihan Lokey s engagement and one-half of which was payable upon the rendering of its opinion. No portion of Houlihan Lokey s fee was contingent upon the consummation of the Internalization Transaction or the conclusions set forth in Houlihan Lokey s opinion. We also have agreed to reimburse Houlihan Lokey and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates and representatives against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the federal securities laws.

In the ordinary course of business, certain of Houlihan Lokey s affiliates may acquire, hold or sell, long or short positions, or trade or otherwise effect transactions, in debt, equity, and other securities and financial instruments (including bank loans and other obligations) of Wells REIT and any other party that may be involved in the Internalization Transaction.

### DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERNALIZATION TRANSACTION

Set forth below is a summary of the material terms of the Internalization. The Definitive Merger Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as **Appendix A**, contains a more extensive description of the terms of the Internalization. The summary set forth below is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Definitive Merger Agreement.

### General

Subject to the approval thereof by our stockholders and subject to the satisfaction of certain other conditions, the Definitive Merger Agreement provides for the simultaneous occurrence of the following: (1) WREAS will be merged into our wholly-owned subsidiary, WRT Acquisition, with WRT Acquisition being the surviving entity; (2) WGS will be merged into our wholly-owned subsidiary, WGS Acquisition, with WGS Acquisition being the surviving entity; and (3) the shares of common stock of WREAS and WGS currently held by WASI will be converted into 19,546,302 shares of our common stock in the aggregate, subject to certain escrow and other conditions. As a result of the Internalization Transaction, each of WREAS and WGS will be merged into and will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and we will become self-advised. We currently anticipate that we will have a total of approximately 100 to 110 employees following the Internalization. We anticipate that the Advisor will have approximately 80 to 90 employees who will become our employees as a result of the Internalization Transaction, that we will hire an additional approximately 15 to 30 employees shortly after Closing. We anticipate that, subject to the discretion of our compensation committee, we will issue stock options or other deferred equity awards pursuant to our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan to certain of our employees. In addition, we will hire and enter into the employment agreements with certain individuals associated with the Advisor or its affiliates and, as of the Closing Date, those individuals will also become our employees.

Under Maryland law and our existing Articles, holders of shares of our common stock will not be entitled to rights of appraisal with respect to the Internalization.

#### Determination of Estimated Net Asset Value of Our Shares of Common Stock

We recently engaged an independent appraisal firm to perform a valuation of our properties as of September 30, 2006. As a result of this valuation, on January 3, 2007, our Board determined that the estimated net asset value of our shares of common stock, based primarily on the estimated net asset value of our real estate portfolio, was \$8.93 per share. The \$8.93 estimated net asset value per share was provided by an independent third party which based its estimate upon (1) the appraised value of our real estate assets as of September 30, 2006, and (2) consideration of the current value of our other assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006 (including the contingent liability for the subordinated disposition fee described below). This estimated net asset value per share is only an estimate, and is based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, which may not be accurate or complete. There were no liquidity discounts applied to this estimated valuation or discounts relating to the fact that we are currently externally managed, and no attempt was made to value the company as an enterprise. Further, this should not be viewed as the amount a stockholder would receive in the event that we were to list our shares in the future or to liquidate our assets and distribute the proceeds to our stockholders since, among other things, this valuation was not reduced by potential real estate brokerage commissions or other costs of sale.

#### **Payment of Internalization Consideration**

In the Internalization, we have agreed to pay the Internalization Consideration of \$175 million in shares of our common stock and agreed to use the foregoing September 30, 2006 estimated net asset valuation as a basis for determining the number of shares that would represent the \$175 million in value; however, since the estimated net asset valuation took into account an approximately \$12.4 million subordinated disposition fee otherwise payable to the Advisor upon a liquidation of our properties at their September 30, 2006 appraised values, and the obligation to pay this contingent liability would be extinguished upon the acquisition of the Advisor, the parties agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement to use a per-share value of \$8.9531 (calculated by excluding the potential liability for the subordinated disposition fee) to

determine the amount of shares paid as Internalization Consideration. As a result of the Internalization, all of the outstanding common stock of WREAS and WGS currently to be held by WASI, the parent of both WREAS and WGS, will be converted into 19,546,302 shares of our common stock (which represents approximately 4.2% of our currently outstanding common stock), reflecting the agreed-to Internalization Consideration of \$175 million. Additionally our executive officers and certain of our directors, including our new Chief Executive Officer and President, Donald A. Miller, CFA, and another individual currently affiliated with Wells REF who may become one of our executive officers have beneficial economic interests in WASI and, as a result of the Internalization, will collectively receive beneficial economic interests in approximately 18,764,450 shares of our common stock, which will represent approximately \$168 million in value (if valued at \$8.9531 per share). In addition, in connection with the Internalization Transaction, Wells Capital will transfer its 20,000 limited partnership units of Wells OP to us or one of our subsidiaries in exchange for 22,339 shares of our common stock. See Internalization Proposal Interest of our officers and directors in the Advisor and certain of its Affiliates.

### Closing

The Definitive Merger Agreement provides that the Internalization will be consummated on the Closing Date, which will be within three business days following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the Internalization set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing), or on such other date as we and WASI may mutually agree.

### Escrow of Certain Shares of Our Common Stock at Closing

As set forth above in the Negotiation of the Internalization Transaction section of this proxy statement, the \$175 million of Internalization Consideration was determined and agreed to, in part, based upon a certain minimum level of Projected Earnings (the Incremental EBITDA Contribution ). However, since we anticipate that not all of the properties for which property management fee income that was included in the Incremental EBITDA Contribution will be managed by the Advisor as of the Closing Date, the parties have agreed that, out of the total of 19,546,302 shares of our common stock to be issued to WASI as Internalization Consideration, a certain number of such shares of our common stock will be placed in escrow at closing (the Escrowed Shares ) subject to our receipt during 2007 of the benefit of the additional property management fee income relating to properties not under management as of the Closing which was included in the Incremental EBITDA Contribution. The mechanics of determining the number of Escrowed Shares to be placed in escrow at closing have been agreed to by WASI and us, and are set forth on certain schedules to the Definitive Merger Agreement. Such schedules provide that the number shares of our common stock constituting the Internalization Consideration which represents that portion of the Incremental EBITDA Contribution relating to properties that will not be managed by us as of the Closing but that are proposed to be under our management by the end of 2007 will be treated as Escrowed Shares to be held and disbursed to WASI or us pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement. All shares issued to WASI at closing or after the closing out of the Escrowed Shares will be issued and held under the Pledge and Security Agreement. For a detailed discussion regarding the escrow of shares at closing and how the Escrowed Shares will be disbursed under the Escrow Agreement and the Pledge and Security Agreement, please see the Escrow Agreement and the Pledge and Security Agreement sections of this proxy statement below and the Definitive Merger Agreement attached as Appendix A.

#### Acquisition of Property Management Offices and Property Management Agreements

As set forth above in the Property Management Offices section of this proxy statement, Wells REF has agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement that as part of the Internalization Transaction we will acquire the property management offices located in or being established in the cities of Washington, D.C., Minneapolis, Tampa, Los Angeles, Chicago, Detroit and Dallas, out of which we will manage certain of our properties and certain properties owned by other programs sponsored by Wells REF and its affiliates. In connection with our acquisition of these property management offices, we will also acquire the property management agreements for the properties currently managed by Wells Management or WGS out of these offices as a part of the Internalization Transaction. In addition, as also described in the

Property Management Offices section of this proxy statement, Wells Management will retain or establish property management offices in certain cities or regions where we will not initially have property management offices, out of which we anticipate that Wells Management will at least initially manage certain of our properties.

WGS has a lease for the office space it currently occupies in Washington, D.C., and leases for the office space currently occupied by Wells Management in the cities of Minneapolis, Tampa, Detroit and Dallas will be assigned to WREAS prior to the Closing Date. Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, Wells REF has agreed to cause the property management offices being established in the cities of Los Angeles and Chicago to be transferred to WREAS prior to the Closing Date and to pay all start up costs and expenses necessary for such property management offices to be fully operational. In addition, Wells REF and its affiliates have agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement to use commercially reasonable efforts following the Closing Date to cause property management contracts relating to properties owned by us that are presently managed by third parties, but are projected to be transferred to us as a part of the Internalization Transaction, to be transferred to us.

Since a portion of our property management fee income, relating to both property management agreements in place and acquired by us at closing and property management agreements to be assigned to us or entered into by us after closing, will be generated from property management agreements for properties owned by other programs sponsored by Wells REF and its affiliates, there are no assurances that such entities will not cancel such property management agreements after closing, or that any such properties will not be sold after closing, resulting in a reduction in the level of our anticipated property management fee income. In order to protect us against such risks, however, Wells REF has agreed in the Definitive Merger Agreement to pay us in each year of its guaranty an amount equal to the projected amount of property management fees and property expense reimbursements lost as a result of the termination of property management agreements relating to properties owned by entities other than us which were included in the Incremental EBITDA Contribution, less any actual property management fees and property expense reimbursements from other properties not owned by us, the management of which Wells REF transfers to us and we assume after Closing. Such guarantee will terminate upon the earlier to occur (1) four years after the closing of the Internalization Transaction, or (2) at such time as at least 75% of the properties owned by us which continue to be managed by Wells Management after the closing of the Internalization Transaction become managed by us. In addition, Wells REF has agreed that, as long as it or its affiliates have the right to manage or to designate a property manager for a property managed by us which is not owned by us, it shall not cause the management of such property to be terminated without our consent, except as a result of a material, uncured default by us pursuant to the terms of the applicable property management agreement.

In addition, property management fee income from properties owned by entities other than us does not constitute qualified income under the 95% income test described in the Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations section of this proxy statement. However, as also described in the Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations section of this proxy statement. However, as also described in the Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations section of this proxy statement. However, as also described in the Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations section of this proxy statement, in order to adversely affect our REIT tax status, the level of all income that does not qualify as qualified income must exceed 5% of our total gross income, and it is currently anticipated that, even if we were able to acquire property management agreements for 100% of the properties owned by entities other than us which are included in the Incremental EBITDA Contribution, the level of property management fee income from all properties owned by entities other than us would not be expected to exceed 0.5% of our currently projected gross income after closing. See Internalization Proposal The Internalization Transaction Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Income Tests.

### **Conduct of Business Prior to Closing**

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed, among other things, that, except to the extent provided in the Definitive Merger Agreement, until the Closing, they:

shall, and shall cause the Advisor to conduct the Advisor s business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and consistent with the requirements of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement, and consistent with the assumptions underlying the projected earnings before deduction of interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

( Projected EBITDA ) for the period January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007 prepared by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF;

shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact the present organization of the Advisor;

shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep available the services of the present officers and employees of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF and all other persons who provide material services to us and any employees identified to provide services to us after Closing; and

shall use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS s relationships with others having business dealings with them that relate to the Advisor s business. WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, WREAS, WGS and Well REF have also agreed, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, that until the Closing, that they will not permit the Advisor to:

sell, lease, encumber, transfer or dispose of any of the assets, contracts or intellectual property that are being transferred to us in the Internalization Transaction, including by relinquishing any rights under any contract material to the Advisor, in each case except in the ordinary course of business;

fail to timely pay any account payable in the ordinary course of business other than amounts that are subject to dispute in good faith;

take any action that would adversely affect our qualification as a REIT;

enter into any material commitment or transaction related to the Advisor s business except in the ordinary course of business;

enter into any agreement providing for management services to be provided by the Advisor to a third party;

incur, create, assume or guarantee any indebtedness of or by WREAS or WGS;

change (or permit to be changed) any accounting or tax procedure or practice (including any method of accounting for tax purposes), make (or permit to be made) any tax election or settle or compromise any tax liability but only to the extent that such procedure or practice, election or compromise relates to the Advisor s business or to any tax liability of the Advisor or taxes of the Advisor as a separate entity;

other than nominal increases consistent with past practices, enter into, adopt, amend, terminate or waive any right under any employee benefit plan (including any employment or consulting arrangement), increase in any manner the compensation or benefits of any officer, employee or consultant of the Advisor or pay or otherwise grant any benefit not required by any employee benefit plan of the Advisor, or enter into any contract to do any of the foregoing;

commit WREAS or WGS to any single capital expenditure or commitment in excess of \$25,000 or make aggregate capital expenditures and commitments in excess of \$75,000 (on a consolidated basis);

cancel any debts or waive any claims or rights of substantial value relating to the Advisor or its business;

enter into, amend or terminate any contract of a type that, if in effect at the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement, would be required to be disclosed as a material contract in the Definitive Merger Agreement or, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, enter into, amend or terminate any other contract relating to the Advisor s business to which WREAS or WGS is a party;

issue, sell or grant any equity interests of WREAS or WGS, or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable for, or evidencing the right to subscribe for any equity interests of WREAS or WGS, or any rights, warrants, options, calls, commitments or any other agreements of any character to purchase or acquire any equity interests of WREAS or WGS or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable for, or

evidencing the right to subscribe for, any equity interests of WREAS or WGS or any other securities in respect of, in lieu of, or in substitution for, the shares of the common stock outstanding as of the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement;

settle or compromise any material claim, action, suit or proceeding pending or threatened against WREAS or WGS or relating to the Advisor s business;

except as permitted under the Definitive Merger Agreement or related transaction documents, enter into any transaction or any contract with any of the Advisor or its affiliate s officers, directors, consultants, or employees;

make or authorize any change in the articles of incorporation or bylaws of WREAS or WGS; or

take, or agree or otherwise commit to take, any of the foregoing actions or any other action that if taken would reasonably be expected to prevent the satisfaction of any of the closing conditions or post-closing tax matters set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement.

#### **Certain Pre-Closing Covenants**

Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed to certain covenants, among others, as described below.

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed:

to provide us with reasonable access upon reasonable prior notice to all personnel, officers, employees, agents, accountants, properties and facilities of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, and the Advisor and the books and records relating to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and the Advisor;

to furnish us with all such information and data (including copies of contracts, plans and other books and records) concerning WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and the Advisor or its business, and operations of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and the Advisor or its business as we may reasonably request in connection with such investigation;

to assist in the preparation of the proxy statement to be filed by us with the SEC, including the preparation of any amendments or supplements thereto;

(a) to notify us in writing of any information obtained after the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement that was required to be, but was not, disclosed pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, or that was necessary to complete or correct any such disclosure or any representation or warranty of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF; (b) to promptly inform us of any claim by any third party that a consent would be required as a result of the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement under the terms of any material contract or law; (c) to notify us promptly after becoming aware of the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event after the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement that would be likely to cause either any representation or warranty in the Definitive Merger Agreement to be breached in any material respect if it was made as of the Closing Date if then made or any of the closing conditions set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement to be unsatisfied on the Closing Date; and (d) to notify us promptly after becoming aware of any material failure by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management or Wells REF to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement applicable to it;

that all transfer, registration, stamp, documentary, sales, use and similar taxes (including all applicable real estate transfer or gains taxes and transfer taxes), any penalties, interest and additions to tax, and fees incurred

in connection with the transactions contemplated by Definitive Merger Agreement shall be the responsibility of, and be timely paid by WAS I (with our cooperation and that of Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and the Advisor);

to promptly provide us (not later than the 20 days after the end of each period), with copies of Advisor s unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income prepared in accordance with GAAP;

to take such actions as are necessary to locate the employees and assets that are part of the Advisor s business to our headquarters;

to deliver an estoppel certificate from the owner of our headquarters that is reasonably acceptable to us;

to cause, prior to the Closing Date, Advisor to establish or cause to be established insurance policies providing insurance coverage to Advisor and us following the Closing, which insurance policies shall be no less beneficial in the aggregate than those disclosed by Advisor in the Definitive Merger Agreement (or, to the extent such coverage is not then reasonably available, as close as practicable to existing coverage terms consistent with prevailing insurance market conditions);

to (1) cause the property management offices and property management agreements which were included in the Projected EBITDA to be transferred to the Advisor prior to closing, and (2) pay all start up costs and expenses necessary for such property management offices to be fully operational;

to contribute, transfer to or otherwise cause Advisor to obtain the assets, personnel, contract rights, leaseholds, intellectual property and other resources necessary to conduct the Advisor s business and provide the services to us in substantially the same manner as they are presently conducted and provided after the Closing and to take all actions necessary to implement the transfer of the business to the Advisor such that the Advisor is fully operational and is able to conduct the business and provide the services as a stand-alone entity as of the Closing; and

(a) to take all actions necessary to transfer the employees used in Advisor s business (or if an employee s employment terminates, use commercially reasonable efforts to recruit and hire a suitable replacement acceptable to us), to WREAS (except to the extent that they are employees of WGS), (b) to cause WREAS to adopt employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements that are comparable to those plans provided to such employees as of the Closing Date, to the extent practicable, and (c) to use commercially reasonable efforts to recruit a chief financial officer reasonably acceptable to us and to recruit and hire employees to fill certain other positions reasonably acceptable to us (all such costs of recruiting and hiring to be paid by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF ).

We have agreed:

to conduct our business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice;

to not intentionally take any action that would adversely affect our qualification as a REIT;

to operate in material compliance with the terms and conditions of our current contracts;

to prepare and file, with the assistance of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF, a proxy statement in preliminary form with the SEC;

to use commercially reasonable efforts to resolve with the SEC any comments that the SEC issues with respect to the proxy statement and to cause the proxy statement to be mailed to our stockholders;

to notify WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS promptly after becoming aware of the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event after the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement

that would be likely to cause either any representation or warranty in the Definitive Merger Agreement to be breached in any material respect if it was made as of the Closing Date if then made or any of the closing conditions set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement to be unsatisfied on the Closing Date;

acting through our Board, to establish a record date for and cause a meeting of our stockholders to be duly called and held as soon as reasonably practicable (after taking into account the requirements relating to the filing and distribution of the proxy statement) for the purpose of obtaining our stockholder approval of the Internalization Proposal, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Incentive Plan Proposal;

in connection with the meeting of our stockholders, acting through our Board, and subject to our Board s rights upon the receipt by us of a Superior Offer (as defined in the Termination section below), (1) to recommend the approval of the Definitive Merger Agreement, the approval of the amendments to our Articles and the approval of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan and (2) to otherwise comply in all material respects with all laws applicable to such meeting;

to maintain employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements that are comparable in the aggregate to those plans provided to such employees as of the Closing Date, until one year after the Closing Date; and

to adopt the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan promptly upon receiving stockholder approval and to maintain such a plan or a substantially comparable plan for one year after the Closing Date.

### **Covenants Relating to Dividends**

To ensure that neither WREAS nor WGS has current or accumulated earnings and profits as of the time the mergers contemplated by the Internalization become effective, WASI has agreed that, prior to the execution and delivery of the Definitive Merger Agreement, (1) the board of directors of WASI and WREAS are required to adopt resolutions declaring a dividend to WASI in such amount as is ultimately determined by WREAS prior to Closing, and such dividend (if any) is required to be paid prior to the Closing Date based on the comfort letter to be obtained from Ernst & Young LLP so as to ensure that WREAS does not have current or accumulated earnings and profits, and (2) the board of directors of WASI and WGS are required to adopt resolutions declaring a dividend to WASI in such amount as is ultimately determined by WGS prior to Closing, and such dividend (if any) is required to be paid prior to the Closing Date based on the comfort letter to be obtained from Ernst & Young LLP so as to ensure that WREAS does not have current or accumulated earnings and profits and (2) the board of directors of WASI and WGS are required to adopt resolutions declaring a dividend to WASI in such amount as is ultimately determined by WGS prior to Closing, and such dividend (if any) is required to be paid prior to the Closing Date based on the comfort letter to be obtained from Ernst & Young LLP so as to ensure that WGS does not have current or accumulated earnings and profits.

#### **Covenants Concerning Post-Closing Employment Arrangements**

WASI and the Advisor have agreed, at or prior to the Closing, to have entered into agreements or arrangements in form and substance satisfactory to the Special Committee, acting on our behalf, in its sole discretion, for the continuation and/or substitution of benefits to employees of the Advisor following the Internalization.

#### **Post-Closing Covenants**

#### Restrictions on Sale of Our Shares; Maintenance of Assets

Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement WASI has agreed to certain post-closing covenants, among others, as described below:

to not, without our prior written consent, offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer or dispose of any of our shares of common stock that it receives pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement or securities convertible or exchangeable for any of such shares, or enter into any swap, hedge, or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of such shares for a period of 18 months commencing on the Closing Date (the Lock-Up Period );

to hold, for a period of 6 months following the end of the Lock-Up Period (the Follow-On Period ), assets (net of liabilities) having a fair market value measured as of the last day of the Lock-Up Period of not less than the sum of \$20 million plus an amount reasonably sufficient to cover any indemnity claims asserted in good faith in accordance with Definitive Merger Agreement against any of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF before the end of the Follow-On Period to the extent those claims remain unresolved; and

to hold, following the end of the Follow-On Period, assets having a fair market value measured as of the last day of the Follow-On Period of not less than an amount reasonably sufficient to cover any indemnity claims asserted in good faith in accordance with the Definitive Merger Agreement against any of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF before the end of the Follow-On Period, to the extent those claims remain unresolved.

### Confidentiality

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and we have also agreed, for a period of five years after the Closing Date, not to disclose to any third party any confidential or non-public information relating to any party to the Definitive Merger agreement, and will not use any confidential information, directly or indirectly, for any purpose other than in connection with the Definitive Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby or services provided pursuant to services agreements entered into in connection with the Definitive Merger Agreement (except that we are not restricted with respect to our use of confidential information relating to the Advisor following Closing).

### Taxes

Without our prior written consent, none of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS or WGS will, to the extent it may affect or relate to the Advisor, (1) make or change any tax election, (2) change any annual tax accounting period, (3) adopt or change any method of tax accounting, (4) file any amended tax return, (5) enter into any closing agreement related to any taxes, (6) settle any tax claim or assessment, (7) surrender any right to claim a tax refund, (8) offset or effect any other reduction in tax liability, (9) consent to any extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to any tax claim or assessment or (10) take or omit to take any other action, if any such action or omission would have the effect of increasing the tax liability or reducing any tax asset of the Advisor.

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and we have also agreed to cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, in connection with the preparation and filing of any tax return and any audit or other proceeding with respect to taxes.

### **Employee Matters**

After the Closing Date, each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and Wells REF are required to continue to be responsible for any and all liabilities to or in respect of any of its employees, including any employee used and continuing in the Advisor's business, relating to or arising in connection with any and all claims for workers' compensation benefits arising in connection with any occupational injury or disease occurring prior to the Closing Date in accordance with the plans of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF. After the Closing Date, each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF are required to continue to be responsible for any and all liabilities to or in respect of any of its employee used and continuing in the Advisor's business, relating to or arising in connection with any and all claims for short-term or long-term disability benefits arising in connection with any injury or disease occurring or existing on or prior to the Closing Date whether reported before or after the Closing Date in accordance with the plans of WASI, Wells REF.

#### **Insurance** Claims

After the Closing Date, (1) each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF will use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve any rights that we or the Advisor may have to make claims under the insurance policies disclosed pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement for claims arising out of occurrences prior to the Closing Date and (2) we and WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF will cooperate with and assist each other in issuing notices of claims by us or the Advisor under such insurance policies, presenting such claims for payment and collecting insurance proceeds related thereto.

#### Non-Solicitation/No Hire

Each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed that, for a period of five years after the Closing Date, it shall not, and shall cause its affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, hire (as an employee, consultant or otherwise) or solicit to perform services (as an employee, consultant or otherwise) or take any actions which are intended to persuade any termination of association of any employee used and continuing in the Advisor s business with us or the Advisor (or our affiliates). We have agreed that, for a period of five years after the Closing Date, we shall not, and shall cause our affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, hire (as an employee, consultant or otherwise) or solicit to perform services (as an employee, consultant or otherwise) or take any actions which are intended to persuade any termination of association of any employee of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF (or their affiliates).

#### **Property Management Contracts**

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF agree to use commercially reasonable efforts following the Closing Date to cause property management contracts relating to properties owned by us that are presently managed by third parties, but are projected to be transferred to the Advisor in connection with the Internalization Transaction, to be transferred to us.

#### Directors and Officers Insurance

For a period of six years after the Closing Date, we are required to maintain the same policies of directors and officers liability insurance maintained as of the date of execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement to the extent such policies cover WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF and their respective officers, members and managers or policies of at least the same coverage and amounts containing terms and conditions which are not materially less advantageous with respect to claims arising out of or relating to events that occurred on or prior to the Closing Date.

#### Status of the Internalization Transaction as a Reorganization under the Code

Following the Closing Date, we, WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF agree not to take any action that would be reasonably likely to cause any of the mergers contemplated by the Internalization to fail to qualify as a reorganization under Code Section 368(a). Further we, WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF agree that the federal, state and local tax returns for the taxable years in which the mergers occur will be prepared and filed consistent with treating the mergers as reorganizations under Code Section 368(a)(1)(A).

#### **Conditions to Closing**

#### Conditions to Each Party s Obligations

The respective obligations of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and us to effect the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

all necessary consents and approvals of any governmental authority required for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement shall have been obtained;

no statute, rule, regulation, order, decree or injunction shall have been enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced by a governmental authority that prohibits the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement or related transaction documents shall be in effect and no action, suit or proceeding shall be pending before any governmental authority seeking an injunction, judgment, order, decree or ruling that would (1) prevent the consummation of the Internalization, (2) cause the Internalization to be rescinded following its consummation or (3) materially adversely affect the right of the Advisor to own its assets or operate its business;

we shall have obtained our stockholders approval of the Internalization and the other proposals contained in this proxy statement; and

WREAS, WGS and we shall have received written comfort from Ernst & Young LLP that the WREAS and WGS will not have any current or accumulated earnings and profits at Closing.

## **Conditions to Our Obligations**

Our obligations, WRT Acquisition s obligations and WGS Acquisition s obligations to effect the Closing of the Internalization are further subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

each of the representations and warranties made by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF in the Definitive Merger Agreement that is qualified by reference to materiality or a material adverse effect shall be true and correct, and each of the other representations and warranties made by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF in the Definitive Merger Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made on that date (except in any case that representations and warranties that speak as of a specified date or time need only be true and correct as of such specified date or time);

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and the Advisor shall have performed and complied in all material respects with each agreement, covenant and obligation required by the Definitive Merger Agreement to be so performed or complied with by them at or before the Closing;

since the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement, no event, circumstance or change shall have occurred, that individually or in the aggregate with one or more other events, circumstances or changes, have had or reasonably would be expected to have, a material adverse effect with respect to the Advisor or its business;

all consents or approvals disclosed pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, and any other consents or approvals, the absence of which reasonably would be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Advisor or its business, shall have been obtained, and we shall have received copies of such consents in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to us;

each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS shall have delivered to us a certificate, dated the Closing Date and duly executed by Leo F. Wells, III and each entity s chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as authorized signatories of such entity, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to us, certifying the satisfaction of specified closing conditions;

we shall have entered into a definitive employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, and such employment agreement shall remain in full force and effect;

any of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management or Wells REF that is party to the services agreements (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) shall have executed and delivered such services agreements to us;

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF and the escrow agent shall have executed and delivered the escrow agreement (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) to us;

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF shall have executed and delivered the pledge agreement (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) to us;

WASI and Wells Capital shall have executed and delivered the registration rights agreement (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) to us;

Wells REF shall have executed and delivered the headquarters sublease (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) to us or one of our subsidiaries;

Wells Management and WGS shall have delivered executed assignments of the regional property management subleases (to be executed in connection with Definitive Merger Agreement) to us;

we shall have received an opinion of Holland & Knight LLP (in form reasonably acceptable to us) that (1) the mergers to be effected in connection with the Internalization Transaction will not result in any income tax liability to us, WRT Acquisition or WGS Acquisition; and (2) the mergers to be effected in connection with the Internalization Transaction will not adversely affect our status as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes;

we shall have received an opinion of King & Spalding LLP concerning certain corporate-related matters with respect to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS, substantially in the form required by the Definitive Merger Agreement;

Houlihan Lokey shall not have withdrawn its fairness opinion issued in connection with the Internalization and, if requested by our Special Committee, shall have issued an updated opinion dated as of the Closing Date;

we shall have received a certificate executed by the secretary of each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS certifying as of the Closing Date: (1) all board and stockholder or manager or member resolutions, as applicable, fully and properly executed, evidencing such entity s authorization to execute, deliver and perform the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents to which such entity is a party; (2) a true and complete copy of the articles of incorporation or organization, as applicable, and bylaws or operating agreement, as applicable, of such entity; and (3) incumbency matters with respect to such entity;

we shall have received certificates issued by the secretaries of state of the respective states of incorporation or organization, as applicable, of each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS certifying the good standing of such entity in such state as of a date within ten days prior to the Closing Date;

holders of an aggregate of 10% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock as of the date of the Special Meeting shall not have purported to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights under applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law with respect to the proposed amendments to our articles of incorporation by taking such actions as are required to be taken in order to exercise such rights (if any) under the Maryland General Corporation Law; and

we shall have received a duly executed certification, in the form and manner set forth in U.S. Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-(2)(b)(2), of WASI s non-foreign status.

#### Conditions to the Obligations of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF

The obligations of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF to effect the Closing are further subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the closing of the following conditions:

each of the representations and warranties made by us in the Definitive Merger Agreement that is qualified by reference to materiality or a material adverse effect shall be true and correct, and each of the other representations and warranties made by us in the Definitive Merger Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case as of the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made on that date (except in any case that representations and warranties that speak as of a specified date or time need only be true and correct as of such specified date or time);

we shall have performed and complied with, in all material respects, each agreement, covenant and obligation required by the Definitive Merger Agreement to be so performed or complied with by us or it at or before the Closing;

since the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, no event, circumstance or change shall have occurred that, have had or reasonably would be expected to have a material adverse effect on us;

we shall have delivered to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF a certificate, dated the Closing Date and duly executed by our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF, certifying the satisfaction of specified closing conditions;

we shall have executed and delivered the Registration Rights Agreement, the Escrow Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement, the Support Services Agreement, and the Pledge and Security Agreement, all as contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement; and

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF shall have received a certificate executed by our secretary and the secretary, member or other executive officer of WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition certifying that as of the Closing Date: (1) all board, member and stockholder resolutions, as applicable, fully and properly executed evidencing our authorization and WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition is authorization to execute, deliver and perform the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents to which we, WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition are a party; (2) a true and complete copy of our organizational documents and WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition is organizational documents; and (3) incumbency matters with respect to us, WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition.

#### **Representations and Warranties**

#### Representations and Warranties of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF

The Definitive Merger Agreement includes various representations and warranties of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF as to, among other things (as applicable):

the corporate or limited liability company organization of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF;

the corporate organization and qualification of WREAS and WGS;

the power and authority of each of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents to which each is a party and perform the transactions contemplated thereby;

the approval of the execution and delivery of the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents by the managers and members of WASI;

the approval of the execution and delivery of the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents by the boards of directors and stockholders of each of Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS;

the Definitive Merger Agreement s and related transaction documents non-contravention of any organizational document, any contract or instrument of any kind, or any judgment, law or regulation binding upon or applicable to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS or WGS;

having no requirement to obtain certain approvals relating to the Internalization other than filings required by the SEC, state blue sky laws , and the Secretary of State of the State of Georgia;

WASI s ownership of WREAS and WGS;

WREAS and WGS s capitalization;

the absence of subsidiaries of, and equity investments by WREAS and WGS;

the absence of any outstanding rights, privileges (whether preemptive or contractual), or agreements relating to equity interests of WREAS and WGS;

the completeness and accuracy of the financial statements relating to the Advisor s business;

the design and operation of internal controls of the Advisor s business;

the absence of fraud involving management or employees of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS or WGS with respect to the Advisor s business;

the absence of significant changes in the internal controls of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF that relate to the Advisor s business and could affect WREAS, WGS or the Advisor s business;

the preparation by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF of Projected EBITDA of the Advisor s business for the period January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007;

the absence of undisclosed liabilities relating to the Advisor s business or assets;

the absence of certain material adverse changes or events respecting the Advisor and its business;

the completeness and accuracy of the books and records of the Advisor;

tax matters;

compliance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ( ERISA ), with respect to employee benefit plans;

employment matters;

labor relations;

the absence of litigation affecting WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS or WGS, or relating to the Advisor s employees, assets, or contracts;

the absence of material violations of law by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS or WGS relating to the Advisor s business, employees or assets;

the Advisor s title to its assets and the absence of encumbrances with respect thereto;

the sufficiency of the Advisor s assets to conduct the Advisor s business;

insurance matters;

the Advisor s advisory and management contracts and other material agreements;

the sufficiency of the Advisor s intellectual property to conduct the Advisor s business;

the Advisor s real property interests;

environmental, health and safety matters;

the Advisor s bank accounts;

the absence of other clients of the Advisor;

the Advisor s licenses and permits;

the absence of powers of attorney executed on behalf of the Advisor;

the absence of related party transactions, except as otherwise disclosed;

the absence of fees or commissions payable to brokers in connection with the Internalization;

the completeness and accuracy of information supplied by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS for inclusion in this proxy statement;

property appraisals, net asset value determinations, and previous third party offers relating to us and our assets;

the Advisor s anticipated fees and expenses payable by us;

certain securities laws matters relating to acquisition by WASI of unregistered shares of our common stock;

the non-foreign status of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF, WREAS and WGS;

the projected management revenues and expenses related to in-house property management;

the knowledge of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF regarding the accuracy of our representations; and

government properties compliance.

Certain of these representations and warranties are limited to knowledge or have other materiality qualifiers. These representations and warranties generally survive until 18 months after the Closing Date; provided that (1) the representations and warranties relating to (A) tax matters, (B) ERISA and employee benefits matters, (C) no violation of law, (D) title to assets, (E) environmental and health and safety matters, and (F) brokers survive until the later of 18 months after the Closing Date or 30 days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations with respect to the matters addressed in such sections, and (2) the representations and warranties relating to (A) the corporate organization and qualification of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF, (B) the power and authority of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Perform the transactions contemplated thereby, (C) the corporate organization and power and authority of WREAS and WGS, and (D) WREAS and WGS is capitalization survive indefinitely with respect to the matters addressed in such sections.

In addition, WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have represented to us that, to their knowledge, the representations made by us in the Definitive Merger Agreement are true and correct in all material respects.

#### **Our Representations and Warranties**

The Definitive Merger Agreement also includes customary representations and warranties to be made by us as to, among other things:

our incorporation and the organization of WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition;

our power and authority and WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition s power and authority to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents and perform the transactions contemplated thereby;

the approval of the execution and delivery of the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents by our Board on our behalf;

the approval of the execution and delivery of the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents by our Board as the sole member for each of WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition;

the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents non-contravention of any organizational documents, or any judgment, law or regulation that is binding upon, or applicable to us, WRT Acquisition or WGS Acquisition;

having no requirements to obtain approvals relating to the Internalization;

our capitalization and the capitalization of WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition;

the absence of fees or commissions payable to brokers in connection with the Internalization;

disclosures in the proxy statement; and

the absence of certain material adverse changes or events respecting us and our business.

Certain of these representations and warranties are limited to knowledge or have other materiality qualifiers. These representations and warranties generally survive until the date that is 18 months after the Closing Date; provided that the representations and warranties relating to (1) our power and authority and WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition s power and authority to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents and perform the transactions contemplated thereby, (2) our capitalization and the capitalization of WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition, and (3) brokers survive indefinitely with respect to the matters addressed in such sections.

#### Indemnification

#### General

Subject to the qualifications and limitations described below, WASI and Wells REF have agreed to jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless us and our subsidiaries and their respective successors and the respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees and agents of each such indemnified person (collectively, the Wells REIT Indemnified Parties ) from and against any and all losses that may be asserted against, or paid, suffered or incurred by any Wells REIT Indemnified Party to the extent they arise out of, result from, are based upon or relate to:

any breach, as of the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement or the Closing Date, of any representation and warranty made by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF in the Definitive Merger Agreement, related transaction documents, or certificates delivered by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents;

any failure by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF duly and timely to perform or fulfill any of their covenants or agreements required to be performed by them under the Definitive Merger Agreement or related transaction documents; and

any act, omission or state of affairs for which Wells Capital, Wells Management or WREAS would be liable to us or would be required to provide indemnity to us or our subsidiaries under the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Master Property Management Agreement (and regardless of whether the foregoing agreements remain in effect) or under our articles of incorporation, to the extent such an act, omission or state of affairs preceded the Closing;

provided, that indemnification by WASI and Wells REF for certain breaches of representations and warranties will be subject to further limitations set forth in the Definitive Merger Agreement.

We have agreed to indemnify and hold harmless WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF and their respective successors (and their respective shareholders, members, partners, directors, officers, managers, employees and agents) (collectively the Advisor Indemnified Parties ) from and against any and all losses that may be asserted against, or paid, suffered or incurred by any Advisor Indemnified Party to the extent they arise out of, result from, are based upon or relate to (1) any breach as of the date of the Definitive Agreement or the Closing Date, of any representation or warranty made by us in the Definitive Merger Agreement or related transaction documents or in the certificate delivered by us to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and Wells REF pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement; or (2) any failure by us to perform any of our covenants or agreements required to be performed under the Definitive Merger Agreement or any of the related transaction documents.

No amounts of indemnity will be payable by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management or Wells REF with respect to any claim relating to a breach or alleged breach of a representation or warranty unless and until the Wells REIT Indemnified Parties have paid, suffered or incurred losses in excess of \$350,000 in the aggregate, in which case the Wells REIT Indemnified Parties may bring a claim for all losses in excess of such amount; provided, no such limitation exists with respect to certain specified representations. In addition, the maximum aggregate liability of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management or Wells REF with respect to any claim relating to a breach of a representation or warranty cannot exceed \$175 million (the Maximum Indemnity Amount ).

No amounts of indemnity will be payable by us unless and until the Advisor Indemnified Parties have paid, suffered, incurred, sustained or become subject to losses in excess of \$350,000 in the aggregate, in which case the Advisor Indemnified Parties may bring a claim for all losses in excess of such amount; provided, that no such limitation exists with respect to certain specified representations and warranties. In addition, our maximum aggregate liability cannot exceed the Maximum Indemnity Amount.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations on liability described above will not apply to any claim for indemnity based on:

the representations and warranties of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF regarding:

the power and authority of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents and perform the transactions contemplated thereby;

WASI s ownership of the common stock of WREAS and WGS;

the corporate organization, qualification, and power and authority of WREAS and WGS;

WREAS and WGS s capitalization;

tax matters;

ERISA and employee benefit matters; and

the absence of fees or commissions payable to brokers or finders in connection with the Internalization; or

our representations and warranties regarding:

our corporate organization;

our power and authority to enter into the Definitive Merger Agreement and related transaction documents and perform the transactions contemplated thereby;

our capitalization; and

the absence of fees or commissions payable to brokers or finders in connection with the Internalization. The parties agree that any indemnification payments made with respect to this Agreement will be treated for all tax purposes as an adjustment to the consideration paid by REIT for WREAS and WGS, unless otherwise required by law (including, without limitation, by a determination of a tax authority that, under applicable law, is not subject to further review or appeal).

Except for claims based on fraud, following the Closing, the rights of the parties for indemnification relating to breaches of the Definitive Merger Agreement are limited to those contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and such indemnification rights are the exclusive remedies of the parties with respect to breaches of this Agreement. For a discussion of potential conflicts of interest related to enforcement against WASI and Wells REF of the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement, see the Risk Factors Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and enforcing some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization Transaction.

#### **Tax-Related Matters**

WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed to indemnify and hold us, (including WRT Acquisition and WGS Acquisition), harmless against any:

taxes of the Advisor attributable to a tax period ending on or before the Closing Date or to the portion of any tax period beginning, but not ending, on or before the Closing Date that occurs prior to the Closing Date (but not including any tax liability that arises as the result of the failure of either of the mergers contemplated by the Internalization to qualify as a reorganization under Code Section 368(a));

without duplication, losses or damages resulting from a breach of the (1) representations and warranties as to tax matters, (2) any liability for taxes of others which results from the Advisor having been a disregarded entity (within the meaning of U.S. Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3) of WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF or which is imposed by law or as a result of any agreement or transaction that the Advisor was a party to or subject to prior to the Closing Date; and

without duplication, liabilities, costs, expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys fees and expenses), losses, damages, assessments, settlements or judgments arising out of or incident to the imposition, assessment or assertion of any tax described in the bullets above (the sum of which being referred to as a Tax Loss ); provided, that the amount otherwise recoverable for any Tax Loss will be reduced by the amount, if any, of Tax Loss set forth as a current liability on the balance sheet of the Advisor as of the Closing Date as finally determined pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement.

In addition, WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF have agreed to (1) file or cause to be filed, in a manner consistent with past practices unless otherwise required by applicable law, all tax returns that are required to be filed by the Advisor prior to the Closing Date

and pay any taxes due pursuant to such tax returns, and (2) cause Wells Management to include the income of WGS on Wells Management s consolidated federal income tax returns and any

state and local tax returns filed on a consolidated basis consistent with past practices for all periods through the closing Date and pay any taxes attributable to such income. In the case of any tax return required to be filed after the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement, WASI will, within 30 days before the filing due date for that tax return, provide us with the opportunity to review a draft copy of the return.

#### Amendment; Waiver; Assignment; Termination

#### Amendments and Waivers

The Definitive Merger Agreement may be amended, supplemented or modified only by a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of each party to the Definitive Merger Agreement. In addition, any term or condition of the Definitive Merger Agreement may be waived at any time by the party that is entitled to the benefit thereof, but no such waiver will be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of the party waiving such term or condition.

#### Assignment

Neither the Definitive Merger Agreement nor any right, interest or obligation thereunder may be assigned by any party by operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the other parties to the Definitive Merger Agreement and any attempt to do so will be void.

#### **Termination**

The Definitive Merger Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement may be abandoned at any time prior to the Closing, before or after the approval by our stockholders, by mutual written consent of us and WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and Wells REF. In addition, the Definitive Merger Agreement may be terminated by:

either WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF or us, if any court of competent jurisdiction or other competent governmental authority issues a statute, rule, regulation, order, decree or injunction or taken any other action prohibiting all or any portion of the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement and such statute, rule, regulation, order, decree, injunction or other action becomes final and non-appealable; or

either WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF or us, in the event (1) of a material breach of the Definitive Merger Agreement by the non-terminating party if such non-terminating party fails to cure such breach within 30 days following notification thereof by the terminating party or (2) the satisfaction of any condition to the terminating party s obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement becomes impossible, but only if the failure of such condition to be satisfied is not caused by a breach of the Definitive Merger Agreement by the terminating party or its affiliates (a Material Breach Termination );

either WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF or us if the Closing does not occur on or before August 1, 2007 (an Expired Deadline Termination );

either WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, Wells REF or us if this Definitive Merger Agreement has been submitted to our stockholders for approval at a duly convened stockholders meeting (or adjournments or postponements thereof) and our stockholder approval is not obtained (a Failure to Obtain Approval Termination ); or

by us if a majority of our Independent Directors determines to withdraw, modify or change the recommendation that our stockholders approve the Internalization Transaction due to a good faith determination by our Independent Directors that the failure to withdraw, modify or change such recommendation would be inconsistent with their fiduciary duties to our stockholders as a result of us

receiving a Superior Offer (a Director Determination Termination ). A Superior Offer is defined in the Definitive Merger Agreement as a bona fide proposal from a third-party for (1) the acquisition of 50% or more of our assets, (2) a tender offer or exchange offer for 50% or more of our outstanding common stock or the outstanding interest in our operating partnership, or (3) a merger, consolidation, business combination or similar transaction; and a majority of our Independent Directors, in their discretion, determine in good faith that such proposal may result in a transaction that is reasonably likely to be more favorable to our stockholders from a financial point of view than the Internalization.

Any termination of the Definitive Merger Agreement will relieve all parties of any liability or further obligation to any party under the Definitive Merger Agreement, except that nothing will relieve any party from liability for any willful breach of the Amended Merger Agreement. If a majority of our Independent Directors determines to withdraw, modify or change the recommendation to proceed with the Internalization as a result of our receipt of a Superior Offer and the Definitive Merger Agreement is subsequently terminated by us due to a Material Breach Termination, an Expired Deadline Termination, or a Director Determination Termination, or by any party as a result of a Failure to Obtain Approval Termination, we are required to pay to Wells REF a \$3.5 million termination fee within five 5 days of such termination in full satisfaction of all obligations to WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF, and WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management and Wells REF are not entitled to any other payments or reimbursements relating to any such termination.

#### Expenses

Except as otherwise provided in the Definitive Merger Agreement, whether or not the transactions contemplated by the Definitive Merger Agreement are consummated, each party will pay its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, execution and closing of the Definitive Merger Agreement and the related transaction documents and the transactions contemplated thereby.

#### Temporary License to use the Name Wells

Under the Definitive Merger Agreement, Wells REF has granted us a non-transferable, non-sublicenseable, non-exclusive, royalty-free right and license to use the name Wells as well as certain registered trademarks and trademark applications for registration (collectively, the Marks ) solely in connection with our business from the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement through the latter of (1) the listing of shares of our common stock on a national exchange or (2) 18 months after the Closing Date in a manner substantially consistent with the use of the Marks prior to the date of the Definitive Merger Agreement. Wells REF may, at its option, upon 30 days written notice to us, terminate the license granted if we or our subsidiaries fail to comply with the requirements relating to the Marks under the Definitive Merger Agreement. The result of this temporary license is that upon the expiration of our temporary license including any potential renewals or extensions of such license to use the name Wells, we will be required to change our name and, accordingly, would lose any value, or perceived value, associated with the use of the name Wells.

#### Changes to our Board and Resolution of Certain Conflicts of Interest on our Board

Historically, we have been externally advised and have had in place certain allocation protocols and processes to address potential conflicts of interest between us and other Wells REF affiliates. In connection with approving the Internalization Transaction, our Board has reviewed potential conflicts of interest and the possibility that those protocols and processes that address potential conflicts of interest among Wells REF advised or managed entities would no longer address the conflicts of interest we might face once we become self-advised and self-managed. As a result, in connection with our Board s approval of the Internalization Transaction, the members of the Board agreed to take several actions to discontinue having directors (other than Mr. Wells) serve on both our Board and a board of directors of a Wells REF related entity that may compete with us. Three of our Independent Directors, Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter and Neil H. Strickland, and Douglas P. Williams, each of whom also serves on the board of directors of Wells REIT II, have agreed to resign as our directors, effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, and Donald S. Moss

and W. Wayne Woody, two of our Independent Directors, have agreed to resign from the board of directors of Wells REIT II, also effective and conditioned upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction.

In anticipation of potential conflicts of interest relating to Mr. Wells while he remains one of our directors, upon the closing of the Internalization Transaction, our Board will establish a conflicts committee to specifically address any business related conflicts of interest that may occur due to Mr. Wells other positions with various Wells REF related entities. For a description of certain of these potential conflicts of interest, see Risk Factors Leo F. Wells, III will face conflicts of interest relating to the positions he holds with entities affiliated with Wells REF.

In addition, we and Mr. Wells have agreed that he will resign as a director at the time of a Listing of our common stock, should that occur, unless a majority of certain designated Independent Directors determines at that time that it is in our best interest that he remain a director, and upon Mr. Wells resignation as a director, for a period ending the earlier of (1) two years after a Listing of our common stock, should that occur, or (2) the first date on which Mr. Wells does not beneficially own at least 1% of our outstanding common stock, he will be entitled to designate an individual to be appointed to fill the vacancy created by such resignation and to be nominated for election to our Board at any annual meeting where directors are elected during such period, provided that such individual is reasonably acceptable to our Board and is not on the board of directors of Wells REIT II, Institutional REIT, Inc. or any other Wells REF related entity that may compete with us or any of our subsidiaries.

In connection with the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, Donald A. Miller, CFA, was elected by our Board as our Chief Executive Officer and President and as one of our directors.

#### **Ancillary Agreements Related to Internalization**

In connection with the Internalization, we have entered and will enter into new agreements with affiliates of the Advisor, including the following:

#### **Escrow** Agreement

Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, at or prior to the Closing Date of the Internalization, we will enter into an escrow agreement with WASI and a third-party escrow agent, (the Escrow Agreement ). Upon execution of the Escrow Agreement, we will issue the Escrowed Shares to the escrow agent to secure the payment to us of the additional property management revenues which is included in the Incremental EBITDA Contribution but relates to the management of properties that are not managed by WREAS or WGS as of the Closing Date but that are projected to be managed by us after the Closing Date and before December 31, 2007. For so long as the Escrowed Shares remain in escrow, all distributions, dividends, returns of capital on other payments ( Earnings ) with respect thereto shall be held by the Escrow Agent (except that in certain circumstances a portion of the Earnings sufficient to cover certain tax obligations may be released). Following the end of fiscal year 2007, WASI and we will determine the amount of Escrowed Shares to be distributed to WASI based upon the application of a formula that is tied to EBITDA for the period between Closing and December 31, 2007 for the properties that are brought under our management by property management offices acquired by us at Closing, excluding any new properties acquired by us that become managed by us. The determination of EBITDA for such properties is based on an agreed formula in which total management fees actually received from such properties are multiplied by an agreed-to EBITDA margin. Escrowed Shares to be issued to WASI under the Escrow Agreement will be issued and held under the Pledge and Security Agreement described below. Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, Escrowed Shares not distributed to WASI will be released to us.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Lock-Up Period, (1) all shares of common stock which would otherwise be released to WASI will be held by the escrow agent in accordance with the Pledge and Security Agreement; (2) if the Earnings with respect to shares which would otherwise be released to WASI would not have been payable to WASI under the Pledge and Security Agreement had such Escrowed Shares been collateral under the Pledge and Security Agreement at such time, all such Earnings will be held by us or the escrow agent in accordance with the terms of the

Pledge and Security Agreement; and (3) upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default under the Pledge and Security Agreement, all Earnings which are otherwise to be released to WASI will be delivered to us to be held in accordance with the Pledge and Security Agreement. The escrow agent will promptly release to WASI all of the Escrowed Shares, with all Earnings with respect thereto, in the event that we undergo a change in control on or before December 31, 2007. So long as the Escrowed Shares are held by the escrow agent, WASI is entitled (1) to receive, to the extent that there are any cash dividends or distributions payable on the Escrowed Shares that constitute a return of capital for federal or state income tax purposes, the portion of such cash dividends or distributions which is sufficient to pay any federal or state taxes with respect to such cash dividends or distributions, and (2) to exercise any and all voting and/or consensual rights and powers relating or pertaining to the Escrowed Shares, except as otherwise provided in the Pledge and Security Agreement.

The Escrow Agreement will terminate upon the earlier to occur of (1) the mutual written consent of WASI and us, or (2) disbursement of all of the Escrowed Shares (and any other amounts deposited into escrow with respect thereto). WASI and we have agreed to pay one-half of all fees, costs and expenses of the escrow agent. WASI and we have agreed to jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless the escrow agent, and all directors, officers, employees, attorneys, agents and affiliates of the escrow agent (the Escrow Indemnified Parties ) against any and all actions, claims, losses, damages liabilities, costs and expenses incurred by the Escrow Indemnified Parties from the date of the Escrow Agreement, arising from or in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, performance or failure of performance of the Escrow Agreement or any transactions contemplated therein, except for any liability finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, subject to no further appeal, to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Escrow Indemnified Parties. The Escrow Indemnified Parties may employ their own counsel, provided that such counsel be reasonably acceptable to WASI and us. Any obligation for indemnification is required to be borne by WASI and us in proportion to each party s respective responsibility; provided, however, that if neither WASI nor we are determined to be responsible for such indemnification, any obligation for indemnification is required to be borne equally between WASI and us. For a discussion of potential conflicts of interest related to the enforcement of the Escrow Agreement against WASI, see the Risk Factors Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and enforcing some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization Transaction.

#### Pledge and Security Agreement

Pursuant to the Definitive Merger Agreement, WASI agreed to secure its indemnification obligations under the Definitive Merger Agreement by entering into a pledge and security agreement (the Pledge and Security Agreement ) with us. Pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement, WASI will pledge in our favor the following (or any substituted collateral permitted pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement): (a) for a period of 18 months from the date of the Pledge and Security Agreement (the Lock-Up Period ), all of our shares of common stock issued as Internalization Consideration; (b) for a period of 6 months after the end of the Lock-Up Period (the Follow-On Period ), assets having a fair market value of not less than the sum of \$20 million plus an amount reasonably sufficient to cover any unresolved or unpaid indemnification claims arising under the Definitive Merger Agreement (the Follow-On Collateral ); and (c) following the end of the Follow-On Period, assets having a fair market value of not less than an amount sufficient to cover any unresolved or unpaid indemnification claims (the Remaining Collateral ). In addition to the foregoing collateral, WASI will pledge in our favor certain property related to such collateral, including: (1) dividends or distributions made on or with respect to any pledged collateral, except as set forth in the Pledge and Security Agreement; (2) any money or property paid to us as a result of WASI s default under the Pledge and Security Agreement; (3) any substituted collateral which is satisfactory to us, in our sole judgment, (4) all new, substituted and/or additional shares or other securities issued upon conversion or exchange of or by reason of any stock dividend, reclassification, readjustment, stock split or other change declared or made with respect to the collateral referenced above, or any warrants or any other rights, options or securities issued in respect of such collateral; and (5) all proceeds relating to the pledged collateral; provided, however, the pledged collateral will not include the 22,339 shares of our common stock issued by us to Wells Capital. We will hold a security interest in all of the pledged collateral.

So long as no event of default has occurred and is continuing, WASI is entitled to, (1) exercise any and all voting and/or consensual rights and powers relating to the collateral; and (2) receive and retain all regular periodic cash dividends or distributions payable on the collateral and an amount equal to the federal and state taxes owed on any other cash dividend constituting a return of capital; provided, however, that all other dividends or distributions, and any and all cash and other property received in exchange for or redemption of any of the collateral will be retained by us and will be considered as part of the collateral.

We or the escrow agent, as applicable, have agreed to return all collateral which exceeds an amount equal to the Follow-On Collateral to WASI following the Lock-Up Period, and we have agreed to release our security interest in such collateral. We or the escrow agent, as applicable, have agreed to return all collateral which exceeds an amount equal to the Remaining Collateral to WASI following the Follow-On Period, and we have agreed to release our security interest in such collateral. We or the escrow agent, as applicable, have agreed to return all remaining collateral to WASI and we have agreed to release our security interest in such collateral following (1) the expiration of both the Lock-Up Period and the Follow-On Period; (2) the final resolution of all indemnification claims; and (3) the irrevocable payment in full to us of all secured obligations. Hold-Over Collateral is that portion of the Remaining Collateral and any Follow-On Collateral that causes the aggregate value of the Follow-On Collateral to exceed \$20 million, and is held to cover indemnification disputes under the Definitive Merger Agreement that remain unresolved as of the expiration of the Lock-Up Period or the Follow-On Period. Upon final resolution in accordance with the Definitive Merger Agreement of the dispute or disputes in respect of which the Hold-Over Collateral was required to be held, the escrow agent has agreed to deliver to us the amount specified in either joint written instructions by WASI and us, or by order of an arbitration ruling or a court of competent jurisdiction that becomes final and nonappealable. To the extent the resolution of the dispute results in a payment to us of less than the amount of the Hold-Over Collateral that was allocated to that dispute, escrow agent and we have agreed to release the remainder of the Hold-Over Collateral allocated to that dispute to WASI, and we have agreed to release our security interest in such Collateral. In the event that we undergo a change in control, the escrow agent has agreed to promptly return to WASI all Remaining Collateral, and we have agreed to release our security interest in such collateral.

WASI and we each have agreed to pay one-half of all fees, costs and expenses of the escrow agent. WASI and we have agreed to jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless the escrow agent, and all directors, officers, employees, attorneys, agents and affiliates of the escrow agent (the Pledge Indemnified Parties ) against any and all actions, claims, losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses incurred by the Pledge Indemnified Parties from the date of the Pledge and Security Agreement, arising from or in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, performance or failure of performance of the Pledge and Security Agreement or any transactions contemplated therein, except for any liability finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, subject to no further appeal, to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Pledge Indemnified Parties. The Pledge Indemnified Parties may employ their own counsel, provided that such counsel be reasonably acceptable to WASI and us. Any obligation for indemnification will be borne by WASI and us in proportion to each parties respective responsibility; provided, however, that if neither WASI nor we are determined to be responsible for such indemnification, any obligation for indemnification us. For a discussion of potential conflicts of interest related to enforcement of the Pledge and Security Agreement against WASI see the Risk Factors Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and enforcing some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization.

#### **Transition Services Agreement**

Prior to the Closing of the Internalization, WREAS will enter into the Transition Services Agreement with Wells REF which will provide WREAS and us with certain transitional services which consist primarily of services we believe we will need to continue to obtain from Wells REF at least until a potential Listing, including primarily investor relations

support services, transfer agent related services, and investor communication support. Specifically, Wells REF will, among other things:

manage our communications with stockholders, including answering phone calls, emails, facsimiles, voice mails, and written inquiries, as well as initiating contact with stockholders when appropriate;

handle proxy communications, including providing assistance with the coordination of proxy statements and any householding issues.

provide support for our client relations department, including the responsibility for certain securities brokerage accounts, employee and employee-related accounts, as well as assistance in the monitoring and supervising of regulatory activities;

process and pay stockholders who request share redemptions;

calculate and pay quarterly dividends to stockholders;

process our tax returns;

draft and coordinate the circulation of quarterly dividend press releases and all property-related announcements;

serve as our primary contact for all general media inquiries;

serve as our primary contact for broker dealers and financial advisors;

coordinate quarterly financial advisor conferences;

provide us with research and other support relating to the preparation of responses to any subpoenas;

perform data research and general industry research;

handle any escheatment issues;

coordinate certain IRA related services;

create and maintain all marketing communications;

coordinate the placing of materials on our website and identify and implement improvements to our website; and

#### provide us with assistance with the design and printing of quarterly stockholder statements.

The initial term of the Transition Services Agreement commences on the date of execution and continues for the lesser of one year or the period ending 90 days after a Listing, and is renewable by us for an additional one-year period. Thereafter, the Transition Services Agreement is automatically renewed for successive 180 day periods unless otherwise terminated. The Transition Services Agreement may terminate upon the mutual written agreement of the parties. In addition, WREAS may terminate the Transition Services Agreement in the event of an uncured material default by Wells REF upon 30 days prior written notice to Wells REF, and Wells REF may terminate the agreement, as to the entire agreement or with respect to any service, upon the occurrence of an uncured failure to pay for services as required under the Transition Services Agreement. Further, Wells REF may terminate the Transition Services Agreement with respect to any service upon 120 days written notice to WREAS, if Wells REF no longer provides such service to itself or any of its affiliates, and WREAS may terminate the agreement with respect to any individual service it no longer requires upon at least 30 days written notice, and the specified service will discontinue as of the date stated in such notice. In connection with the termination of the Transition Services Agreement, either (1) by non-renewal of the initial term or any renewal term or (2) pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement is termination provisions, Wells REF has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to accomplish an orderly transition of the services to WREAS or a third party service provider designated by WREAS without material interruption of the services and has agreed to cooperate with WREAS in effectuating such transition both prior to and for a reasonable period of time after such termination.

During the initial term of the Transition Services Agreement, we have agreed to pay to Wells REF the following fees and reimbursements:

for investor relations related services, \$66,667 per month for up to 144,000 annual contacts with stockholders, with all contacts in excess of 144,000 to be billed at \$5.56 per contact;

for transfer agent related services of the type previously provided to us, \$75,000 per month, and any special transfer agent services will be billed at \$75 per hour;

for investor communication support, \$41,667 per month; and

reimbursement for any out-of-pocket payments, costs or expenses incurred in connection with the termination of the services or the transfer of such services.

During the first renewal term of the Transition Services Agreement, we will be required to pay Wells REF 105% of the rates listed above; provided, however, that if the first renewal term commences prior to January 1, 2008, the rates for the first renewal term will not increase until January 1, 2008. Prior to any subsequent term of the Transition Services Agreement, we will be required to pay in such subsequent term to Wells REF certain rate adjustments to those fees listed above; however, such adjustments shall not exceed 130% of the then current rates and is also subject to the reasonable approval of WREAS; provided that if WREAS does not agree to such adjustments, the Transition Services Agreement shall terminate at the end of the then-current term.

Wells REF has represented and warranted in the Transition Services Agreement that the rates charged under the Transition Services Agreement do not exceed Wells REF s good faith estimate of its actual cost and do not exceed the rates that could reasonably be expected to be charged by a third party. Additional services not listed in the Transition Services Agreement may be performed upon a written request and will be billed at rates as set forth in the Transition Services Agreement. Wells REF will not be liable for any claims, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, expenses, fine and penalties arising out of or relating to any actual or alleged injury, loss or damage (Losses) relating to its provision of services Agreement by Wells REF. WREAS and we, after the Internalization, have agreed to indemnify, defend, and hold Wells REF harmless against any and all Losses arising out of or relating to claims by third parties arising out of or relating to claims by third parties arising out of or relating to claims by third parties arising out of or relating to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the personnel of Services by Wells REF, except to the extent the Losses result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the personnel of Services by Wells REF, except to the extent the Losses result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the personnel of Wells REF or a material breach of the agreement by Wells REF.

#### Support Services Agreement

Prior to the Closing of the Internalization, WREAS will enter into the Support Services Agreement with Wells REF which will provide WREAS and us with certain support services, including human resources services and information technology services. Specifically, Wells REF agrees to, among other things:

handle all payroll administration duties;

coordinate retirement and other employee savings benefit plans;

administer, manage and maintain employee health and wellness plans, as well as all other applicable plans, including any supplemental plans; and

provide information technology services.

The initial term of the Support Services Agreement commences on the date of execution and continues for a two-year period, and we have the right to renew the Support Services Agreement for an additional two-year period. Thereafter, the agreement will automatically renew for successive one-year periods unless otherwise terminated. The Support Services Agreement may terminate upon the mutual written agreement of the parties. In addition, WREAS may terminate the Support Services Agreement in the event of an uncured material default by Wells REF upon 30 days prior written notice to Wells REF, and Wells REF may terminate the agreement, as to the entire agreement or with respect to any service, upon the occurrence of an uncured failure to pay for services as required under the Support Services Agreement. Further, Wells REF may terminate the Support Service to itself or any of its affiliates, and WREAS may terminate the agreement with respect to any individual service it no longer requires upon at least 60 days written notice, and the specified service will discontinue as of the date stated in such notice. In connection with the termination of the Support Services Agreement, either (1) by non-renewal of the initial term or any renewal term or (2) pursuant to the Support Services Agreement is termination provisions, Wells REF has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to accomplish an orderly transition of the services to WREAS or a third party service provider designated by WREAS without material interruption of the services and has agreed to cooperate with WREAS in effectuating such transition both prior to and for a reasonable period of time after such termination.

During the initial term of the Support Services Agreement, we have agreed to pay to Wells REF the following fees and reimbursements:

\$38.00 per employee per month for administration of payroll, retirement and savings benefits, health and wellness, supplemental plans, and other plans;

\$64,167 per month for information technology services; and

Reimbursement for any out-of-pocket expenses and reasonable third party costs incurred in connection with the termination of the services or the transfer of such services.

Wells REF has represented and warranted in the Support Services Agreement that the initial rates charged do not exceed Wells REF s good faith estimate of its actual cost and do not exceed the rates that could reasonably be expected to be charged by a third party.

During the first renewal term of the Support Services Agreement, in the event we elect to renew such agreement, we will be required to pay Wells REF 110% of the rates listed above. Prior to any subsequent term of the Support Services Agreement after the first renewal term, we will be required to pay in such subsequent term to Wells REF certain rate adjustments to those fees listed above; however, such adjustments shall not exceed 130% of the then current rates and is also subject to the reasonable approval of WREAS; provided that if WREAS does not agree to such adjustments, the Support Services Agreement shall terminate at the end of the then-current term.

Wells REF is not liable for any claims, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, expenses, fine and penalties arising out of or relating to any actual or alleged injury, loss or damage (Losses) relating to its provision of services, except to the extent the Losses result from Wells REF s gross negligence or willful misconduct, or a material breach of the Support Services Agreement by Wells REF. WREAS and we, after the Internalization, have agreed to indemnify, defend and hold Wells REF harmless against any and all Losses arising out of or relating to claims by third parties arising out of or relating to the providing of services by Wells REF, except to the extent the Losses result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the personnel of Wells REF or a material breach of the agreement by Wells REF.

#### **Registration Rights Agreement**

In the Definitive Merger Agreement, we agreed that at the Closing, we will enter into the Registration Rights Agreement with WASI and Wells Capital with respect to the shares of our common stock acquired by WASI and Wells

Capital in connection with the Internalization (collectively, the Registrable Shares ). The Registration Rights Agreement requires us, on up to two occasions, on demand of WASI, Wells Capital and their permitted transferees as a group (the Holders ), to prepare and file a registration statement within 60 days of the demand that covers the resale of the Registrable Shares specified in the demand, and to use our commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to become and remain effective as promptly as reasonably practicable. We are not required to file a registration statement covering Registrable Shares with anticipated gross proceeds of less than \$25 million (unless the registration statement covers all remaining Registrable Shares). This demand registration right is exercisable any time after the date that is 18 months following the date of the Registration Rights Agreement (subject to extension). We have agreed to keep one registration statement that is a shelf registration effective for up to one year, subject to certain conditions. In addition to the two demand registration rights Agreement, to require us to register a specified number of Registrable Shares to be distributed by WASI to current employees or former employees or directors of WASI or its affiliates or their respective heirs and successors.

Notwithstanding the demand registration rights, if the managing underwriter of a firm commitment underwritten offering (undertaken in connection with a demand registration) advises us that the total amount of securities requested to be included in such offering exceeds the amount which can be sold in such offering without materially delaying or jeopardizing the success of such offering, then the number of our shares of common stock requested to be included by us in the offering will be reduced and included on pro-rata basis with the securities of the other holders that requested the inclusion of their securities in such offering. The foregoing rights are subject to our right, under certain circumstances, to postpone the filing of any registration statement we may file, or suspend the use of an effective registration statement we have filed, pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, for a reasonable period of time, but not in excess of 60 days, or in excess of 90 days in the aggregate in any consecutive 12-month period under certain conditions (the Delay Period ). The aggregate number of days in any such delays or postponements will extend for an equal period of time the time period for which we are required to maintain the effectiveness of any registration statement pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement. Also, should an event occur that requires the making of any changes in a registration statement, prospectus or related documents so that such offering documents will not contain any untrue statement of material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make statements therein not misleading, then the Holders will discontinue disposition of any Registrable Shares covered by such offering documents until such offering documents have been adequately supplemented and disseminated to the Holders, or we give notice to the Holders that disposition of the Registrable Shares pursuant to the offering documents may resume (the Interruption Period ). In no event shall an Interruption Period exceed 90 days from the date of notice of such interruption from us and the aggregate number of days included in all Delay Periods and Interruption Periods during any consecutive 12 month period will not exceed a total of 120 days.

In addition, if at any time after the date that is 18 months following the date of the Registration Rights Agreement (subject to extension), we propose to file a registration statement with respect to a public offering of securities of the same type as the Registrable Shares pursuant to a firm commitment underwritten offering for our own account or for the account of any holder of shares of common stock subject to certain exceptions, we must give notice of the proposed filing to the Holders, at least 10 days before the anticipated filing date and offer the Holders the opportunity to include in the registration statement such amount of Registrable Shares as they may request, subject to customary underwriter cutback provisions pursuant to which we will have priority, if the registration statement is being filed for our account.

This piggyback registration right does not apply to registration statements filed in connection with employee stock option or purchase plans, relating to a transaction requiring registration pursuant to Rule 145 of the Securities Act, relating solely to a dividend or distribution reinvestment plan, or on Form S-8, Form S-4 or any successor form thereto. In addition, if the managing underwriter of a firm commitment underwritten offering (undertaken in connection with a piggyback registration) advises us that the total amount of securities requested to be included in an offering exceeds the amount which can be sold in such offering without materially delaying or jeopardizing the success of that offering, then the number of Registrable Shares requested to be included by one or more of the Holders in the offering pursuant to their

piggyback registration rights will be reduced and included on pro-rata basis with the securities of the other holders that requested the inclusion of their securities in such offering.

In the event of an underwritten public offering of our common stock, the Holders may be required to hold back from selling or distributing their Registrable Shares, during the 5 days prior to the pricing of such offering and until the earlier of (1) the expiration of any holdback period agreed to by the underwriters at time of pricing (provided that the holdback period for a public offering in connection with a Listing shall be 180 days from the effective date of the registration statement), or (2) the abandonment of the offering by us.

We will pay all costs, fees and expenses incident to our obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement, (excluding the fees and expenses of any persons retained by the Holders and any transfer taxes relating to the disposition of the Registrable Shares by the Holder), including, among other fees and expenses, all registration and filing fees, printing expenses, our legal and accounting fees and expenses, and fees or premiums related to liability insurance. Under certain circumstances, the Holders may request in writing that their Registrable Shares be sold pursuant to a firm commitment underwriting, in which case we will use our reasonable best efforts to ensure that such firm commitment underwriting occurs.

Further, we have agreed to indemnify and hold harmless each Holder and its affiliates from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments and expenses as incurred, arising out of or based upon any untrue or alleged untrue statement of material fact contained in, or related to, any filings with the SEC during the registration process. Each Holder has agreed, severally and not jointly with any other Holder, to indemnify us from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, judgments and expenses as incurred, to the extent arising out of or based upon any untrue or alleged untrue statement of material fact provided to us by any Holder for use in the registration statement.

Under the Registration Rights Agreement, we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to keep public information available, to timely file all reports and other documents required by the Exchange Act, and to furnish to any Holder, upon written request, a statement, if true, that we have complied with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 of the Securities Act, as well as any reports or documents filed with the SEC that are not yet available on the SEC s website. We have also agreed that any Holder may transfer the registration rights with respect to the Registrable Shares, in accordance with applicable securities laws and the provisions of the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Pledge and Security Agreement, and the Escrow Agreement, so long as the transferee acquires at least 15% of the shares as of the date of the Registration Rights Agreement and the transferee is (1) an affiliate of the stockholder or (2) a Holder s family member or trust; and provided that such transferring Holder gives us 10 days notice prior to the transfer and the transferee agrees in writing to be bound as a stockholder to the provisions of the Registration Rights Agreement.

The Registration Rights Agreement will terminate when all of shares covered under the agreement are no longer registrable either because all such shares (1) have become effectively registered, (2) have been transferred or sold pursuant to Rule 144, or (3) are eligible to be sold pursuant to Rule 144(k).

#### Headquarters Sublease Agreement

At or prior to the Closing of the Internalization, one of our subsidiaries will enter into the Headquarters Sublease Agreement with Wells REF which will provide us with approximately 13,000 square feet of office space comprising approximately 57% of the fifth floor of the office building located at 6200 The Corners Parkway in Norcross, Georgia (the Building ), together with the furniture, fixtures and equipment listed in an exhibit to the Headquarters Sublease Agreement (the Subleased Premises ). Wells REF is responsible for the construction and installation of certain leasehold improvements to the Subleased Premises which are identified in an exhibit to the Headquarters Sublease Agreement and which are to be completed prior to the closing of the Internalization (the Commencement Date ). Under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement, we will pay Wells REF approximately \$25,450 monthly for base rent and various space related services. If the leasehold improvements are not completed by the Commencement Date then we are entitled to complete the leasehold improvements and deduct the cost of completion from our monthly rent payments. Also if we

discover any material defects to the leasehold improvements within one year after the Commencement Date then Wells REF is required to correct such defects within 15 days after receiving notice of such defects, upon the failure of which we may take corrective action and deduct the reasonable out-of-pocket cost thereof from our monthly rent payments.

The portion of the fifth floor of the Building which is not included in the Subleased Premises is currently vacant. So long as that tenant space remains vacant and not subject to a sublease, we will have the option to sublease all or a portion of such vacant space (the Expansion Space ), by notice to Wells REF, at the same rental rate per square foot and on the same terms as the Subleased Premises. The location and size of the Expansion Space is subject to the approval of Wells REF, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In addition, we will have a right of first refusal to sublease all or any portion of the Expansion Space which is not subject to a sublease on the same terms as the Subleased Premises prior to Wells REF being allowed to lease such Expansion Space to a third party. If we elect not to exercise such right of first refusal then prior to subleasing such Expansion Space to such third party, Wells REF must submit to us for our approval (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) the plans and specifications for the proposed alterations to the Expansion Space which must include the plans for separating the Subleased Premises from the portion of the Expansion Space to be leased to such third party as well as plans showing our continued access to elevators, bathrooms and other common facilities.

The Headquarters Sublease Agreement will be subject to and subordinate to the Master Lease Agreement dated December 15, 2005 (the Master Lease ) between Wells REF 6200 The Corners Parkway Owner, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company which is beneficially owned by Wells REF (the Master Landlord ), and Wells REF. Under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement, we must comply with all of the terms and conditions of the Master Lease Agreement which are applicable to the Subleased Premises except that we will not be required to pay any portion of the Additional Rent payable by Wells REF to the Master Landlord pursuant to the Master Lease and must, at our own cost and expense, maintain and keep in good repair all portions of the Subleased Premises, except for building systems which include the HVAC, electrical and plumbing systems servicing the Subleased Premises. We may not make any material alterations, improvements or installations to the Subleased Premises without the prior written consent of both Wells REF and the Master Leandlord. We will be permitted to install exterior signage, subject to Wells REF s review and approval, identifying us as an occupant of the Building. If the Master Lease to the Master Landlord during the term of the Headquarters Sublease Agreement, the Master Landlord may elect, in its sole discretion, to continue to lease the Subleased Premises to us under a direct lease. We will not be able to assign any of our rights or obligations under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement or sublet any portion of the Subleased Premises without the prior written consent of Wells REF and the Master Lease is terminated, the Headquarters Sublease Agreement will automatically terminate as of the same date.

The initial term of the Headquarters Sublease Agreement will commence on the Commencement Date and continue for a two-year period. We may renew the Headquarters Sublease Agreement for up to two additional two-year periods by providing Wells REF with 180 days written notice prior to the end of the initial term or the first extension term. The Headquarters Sublease Agreement may be terminated at any time upon 180 day prior written notice by us, in which case we must pay Wells REF a termination fee equal to one-half of the rent for the balance of the then-current term.

The provisions of the Master Lease pursuant to which the Master Landlord is to provide parking, heating, air conditioning and electrical services, janitorial services, common area maintenance, water, elevator service and building security are carried over into the Headquarters Lease Agreement with respect to the Subleased Premises, except that we will have no recourse against Wells REF for any defaults of the Master Landlord under the Master Lease so long as Wells REF is enforcing the provisions of the Master Lease. In addition, we will not have any right to use Wells REF s satellite receiving system located at the Building without the prior written consent of Wells REF. We will be required to carry the same insurance coverages on the Subleased Premises as Wells REF is required to carry under the Master Lease.

Our failure to pay rent on a timely basis or to perform our other obligations under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement or the commencement of bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings by or against us or our failure to discharge a lien against the Building caused by us within 30 days after the filing thereof will each constitute a default (subject to certain notice and right to cure provisions) under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement and will entitle Wells REF to exercise remedies which are typical of commercial leases including termination of our right to possession of the Subleased Premises and, at the election of Wells REF, termination of the Headquarters Sublease Agreement.

It is not anticipated that we will enter into any subordination and attornment agreement with any mortgage lender which may have a lien on the Building which means that, in the event of a foreclosure by any such mortgage lender, the Headquarters Sublease Agreement could be terminated even though we were not in default under the Headquarter Sublease Agreement.

Under the Headquarters Sublease Agreement, Wells REF will indemnify and hold us harmless against all claims for damaged persons or property that occur anywhere in the Building caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Wells REF, its agents and employees or arising out of a default under the Master Lease not caused by us or which occur in or arise out of actions in the Building other than the Subleased Premises. Similarly, we will indemnify and hold harmless Wells REF and the Master Landlord against all claims for damages to persons or property which are caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of us, our agents or employees or arising out of a default under the Master Lease caused by us or which occur in the Subleased Premises (or arise out of actions in the Subleased Premises) unless the damage is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of wells REF or the Master Landlord or their respective agents or employees.

#### **Our New Chief Executive Officer and President**

#### Donald A. Miller, CFA, Chief Executive Officer and President

Donald A. Miller, CFA, has become our new Chief Executive Officer, President and a member of our Board. Mr. Miller, age 44, was formerly a Vice President of Wells REF and a Senior Vice President of Wells Capital and, in such capacities, was previously responsible for directing all aspects of the acquisitions, dispositions, property management, construction and leasing groups for Wells REF, Wells Capital and their affiliates, in connection with these entities providing services to us under our existing advisory, asset management and property management agreements. Prior to joining Wells REF and Wells Capital in 2003, Mr. Miller headed Lend Lease s U.S. equity real estate operations, including acquisitions, dispositions, financing and investment management. Prior to joining Lend Lease in 1994, Mr. Miller was responsible for regional acquisitions for Prentiss Properties Realty Advisors, a predecessor entity to the publicly traded Prentiss Properties REIT. Earlier in his career, Mr. Miller worked in the pension investment management department of Delta Air Lines and was responsible for real estate and international equity investment programs. Mr. Miller is a Chartered Financial Analyst and holds a Georgia real estate license. He received a B.A. from Furman University in Greenville, South Carolina. While Mr. Miller has extensive real estate experience and we have confidence that he will be successful in his position as our new Chief Executive Officer and President, Mr. Miller has no prior experience as a chief executive officer of a public company. As described elsewhere in this proxy statement, Mr. Miller owns an approximately 1% economic interest in WASI and, accordingly, will acquire a significant ownership interest in our common stock as a result of the Internalization. For a discussion of potential conflicts of interest as a result of Mr. Miller s ownership interest in WASI, see Risk Factors Our new Chief Executive Officer will be subject to certain conflicts of interest with regard to enforcing the indemnification provisions contained in the Definitive Merger Agreement and enforcing some of the ancillary agreements to be entered into by us in connection with the Internalization Transaction.



## **Employment Agreements**

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Miller and may enter into employment agreements with other executive officers, including our new Chief Financial Officer prior to the Closing Date.

## Donald A. Miller, CFA, Employment Agreement

On February 2, 2007, we entered into an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, (the Miller Employment Agreement ). The Miller Employment Agreement took effect on the date we executed the Definitive Merger Agreement, February 2, 2007, and the initial period will end on December 31, 2009, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the termination provisions of the Miller Employment Agreement. The Miller Employment Agreement will automatically extend for successive one-year periods, unless Mr. Miller or we give 90 days written notice prior to the end of the initial term or any renewal term, or his employment otherwise terminates in accordance with the terms of the Miller Employment Agreement. Mr. Miller will serve as our Chief Executive Officer and our President. The Miller Employment Agreement also provides that, subject to the discretion of our Board s nominating and corporate governance committee and the vote of our stockholders, Mr. Miller will also serve as a member of our Board. The Miller Employment Agreement, and an annual target cash bonus in the first year of \$400,000 based on certain criteria agreed to by Mr. Miller and by our compensation committee. In addition, after the initial year of the Miller Employment Agreement, Mr. Miller will be eligible to earn an annual cash bonus of up to 175% of his annual base salary based on satisfying performance criteria determined by our compensation committee. Mr. Miller will also be eligible to participate in our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as determined in the discretion of our compensation committee if such plan is approved by our stockholders.

If Mr. Miller resigns without good reason, or if we terminate Mr. Miller for cause, he is only entitled to receive any unpaid annual salary which has accrued, payment for unused vacation, any earned but unpaid annual bonus for the previous year, unreimbursed expenses, and any rights granted to Mr. Miller pursuant to our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan ( Accrued Rights ). If Mr. Miller resigns with good reason, or we terminate Mr. Miller without cause, in addition to the Accrued Rights, he is also entitled to a pro-rated annual bonus for the then-current year, and upon execution of a release of any claims by him, an amount equal to two times the sum of (1) his annual salary, and (2) the average of his annual bonus for the three years prior to the year of termination (Average Bonus); and two years of continuing medical benefits. The Miller Employment Agreement also provides that, in the event of a termination of employment resulting from a change of control event, previously issued equity grants subject to time based vesting conditions shall immediately become vested. In addition, if Mr. Miller s employment is terminated as a result of a change of control event occurring prior to his receipt of an initial equity grant under our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan or otherwise in the amount of at least \$1.7 million, Mr. Miller will be entitled to receive an additional \$1.7 million payment. In the event that any portion of the \$1.7 million payment constitutes an excess parachute payment subject to an excise tax under the Code, we have agreed to pay Mr. Miller an amount equal to one-half of such excise tax. If we notify Mr. Miller that we are not renewing the initial term of the Miller Employment Agreement, or any renewal term, he is entitled to receive the Accrued Rights, and, upon execution of a release of any claims by him, an amount equal to two times the sum of (1) his annual salary, and (2) the average of his annual bonus for the three years prior to the year of termination; and one year of continuing medical benefits. If Mr. Miller notifies us that he is not renewing the initial term of the Miller Employment Agreement, or any renewal term, he is not entitled to receive any severance pay or benefits. If he continues to be employed by us after either of us give 90 days prior written notice of non-renewal, his employment will be at-will, and the Miller Employment Agreement shall terminate, except for certain provisions which survive the Miller Employment Agreement. If Mr. Miller s employment terminates upon his death or disability (1) his estate or legal representative is entitled to receive the Accrued Rights, and an amount equal to the pro-rated annual bonus for the then-current year; and one year of continuing medical benefits; (2) any grants made to Mr. Miller which are subject to a time based vesting condition, shall become vested; and (3) his estate or legal representative, upon execution of a release is entitled to an amount equal to two times the sum of (A) his annual salary and (B) his Average Bonus. Upon termination of Mr. Miller s employment for any

reason, Mr. Miller shall be deemed to have resigned all of his positions with us, and in such event, Mr. Miller is required to confirm such resignations to us in writing.

Under the Miller Employment Agreement, Mr. Miller is subject to a number of restrictive covenants, including a one-year non-competition provision, and non-solicitation, non-interference and confidentiality provisions. Mr. Miller is entitled to the same rights to indemnification in connection with the performance of his duties under the Miller Employment Agreement as other persons with the same duties as Mr. Miller employed by us.

#### Certain Financial and Other Information Regarding the Internalization

#### **Financial Information**

Attached on pages F-1 through F-61 of this proxy statement is certain pro forma and other financial information with respect to us and the Advisor.

#### Accounting Treatment

We intend to account for the Internalization Transaction as the consummation of a business combination between parties with a pre-existing relationship. We intend to allocate the Internalization Consideration to identifiable tangible and intangible assets, with the remainder allocated to goodwill. No portion of the Internalization Consideration was deemed to be related to the settlement of contracts with the Advisor.

#### **Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations**

# The following discussion is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used by any person, for the purpose of avoiding U.S. federal income tax penalties, and was written to support the promotion or marketing (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service Circular 230) of the Plan.

The following discussion summarizes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Internalization to us and our stockholders. This summary is intended to address only certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Internalization and may not contain all of the information that may be important to you. As you review this discussion, you should keep in mind that the tax consequences to you may vary depending on your particular tax situation, and that this summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Internalization to stockholders subject to special rules (including tax-exempt organizations, broker-dealers, stockholders who elect to mark to market, stockholders who hold shares of our common stock as part of a hedge, straddle or conversion transaction, stockholders who acquire shares of our common stock as a capital asset, stockholders who are a non-U.S. corporation, non-U.S. partnership, non-U.S. trust, non-U.S. estate, or individual who is not taxed as a citizen or resident of the United States, or stockholders otherwise subject to special tax treatment under the Code). In addition, this summary does not address state, local or foreign tax considerations.

The information in this summary is based upon the current Code, current, temporary and proposed Treasury Regulations, the legislative history of the Code, current administrative interpretations and practices of the Internal Revenue Service (the IRS), including its practices and policies as endorsed in private letter rulings, which are not binding on the IRS, and existing court decisions. Future legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations and court decisions could change current law or adversely affect interpretations of current law, possibly on a retroactive basis. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, any rulings from the IRS concerning the tax treatment of the Internalization. It is possible that the IRS could challenge any of the statements in this summary, which do not bind the IRS or the courts, and that a court could agree with the IRS.

Stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisors with regard to the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences to them of the Internalization and the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of shares in an entity that has elected to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

#### General

We believe that we currently qualify to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and we expect that we will continue to operate in such a manner so as to continue to qualify as a REIT for such purposes following Internalization. No assurance, however, can be given that we currently qualify or will continue to operate in a manner so as to remain qualified as a REIT.

In the opinion of our counsel, assuming the assumptions and representations referred to below are true upon and following the Internalization, the Internalization will not adversely affect our status as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This opinion is based on certain representations and assumptions relating to our past, current and future organization and operation and the past, current and future organization and operation of the Advisor. It is conditioned upon certain representations made by us and the Advisor as to certain factual matters, including matters relating to Internalization and the intended manner of our operations after Internalization, and representations regarding limits on our non-qualifying assets and non-qualifying income for purposes of the Asset Tests and Income Tests described below. Unlike a private letter ruling, an opinion of counsel is not binding on the IRS, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge our status as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Our qualification and taxation as a REIT has depended and will depend upon, among other things, our ability to meet on a continuing basis highly technical and complex qualification tests imposed under the Code, including without limitation qualification tests regarding our ownership of assets, our actual annual operating results, our receipt of qualifying real estate income, our distribution levels and the diversity of our stock ownership.

#### Asset Tests

As of the close of each calendar quarter, we must meet certain tests related to the nature of our assets, as set forth in the Code. We believe that more than 75% of our assets are, and anticipate that more than 75% of our assets will continue to be, real estate assets, as required by the Code. In addition, we do not expect to hold (1) securities representing more than ten percent of the value or vote of any one issuer s securities other than the Advisor, any other qualified REIT subsidiary, any other taxable REIT subsidiary or any other REIT, nor (2) securities of any one issuer exceeding 5% of the value of our gross assets (value, for purposes of this sentence, being determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles). These asset tests must be satisfied with respect to any assets or securities. Under the asset tests, we would not, however, lose our status as a REIT solely as a result of changes to our asset values in a subsequent quarter. If the failure to satisfy the asset tests results wholly or partly from an acquisition of securities or other property during the quarter, the failure can be cured by our disposition of sufficient non-qualifying assets within 30 days after the close of such quarter, as may be required to cure any such failure. There can be no assurance, however, that even if such steps are taken, they will always be successful.

Although it is not entirely clear how the assets of the Advisor to be acquired in the proposed Internalization will be classified for REIT asset test purposes, such assets may be deemed to consist, in whole or in part, of assets that do not qualify as real estate assets for purposes of such tests. The acquisition of such assets will permit us to be self-managed and self-advised following the acquisition, so the acquired assets may be viewed as being associated with, and comprising part of, the value of our real estate portfolio and thus may be classified as qualifying real estate assets ; however, the IRS could take the position that all or a part of such assets are in the nature of goodwill or other intangibles that are separate and apart from our real properties and thus do not constitute qualifying assets for purposes of the REIT asset test. Even if such assets were viewed in their entirety as nonqualifying assets, however, we believe that, as of the close of the quarter in which Internalization will occur, taking into consideration the fair market values of all of the assets formerly owned by the

Advisor that we will have acquired as a result of Internalization (determined as set forth in the applicable Code and Treasury Regulations provisions), we will continue to satisfy all such asset tests. To the extent that all or a portion of the acquired assets are viewed as nonqualifying assets, however, our ability to acquire additional properties where a significant amount of the value of such property is attributable to nonqualified real estate assets, or our ability to dispose of properties consisting primarily of qualified real estate assets, could be limited.

#### Income Tests

Each year, we must meet two income-based tests, as set forth in the Code. At least 75% of our gross income (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) for each taxable year must be from rents from real property, interest and certain other income earned from mortgages on real property, gain from the sale of real property or mortgages (other than in prohibited transactions) or income from qualified types of temporary investments. At least 95% of our gross income (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) for each taxable year must be derived from the same items that qualify under the 75% income test or from dividends, interest and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, or from any combination of the foregoing. We believe, in this regard, that more than 95% of our gross income is, currently, derived from rents from real property, gains from the sale or other disposition of real property, dividends and other types of qualified income. While, as set forth in the Acquisition of Property Management Offices and Property Management Agreements section of this proxy statement, we intend to manage certain properties which are not owned by us which will result in a certain level of non-qualified income, we anticipate that more than 95% of our gross income in the future will consist of qualifying income. Furthermore, we believe that our sources of gross income also satisfy the 75% income test set forth in the Code, and will continue to do so in the future.

As a result of the proposed Internalization, we anticipate deriving some income from the Advisor s activities, primarily as a result of the management of real properties not owned by us or Wells OP, which will not be qualified income. We believe, however, that the level of non-qualified income generated from such activities after the Internalization will not cause us to fail to meet either of the income tests set forth in the Code could cause our disqualification from REIT status unless we are able to demonstrate to the IRS that any such failure was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect or fraud. It is impossible to predict whether we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions in all cases and, even if we were so entitled, a tax equal to 100% of the amount by which we fail to meet an income test would be imposed. The payment of such taxes at the corporate level could limit our ability to make required distributions to our stockholders or cause us to borrow the funds necessary to make such distributions.

To the extent we engage in a sale of all or part of our properties, and such transaction is properly characterized for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a taxable sale of all or a part of the assets acquired in the Internalization, it is uncertain how any gain attributable to such assets would be characterized for purposes of the REIT gross income tests. As discussed above, the assets acquired in the Internalization may be viewed as a part of our real estate portfolio, in which case such gain may be treated in the same manner as gain from the sale of real property and treated as qualifying income for purposes of both the 95% and 75% gross income tests. Alternatively, as discussed above, the IRS could take the position that all or a part of the assets acquired in the Internalization are in the nature of goodwill or other intangibles that are separate and apart from our real estate portfolio and that any gain attributable to such intangible assets is not qualifying income.

#### Other REIT Qualification Requirements

One of the requirements for qualification as a REIT in any year is that at the end of the year the REIT shall have no accumulated earnings and profits from a prior non-REIT year. In a corporate reorganization qualifying as a nontaxable merger, the acquired corporation s earnings and profits are carried over to the surviving corporation, and any earnings and profits treated as having been acquired by a REIT through such a merger will be treated as accumulated earnings and profits of the REIT attributable to a non-REIT year. Accordingly, we will succeed to any earnings and profits of the Advisor which may exist at the time of Internalization. Under the Definitive Merger Agreement, WREAS and WGS have

agreed that, prior to the execution of the Definitive Merger Agreement, they will have adopted resolutions declaring a dividend to WASI so as to ensure that WREAS and WGS do not have any current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) as of the Closing Date and that such dividends shall be paid prior to the Closing Date. Additionally, we will receive written confirmation from our accountants that the Advisor will not have any current or accumulated earnings and profits as of the effective time of the Internalization. Nevertheless, if the IRS were to successfully assert that we did acquire current or accumulated earnings and profits from the Advisor and failed to distribute, during our taxable year in which the Internalization occurs, all of such earnings and profits, we would lose our REIT qualification for the year of the Internalization, any other taxable years during which we held such acquired earnings and profits and the four taxable years following any such year, unless, in the year of such determination, we make an additional distribution of the amount of earnings and profits determined to be acquired from the Advisor plus any required interest charge. In order to make such an additional distributions made to divest any earnings and profits acquired by us from the Advisor would not be deductible in determining our REIT taxable income, which, in turn, would raise the amount required to be distributed by us to maintain our REIT qualification, thereby putting additional pressure on our ability to make distributions without borrowing or selling off assets. For any taxable year that we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would not be entitled to a deduction for dividends paid to our stockholders in calculating our taxable income. Consequently, our net assets, our earnings, and our distributions to our stockholders could be substantially reduced because of our increased tax liability.

## Failure to Qualify

If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year and certain relief provisions do not apply, we will be subject to tax (including any applicable corporate alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. In any year in which we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be able to deduct, nor will we be required to be make, any distributions to stockholders. In such event, to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits, all distributions to stockholders will be taxable to them as ordinary income, and, subject to certain limitations of the Code, corporate distributes may be eligible for the dividends received deduction. Unless entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we also will be disqualified from electing to be treated as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which REIT qualification was lost. No assurance can be given that we would be entitled to such statutory relief.

#### U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Internalization

The Internalization has been structured as a nontaxable merger so that it will not result in the recognition of taxable income by us or our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, based on the representations made and the projections of our future operations after Internalization, the Internalization will not adversely affect our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Upon consummation of the Internalization, we will be subject to a corporate-level tax if we dispose of any of the assets acquired from the Advisor during the 10 year period commencing on the closing date of the merger. The tax would be imposed at the maximum corporate rate (currently 35%) on the excess of (1) the lesser of (a) the fair market value of the assets disposed as of the closing date of the Internalization, and (b) the selling price of such assets, over (2) our adjusted basis in such assets as of the closing date. We currently have no plans to dispose of any of the assets acquired from the Advisor during such 10 year period.

#### **Regulatory Matters**

We and the Advisor are not aware of any license or regulatory permit which is material to the business of us or the Advisor and which is likely to be adversely affected by the consummation of the Internalization or of any material approval or other action by any state, federal or foreign government agency that would be required prior to the consummation of the Internalization.

#### Common Share Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table presents certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our shares of common stock by our directors, each of our executive officers, including Donald A. Miller, CFA, who is our new Chief Executive Officer and President and a director, and all directors and executive officers as a group, on a historical and *pro forma* basis, in each case as of December 31, 2006, assuming that all of the 19,546,302 shares of common stock which make up the Internalization Consideration are issued to WASI, and that the 22,339 shares of our common stock are issued to Wells Capital in exchange for transferring its 20,000 limited partnership units in Wells OP to us or one of our subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2006, there were 465,856,546 shares of our common stock outstanding.

As of December 31, 2006, no stockholder held 5% or more of our shares of common stock. Unless otherwise listed, the address of each of the stockholders below is c/o Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., 6200 The Corners Parkway, Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365.

	Shares Beneficially		Pro Forma Shares Beneficially	
Name of Beneficial Owner	Owned	Percentage	Owned	Percentage
Leo F. Wells, III	3,447	*	$19,572,088_{(1)}$	4.0%
Donald A. Miller	12,717	*	12,717(2)	*
Douglas P. Williams	1,124	*	1,124(2)	*
Randall D. Fretz	8,470	*	8,470(2)	*
Michael R. Buchanan <sup>(3)</sup>	4,500	*	4,500	*
Richard W. Carpenter <sup>(4)</sup>	7,500	*	7,500	*
Bud Carter <sup>(4) (7)</sup>	27,950	*	27,950	*
William H. Keogler, Jr. <sup>(4)</sup>	7,500	*	7,500	*
Donald S. Moss <sup>(4) (8)</sup>	113,041	*	113,041	*
Neil H. Strickland <sup>(4)(9)</sup>	8,882	*	8,882	*
W. Wayne Woody <sup>(5)</sup>	3,000	*	3,000	*
All officers and directors as a group <sup>(6) (10)</sup>	198,131	*	19,766,772	4.1%

\* Less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

- (1) Includes (a) 19,546,302 shares to be issued to WASI, which has Wells Management and Wells Capital as its majority members, both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells REF, which is wholly-owned by Leo F. Wells, III, and (b) 22,339 shares to be issued to Wells Capital in exchange for transferring its limited partnership units in Wells OP.
- (2) Does not include his economic interest in 195,463 shares to be issued to WASI, in which each of Messrs. Miller, Williams and Fretz own an approximately 1% economic interest.
- (3) Includes options to purchase up to 4,500 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (4) Includes options to purchase up to 7,500 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (5) Includes options to purchase up to 3,000 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (6) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of up to 45,000 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

## Table of Contents

## Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

- (7) Includes warrants to purchase up to 787 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (8) Includes warrants to purchase up to 3,619 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (9) Includes warrants to purchase up to 53 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (10) Includes warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 4,459 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

#### No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Internalization Proposal

Under Maryland law and our existing Articles, holders of shares of our common stock will not be entitled to rights of appraisal with respect to the Internalization because the Internalization Transaction.

## Vote Required to Approve the Internalization Proposal

Pursuant to Maryland law, transactions in which directors have a material financial interest are not void or voidable solely because of such fact if, among other things, disinterested director approval or ratification occurs, stockholder approval or ratification is obtained or the transaction is otherwise fair and reasonable. The Internalization was unanimously approved by all of our Independent Directors, four of whom served on our Special Committee which retained its own legal and financial advisors. In reaching its conclusion to unanimously approve the Internalization, the Special Committee determined the Internalization was fair and reasonable to us, taking into account the factors described under the section titled Proposal I: The Internalization Proposal Recommendations of the Special Committee and Our Board of Directors Special Committee Recommendation; Reasons for Recommendation, which factors should be read in their entirety. Because the Internalization involves a transaction in which some of our directors and our officers have a material financial interest, we have determined to solicit stockholder approval of the Internalization so as to empower our stockholders with respect to whether the Internalization should occur. In addition, under the Definitive Merger Agreement, the Internalization Proposal is required to be approved by the affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote on the Internalization (excluding for this purpose shares of common stock beneficially owned by any of Wells REF, Wells Capital, Wells Management, WASI or their affiliates). If the required stockholder approval is not received, then the Internalization will not be consummated.

Our directors and officers and their affiliates collectively currently own less than 0.05% of our outstanding shares of common stock. Our Articles provide that neither the Advisor, our directors nor any of their affiliates may vote their shares of common stock on matters submitted to our stockholders regarding, among other things, transactions between us and any affiliate of the Advisor. Therefore, the shares of common stock owned by them will not be considered to be shares of common stock entitled to vote at the Special Meeting for purposes of determining whether the Internalization has been approved.

#### Consequences of Failure to Approve the Internalization or if the Internalization Otherwise Does Not Occur

If the Internalization Proposal is not approved, or the Internalization otherwise does not occur, we would not expect to attempt to List our common stock in the near term, although pursuant to our current Articles, we are required to either effect a Listing by January 30, 2008 or begin a liquidation of our assets in an orderly fashion. If the Internalization Proposal is approved and the Board elects to pursue a Listing, no further stockholder action will be required to do so. If the Internalization Proposal is not approved, or the Internalization otherwise does not occur, we intend to continue to conduct our business generally in a manner consistent with past practices, subject to our requirement to begin an orderly liquidation of our assets if we have not listed our common stock by January 30, 2008, or we could seek to amend the provisions in our existing Articles which require us to List or liquidate by January 30, 2008 (which amendment would require the approval of our stockholders). We have not made a decision as to how we would proceed if the Internalization Proposal is not approved, and we are unable to predict any other consequences that a rejection of the Internalization Proposal is not approved, we expect that we will continue to be able to obtain such services from the Advisor in the future. Even if the Internalization Proposal is approved, there is no assurance that the Internalization will be consummated because there may be a failure to satisfy one or more of the conditions to closing. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal is Description of the Internalization Transaction Conditions to Closing.

#### **PROPOSAL II:**

## THE PRE-LISTING CHARTER AMENDMENT PROPOSAL

#### Introduction

Upon unanimous vote by our Board, the following proposal is hereby submitted to the stockholders for their approval. The Board believes it is advisable to amend and restate our existing Articles in order to reflect that we will become self-advised should the Internalization Proposal be approved. The full text of these amendments is set forth in the proposed Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement, which is referred to as the Pre-Listing Restated Articles and which are attached hereto as **Appendix C**.

The discussion below is a summary of certain changes effected by the Pre-Listing Restated Articles and does not identify or provide information on every proposed change. Please see the marked version of our existing Articles attached hereto as **Appendix D**, which reflects all of the proposed changes to our Articles.

#### Amendments to Our Existing Articles to Reflect That We Will Become Self-Advised if the Internalization Proposal Is Approved

As discussed in the Internalization Proposal, if the Internalization Proposal is approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, we will become self-advised. Currently, our Advisor is entitled to various fees for providing us services, fees that are based, in part, on the fair market value of our assets. Upon consummation of the Internalization, WREAS and WGS will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries, and we will no longer bear the costs of the advisory fees and expense reimbursements payable to the Advisor.

*Provisions Regarding the Advisor or its Affiliates.* Our existing Articles contain a number of provisions that impose guidelines on transactions between us and the Advisor or its Affiliates. If the Internalization is approved and WREAS and WGS becomes our wholly-owned subsidiaries, any provisions referencing transactions and relations between us and the Advisor will no longer be applicable. One of the primary purposes of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is to remove these unnecessary provisions effective upon the completion of the Internalization.

In addition, our existing Articles contain a number of provisions that impose guidelines on transactions between us and our Sponsor or its Affiliates. The term Sponsor is defined in our Articles to mean any person who is directly or indirectly instrumental in organizing, wholly or in part, our company or any person who will control, manage or participate in the management of our company, and any Affiliate of such person. Since our Sponsor is an affiliate of the Advisor, the provisions in our existing Articles referencing transactions and relations between us and the Sponsor will similarly no longer be applicable and have, therefore, been eliminated from the proposed Pre-Listing Restated Articles.

*Independent Director Requirements.* Section 1.5 of our existing Articles defines the term Independent Director pursuant to applicable provisions of the NASAA REIT Guidelines (see Proposal III The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal Amendments to Our Articles to Conform More Closely to Charters of Listed REITs References to NASAA REIT Guidelines ). The definition is primarily directed to the relationship of a director with the Advisor. Because we will be self-advised following the consummation of the Internalization, the Board proposes the elimination of the following prohibitions from the definition of the term Independent Director, all of which derive solely from the presence of an Advisor:

ownership of an interest in the Advisor or its Affiliates,

employment by the Advisor or its Affiliates,

service as an officer or director of the Advisor or its Affiliates,

performance of a service (other than as a director) for our company,

service as a director of more than three real estate investment trusts advised by the Advisor, and

maintenance of a material business or professional relationship with the Advisor or any of its Affiliates. The provisions specifying that a director will not be considered an Independent Director if the director is performing or has performed within the past two years, services for us, other than as a director of our company, will be retained.

*Provisions Relating to Advisor Services and Fees.* Article IV of our existing Articles currently contains provisions governing the relationship between us and the Advisor. These provisions include guidelines for supervision of the Advisor by our Board, provisions relating to the termination of the Advisor, restrictions on the types and amount of fees which may be payable by us to the Advisor for services provided, and limitations on reimbursement of expenses incurred by the Advisor in performing such services. Because upon Internalization Article IV of our existing Articles will no longer be applicable to our operations, our Board proposes to eliminate it in its entirety.

*Restrictions on Affiliated Transactions.* Various provisions of our existing Articles limit our ability to engage in transactions with, among other persons, the Advisor, the Sponsor or their respective Affiliates. In general, these provisions require that such transactions (which are referred to herein as affiliated transactions) be approved by a majority of disinterested directors (including a majority of the Independent Directors). They also contain limitations on the substantive aspects of the affiliated transactions themselves, such as restrictions on the consideration to be paid for services provided or assets acquired from or sold to such persons. These provisions address a number of transactions including joint ventures, sales and leases to and from us, and loans to and from us, as well as general restrictions on affiliated transactions with the Advisor and its Affiliates.

Sections 6.3(i) and 6.4 are eliminated in the Pre-Listing Restated Articles, which include (a) guidelines on how to resolve conflicts when an investment opportunity becomes available which is suitable for us and a public or private entity with which the Advisor or its Affiliates are affiliated (Section 6.4) and (b) restrictions on the provision of goods or services to us by the Advisor or its Affiliates (Section 6.3(ii)). Furthermore, Section 6.3(ii) restricts our company from making any loans to the Advisor or its Affiliates, and all references to the Advisor and the Sponsor in Section 6.3(ii) have been eliminated.

Because upon Internalization WREAS and WGS will become our wholly-owned subsidiaries and we will have become self-advised, the provisions containing restrictions on transactions between the Company and Advisor, the Sponsor, or their Affiliates have been eliminated in the Pre-Listing Restated Articles.

*Voting Restrictions*. Section 8.3 of our existing Articles prohibits the Advisor from voting on or consenting to matters submitted to our stockholders regarding any transaction between us and the Advisor. The reference to the Advisor in this provision will no longer be necessary after we acquire the Advisor upon consummation of the Internalization.

*Indemnification.* Under Section 9.2 of our existing Articles, we are required to indemnify the Advisor under certain circumstances. The reference to the Advisor in this provision will no longer be necessary after we become self-advised in connection with the Internalization. We have also expanded the coverage of the indemnification provisions of Section 9.2 to cover our officers. We believe that expanding the coverage of our indemnification provisions to cover our officers may facilitate our ability to attract and retain qualified officer candidates following Internalization.

#### Amendments to Our Existing Articles Relating to Amendments

Section 10.1 of our existing Articles is being amended in the Pre-Listing Restated Articles to clarify that we reserve the right to make any amendment to our Articles authorized by law. These amendments include any that may alter the terms or contract rights, as set forth in our Articles, of any shares of outstanding stock, and any that may alter the

rights and powers conferred by our Articles on stockholders, directors and officers. In addition, Section 10.1, as revised in the Pre-Listing Restated Articles, will provide that no appraisal rights will be available to our stockholders with respect to any future amendments to our Articles.

#### **Conforming Changes and Other Ministerial Modifications**

The Pre-Listing Restated Articles reflect a number of changes to the Articles and other modifications of a ministerial nature that are consistent with the changes being proposed. These changes and modifications include, among other things, deletion and revision of definitions, references and cross-references and other provisions which are no longer applicable to our Company or which need to be updated, and the necessary re-numbering and lettering of remaining provisions.

If approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the amendments reflected in the Pre-Listing Restated Articles will be effected by our filing of the Pre-Listing Restated Articles with the State Department of Assessment and Taxation of the State of Maryland (the SDAT), and will become effective upon filing and acceptance for record by the SDAT. We plan to file the Pre-Listing Restated Articles following the stockholder vote on the Pre-Listing Restated Articles and immediately after the closing of the Internalization. The text of the proposed Pre-Listing Restated Articles is attached hereto as **Appendix C** and a marked version thereof against our existing Articles, which shows the modifications proposed to be made, is attached hereto as **Appendix D**.

Even if approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will not be effected unless the Internalization Proposal is approved by our stockholders and the Internalization is consummated. Further, our Board reserves the right not to implement the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal even if it is approved by our stockholders if, prior to such implementation, our Board determines that the implementation of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not in our best interest.

#### **Appraisal Rights**

If you do not vote in favor of Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and otherwise comply with the relevant statutory provisions of Maryland law governing appraisal rights, you may be entitled to rights of appraisal under Maryland law with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. However, while we are not aware of any direct authority as to whether amendments to our Articles such as those contemplated by the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would be deemed to substantially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder, in the event you wish to make your own determination of whether you have rights of appraisal with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we encourage you to consider applicable Maryland law and to consider engaging Maryland counsel. We reserve the right to challenge your determination, if any, as to whether rights of appraisal exist in connection with the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. One of the conditions to our obligation to close the Internalization Transaction under the Definitive Merger Agreement is that holders of 10% or more of our shares of common stock outstanding as of the date of the Special Meeting shall not have purported to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. Accordingly, if holders of 10% or more of our stockholders purport to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. Accordingly, if holders of 10% or more of our stockholders purport to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights with respect to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. For a discussion regarding appraisal rights, see Explanation of Maryland Appraisal Rights Statute. See also **Appendix G** hereto, which sets forth the relevant statutory provisions.

#### Vote Required

Approval of this proposal to amend our existing Articles requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon. Proxies received will be voted for approval of this proposal unless stockholders designate otherwise.

It is intended that, even if approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, this proposal will not be effected until immediately after the closing of the Internalization.

Our Board has deemed it advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and has recommended it to our stockholders for their approval. Our Board unanimously approved the form of the Pre-Listing Restated Articles and recommends that you vote FOR the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.

#### Consequences of Failure to Approve the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal

If the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, we would not be able to complete the Internalization unless the closing conditions related to the stockholder approval of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal are waived. If those conditions are not waived, we would not expect to attempt to List our common stock in the near term, although pursuant to our current Articles, we are required to either effect a Listing by January 30, 2008 or begin a liquidation of our assets in an orderly fashion. If the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, and the Internalization otherwise does not occur, we intend to continue to conduct our business generally in a manner consistent with past practices, subject to our requirement to begin an orderly liquidation of our assets if we have not Listed our common stock by January 30, 2008, or we could seek to amend the provisions in our existing Articles which require us to List or liquidate by January 30, 2008 (which amendment would require the approval of our stockholders). We have not made a decision as to how we would proceed if the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, and we are unable to predict any other consequences that a rejection of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would have.

#### **PROPOSAL III:**

## THE POST-LISTING CHARTER AMENDMENT PROPOSAL

#### Introduction

In addition to amending and restating our existing Articles in order to reflect that we will become self-advised if the Internalization is approved, as reflected by the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, the Board proposes to further amend and restate the Articles in order to conform more closely to the charters of most other Listed REITs. The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would remove many restrictions that are mandated by state securities administrators but will no longer be required if the Listing occurs, and to make various other changes that our Board believes are appropriate for a Listed REIT. These restrictions are not typically found in the charters of Listed REITs and, if not removed, we believe could put us at a competitive disadvantage should a Listing occur. Accordingly, we are proposing that our existing Articles be amended as discussed below. The full text of these amendments is set forth in our proposed Third Articles of Amendment and Restatement, which we refer to as our Post-Listing Restated Articles and which are attached hereto as **Appendix E**.

The discussion below is a summary of certain changes proposed to be effected by the Post-Listing Restated Articles and does not identify or provide information on every single proposed change. Please see the marked version of our existing Articles attached hereto as **Appendix F**, which reflects all of the proposed changes to our Articles.

#### Amendments to Our Articles to Conform More Closely to Charters of Listed REITs

Our Board has unanimously approved and directed that there be submitted to our stockholders for their approval:

an amendment to Section 2.1 of our existing Articles to eliminate the ability of our stockholders to remove members of our Board without cause;

an amendment to Section 2.4 of our existing Articles to provide a director may be removed for cause, as defined therein, by stockholders holding two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast;

an amendment to Section 3.2(xxii) of our existing Articles to provide that in the future our Board will have the exclusive power to amend our Bylaws;

an amendment to the definition of Common Share Ownership Limit in Section 7.7 of our existing Articles to clarify that the restriction on ownership by one person of more than 9.8% of our shares of common stock is calculated with respect to either the value or number of shares of our common stock that such person holds, whichever is more restrictive;

the deletion of Section 8.1 of our existing Articles to, among other things, delete the percentage of stockholders necessary to call a special meeting of stockholders from 10% (which was a requirement of the NASAA REIT Guidelines), which we intend to increase to 50% through a future amendment to our Bylaws;

the deletion of Sections 8.5 and 8.6 of our existing Articles in order to conform stockholder inspection rights to those rights set forth in the Maryland General Corporation Law (the MGCL );

an amendment to delete all of Section 10.2 and a portion of Section 10.3 of our existing Articles to remove certain restrictions on transactions involving an Affiliate of us or the Advisor as required by the NASAA REIT Guidelines and to permit the rules under the MGCL and the NYSE (in the event that we list on the NYSE) to govern interested party transactions; and

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

other amendments to delete certain sections from, modify other sections of, and add new sections to our existing Articles, to conform more closely with the charters of Listed REITs.

In addition, certain provisions in our existing Articles were required under state securities offering regulations in connection with the initial and subsequent public offerings of our common stock because our shares were not listed on a national securities exchange. These provisions are not required and are typically not used by Listed REITs. Following a Listing, these provisions will no longer be required because we will be subject to the rules of the national securities exchange or over-the-counter market on which our common stock is listed or quoted. We believe that many of the limitations and restrictions that were included in our existing Articles are restrictive and could prevent us from pursuing favorable investment opportunities which could enhance stockholder value. In addition, these provisions could impair our ability to compete effectively for investments and management talent with other Listed REITs that are not subject to these provisions. We believe that such limitations and restrictions should be modified so that we will be able to more freely implement our business strategy and be more competitive with other Listed REITs. The proposed Post-Listing Restated Articles reflect the modifications that we believe should be made to our existing Articles.

*References to NASAA REIT Guidelines.* Several provisions of our existing Articles reference the NASAA REIT Guidelines. The NASAA REIT Guidelines, which contain a number of substantive restrictions on the operations of a REIT, are applicable to a REIT that is making a public offering of securities which are not listed for trading on a national securities exchange or designated for quotation on an over-the-counter market. Our existing Articles also contain provisions that, while they do not specifically reference the NASAA REIT Guidelines, were included to comply with those Guidelines or were included to be consistent with provisions contained in the charters of REITs that are subject to those Guidelines. The Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will only take effect if and when our common stock is listed on a national securities exchange or quoted on an over-the-counter market. Because the NASAA REIT Guidelines are inapplicable to a Listed REIT, the NASAA REIT Guidelines references and the provisions that were included to comply with the NASAA REIT Guidelines have been modified or eliminated in the Post-Listing Restated Articles. We believe that these changes will conform our Articles more closely to the charters of other Listed REITs. We anticipate that the elimination in our existing Articles of the restrictions contained in the NASAA REIT Guidelines will better enable us to take advantage of favorable investment opportunities and to operate in a more comparable fashion to other Listed REITs. No assurance can be given, however, that a Listing will actually occur.

Independent Director Requirements. Section 1.5 of our existing Articles defines the term Independent Director in accordance with the NASAA REIT Guidelines, and such definition is primarily directed to the relationship of a director with the Advisor. Because we will be self-advised immediately following the consummation of the Internalization, and the NASAA REIT Guidelines will not apply after our common stock is Listed, this definition has been deleted from the Post-Listing Restated Articles. Instead, our Board will apply the definition of Independent Director under the rules of the NYSE or any other exchange or over-the-counter market on which our common stock is listed or quoted. Accordingly, it is possible that a person who would be considered an Independent Director under such rules might not have been considered independent under our existing Articles and vice versa.

The Post-Listing Restated Articles also eliminate any provisions of our existing Articles that relate to the requirements or duties of our Independent Directors. These include, among other things, Section 1.5 of our existing Articles defining Independent Director, Section 2.2 of our existing Articles concerning director experience, Section 2.3 of our existing Articles requiring that a majority of the members of Board committees be Independent Directors, Section 2.6 of our existing Articles requiring that our Independent Directors approve certain enumerated matters, and Section 5.2 of our existing Articles requiring our Independent Directors to conduct an annual review of our investment policies. These provisions will no longer be relevant because the Post-Listing Restated Articles will not contain a definition of independent directors under the NASAA REIT Guidelines to which all of these provisions related. Instead, governance matters such as these will be governed by NYSE rules and interpretations, or the rules of any other exchange or over-the-counter market on which our common stock is listed or quoted.

It is possible that the elimination of these provisions would allow individuals to serve as directors who would not be able to serve as directors under our existing Articles or certain actions to be taken that could not be taken under our existing Articles. If we effect a Listing, we will operate under the rules of the NYSE or any other exchange or over-the-counter market on which our common stock is listed or quoted, under Maryland law and in accordance with our Post-

Listing Restated Articles and Bylaws. For your information, should we become Listed on the NYSE, we would still be required to have a majority of independent directors on our Board under the rules of the NYSE.

Although some of the amendments to our Articles contained in this Proposal III reduce or otherwise eliminate certain voting rights that you currently have, we are of the view that these proposed amendments reflected in the Post-Listing Restated Articles will provide us greater flexibility with respect to the implementation of our business plan and will make us more competitive with other Listed REITs.

*Experience of Directors.* Our existing Articles contain provisions requiring a director to have at least three years of relevant experience demonstrating the knowledge and experience required to successfully acquire and manage the type of assets being acquired by the Company. Our existing Articles also provide that at least one of our Independent Directors is required to have at least three years of relevant real estate experience. Both of these provisions were required by the NASAA REIT Guidelines. Given our growth and the fact that the NYSE rules, the SEC proxy rules, and good governance principles for public companies typically provide that a nominating committee comprised exclusively of independent directors operate under written charters and with public disclosures about nominating procedures, the Board does not believe that maintaining these director experience requirements following a Listing will aid the good governance of our company. Indeed, the current experience requirements may inadvertently exclude certain potential director candidates who could be beneficial to us and our stockholders. Accordingly, the effect of this proposed change is that candidates for our Board will include a broader range of qualified individuals; however, it is possible that no Independent Director will have three years of commercial real estate experience.

*Appraisal Rights*. Pursuant to Maryland law, upon a Listing of our common stock, our stockholders would not have future stockholder appraisal rights as long as we remain Listed. In addition, the Post-Listing Restated Articles provide that holders of our shares of common stock will not be entitled to exercise any rights of an objecting stockholder provided under Maryland law for unless our Board determines that such rights apply, with respect to any classes or series of stock classified or reclassified in the future.

*Investment Limitations*. Our existing Articles contain a number of limitations and restrictions on our ability to make certain types of investments in real estate, real estate-related instruments, and equity securities, as well as our ability to borrow and incur indebtedness. These investment limitations and restrictions are contained in our existing Articles because, as described above, they were required by the NASAA REIT Guidelines. These limitations and restrictions are contained in Sections 5.3 and 5.4 of our current Articles. Consistent with the governance practices of many other Listed REITs, the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal eliminates these limitations and restrictions. Instead, our Board will adopt investment policies and monitor management compliance with these policies. These investment policies will take into account, among other things, the complex rules and interpretations required by allowing us to borrow a greater amount of money, relative to our asset base, than we are permitted to borrow under our existing Articles or by allowing us to lend money in situations in which we would not have been able to lend money under our existing Articles. Our Board and our management would be responsible for evaluating and determining whether to make these types of investments. Our Board believes that the elimination of these restrictions is desirable, will give us greater flexibility in our operations, and will allow us to expand our investment and capital market opportunities. For the foregoing reasons, our Board proposes the elimination of the investment limitations and restrictions summarized below.

*Limitations on Investments, Borrowing and Indebtedness.* For the reasons outlined above, the Post-Listing Restated Articles eliminate the investment limitations in Section 5.4 of our existing Articles, including provisions that prohibit us from: (1) investing more than 10% of our total assets in unimproved real property (Section 5.4(i)); (2) investing in commodities or commodity future contracts (Section 5.4(ii)); (3) investing in or making mortgage loans unless an appraisal is obtained concerning the property and certain other conditions are met (Sections 5.4(iii), (iv), (v) and (viii)); (4) investing in indebtedness secured by a mortgage on real property which is subordinate to the lien of other indebtedness (Section 5.4(vi)); (5) engaging in underwriting securities of other issuers, or investing in equity securities of those issuers other than under certain limited circumstances (Section 5.4(ix)); (6) except under specified circumstances,

issuing (A) equity securities redeemable solely at the option of the holder, (B) debt securities, (C) common or preferred shares on a deferred payment basis or under similar arrangements, (D) non-assessable securities and (E) options, warrants, or similar evidences of right to buy our securities (Section 5.4(x)); (7) acquiring a property unless the consideration to be paid for each such property is authorized by our Board based upon fair market value (Section 5.4(xi)); (8) making investments that we believe will be inconsistent with our objective of continuing to qualify as a REIT (Section 5.4(xvi)); and (9) investing in contracts for the sale of real estate unless they are in recordable form and appropriately recorded in the chain of title (Section 5.4(xix)).

In connection with acquiring and developing properties, we have borrowed funds both on a short-term basis and on a longer-term basis, as appropriate. Because of the NASAA REIT Guidelines requirements, Section 5.4(xiv) of our existing Articles restricts our total indebtedness to no more than 50% of the aggregate value of our assets. Although it has no current intent to exceed that level of indebtedness, our Board believes that such an absolute limit on our borrowings could impair our ability to engage in potentially advantageous transactions and investment opportunities, and we believe that such decisions should be left to our experienced management and Board. Accordingly, the Post-Listing Restated Articles do not contain any limitation on the amount or percentage of indebtedness that we may incur in the future, and therefore, we could become more highly leveraged, resulting in an increase in the amount of debt repayment. This, in turn, could increase our risk of default on our obligations and adversely affect our results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Nonetheless, our Board believes that this change will give us greater flexibility to allow us to expand our investment and capital market opportunities.

*Limitations on Investment in Equity Securities.* The Post-Listing Restated Articles also eliminate the restrictions in Sections 5.3(iii) and 5.4(ix) of our existing Articles related to investments by us in equity securities. Under Section 5.3(iii) and 5.4(ix) of our existing Articles, we may invest in equity securities so long as a majority of disinterested directors (including a majority of our Independent Directors) approve the investment as being fair, competitive and commercially reasonable. In the Post-Listing Restated Articles, decisions concerning investment in equity securities will be made by the entire Board, using the standards applicable to all director decisions.

*Restrictions on Affiliated Transactions.* Various provisions of our existing Articles limit our ability to engage in certain transactions with, among other persons, the Advisor, our directors, or their Affiliates. These restrictions are found in Sections 5.3, 5.4, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, and 9.5 of our current Articles. Under Maryland corporate law, transactions between us and our directors or entities in which one or more of our directors have a material financial interest are not void or voidable on account of such interest if the transaction is disclosed and the transaction is approved or ratified by a majority of disinterested directors or a majority of the stockholders or the transaction is fair and reasonable to us. Many of these types of transactions require prompt public disclosure under SEC rules and in some circumstances require stockholder ratification under NYSE Rules. The Board believes that by relying on established Maryland law, NYSE rules, and appropriate governance mechanisms, combined with the transparency afforded under public company disclosure requirements, the Board will be able to effectively regulate related party transactions without the detailed, substantive restrictions contained in the current Articles.

The affiliated transaction provisions that are proposed to be eliminated in the Post-Listing Restated Articles include:

formation of certain joint ventures (Section 5.3(ii));

loans to and from our company (Sections 5.4(xv) and 6.3(ii));

purchases or leases of properties held by affiliates (Section 6.1);

sales and leases of assets to and from our company (Section 6.2);

a general requirement under Section 9.5 that all transactions with affiliates are made on the basis of an appraisal;

broad restrictions on compensation for any services rendered by affiliates (Section 9.5); and

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

extensive conditions on conducting transactions with affiliates (Section 9.5).

*Voting Restrictions*. The Post-Listing Restated Articles eliminates Section 8.3 of our existing Articles which prohibits the Advisor, our directors, and their respective Affiliates from voting on or consenting to matters submitted to our stockholders regarding the removal of the Advisor, our directors or any of their Affiliates or any transaction between us and them. This provision was included in our existing Articles in accordance with the NASAA REIT Guidelines. We believe that voting on affiliated transactions should be governed by state law, as is customarily the case for Listed REITs.

*Indemnification.* Under Section 9.2 of our existing Articles, we are required to indemnify and hold harmless the Advisor, our directors and their respective Affiliates for losses or liabilities incurred by any of them, each referred to therein as an indemnitee, in connection with our business. Section 9.2 contains a number of limitations on indemnification, which were required by the NASAA REIT Guidelines, that result in more restrictive indemnification than is permitted by Maryland law or that is customary for directors of many Listed REITS formed in Maryland.

The Post-Listing Restated Articles modify the indemnification provisions consistent with Maryland law to provide that we shall indemnify (and pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of a final disposition of a proceeding) our current and former directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. In addition, we may, subject to approval of our Board, indemnify (and advance expenses to) our current and former employees and agents and former officers and directors of any of our predecessors to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. Accordingly, the indemnification for both unaffiliated and affiliated persons will be broader than the provisions under our existing Articles and could cost us additional monies. The Post-Listing Restated Articles also add a provision limiting the liability of our directors and officers to us for money damages to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. Our Board believes that these provisions will facilitate our ability to attract and retain qualified director and officer candidates and may aid in our obtaining director and officer liability insurance and controlling insurance costs. We believe that provisions of this nature are similar to the provisions provided by many other publicly traded companies and, thus, will allow us to compete with those companies for the most qualified candidates.

#### **Miscellaneous Modifications**

Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally may not amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its assets, or engage in similar transactions (each, an extraordinary matter ) outside the ordinary course of business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of the equity shares entitled to vote on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these matters by a lesser percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our existing Articles provide for approval of these matters by a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast. Our Post-Listing Restated Articles provide that we may continue to, in all instances, consummate an extraordinary matter upon the affirmative vote of stockholders holding not less than a majority of our equity shares then outstanding and entitled to vote.

Certain provisions of our existing Articles exempt us from the application of Maryland s Business Combination Act and Control Share Acquisition Act. Our exemption from the application of these statutes may have the effect of facilitating: (1) business combinations (which is broadly defined) between us and beneficial owners of 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock; and (2) the acquisition by any person of shares entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of specified percentages of our total voting power. Further, our exemption from these provisions of the Business Combination Act and the Control Share Acquisition Act may make it more difficult for our Board or our stockholders to prevent or delay coercive proposals of large stockholders to affect ownership or control of our company and may remove any disincentive these provisions have on future acquisition offers.

We have proposed to delete these exemptions from the Post-Listing Restated Articles and, alternatively, to effect an exemption from the Business Combination Statute by Board resolution and to include the exemption from the Control Share Acquisition Statute in our Bylaws. Accordingly, if this proposal is approved and these provisions are deleted from our existing Articles, we would continue to be subject to these exemptions; however, the net effect of this change will be that our Board will, without stockholder approval, be able to opt in and out of these exemptions by way of Board resolution or an amendment to our Bylaws.

## **Conforming Changes and Other Ministerial Modifications**

The Post-Listing Restated Articles reflect a number of changes and other modifications of a ministerial nature that are necessary in view of the changes being proposed. These changes and modifications include, among other things, deletion and revision of definitions, references and cross-references and other provisions which are no longer applicable to us or which need to be updated, and the necessary re-numbering and lettering of remaining provisions. A number of the provisions in our existing Articles are being amended to adequately reflect our operations as a self-advised and Listed REIT. The text of the Post-Listing Restated Articles is attached hereto as **Appendix E** and a marked version against our existing Articles, which shows the modifications proposed to be made, is attached hereto as **Appendix F**. In addition, we will also amend and restate our Bylaws, in order to make certain conforming changes and other changes to our Bylaws, but such changes to the Bylaws will not require action by our stockholders.

If approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the amendments reflected in the Post-Listing Restated Articles will be effected by our filing of the Post-Listing Restated Articles with the SDAT, and will become effective on the date of such filing and upon acceptance for record by the SDAT. The amendment of our existing Articles is divided into two separate, independent proposals. Because the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will be voted upon separately, one of these proposals may be approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting while the other proposal may not. In the event that the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, we will not file the Pre-Listing Restated Articles with the SDAT, but retain the right to file the Post-Listing Restated articles with the SDAT if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is approved by our stockholders and the Internalization is consummated. If neither the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal nor the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is adopted by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, we will not file either the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal nor the Articles or the Post-Listing Restated Articles with the SDAT, and our existing Articles will remain unchanged until such time as they may be amended in the future in accordance with Maryland law and the provisions of our existing Articles and Bylaws.

Even if approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will not be effected unless the Internalization Proposal is approved by our stockholders and the Internalization is consummated and until immediately prior to a Listing, if any, of our common stock.

#### **Appraisal Rights**

If you do not vote in favor of Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and otherwise comply with the relevant statutory provisions of Maryland law governing appraisal rights, you may be entitled to rights of appraisal under Maryland law with respect to the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. However, while we are not aware of any direct authority as to whether amendments to our Articles such as those contemplated by the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would be deemed to substantially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder, in the event you wish to make your own determination of whether you have rights of appraisal with respect to the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we encourage you to consider applicable Maryland law and to consider engaging Maryland counsel. We reserve the right to challenge your determination, if any, as to whether rights of appraisal exist in connection with the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. One of the conditions to our obligation to close the Internalization Transaction under the Definitive Merger Agreement is that holders of 10% or more of our shares of common stock outstanding as of the date of the Special Meeting shall not have purported to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights with respect to the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. Accordingly, if holders of 10% or more of our common stock purport to exercise appraisal or dissenters rights with respect to the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. For a discussion regarding appraisal rights, see Explanation of Maryland Appraisal Rights Statute. See also **Appendix G** hereto, which sets forth the relevant statutory provisions.

#### **Conforming Amendments to Our Bylaws**

In connection with the amendment and restatement of our Articles contemplated by the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, we will amend and restate our Bylaws to make certain conforming changes and other changes to our Bylaws, but such changes to the Bylaws will not require action by our stockholders.

We anticipate that, in the event that the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is approved by our stockholders, our Board will consider and may approve certain conforming and other amendments to our Bylaws such as the following:

an amendment to our existing Bylaws to increase the threshold necessary for our stockholders to call a special meeting from 10% of the shares then outstanding and entitled to vote to a majority of the shares then outstanding and entitled to a vote;

an amendment to our existing Bylaws to set forth certain notice and informational requirements with respect to nominations of directors and other stockholder proposals;

an amendment to our existing Bylaws to decrease the threshold necessary to establish, decrease or increase the number of our directors from 80% of our directors to a majority of our directors; and

an amendment to our existing Bylaws to provide that the rules and standards of the NYSE will be applied in determining the independence of our directors.

## **Reverse Stock Split**

Pursuant to the MGCL, unless otherwise provided in the charter, the board of directors of a corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act may amend the corporation s charter, with the approval of a majority of the board and without stockholder action, to effect a reverse stock split under certain circumstances. Neither the Pre-Listing Restated Articles nor the Post-Listing Restated Articles, if approved and implemented, will contain any provisions that will restrict our Board s ability to amend our Articles to effect a reverse stock split without stockholder action. In connection with a possible Listing, our Board may desire to amend the Pre-Listing Restated Articles or the Post-Listing Restated Articles to implement a reverse stock split whereby two (or more) whole outstanding shares of common stock would be combined into one common share (a Reverse Stock Split) and, if so, would file such an amendment to our Articles to implement such transaction, as determined by our Board.

Our Board may determine that implementation of this strategy, if a possible Listing occurs or is anticipated to occur, would increase the per-share price of our shares of common stock, reduce the number of outstanding shares to a level more consistent with other public companies with a similar market capitalization and provide us with additional flexibility to issue additional shares to facilitate future acquisitions and financing transactions. Our Board believes that having the ability to implement a Reverse Stock Split may provide our Board with appropriate flexibility to implement our business plan, and to act in the best interests of us and our stockholders.

#### **Vote Required**

Approval of this proposal to amend our existing Articles requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon. Proxies received will be voted for approval of each of these proposals unless stockholders indicate otherwise.

It is intended that, even if approved by our stockholders at the Special Meeting, this proposal will not be effected unless and until our Board determines to effect a Listing and then only shortly before a Listing.

Our Board has deemed it advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and has recommended it to our stockholders for their approval. Our Board unanimously approved the Post-Listing Restated Articles and recommends that you vote FOR the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal.

#### Consequences of Failure to Approve the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal

If the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, we may not be able to complete the Internalization Transaction, since the approval of this proposal by our stockholders is a closing condition in the Definitive Merger Agreement. Further, if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, we might make a determination not to List our common stock, although pursuant to our current Articles we are required to either effect a Listing by January 30, 2008 or begin an orderly liquidation of our assets. Even if we were to decide to List our common stock, we believe that we would be at a competitive disadvantage to other traded REITs if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved. If the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved. If the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved. We intend to continue to conduct our business generally in a manner consistent with past practices, subject to our requirement to begin an orderly liquidation of our assets if we have not listed our common stock by January 30, 2008, or we could seek to amend the provisions in our existing Articles which require us to List or liquidate by January 30, 2008 (which amendment would require the approval of our stockholders). We have not made a decision as to how we would proceed if the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal is not approved, and we are unable to predict any other consequences that a rejection of the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal would have.

#### **PROPOSAL IV:**

#### THE INCENTIVE PLAN PROPOSAL

#### Summary of the Plan

We propose that the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan be adopted. A copy of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is attached hereto as **Appendix H**. This summary of the provisions of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. To the extent that there is a conflict between this summary and the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan will govern. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein will have the meanings ascribed to them in the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The adoption of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is subject to stockholder approval.

#### **Background and Purpose**

The 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan was established by the Board, which consulted with its legal advisors and an employment compensation consultant to survey and study the market compensation ranges of our competitors. The purpose of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is to provide us with the flexibility to offer performance-based compensation, including stock-based and incentive cash awards as part of an overall compensation package to attract and retain qualified personnel. Certain officers, key employees, non-employee directors, or consultants of ours and our subsidiaries would be eligible to be granted cash awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock awards, other stock-based awards, dividend equivalent rights, and performance-based awards under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. We anticipate that providing such persons with interests and awards of this nature will result in a closer identification of their interests with our own interests and those of our stockholders, thereby stimulating their efforts on our behalf and strengthening their desire to remain with us.

In addition, we have entered an employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, and may enter into employment agreements with other individuals, some of whom may also be affiliated with Wells REF, including a Chief Financial Officer. Any such employment agreements will likely be with the persons who will constitute our senior management following the Internalization. These agreements provide or may provide, among other things, for incentive compensation awards and performance bonuses that will be paid pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. If the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is not approved by our stockholders, it could materially adversely affect us because we could be deprived of the services of our senior management and the ability to provide the incentives necessary to attract qualified replacements and other personnel.

#### Administration

The 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is administered by a compensation committee of our Board. Our compensation committee, appointed by our Board, will have the power and authority to administer and interpret the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, including the power and authority: (1) to authorize the granting of awards; (2) to determine the eligibility of officers, key employees, directors, or consultants of ours to receive an award; (3) to determine the number of shares of common stock to be covered by each stock-based award (subject to the individual participant limitations provided in the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan); (4) to determine the terms, conditions and restrictions of each award, including setting applicable performance criteria (which may not be inconsistent with the terms of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan); (5) to accelerate the exercisability or vesting of the awards; (6) to extend the time period for exercising stock options; and (7) to take any other actions and make all other determinations that it deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan or the administration or interpretation thereof. In connection with this authority, our compensation committee may, among other things, establish performance goals that must be met in order for awards to be granted or to vest, or for the restrictions on any such awards to lapse. The 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan will be

administered by a compensation or other committee consisting of at least two individuals, each of whom shall be a non-employee director as defined under Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, and will, at such times as we are subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, qualify as an outside director for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code, or, if no committee is designated by our Board to act for these purposes, our Board. References below to our compensation committee include a reference to our Board for those periods in which our Board is administering the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. In addition, our compensation committee may, in its discretion, delegate to our Chief Executive Officer, or his or her delegate, all or part of the Committee s authority and duties with respect to awards (where relief from the limitations of Section 162(m) of the Code is not sought). The 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan also has certain limitations of liability for our compensation committee and Board members as long as such members are not acting in bad faith or committing fraud.

#### Eligibility and Types of Awards

Certain of our officers, key employees, non-employee directors and consultants are eligible to be granted cash awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, deferred stock, dividend equivalent rights and other stock-based awards and performance based awards under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan. Eligibility for awards under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan will be determined by our compensation committee. No new award may be granted under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan after the 10th anniversary of the date that such plan is initially approved by our stockholders.

#### Available Shares

Subject to adjustment upon certain corporate transactions or events, the total number of shares of our common stock subject to awards of stock options, shares of restricted stock, deferred stock awards, other stock-based awards and dividend equivalent rights under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan may not exceed 14,000,000. Subject to potential adjustments upon the occurrence of certain corporate transactions or events, award grants will be subject to the following limitations: (1) the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to stock options or stock appreciation rights that can be awarded under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan to any person eligible for an award is 3,500,000 per calendar year; and (2) the maximum number of shares of common stock that can be awarded in an award under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, other than pursuant to stock options or stock appreciation rights, to any person eligible for an award is 1,000,000 per calendar year. If a share, option or other equity award granted under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan expires or terminates, the shares subject to any portion of the award that expires or terminates without having been exercised or paid, as the case may be, will again become available for the issuance of additional awards.

#### Awards Under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan

#### Stock Options

The terms of specific options, including whether options will constitute incentive stock options for purposes of Section 422(b) of the Code, will be determined by our compensation committee. The exercise price of an option will be determined by our compensation committee and reflected in the applicable award agreement. Incentive stock options will only be granted to our key employees or a subsidiary corporation within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code. The exercise price with respect to incentive stock options may not be less than 100% (or 110% in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% stockholder) of the fair market value of our shares of common stock on the date of grant. Each stock option will be exercisable after the period or periods specified in the award agreement, which will not exceed 10 years from the date of grant (or 5 years from the date of grant in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% stockholder). Options will be exercisable at such times and subject to such terms as determined by our compensation committee. If the aggregate fair market value of all shares of common stock subject to a grantee s incentive stock option which are exercisable for the first time during any calendar year exceeds \$100,000, the excess options shall be treated as nonqualified options.

#### Stock Appreciation Rights

Subject to the requirements of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, our compensation committee may grant stock appreciation rights in tandem with a stock option or alone and unrelated to a stock option. Stock appreciation rights may be exercised by the delivery to us of a written notice of exercise. The exercise of a stock appreciation right will entitle the grantee to receive shares of common stock having a value equal to the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of exercise over the exercise price of the stock appreciation right. The exercise price of a stock appreciation right will be no less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. In its sole discretion, our compensation committee may settle the stock appreciation rights in a combination of shares of common stock and cash, or exclusively with cash.

#### **Restricted Stock**

A restricted stock award is an award of shares of common stock that is subject to restrictions on transferability and such other restrictions, if any, as our compensation committee may impose at the date of grant. Grants of restricted stock will be subject to vesting schedules as determined by our compensation committee. The restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances, including, without limitation, a specified period of employment or the satisfaction of pre-established criteria, in such installments or otherwise, as our compensation committee may determine. Except to the extent restricted under the award agreement relating to the restricted stock, a participant granted restricted stock has all of the rights of a stockholder, including, without limitation, the right to vote and the right to receive cash dividends on the restricted stock. Although dividends are paid on all restricted stock, whether or not vested, at the same rate and on the same date as our shares of common stock, such dividends will be held by us and not distributed to participants until the applicable restrictions lapse. Holders of restricted stock are prohibited from selling such shares with certain limited exceptions as provided under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

#### **Deferred Stock Awards**

A deferred stock award is an award of phantom stock units subject to restrictions and conditions as our compensation committee may determine at the time of the grant. The granting of deferred stock will be contingent on the execution of a deferred stock agreement by the grantee. The terms of such agreements will be determined by our compensation committee and may differ among awards and grantees. A phantom stock unit represents a right to receive the fair market value of a share of our common stock or, if provided by our compensation committee may, in its discretion and under certain circumstances, permit a participant to receive as settlement of the phantom stock units, installments over a period not to exceed 10 years. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement, or pursuant to a permissible election, the settlement date with respect to a phantom stock unit generally is the first day of the month to follow the date on which the phantom stock unit vests. During the deferral period, a grantee shall have no rights as a stockholder; however, the grantee may be granted dividend equivalent rights (as described below).

#### Other Stock-Based Awards

Our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan authorizes the granting of other awards based upon (1) the shares of common stock (including the grant of securities convertible into shares of common stock and stock appreciation rights), and subject to terms and conditions established at the time of grant, (2) equity interests in one of our subsidiaries or Wells OP, (3) awards valued by reference to book value, fair value or performance parameters relative to us or any subsidiary or group of subsidiaries, including Wells OP, and (4) any class of profits interest or limited liability company interest created or issued that qualifies as a profits interest within the meaning of IRS Revenue Procedure 93-27. Our compensation committee will determine the specific terms of such awards and the conditions, if any, which will need to be satisfied before the grant will be effective and the conditions, if any, under which the grantee s interest in the other awards will be forfeited. Our compensation committee may also award dividend equivalent rights under these awards.

#### Dividend Equivalent Rights

A dividend equivalent right is an award entitling the grantee credits based on the amount of cash dividends declared on shares of common stock specified in the dividend equivalent right (or other award to which it relates) in the same manner as if such shares had been issued to and held by the grantee. Our compensation committee may provide that amounts payable with respect to dividend equivalents will be converted into cash or additional shares of common stock. Our compensation committee will establish all other limitations and conditions of awards of dividend equivalents as it deems appropriate.

## **Performance Goals**

Our compensation committee may, in its discretion, in the case of awards intended to qualify for an exception from the limitation imposed by Section 162(m) of the Code or otherwise, establish one or more performance goals as a precondition to the issuance or vesting of awards, and provide, in connection with the establishment of the performance goals, for predetermined awards to those participants with respect to whom the applicable performance goals are satisfied. The performance goals will be based upon one or more of the following criteria, any of which may be measured either in absolute terms or as compared to any incremental increase or as compared to results of a peer group and any of which may be measured on an aggregate or per share basis: earnings before any one or more of the following items: interest, taxes, depreciation or amortization for the applicable period, as reflected in our financial reports for the applicable period; net income either before or after interest, taxes, depreciation and/or amortization; changes (or the absence of changes) in the per share or aggregate market price of our common stock; economic value-added; FFO or similar measure; sales or revenues; acquisitions or strategic transactions; operating income; cash flow; return on capital, assets, equity or investment; total return to stockholders; various non-GAAP financial measures customarily used in evaluating the performance of REITs; return on sales; gross or net profit levels; productivity; expense levels or management; margins; operating efficiency; customer tenant satisfaction; working capital; earnings per share of stock; revenue or earnings growth; number of securities sold; our ranking against selected peer groups; same store performance from period to period; leasing or occupancy rates; objectively determinable capital deployment; objectively determinable expense management; sales or market shares; number of customers; and establishment of a trading market for our stock. Performance goals are to be established no later than 90 days after the beginning of any applicable performance cycle or at such other date as may be required or permitted for performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code. In the discretion of the compensation committee, settlement of performance awards shall be in cash, common stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights, deferred stock awards, restricted stock awards, other stock-based awards, dividend equivalent rights, or property. Subject to potential adjustments upon the occurrence of certain corporate transactions or events, the maximum value that any grantee may receive with respect to any fiscal year included in the applicable performance period shall be \$10 million.

#### Adjustments in General; Certain Change-in-Control Provisions

In the event of certain corporate reorganizations or other events, our compensation committee will generally make certain adjustments in its discretion to the manner in which the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan operates (including, for example, to the number of shares available under the Plan), and may otherwise take actions which, in its judgment, are necessary to preserve the rights of Plan participants.

#### Adjustment upon Changes in Capitalization

In the event of any reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, or similar change in the shares of our common stock or our other securities, as determined by our compensation committee, pursuant to which outstanding shares of common stock are increased, decreased or exchanged for a different kind or number of securities, our compensation committee shall make an appropriate or proportionate adjustment in (1) the maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, (2) the maximum number of stock options or stock appreciation rights that can be granted to any one individual grantee and the maximum

number of shares that can be granted under a performance based award, (3) the number and kind of shares or other securities subject to any then outstanding awards under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, (4) the repurchase price, if any, per share subject to each outstanding restricted stock award, and (5) the price for each share subject to any then outstanding stock options and stock appreciation rights under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, without changing the aggregate exercise price as to which such stock options and stock appreciation rights remain exercisable. Our compensation committee may also adjust the number of shares subject to outstanding awards and the exercise price and the terms of outstanding awards to take into consideration extraordinary dividends, acquisitions or dispositions of stock or property or any other similar corporate event to the extent necessary to avoid a material distortion in the value of the awards.

#### Change in Control or Merger

In the event of certain mergers, consolidations, the sale of substantially all of our assets, our reorganization or a liquidation, or change of control as defined in the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, our compensation committee may, in lieu of making the adjustments described above, provide that all outstanding awards shall terminate as of consummation of such event, and (1) accelerate the exercisability of, or cause all vesting restrictions to lapse on, all outstanding awards to a date that is at least ten days but no earlier than 60 days prior to such date, and/or (2) provide that holders of awards will receive a payment in respect of cancellation of their awards based on the amount of the per share consideration being paid for our common stock in connection with such event, subject to various restrictions and other determinations of value.

#### **Amendment and Termination**

Our Board may at any time amend or terminate the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan; however, we must obtain stockholder approval of any amendment to the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan (other than amendments that curtail the scope of the plan) that would materially amend the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, including any amendment that would:

increase the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan;

expand the types of awards available under, materially expand the eligibility to participate in, or materially extend the term of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan; or

materially change the method of determining the fair market value of shares on the date of grant of an option or stock appreciation right.

The compensation committee may at any time amend or cancel any previously granted award under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan for the purpose of satisfying changes in law or for any other lawful purpose, but no such action may adversely affect the rights under an previously granted award without the consent of the grantee. Notwithstanding the above, any amendment to an award or other action by the compensation committee that constitutes the repricing of the exercise price or base value of an option, stock appreciation right, or any other award granted under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan will be subject to the approval of our stockholders.

If adopted by our stockholders, the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan shall terminate ten years after the effective date of the plan. Any awards outstanding under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan at the time of its termination shall remain outstanding until they expire by their terms.

#### **Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences**

The following discussion is not intended or written to be used, and cannot be used by any person, for the purpose of avoiding U.S. federal income tax penalties, and was written to support the promotion or marketing (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service Circular 230) of the Plan.

#### Non-Qualified Stock Options

No income will be recognized by an option holder at the time a non-qualified stock option is granted. At the time a non-qualified stock option is exercised, however, ordinary income will generally be recognized by an option holder in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the exercise date over the exercise price of the option. We will generally be entitled to a deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes in the same amount as the amount included in ordinary income by the option holder with respect to his or her non-qualified stock option. Gain or loss on a subsequent sale or other disposition of the shares acquired upon the exercise of a non-qualified stock option will be measured by the difference between the amount realized on the disposition and the tax basis of such shares, and will generally be long-term or short-term capital gain depending on the holding period involved. The tax basis of the shares acquired upon the exercise of any non-qualified stock option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that exercise of the option is permitted other than pursuant to a cash payment of the exercise price, various special tax rules may apply.

#### **Incentive Stock Options**

In general, neither the grant nor the exercise of an incentive stock option will result in taxable income to an option holder or a deduction for us. To receive this tax treatment, however, shares acquired upon the exercise of an incentive stock option, must not be disposed of within two years after the incentive stock option is granted nor within one year after the transfer of the shares to the option holder pursuant to his or her exercise of the option. In addition, the option holder must be an employee of us or a qualified subsidiary at all times between the date of grant and the date which is three months (one year in the case of disability) before exercise of the option. (Special rules apply in the case of the death of the option holder.) Incentive stock option treatment under the Code generally allows the sale of our shares of common stock received upon the exercise of an incentive stock option to result in any gain being treated as a capital gain to the option holder, and we will not be entitled to a tax deduction. The exercise of an incentive stock option (if the holding period rules described in this paragraph are satisfied), however, will give rise to income includable by the option holder in his or her alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the alternative minimum tax in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the stock acquired on the date of the exercise of the option over the exercise price.

If the holding period rules noted above are not satisfied, gain recognized on the disposition of the shares acquired upon the exercise of an incentive stock option will be characterized as ordinary income. This gain will be equal to the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the shares at the time of exercise. (Special rules may apply to disqualifying dispositions where the amount realized is less than the value at exercise.) We would generally then be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount of such gain included by an option holder as ordinary income. Any excess realized upon such a disposition over the fair market value at the date of exercise will generally be long-term or short-term capital gain depending on the holding period involved. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that exercise of the option is permitted other than pursuant to a cash payment of the exercise price, various special tax rules may apply.

#### **Restricted Stock**

Unless a holder of restricted stock makes an 83(b) election (as discussed below), there generally will be no tax consequences as a result of a grant of restricted stock until the restricted stock is either no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or is transferable (free of the risk). Dividends paid on unvested shares, if retained by the grantee, will generally be treated as compensation income for U.S. federal income tax purposes (unless an 83(b) election has been made, as discussed below). Generally, when the restrictions are lifted, the holder will recognize ordinary income, and we will be entitled to a deduction, equal to the difference between the fair market value of the stock at that time and the amount, if any, paid by the holder for the restricted stock. Subsequently realized changes in the value of the stock generally will be treated as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the length of time the shares are held prior to disposition of the shares. In general terms, if a holder makes an 83(b) election (under Section 83(b) of the Code) upon the award of restricted stock, the holder will recognize ordinary income on the date of the award of restricted

stock, and we will be entitled to a deduction, equal to (1) the fair market value of the restricted stock as though the stock were (A) not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or (B) not transferable, minus (2) the amount, if any, paid for the restricted stock. If an 83(b) election is made, there will generally be no tax consequences to the holder upon the lifting of restrictions, and all subsequent appreciation in the restricted stock generally would be eligible for capital gains treatment. In the event of a forfeiture after an 83(b) election is made, no deduction or loss will be available, other than with respect to amounts actually paid for the stock.

#### Dividend Equivalents

There generally will be no tax consequences as a result of the award of a dividend equivalent. When payment is made, the holder of the dividend equivalent generally will recognize ordinary income, and we will be entitled to a deduction, equal to the amount received in respect of the dividend equivalent.

#### **Other Tax Consequences**

Section 162(m) of the Code contains special rules regarding the federal income tax deductibility of compensation paid to our chief executive officer and to each of our other four most highly compensated executive officers. The general rule is that annual compensation paid to any of these specified executives will be deductible only to the extent that it does not exceed \$1,000,000. The 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan includes provisions that may permit certain types of awards to qualify for exceptions to the compensation deduction limit.

The foregoing is only a summary of the effect of federal income taxation on the grantee and us with respect to the grant and exercise of awards made under the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, does not purport to be complete, and does not discuss the tax consequences of the grantee s death or the income tax laws of any municipality, state or foreign country in which a grantee may reside.

#### No Appraisal Rights in Connection with the Incentive Plan Proposal

Under Maryland law stockholders will not have appraisal rights in connection with the Incentive Plan Proposal.

#### **Vote Required**

Approval of the Incentive Plan Proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock represented in person or by proxy at the Special Meeting and actually voted on the matter (a majority of votes cast), so long as the total votes cast represents at least 50% of the shares entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Proxies received will be voted for approval of this proposal unless stockholders designate otherwise.

# Our Board has determined it to be advisable and in the best interests of us and our stockholders to approve the Incentive Plan Proposal. Our Board unanimously approved the form of the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan and recommends that you vote FOR the Incentive Plan Proposal.

#### Consequences of Failure to Approve the Incentive Plan Proposal

If the Incentive Plan Proposal is not approved by our stockholders, it could materially adversely affect us because we could be deprived of the services of our senior management and the ability to provide the incentives necessary to attract qualified replacements and other personnel.

#### **Compensation of Our Executive Officers and Directors**

#### Compensation of Our Executive Officers

Prior to February 2, 2007, none of our executive officers received any compensation directly from us for services rendered to us and, accordingly, no compensation had been awarded to, earned by, or paid to any of our executive officers prior to February 2, 2007. Except for Donald A. Miller, CFA, who was hired as our Chief Executive Officer and President on February 2, 2007, our executive officers are also officers of Wells Capital and its affiliates and have been compensated by these entities, in part, for certain services previously provided to us under our existing advisory and management agreements. Please see the discussion of our relationship with these entities and the services provided under our existing advisory and management agreements under Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Our Company; and Our Existing Advisory and Property Management Agreements. Effective February 2, 2007, Donald A. Miller, CFA, was hired as our Chief Executive Officer and President and, from and after that date, will be compensated by us. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Employment Agreements.

#### **Compensation Committee**

During 2006, the members of our compensation committee were Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter, William H. Keogler, Jr., Donald S. Moss, and Neil H. Strickland, all of whom are Independent Directors. The primary function of our compensation committee has historically been to administer the granting of stock options to selected employees of Wells Capital and Wells Management, our current external advisors, based upon recommendations from management of these entities, and to set the terms and conditions of such options in accordance with our 2000 employee stock option plan; however, no employee stock options have ever been issued under our 2000 employee stock option plan. During 2006, our compensation committee did not hold any meetings, and no stock options were issued under our 2000 employee stock option plan. We currently anticipate that, if the 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan is approved by our stockholders and adopted by our Board, our Board will terminate our 2000 employee stock option plan, which covers only employees of Wells Capital and Wells Management and, accordingly, will no longer be necessary.

Prior to January 22, 2007, the Special Committee, with the advice of its legal counsel and employment compensation consultant, conducted the initial negotiations of the terms of the employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA,. On January 22, 2007, our Board reconstituted our compensation committee and appointed Bud Carter, William H. Keogler, Jr., Donald S. Moss and Neil H. Strickland, all of whom are Independent Directors, as our new compensation committee. The primary responsibilities of our compensation committee will be to (1) review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, evaluate the Chief Executive Officer s performance in light of those goals and objectives and, either as a committee or together with the other Independent Directors, determine and approve the Chief Executive Officer s compensation; (2) make recommendations to our Board with respect to the compensation of other executive officers, and incentive-compensation and equity-based plans and awards to our executive officers and other employees; (3) administer our 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, in the event such plan is approved by our stockholders, and (4) prepare a compensation committee report on executive officer compensation as required by applicable SEC or stock exchange rules to be included in our annual proxy statement or annual report on Form 10-K. Following January 22, 2007, our Gommensation committee completed the negotiations of the employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, and recommended to our Board that we enter into the employment agreement with Mr. Miller. On February 2, 2007, the employment agreement with Donald A. Miller, CFA, was finalized, was approved by our Board, was executed by the parties and became effective. See Proposal I The Internalization Proposal Description of the Internalization Transaction Employment Agreements. Our compensation committee does not currently have a written charter.

#### **Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation**

For a description of the Compensation Committee Interlocks, see Certain Relationships with our Independent Directors immediately below.

#### Certain Relationships with our Independent Directors

The following Independent Directors of Wells REIT also serve as independent directors of Wells REIT II: Richard W. Carpenter, Bud Carter, Donald S. Moss, Neil H. Strickland, and W. Wayne Woody. Mr. Moss also serves as an independent director of Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. Further, all of our Independent Directors serve as trustees of the Wells Family of Real Estate Funds, an open-end management company organized as an Ohio business trust, which includes as one of its series the Wells S&P REIT Index Fund.

In addition, Mr. Carter serves as a chairman for TEC International, an organization designed to aid corporate executives in the sharing of ideas on ways to improve the management and profitability of their respective companies. As a chairman, Mr. Carter facilitates monthly meetings for groups of executives and meets individually with each member of the group on a monthly basis. Four executives of Wells REF and its affiliates, including Messrs. Wells and Fretz, are members in groups chaired by Mr. Carter. While Mr. Carter has no equity interest in TEC International, he is compensated by TEC International for such services. Wells Capital paid TEC International fees of approximately \$11,400, \$21,000 and \$37,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

#### **Compensation of Our Directors**

				O	ption				
Name	or	es Earned Paid in h in 2006 (\$) (1)	Stock Awards in 2006 (\$)	in	vards 2006 (\$)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation in 2006 (\$)	Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings	All Other 2006 Compensation (\$) (4)	otal 2006 ipensation (\$)
Leo F. Wells, III		None	None		None	None	None	None	\$ 0
Douglas P. Williams		None	None	]	None	None	None	None	\$ 0
Michael R. Buchanan	\$	73,500(5)	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 73,500(5)
Richard W. Carpenter	\$	70,500(5)	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 70,500(5)
Bud Carter	\$	53,500	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 53,500
William H. Keogler, Jr.	\$	79,000(5)	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 79,000(5)
Donald S. Moss	\$	66,000	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 66,000
Neil H. Strickland	\$	60,750	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 60,750
W. Wayne Woody	\$	93,000(5)	None	\$	0	None	None	None	\$ 93,000(5)

(1) We pay each of our Independent Directors an annual retainer of \$18,000 (increased from \$12,000 on July 1, 2006), \$2,500 per regularly scheduled board meeting attended, \$1,500 per regularly scheduled committee meeting attended, including the meetings of the Special Committee (committee chairpersons receive an additional \$500 per committee meeting for serving in that capacity), and \$250 per special board meeting attended whether held in person or by telephone conference. Members of our audit committee are paid \$2,500 per meeting attended for each of the four meetings necessary to review our quarterly and annual financial statements. If one of our directors is also an officer, we do not pay separate compensation for services rendered as a director. All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of the board of directors.

- (2) In 2006, Messrs. Buchanan and Woody received options to purchase up to 1,500 shares of our common stock and Messrs. Carpenter, Carter, Keogler, Moss and Strickland received options to purchase up to 1,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to our Independent Director Stock Option Plan (described below). Further, in 2006, Mr. Carter received warrants to purchase up to 53 shares of our common stock, Mr. Moss received warrants to purchase up to 209 shares of our common stock, and Mr. Strickland received warrants to purchase up to 4 shares of our common stock pursuant to our Independent Director Warrant Plan (described below). The aggregate grant date fair value of these option awards and warrants determined in accordance with FAS 123R was determined to be zero.
- (3) As of December 31, 2006, Mr. Buchanan held, in the aggregate, options to purchase up to 4,500 shares of our common stock; Mr. Woody held, in the aggregate, options to purchase up to 3,000 shares of our common stock; and Messrs. Carpenter, Carter, Keogler, Moss and Strickland held, in the aggregate, options to purchase up to 7,500 shares of our common stock pursuant to our Independent Director Stock Option Plan (described below). Further, as of December 31, 2006, Mr. Carter held, in the aggregate, warrants to purchase up to 787 shares of our common stock; Mr. Moss held, in the aggregate, warrants to purchase up to 3,619 shares of our common stock; and Mr. Strickland held, in the aggregate, warrants to purchase up to 53 shares of our common stock pursuant to our Independent Director Warrant Plan (described below).
- (4) During 2006, none of our directors received additional compensation required to be disclosed under this column.
- (5) Includes \$20,000 for Mr. Buchanan, \$18,500 for Mr. Carpenter, \$17,000 for Mr. Keogler, and \$27,500 for Mr. Woody for attendance at meetings of the Special Committee.

## Independent Director Stock Option Plan

We have reserved 100,000 shares of common stock for future issuance upon the exercise of stock options granted to the Independent Directors pursuant to our Independent Director Stock Option Plan (Independent Director Option Plan) which was approved by our stockholders at the annual stockholders meeting held on June 16, 1999. We have issued non-qualified stock options to purchase 2,500 shares (Initial Options) to each of our Independent Director spursuant to our Independent Director Option Plan. In addition, we issued options to purchase 1,000 shares to each Independent Director then in office in connection with the 2000 through 2005 annual meetings of stockholders and will continue to issue options to purchase 1,000 shares (Subsequent Options) to each independent director then in office on the date of each of our annual stockholders meetings. The Initial Options and the Subsequent Options are collectively referred to as the Independent Director Options. Independent Director Options may not be granted at any time when the grant, along with grants to other Independent Directors, would exceed 10% of our issued and outstanding shares.

The exercise price for the Initial Options is currently \$12.00 per share. The exercise price for the Subsequent Options is currently the greater of (1) \$12.00 per share or (2) the fair market value of the shares on the date they are granted. One-fifth of the Initial Options became exercisable beginning on the date of grant, and one-fifth of the Initial Options become exercisable on each anniversary of the date of grant such that all Initial Options become exercisable on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant. Subsequent Options granted under the Independent Director Option Plan become exercisable on the second anniversary of the date of grant.

If the number of outstanding shares is changed into a different number or kind of shares or securities through a reorganization or merger in which we are the surviving entity, or through a combination, recapitalization or otherwise, an appropriate adjustment will be made in the number and kind of shares that may be issued pursuant to exercise of the Independent Director Options. A corresponding adjustment to the exercise price of the Independent Director Options granted prior to any change will also be made. Any such adjustment, however, will not change the total payment, if any, applicable to the portion of the Independent Director Options not exercised, but will change only the exercise price for each share.

#### Independent Director Warrant Plan

We have reserved 500,000 shares for future issuance upon the exercise of warrants to be granted to the Independent Directors pursuant to our Independent Director Warrant Plan (Independent Director Warrant Plan) which was approved by our stockholders at the annual stockholders meeting held on June 28, 2000. Our Independent Director Warrant Plan provides for the issuance of warrants to purchase shares of our common stock (Warrants) to our Independent Directors based on the number of shares of common stock that they purchase. The purpose of the Independent Director Warrant Plan and continuing until the earlier to occur of (1) the termination of the Independent Director Warrant Plan and continuing until the earlier to occur of (1) the termination of the Independent Director warrant Plan by action of the board of directors or otherwise, or (2) 5:00 p.m. EST on the date of listing of our shares on a national securities exchange, each independent director will receive one Warrant for every 25 shares of common stock he purchases. The exercise price for the Warrants is currently \$12.00 per share.

#### **Equity Compensation Plan Information**

We have reserved 750,000 shares of common stock for issuance under our 2000 employee stock option plan, 100,000 shares of common stock under the Independent Director Stock Option Plan, and 500,000 shares of common stock under the Independent Director Warrant Plan. The following table provides summary information about securities issuable under our equity compensation plans, as of December 31, 2006.

				Number of securities remaining
				available for future issuance
	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options,	price of outs war	average exercise standing options, rants and	under equity
Plan category	warrants and rights	1	rights	compensation plans
Equity compensation plans approved by				
security holders	63,959	\$	12.00	1,286,041
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders				
Total	63,959	\$	12.00	1,286,041

#### **Ownership of Shares By Directors and Executive Officers**

As of December 31, 2006, our current directors and executive officers beneficially owned the following shares:

Name of Beneficial Owner	Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage
Leo F. Wells, III	3.447	r ei centage
,	- / -	*
Donald A. Miller	12,717	
Douglas P. Williams	1,124	*
Randall D. Fretz	8,470	*
Michael R. Buchanan (1)	4,500	*
Richard W. Carpenter (2)	7,500	*
Bud Carter (2) (5)	27,950	*
William H. Keogler, Jr. (2)	7,500	*
Donald S. Moss (2) (6)	113,041	*
Neil H. Strickland (2) (7)	8,882	*
W. Wayne Woody (3)	3,000	*

	Shares	
	Beneficially	
<b>Name of Beneficial Owner</b> All officers and directors as a group (4) (8)	<b>Owned</b> 198,131	Percentage *

\* Less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.

(1) Includes options to purchase up to 4,500 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 7,500 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

(3) Includes options to purchase up to 3,000 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

- (4) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of up to 45,000 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (5) Includes warrants to purchase up to 787 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.
- (6) Includes warrants to purchase up to 3,619 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

(7) Includes warrants to purchase up to 53 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

(8) Includes warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 4,459 shares of common stock, which are exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2006.

#### **Outstanding Soliciting Dealer Warrants**

Pursuant to the terms of the fourth public offering of shares of our common stock which commenced on July 26, 2002, for every 50 shares of common stock sold to the public or issued to stockholders pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan during the fourth offering period, we, through our dealer manager, awarded one soliciting dealer warrant to the broker-dealers who sold our common stock in our fourth offering. Under the terms of such warrants, the holder of a soliciting dealer warrant is entitled to purchase one share of our common stock at a price of \$12 per share during the period beginning on the first anniversary date of the effective date of the offering (July 26, 2003), and ending five years after the effective date of the fourth offering, which is July 26, 2007. As of December 31, 2006, there were a total of 5,860,964 issued and outstanding soliciting dealer warrants.

#### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### BUSINESS

#### General

Wells REIT is a Maryland corporation formed on July 3, 1997, which commenced active operations on June 5, 1998 and which qualifies as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Substantially all of our business is conducted through Wells OP, a Delaware limited partnership, or subsidiaries of Wells OP. Wells REIT is the sole general partner and Wells Capital is the sole limited partner of Wells OP. Wells OP owns properties directly, through wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with unaffiliated parties, and through certain joint ventures with real estate limited partnerships sponsored by Wells Capital. We have a controlling interest in the unaffiliated joint ventures and, accordingly, consolidate the accounts of these entities. Conversely, we do not have a controlling interest in the joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital and, accordingly, do not consolidate the accounts of these entities.

We engage in the acquisition and ownership of commercial real estate properties, including properties that are under construction, newly constructed, or have operating histories. Our portfolio consists primarily of high-grade office and industrial buildings leased to large corporate tenants located throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2006, all properties currently owned by us were office buildings, warehouses, and manufacturing facilities or some combination thereof; however, we are not limited to such investments.

Our stock is not listed on a national exchange. However, our articles of incorporation currently require that we begin the process of liquidating our investments and distributing the resulting proceeds to our stockholders if our common stock is not listed on a national exchange or over-the-counter market by January 30, 2008. This provision of our articles can only be amended by a vote of our stockholders.

#### **Real Estate Investment Objectives**

Our primary investment objectives are to maximize cash dividends paid to our investors; to preserve, protect, and return our investors capital contributions; and to realize growth in the value of our properties upon our ultimate sale of such properties or from a listing of our common stock on a national exchange or over-the-counter market.

In determining the appropriateness of an investment in real estate, we consider the creditworthiness of the tenants, the location of the property, its appropriateness for any development contemplated or in progress, its income-producing capacity, the prospects for long-range appreciation, and liquidity and tax considerations. We also consider the impact of the acquisition on our portfolio as a whole with regard to diversification by geography, tenants, industry group of tenants, and timing of lease expirations.

We have developed specific standards for determining creditworthiness of tenants of buildings being considered for acquisition or at the time of signing a new lease at an existing building. Creditworthy tenants of the type we target have become more highly valued in the marketplace and, consequently, there is increased competition for acquiring properties leased to such creditworthy tenants. As a result, the purchase prices for properties have increased and capitalization rates ( cap rates ), or first-year returns on real estate investments, have declined. We remain committed to invest in quality properties that will produce quality income.

Our investment philosophy emphasizes diversification of our portfolio for geographic locations, tenants, industry group of tenants, and timing of lease expirations. Prior to acquisition, we perform an assessment to ensure that our portfolio is diversified with regard to these criteria to minimize the impact on our portfolio of significant factors affecting a single geographic area, type of property or industry group of tenants. Additionally, we analyze annual lease expirations

in an attempt to minimize the impact on the cash flows from operations of the portfolio as a whole for properties that may be vacant until re-leased.

We anticipate that in future periods we will continue to acquire additional properties which meet our investment objectives with regard to quality and dispose of certain properties in order to continue to position the portfolio at an acceptable range of diversification; however, the number and mix of properties we acquire will largely depend upon the real estate and market conditions and other circumstances existing at the time we acquire the properties. We anticipate that future funds for acquisitions may come from a variety of sources, including operating cash flow, investor proceeds received from the sale of common stock pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan, net proceeds from property dispositions, future equity and debt offerings and additional borrowings.

Generally, we are responsible for the replacement of specific structural components of a property such as the roof of the building or the parking lot. However, the majority of our leases include reimbursement provisions that require the tenant to pay, as additional rent, all or a portion of real estate taxes; sales and use taxes; special assessments; utilities; insurance; building repairs; and other building operation and management costs. Such reimbursement provisions mitigate the risks related to rising costs. Upon the expiration of leases at our properties, our objective is to negotiate leases that contain similar reimbursement provisions; however, the conditions in each of our markets could dictate different outcomes and may result in less favorable reimbursement provisions.

#### **Financing Objectives**

To date, we have financed our acquisitions through a combination of equity raised in our public offerings and debt incurred or assumed upon the acquisition of certain properties. We anticipate that future acquisitions will be funded primarily through existing or future debt arrangements, proceeds we raise pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan, and net proceeds we receive from the sale of existing properties. In addition, we have obtained certain long-term debt facilities which were used to fund the accumulated redemption requests pursuant to our share redemption program. As of December 31, 2006, our debt leverage ratio (the ratio of our outstanding debt to the aggregate cost of our real estate assets) was approximately 26.9%.

#### **Operating Objectives**

As our initial capital raising and acquisition phase is complete, we are currently focusing primarily on the operational performance of the portfolio. In connection therewith, we will continue to focus on a number of key operating initiatives, including the following:

Negotiating strategic renewals or lease extensions that expire in either the next few years or at times in which we believe it is important to make adjustments to our lease expiration exposure;

Ensuring that we enter into leases at market terms, upon lease expiration or with regard to currently vacant space at our properties, in order to maximize returns on our properties as permitted by the market;

Considering appropriate actions for future lease expirations to ensure that we can position the property appropriately to retain the existing tenants or negotiate lease amendments now, which will lengthen the term of the lease, resulting in the receipt of increased rents over the long term as allowed by the market;

Controlling operating expenses as a percentage of revenues as we attempt to take advantage of certain economies of scale; and

Evaluating selective property dispositions that will improve the overall quality and economic performance of our portfolio over the long term.

## Employees

We currently have no direct employees. Under the terms of various agreements, the Advisor and its affiliates invoice us for the services provided to us by their employees based on estimates of the time spent to perform a variety of services outlined in such agreements. These expenses are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. These expenses, after reduction for amounts reimbursed by tenants, totaled approximately \$6.7 million, \$7.8 million, \$8.4 million, and \$3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

## Insurance

We believe that our properties are adequately insured.

#### Competition

As the leasing of real estate is highly competitive, we will experience competition for tenants from owners and managers of competing projects. As a result, we may be required to provide rent concessions, incur charges for tenant improvements and other inducements, or we may not be able to timely lease vacant space, all of which would adversely impact our results of operations. At the time we elect to acquire additional properties, we will compete with other buyers who are interested in the property, which may result in an increase in the amount that we pay for the property or may result in us ultimately not being able to acquire the property. At the time we elect to dispose of one or more of our properties, we will be in competition with sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchasers for properties, which may result in us receiving lower proceeds from the disposal or which may result in us not being able to dispose of the property due to the lack of an acceptable return.

## **Litigation Against Related Parties**

During early 2004, a putative class action complaint was filed against, among others, Leo. F. Wells, III, the President and a director of Wells REIT, Wells Capital, and Wells Management (Hendry et al. v. Leo F. Wells, III et al., Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia, Civil Action No. 04-A-2791-2). The Court granted the plaintiffs motion to permit voluntary dismissal of this suit, and the case was subsequently dismissed without prejudice. In November 2004, the same plaintiffs filed a second putative class action complaint against, among others, Mr. Wells, Wells Capital, and Wells Management (Hendry et al. v. Leo F. Wells, III et al., Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia Civil Action No. 04A-13051-6). The second action alleges, among other things, that: (1) Mr. Wells and Wells Capital breached their fiduciary duties to the limited partners of Wells Real Estate Fund I (Fund I), a previously syndicated real estate partnership sponsored by Wells Capital and Mr. Wells, in connection with certain disclosures and prior actions relating to the distribution of net sale proceeds, (2) the defendants breached an alleged contract arising out of a June 2000 consent solicitation to the limited partners of Fund I relating to an alleged waiver of deferred management fees, and (3) certain misrepresentations and omissions in an April 2002 consent solicitation to the limited partners of Fund I caused that consent solicitation to be materially misleading. The plaintiffs seek, among other remedies, judgment against Mr. Wells and Wells Capital, jointly and severally, in an amount to be proven at trial; punitive damages; disgorgement of fees earned by the general partners of Fund I; enforcement of the alleged contract relating to the alleged waiver of deferred management fees; and an award to the plaintiffs of their attorneys fees, costs, and expenses. On January 28, 2005, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment and motions to dismiss the plaintiffs claims. Pursuant to orders entered July 1, 2005, the Court granted the defendants motions to dismiss and for summary judgment on all counts in the complaint. Thus, this action has now been dismissed, subject to the plaintiffs right to file a notice of appeal within the required time period. On August 3, 2005, the plaintiffs filed a motion requesting the Court to vacate and re-enter the orders to give the plaintiffs an opportunity to file a motion for reconsideration or notice of appeal. On February 15, 2006, the Court heard argument on the plaintiffs motion to vacate and to re-enter the judgments previously entered on July 1, 2005. On April 20, 2006, the Court held a hearing addressing only the liability aspects on the defendants and plaintiffs motions for attorneys fees and expenses. By Orders entered May 24, 2006, the Court denied the plaintiffs and the defendants motions to recover attorneys fees and expenses of litigation. Also by Orders entered May 24, 2006, the Court re-entered its July 1, 2005 judgments granting the defendants motions to dismiss and for summary judgment on all counts in the complaint, so as to allow the plaintiffs 30 days within which to file a notice of appeal. On or about June 21, 2006, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal with respect to the Court s Order granting the defendants motions to dismiss and for summary judgment. On July 5, 2006, the defendants filed a notice of cross appeal with respect to the Court s Order denying the defendants motion for attorneys fees and expenses of litigation. On August 18, 2006, the appeal and cross appeal were docketed in the Georgia Court of Appeals. It is not known when the Court of Appeals will rule on the appeal and cross appeal.

## PROPERTIES

## Overview

As of December 31, 2005, we owned interests in 83 properties. Of these properties, 69 were wholly owned and three properties were owned through consolidated joint ventures. The remaining 11 properties were owned through joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital. All of these properties are included in our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005. The majority of assets are commercial office buildings located in 23 states and the District of Columbia.

As of December 31, 2006, we owned interests in 83 properties which were approximately 95% leased with an average lease term remaining of approximately 6.7 years.

#### **Property Statistics**

The tables below include statistics for properties that we own directly and through our consolidated joint ventures, as well as for our respective ownership interests in properties that we own through our unconsolidated joint ventures. The following table shows lease expirations of our portfolio as of December 31, 2006, during each of the next ten years and thereafter, assuming no exercise of renewal options or termination rights.

	Annualized Gross Base Rent		Rentable Square	Percentage of
			Feet Expiring	Annualized
Year of Lease Expiration	(in t	thousands)	(in thousands)	Gross Base Rent
Vacant	\$	3,119	1,168	5%
2007	\$	34,758	1,022	5%
2008	\$	22,376	797	4%
2009	\$	30,620	1,265	6%
2010	\$	64,555	2,680	12%
2011	\$	87,045	4,021	19%
2012	\$	70,367	2,220	10%
2013	\$	56,594	1,776	8%
2014	\$	30,240	1,118	5%
2015	\$	28,918	889	4%
2016	\$	20,463	944	4%
Thereafter	\$	93,368	3,560	17%
	\$	542,422	21,459	100%

The following table shows the geographic diversification of our portfolio as of December 31, 2006.

	2006 Annualized Gross Base Rents		Rentable	Percentage of
			Square Feet	2006 Annualized
Location	(in	thousands)	(in thousands)	Gross Base Rents
Chicago	\$	143,286	5,076	26%
Washington, D.C.	\$	81,654	2,169	15%
N. New Jersey	\$	49,163	2,039	9%
New York	\$	33,201	987	6%
Minneapolis	\$	30,023	1,230	6%
Boston	\$	25,412	587	5%
Dallas	\$	24,310	1,275	4%
Los Angeles	\$	23,138	679	4%
Detroit	\$	21,778	972	4%
Atlanta	\$	14,883	616	3%
Philadelphia	\$	13,055	761	2%
Nashville	\$	10,467	423	2%
Orange County	\$	10,385	451	2%
Other*	\$	61,669	4,195	11%
	\$	542,422	21,458,514	100%

\* None more than 2%.

The following table shows the tenant industry diversification of our portfolio as of December 31, 2006.

	2006	Annualized	Rentable	Percentage of
	Gross Base Rent		Square Feet	2006 Annualized
Industry	(in t	housands)	(in thousands)	Gross Base Rent
Business Services	\$	64,564	2,222	12%
Depository Institutions	\$	51,905	2,010	10%
Legal Services	\$	41,035	1,185	8%
Insurance Carriers	\$	32,615	1,405	6%

	2006 Annualized Gross Base Rent		Rentable	
			Square Feet	Percentage of 2006 Annualized
Industry	(in tl	housands)	(in thousands)	Gross Base Rent
Communication	\$	26,069	964	5%
Insurance Agents, Brokers, and Service	\$	25,976	891	5%
Nondepository Institutions	\$	22,899	1,022	4%
Administration of Economic Programs	\$	22,889	587	4%
Chemicals and Allied Products	\$	22,154	718	4%
Electronic & Other Electric Equipment	\$	21,678	1,203	4%
Food and Kindred Products	\$	17,705	505	3%

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

Finance, Taxation, & Monetary Policy Administration of Human Resources Environmental Quality and Housing Engineering & Management Services Other*	\$ \$ \$ \$	17,610 17,177 14,829 13,216 130,101	420 578 444 475 6,830	3% 3% 3% 2% 24%
	\$	542,422	21,459	100%

\* None more than 2%.

The following table shows the tenant diversification of our portfolio as of December 31, 2006.

	2006 Annualized	Percentage of
	Gross Base Rent	2006 Annualized
Location	(in thousands)	Gross Base Rent
BP Amoco	29,971	6%
Leo Burnett	26,367	5%
NASA	22,410	4%
US Bancorp	18,826	3%
Nestle	17,705	3%
Winston & Strawn	17,682	3%
Sanofi-Aventis	15,723	3%
OCC	14,773	3%
Kirkland & Ellis	14,443	3%
State of New York	14,030	3%
Independence Blue Cross	13,055	2%
Nokia	9,696	2%
Cingular	9,689	2%
Zurich	9,447	2%
Caterpillar Financial	9,114	2%
DDB Needham	8,932	2%
US National Park Service	8,630	2%
Lockheed Martin	8,202	2%
State Street Bank	8,088	1%
Department of Defense	7,157	1%
Other*	258,482	46%

542,422 100%

\* None more than 1%.

### **Certain Restrictions Related to our Properties**

Control of certain properties is limited to a certain extent because the properties are owned through joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital or others not otherwise affiliated with Wells Capital or us. Refer to the sections below discussing the joint ventures for restrictions related to the operations and other investment decisions.

In addition, certain of our properties are subject to ground leases, and certain properties are held as collateral for debt facilities. Please refer to Schedule III of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, which details properties subject to ground leases and held as collateral for debt facilities as of December 31, 2005.

### Unconsolidated Joint Ventures With Affiliates of Wells Capital

As of December 31, 2006, through our ownership in Wells OP, we own interests in certain properties through unconsolidated joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital as outlined below:

		Our Ownership	<b>Properties Held by</b>
Joint Venture	Joint Venture Partners	Percentage	Joint Venture
Fund XIII-REIT Joint Venture	Wells OP		ADIC Building
	Wells Real Estate Fund XIII, L.P.	72%	AIU Chicago Building
Fund XII-REIT Joint Venture	Wells OP		Siemens Building
	Wells Real Estate Fund XII, L.P.	55%	Comdata Building
Fund XI-XII-REIT Joint Venture	Wells OP		
	Wells Real Estate Fund XI, L.P.		111 Southchase Boulevard Building
	Wells Real Estate Fund XII, L.P.	57%	20/20 Building
Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Joint Venture	Wells OP		
	Wells Real Estate Fund IX, L.P.		360 Interlocken Building
	Wells Real Estate Fund X, L.P.		Avaya Building
	Wells Real Estate Fund XI, L.P.	4%	Iomega Building <sup>(1)</sup>
Wells/Fremont Associates Joint Venture	Wells OP		
	Fund X-XI Joint Venture	78%	47320 Kato Road Building

<sup>(1)</sup> On January 31, 2007, Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Joint Venture sold its interest in the Iomega Building for approximately \$4.9 million excluding closing costs. As a result of the sale, a gain of approximately \$7,000 was allocated to us.

Through Wells OP, we serve as the initial administrative venturer, as defined in the respective joint venture partnership agreements, for each of the above joint ventures. Accordingly, we are responsible for establishing policies and operating procedures with respect to the business and affairs of each of the above joint ventures. However, approval of the other joint venture partners is required for any major decision or any action that materially affects these joint ventures or their real property investments.

# Lines of Credit and Notes Payable

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had lines of credit and notes payable outstanding as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2006			nber 31, 2005
Secured Pooled Facility	\$	350,000	\$	350,000
Aon Center Chicago Mortgage Notes		225,000		200,000
\$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan		125,000		
Leo Burnett Building Mortgage Note		120,000		120,000
WDC Mortgage Note		115,167		115,167
\$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan		105,000		105,000
\$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan		45,000		45,000
Las Colinas Corporate Center Mortgage Note		42,525		
\$50.0 Million Secured Lined of Credit		38,000		
3100 Clarendon Boulevard Building Mortgage Note		34,502		35,110
One Brattle Square Building Mortgage Note		27,484		28,827
1075 West Entrance Building Mortgage Note		15,525		16,108
Merck Construction Loan				21,100

\$ 1,243,203 \$ 1,036,312

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

For additional information on our lines of credit, see Note 5 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements of Wells REIT for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and Note 5 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

### LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time a party to legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. We are not aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities. In addition, no legal proceedings were terminated during the fourth quarter of 2006.

### MARKET FOR WELLS REIT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

#### Overview

As of December 31, 2006, we had 465,856,546 million shares of common stock outstanding held by a total of approximately 109,000 stockholders. The number of stockholders is based on the records of Wells Capital, who serves as our registrar and transfer agent. Under our articles of incorporation, certain restrictions are imposed on the ownership and transfer of our shares.

We recently engaged an independent appraisal firm to perform a valuation of our properties as of September 30, 2006. As a result of this valuation, on January 3, 2007, our Board determined that the estimated net asset value of our shares of common stock, based primarily on the net asset value of our real estate portfolio, was \$8.93 per share. The \$8.93 estimated net asset value per share was provided by an independent third party which based its estimate upon (1) the appraised value of our real estate assets as of September 30, 2006, and (2) consideration of the current value of our other assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006. This estimated net asset value per share is only an estimate, and is based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, which may not be accurate or complete. There were no liquidity discounts applied to this estimated valuation or discounts relating to the fact that we are currently externally managed, and no attempt was made to value the company as an enterprise. Further, this should not be viewed as the amount a stockholder would receive in the event that we were to list our shares in the future or to liquidate our assets and distribute the proceeds to our stockholders since, among other things, this valuation was not reduced by potential real estate brokerage commissions or other costs of sale. An investment in shares of Wells REIT is illiquid because there is no current public market for the shares and, therefore, it can be difficult to sell the shares. In addition, the price received for any shares sold would likely be less than this estimated share value. Further, real estate markets fluctuate, and real estate values can decline in the future. For these reasons, our stockholders should not assume that they will be able to obtain this estimated share value for their shares, either currently or at any time in the future.

As our stock is currently not listed on a national exchange, there is no significant public trading market for our stock. Consequently, there is the risk that a stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at a time or price acceptable to the stockholder. Our Board has authorized a share redemption program for investors who have held their shares for more than one year, subject to the limitation that (1) during any calendar year, we will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding during the prior calendar year, and (2) in no event shall the aggregate amount of redemptions under our share redemption program exceed aggregate proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to our dividend reinvestment plan. Any shares we redeem pursuant to our share redemption program are purchased at the original purchase price paid by the stockholder less any amounts previously distributed to the stockholder which were attributable to net sales proceeds from the sale of our properties. We are under no obligation to redeem shares under our share redemption program, and our Board may amend, suspend, or terminate the share redemption program at any time upon 30 days written notice; provided that in the event that our Board concludes in good faith that Wells REIT is in possession of undisclosed material information at a time when it also has outstanding redemption requests pending, the Board may in its sole discretion suspend the share redemption program without advance notice for such temporary period of time as may be determined by the Board in its sole discretion in order to allow Wells REIT sufficient time to provide disclosure of such information to the stockholders.

In accordance with the foregoing provisions, effective January 29, 2007, our Board temporarily suspended our share redemption program until the end of March 2007.

### Distributions

We intend to make distributions each taxable year (not including a return of capital for federal income tax purposes) equal to at least 90% of our taxable income. We intend to pay regular quarterly dividend distributions to our stockholders. Dividends will be made to those stockholders who are stockholders as of the dividend record dates.

Quarterly dividend distributions made to stockholders during 2004, 2005 and 2006 were as follows:

			2004		
	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Total
Total Cash Distributed (in thousands)	\$ 81,400	\$ 81,300	\$ 81,573	\$ 82,099	\$ 326,372
Per Share Investment Income	\$ 0.123	\$ 0.123	\$ 0.123	\$ 0.123	\$ 0.492
Per Share Return of Capital	\$ 0.047	\$ 0.047	\$ 0.047	\$ 0.047	\$ 0.188
Per Share Capital Gains	\$ 0.005	\$ 0.005	\$ 0.005	\$ 0.005	\$ 0.020
Total Per Share Distribution	\$ 0.175	\$ 0.175	\$ 0.175	\$ 0.175	\$ 0.700

			2005		
	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Total
Total Cash Distributed (in thousands)	\$ 82,955	\$ 67,792	\$67,671	\$ 68,225	\$ 286,643
Per Share Investment Income	\$ 0.033	\$ 0.028	\$ 0.028	\$ 0.028	\$ 0.117
Per Share Return of Capital	\$ 0.112	\$ 0.094	\$ 0.094	\$ 0.093	\$ 0.393
Per Share Capital Gains	\$ 0.030	\$ 0.025	\$ 0.025	\$ 0.024	\$ 0.104
Total Per Share Distribution	\$ 0.175	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.145	\$ 0.614

Additionally, in June 2005 a special distribution of approximately \$748.5 million was distributed in June 2005 as a return of invested capital related to the 27-property disposition which closed in April 2005. Approximately 19%, 70%, and 70% of the dividends paid during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, were taxable to the investor as ordinary taxable income, and approximately 17%, 3%, and 0% of the dividends paid during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, and 2003, respectively, were taxable to the investor as ordinary taxable to the investor as capital gains, with the remaining amount characterized as a tax deferred return of capital.

	2006								
	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Total				
Total Cash Distributed (in thousands)	\$67,439	\$67,264	\$67,153	\$67,719	\$ 269,575				
Total Per Share Distribution	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.147	\$ 0.588				
The amount of dividends paid and taxable portion of such dividends in prior periods are not necessarily indicative or predictive of amounts									

The amount of dividends paid and taxable portion of such dividends in prior periods are not necessarily indicative or predictive of amounts anticipated in future periods.

### Redemptions

During 2006, we redeemed shares pursuant to our share redemption program as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

#### **Maximum Approximate**

**Dollar Value of Shares Available** 

				Dollar val	le of Shares Available	
	Approximate					
	N I C	Approximate Average Price			hat May Yet	
	Number of		Price	Be Redeemed in		
Period	Shares Redeemed	Paid per	Share	Calendar Yea	r 2006 Under the Plan <sup>(1)</sup>	
January 2006	7,815	\$	8.38	\$	129,882	
February 2006	1,930	\$	8.38	\$	113,706	
March 2006	1,643	\$	8.38	\$	99,938	
April 2006	1,493	\$	8.38	\$	87,426	
May 2006	2,634	\$	8.38	\$	65,352	
June 2006	2,334	\$	8.38	\$	45,794	
July 2006	1,336	\$	8.38	\$	34,595	
August 2006	1,581	\$	8.38	\$	21,345	
September 2006	137	\$	8.38	\$	20,198	
October 2006	247	\$	8.38	\$	18,130	
November 2006	286	\$	8.38	\$	15,735	
December 2006	227	\$	8.38	\$	13,833	

(1) The maximum dollar amount remaining as of December 31, 2006 for redemptions pursuant to our share redemption program in future periods is approximately \$135.9 million, as life-to-date redemptions may not exceed life-to-date proceeds received under our dividend reinvestment plan. However, due to additional program restrictions, the pool of shares available for all redemptions in each calendar year (ordinary, redemptions upon death, and required minimum distribution redemptions) is recalculated on January 1<sup>st</sup> of each year. As a result of this annual calculation, the total shares available for redemptions during the period January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 is approximately 23.1 million shares, which we currently anticipate will be redeemed at a price equal to the lesser of (a) \$10 per share or (b) the purchase price per share actually paid, less in both instances any amounts previously distributed to stockholders attributable to net sales proceeds from the sale of our properties (currently \$1.62 per share); however, effective January 29, 2007, our Board temporarily suspended our share redemption program until the end of March 2007.

### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sets forth a summary of our selected financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002, and 2001 (in thousands except for per share data).

#### (unaudited)

#### Nine Months Ended

	2006	2005	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001
Total assets	\$ 4,429,794	\$ 4,414,927	\$ 4,398,565	\$ 5,123,689	\$ 4,925,292	\$ 2,229,727	\$ 752,281
Total stockholders equity	\$ 2,893,050	\$ 3,030,578	\$ 2,989,147	\$ 3,699,600	\$ 3,962,406	\$ 1,835,950	\$ 709,343
Outstanding debt	\$ 1,234,519	\$ 1,036,940	\$ 1,036,312	\$ 890,182	\$ 612,514	\$ 248,195	\$ 8,124
Outstanding long-term debt	\$ 1,163,319	\$ 1,015,840	\$ 1,012,654	\$ 888,622	\$ 500,167	\$ 152,038	\$ 469
Obligations under capital leases				\$ 64,500	\$ 64,500	\$ 54,500	\$ 22,000
Total revenues <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 439,799	\$ 427,358	\$ 568,383	\$ 551,796	\$ 318,298	\$ 91,712	\$ 37,579

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

Income from continuing operations	\$ 91,630	\$ 108,804	\$ 136,401	\$ 161,848	\$ 93,138	\$ 42,649	\$ 15,570
Discontinued operations <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 16,359	\$ 191,621	\$ 192,734	\$ 47,874	\$ 27,547	\$ 17,205	\$ 6,154
Net income	\$ 107,989	\$ 300,425	\$ 329,135	\$ 209,722	\$ 120,685	\$ 59,854	\$ 21,724
Funds from operations <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 217,769	\$ 233,033	\$ 301,120	\$ 363,290	\$ 240,917	\$ 101,798	\$ 40,584

(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended

	Sej	otemb	er 30,								
	2006		2005	20	05	2004		2003	2002		2001
Cash flows from operations	\$ 200,5	12	\$ 202,734	\$ 27	1,494	\$ 329,81	8 \$	237,238	\$ 111,960	\$	46,588
Cash flows used in investing activities	\$ (143,5	38)	\$ 716,502	\$ 69	1,690	\$ (253,342	2) \$	(2,208,437)	\$ (1,369,926)	\$ (	(278,845)
Cash flows provided by (used in)											
financing activities	\$ (68,6	79)	\$ (167,126)	\$ (205	5,354)	\$ (90,074	4) \$	1,979,216	\$ 1,227,844	\$	303,544
Special distribution			\$ (748,526)	\$ (748	8,526)						
Dividends paid	\$ (201,8	56)	\$ (218,418)	\$ (280	5,643)	\$ (326,372	2)	(219,121)	\$ (104,996)	\$	(36,737)
Per share data:											
Earnings per share - basic and diluted	\$ 0.	23	\$ 0.64	\$	0.71	\$ 0.4	5 \$	0.37	\$ 0.41	\$	0.43
Funds from operations per share	\$ 0.	47	\$ 0.50	\$	0.65	\$ 0.73	8 \$	0.74	\$ 0.70	\$	0.79
Dividends declared	\$ 0.	44	\$ 0.47	\$	0.61	\$ 0.6	7 \$	0.70	\$ 0.76	\$	0.76

<sup>(1)</sup> Prior period amounts adjusted to conform with current income statement groupings, including the presentation of revenues and income from properties sold and properties related to discontinued operations as income from discontinued operations, for all periods presented.

(2) Refer to Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. for information regarding how we use funds from operations to evaluate our operations, the reasons why we believe that the presentation of funds from operations provides useful information to our stockholders, and for a reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to net income.

### MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September, 30, 2006 and the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and the notes thereto. See also Risk Factors, as well as the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

### Overview

We are a real estate investment company engaged in the investment and management of commercial real estate located throughout the United States. We operate as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes. As of September 30, 2006, we had no paid employees and are externally advised and managed by Wells Capital and Wells Management.

From 1998 through 2003, we raised capital through the issuance of common stock under four public offerings and invested the capital proceeds in income producing commercial real estate properties. During 2004 and 2005, we continued to raise additional capital, through the sale of shares under our dividend reinvestment plan, and acquired or constructed certain additional real estate properties.

During 2005, we sold 27 properties in which we held whole or partial interests, as part of a sale to an unrelated third party, and distributed substantially all of the net sale proceeds of approximately \$756.8 million to investors in the form of a return of invested capital. Also during 2005, we completed construction and placed into service two build-to-suit properties with total capitalized costs of approximately \$45.1 million.

As of September 30, 2006, we owned and operated 84 properties, directly or through joint ventures, comprising approximately 20.8 million square feet, located in 23 states and the District of Columbia. As of September 30, 2006, the properties in our portfolio were approximately 95% leased.

Our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 reflect growing revenues and expenses associated with the acquisition of properties in 2004 and 2003.

#### General Economic Conditions and Real Estate Market Commentary

Management reviews a number of economic forecasts and market commentaries in order to evaluate general economic conditions and formulate a view of the current environment s effect on the real estate markets in which we operate.

The U.S. economy grew at a rate of approximately 3% in 2006 which in the view of many economists is the average long-term rate for the U.S. economy. The economy grew at a 2.2% annual pace in the third quarter of 2006 which is slightly faster than the 1.6% initially estimated but still down from 2.6% in the second quarter. This slowdown in third quarter gross domestic product was primarily attributable to housing with residential investment falling by approximately 18%, the worst decrease in over a decade. On the positive side, this loss in housing did not affect consumer spending which increased by approximately 2.9% in the third quarter 2006, up from approximately 2.6% in the second quarter. The Federal Reserve has given no indication that it will lower interest rates in the near future due to the continued risks of inflation. Gross domestic product growth for 2007 is expected to be approximately 2.9% with inflation estimated to be approximately 2.6%.

The U.S. office real estate market continued to display strong growth through the fourth quarter of 2006 with steady declines in vacancy, positive absorption rates and moderate construction. These conditions are resulting in acceleration in rent growth across most markets. National vacancy rates continued to trend downward with third quarter of 2006 vacancy at 12.9%, 20 basis point lower than the second quarter and 120 basis points lower than the prior year. Many markets are performing well due to job growth in the service-sector and a restraint on new supply of office properties. There does not appear to be any improved job-growth across most job sectors, however, with coastal and energy markets doing well and the Midwest region of the United States slightly lagging in growth. Job growth has remained approximately 2.5% since mid-year 2005, which is reflected in steady positive absorption. Looking forward to the near-term, many economists anticipate that there may be a slowing in the economy due to a correction in the housing market causing weaker employment growth and a downturn in demand for consumer goods and consumer-related finance.

The real estate capital transactions market remains relatively stable. Total office property sales through October 2006 totaled \$105 billion, 31% ahead of 2005. Cap rates for central business district properties are at an all-time low due to strong investor demand. Demand for office properties continues to be well distributed across the capital sector with equity funds, institutions, REITs and foreign investors being the most competitive bidders for office properties. A different capital sector has lead acquisitions for each of the past four years, a further indication of the diversity of demand. So far in 2006, equity funds have replaced institutions as the largest purchaser of office properties. The spread between average cap rates and 10-year U.S. Treasuries continues to tighten as cap rates compress and the US Treasury rates increase from their 2002 lows. In the medium-term, the combination of higher interest rates and slower rent growth could lead to an end of the cap rate compression with cap rates generally expected to increase slightly over the next 3 years.

### Impact of Economic Conditions on our Portfolio

While some of the market conditions noted above may indicate an expected increase in rental rates, the extent to which our portfolio may benefit from this growth is dependent upon the contractual rental rates currently contained in existing leases at the properties we own. Since the majority of our in-place leases are at properties that were acquired at times during which the market demanded higher rental rates, as compared with today s rental rates, new leasing activities could actually result in a decrease in future rental rates at our properties.

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

#### Overview

From January 1998 through July 2004, we raised significant funds through the sale of our common stock in four public offerings. Proceeds from these sales of common stock, net of offering costs and other expenses, were used primarily to fund the acquisition of real estate properties and certain capital expenditures identified at the time of acquisition. While our fourth public offering closed in July 2004, we may make additional public offerings in the future pursuant to which we would receive proceeds from the sale of our common stock. While we expect to continue to receive proceeds from the sale of shares issued under our dividend reinvestment plan, we expect to use a significant portion of those proceeds to fund redemptions of our common stock under our share redemption program.

We anticipate cash flows generated from operations to remain relatively consistent with operations after the 27-property disposition. Our primary source of future cash flows is expected to be cash generated from the operations of our properties and additional distributions received from our unconsolidated joint ventures. The amount of future dividends to be paid to our stockholders will be largely dependent upon the amount of cash generated from our operating activities, our expectations of future cash flows and our determination of near-term cash needs for capital improvements, tenant re-leasing, share redemptions and debt repayments. Further, we anticipate that we may be able to generate additional cash flow through the selective and strategic sale of certain of our operating properties and, from time to time, may return net proceeds from the sale of such properties to our stockholders in the form of special distributions.

#### Short Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we generated net cash flows from operating activities of approximately \$200.5 million, which is primarily comprised of receipts of rental income less payments for property operating costs, asset and property management fees, general and administrative expenses, and interest expense. From such net cash flows from operating activities and cash on hand, we paid dividends to stockholders of approximately \$201.9 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, net cash outflows from investing activities were approximately \$143.5 million, primarily as a result of using approximately \$169.3 million to acquire the 400 Bridgewater Building and Las Colinas Corporate Center and invest in capital expenditures at other buildings and approximately \$20.7 million to pay leasing costs related to lease extensions, partially offset by net sales proceeds generated from the sale of the IRS Daycare Building and the Northrop Grumman Building of approximately \$48.3 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, net cash outflows from financing activities were approximately \$68.7 million, primarily as a result of paying dividends of approximately \$201.9 million and redeeming common stock for approximately \$173.6 million, partially offset by net new borrowings under our lines of credit and notes payable of \$198.7 million and raising proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our dividend reinvestment plan of approximately \$112.8 million. In addition, on October 2, 2006, we obtained long-term, fixed-rate debt of \$42.5 million, the proceeds of which were used to repay draws made on our lines of credit to fund the acquisition of Las Colinas Corporate Center (see Note 5 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006).

Due to certain annual limitations in our share redemption program, the pool of shares available for redemptions during 2005 was exhausted in June 2005. Accordingly, approximately \$48.8 million of shares tendered for ordinary redemptions throughout the remainder of 2005 were not redeemed until January 2006 due to program restrictions. The approximately \$48.8 million of share redemptions were funded with proceeds drawn on our \$85.0 million secured line of credit. Further, on March 8, 2006 we obtained an additional fixed-rate debt facility of \$150.0 million and used or intend to use the proceeds primarily for the following items: (1) repaying amounts outstanding under our line of credit facility; (2) funding the acquisition of an 8-story office building located in Bridgewater, New Jersey for approximately \$93.0 million, exclusive of closing costs; and (3) funding the redemption of additional shares of our common stock tendered for redemption in 2006.

During 2005, we generated net cash flow from operating activities of approximately \$271.5 million, primarily from rental income and tenant reimbursements, less payments for property operating costs, asset and property management fees, general administrative expenses, and interest expense. From cash flows from operating activities and cash on hand, we paid dividends to stockholders of approximately \$286.6 million in 2005. Other than dividends paid to stockholders, our most significant recurring use of cash during the year ended December 31, 2005 was the redemption of our common stock pursuant to our share redemption program for approximately \$215.0 million, of which approximately \$128.4 million related to requested but unredeemed shares as of December 31, 2004 which were unable to be redeemed until first quarter 2005 due to certain program restrictions and first quarter 2005 redemptions. These redemptions were funded with (1) borrowings drawn under new long-term, fixed-rate debt facilities obtained in the second quarter of 2005, and (2) investor proceeds raised from the issuance of common stock under our dividend reinvestment plan, net of commissions and selling expenses.

During 2005, we generated net debt proceeds of approximately \$146.1 million through additional borrowings under lines of credit and notes payable of approximately \$307.1 million, reduced by repayments of approximately \$161.0 million. The remaining debt outstanding after repayments of lines of credit was a 7-year term loan secured by the 4250 N. Fairfax Building in the amount of \$45.0 million and a 10-year loan secured by the U.S. Bancorp Building in the amount of \$105.0 million. Further, during 2005, we generated investor proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our dividend reinvestment plan of approximately \$159.5 million. During 2005, we also invested in capital expenditures and deferred leasing costs of approximately \$61.0 million related to (1) the construction of two build-to-suit properties, with total capital costs of approximately \$45.1 million, which were placed in service during the year, and (2) funding costs related to our lease renewal and asset management strategy for our current portfolio of properties.

In addition, as a result of selling 27 properties in which we owned whole or partial interests in April 2005, we generated net proceeds of approximately \$756.8 million, of which approximately \$44.9 million related to our partial interest in four properties owned by unconsolidated joint ventures during 2005. We subsequently distributed substantially all of the net sales proceeds from this disposition to investors in the form of a return of invested capital special distribution in June 2005.

As a result of this aforementioned 27-property sale in April 2005, the gross amount of cash generated by properties and cash available for dividends has decreased as compared to prior periods; however, our dividends as a percent of invested capital have remained consistent. In addition, primarily as a result of distributing substantially all of the net sale proceeds generated from the portfolio sale to investors in the form of a return of invested capital special distribution, the gross amount of dividends declared per share has decreased as compared to prior periods. Future dividend levels will be dependent upon the amount of cash generated from operating activities, our expectations of future cash flows and our determination of near-term cash needs for capital improvements, tenant releasing, share redemptions, and debt repayments. In addition, due to differences in the timing of cash receipts and cash payments for operations, we may periodically be required to borrow funds on a short-term basis to meet our dividend payment schedule. Because (1) we did not reduce existing debt with the net proceeds received from the portfolio disposition, (2) the amount of assets held decreased as a result of the portfolio sale, and (3) we obtained additional borrowings of approximately \$150.0 million during 2005 to fund share redemption requests, our debt leverage ratio (the ratio of our outstanding debt to the aggregate cost of our real estate assets) increased from approximately 17% as of December 31, 2004 to approximately 23% as of December 31, 2005.

We believe that cash on hand and tenant receivables are sufficient to cover our working capital needs, including accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued capital expenditures, and cash due to affiliates of approximately \$74.6 million as of September 30, 2006. We expect to use substantially all of our future operating cash flows to pay dividends to stockholders and to use cash on hand and third-party borrowings to fund capital expenditures.

### Long Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect that our primary future sources of capital will be derived from net cash flows generated from property operations, from proceeds received from future equity or debt offerings, from proceeds received from secured or unsecured borrowings from third-party lenders, from shares issued under our dividend reinvestment plan, net of proceeds used to redeem shares under our share redemption program, and from the selective and strategic sale of properties.

We anticipate that our primary future long-term liquidity requirements will include, but not be limited to, making scheduled debt service payments, and funding renovations, expansions and other significant capital improvements for our properties. Specifically, over the next five years beginning with October 1, 2006, we currently estimate funding capital expenditures necessary for the properties currently in our portfolio of approximately \$380.7 million, including building improvements, tenant improvements, and leasing commissions.

We expect to use substantially all future net cash flow generated from operations to pay dividends and, therefore, expect to fund future capital expenditures for the properties currently in our portfolio primarily with proceeds from third-party borrowings. Proceeds raised from the sale of shares under our dividend reinvestment plan, in excess of amounts used to fund share redemptions, may also be utilized for capital improvements or expansion at our properties, or to fund or partially fund new property acquisitions.

While we do not believe that future cash flows provided by operations will be lower due to lower returns on properties, future dividends paid at current levels are not guaranteed. Our cash flow from operations depends significantly on market rents and the ability of tenants to make rental payments. We believe that the diversity of our tenant base and the concentration in our portfolio of highly creditworthy tenants helps to mitigate the risk of tenants defaulting on leases. However, general economic downturns, or downturns in one or more of our core markets, could adversely impact the ability of our tenants to make lease payments and our ability to re-lease space on favorable terms when leases expire. In the event of either situation, our cash flow and consequently our ability to meet capital needs, could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends in the future.

### Contractual Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2005, our contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):

#### Payments Due During the Years Ending December 31, Remainder

	Total	of 2006	2007-2008	2009-2010	Thereafter
Outstanding debt obligations <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 1,234,519	\$ 641	\$ 224,487	\$ 2,783	\$ 1,006,608
Operating lease obligations	65,066	141	1,127	1,193	62,605
Tenant/building improvements and lease commission obligations <sup>(2)</sup>	68,901	5,150	42,425	12,336	8,990
Total	\$ 1,368,486	\$ 5,932	\$ 268,039	\$ 16,312	\$ 1,078,203

(1)

Amounts include principal payments only. We made interest payments of \$43.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and expect to pay interest in future periods on outstanding debt obligations based on the rates and terms disclosed herein and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

(2)Certain lease agreements include provisions that, at the option of the tenant, may obligate us to expend certain amounts of capital to expand an existing property, to construct on adjacent property, or to provide other expenditures for the benefit of the tenant (see Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). As of December 31, 2005, our contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2005, our contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):

		Less than			More than
Contractual Obligations	Total	1 year	1-3 years	4-5 years	5 years
Outstanding debt	\$ 1,036,312	\$ 23,658	\$ 153,263	\$ 2,783	\$ 856,608
Operating lease obligations	65,488	563	1,126	1,192	62,607
Purchase Obligations <sup>(1)</sup>	87,963	87,963			
Total	\$ 1,189,763	\$ 112,184	\$ 154,389	\$ 3,975	\$ 919,215

<sup>(1)</sup> Contract price. Does not include price adjustments, closing costs, or earnest money paid as of December 31, 2005 of approximately \$5.0 million.

### **Results of Operations**

#### Overview

As of September 30, 2006, we owned interests in 84 real estate properties that were approximately 95% leased. The operations of properties that have been sold are classified as discontinued operations in our accompanying consolidated statements of income for each of the periods presented (see Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). Real estate operating income has increased slightly from the prior year, primarily as a result of acquiring properties and placing constructed properties into service in 2005 and 2006. Real estate operating income generated from properties owned as of the beginning of the periods presented has not changed significantly from 2005, primarily as a result of the stable nature of our portfolio. Rental revenues are generally based on long-term leases that do not allow for significant increases in rental income and do not expire in the near-term. Additionally, while we do not expect a significant increase in operating expenses at our properties, to the extent that operating expenses do increase, the majority of our in-place leases have clauses that require the tenants to bear the majority of the burden of any such increases. Absent significant changes in our financing structure or the size of our portfolio, we expect income from real estate operations to be comparable in future periods, as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

As of December 31, 2005, we owned interests in 83 real estate properties that were approximately 95.5% leased. Our results of continuing operations increased significantly from 2003 to 2004 primarily as a result of acquiring properties during 2003 and 2004 with investor proceeds raised in the fourth public offering of our common stock. Our results of operations increased to a lesser extent from 2004 to 2005 as a result of acquiring fewer properties following the close of our fourth public offering of our common stock in July 2004. We do not expect future income from continuing operations to change significantly in the near-term, as the majority of our rental revenues are generated from long-term leases that do not allow for significant changes in rental payments and which do not expire in the near-term. Further, while, we do not expect significant increases in future property operating costs, if such increases were to occur, the majority of our in-place leases have clauses that require the tenant to bear the economic burden of such increases to the extent that they occur.

The operations of 23 wholly owned properties sold in connection with the 27-property disposition in April 2005 are classified as discontinued operations in our accompanying consolidated statements of income for each of the years presented (see Note 9 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for more information).

Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2005 versus the three months ended September 30, 2006

#### **Continuing Operations**

Rental income increased from \$108.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$112.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Substantially all of this increase relates to properties acquired or developed subsequent to June 30, 2005. Tenant reimbursements remained relatively stable at \$32.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, as compared to \$34.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005.

Lease termination income increased from \$0 for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to approximately \$8.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Lease termination income for the three months ended September 30, 2006 relates mainly to consideration received as a result of the Nokia lease terminated at the Nokia property and the HSBC Card Services lease terminated at the 10900 Wayzata Building. Lease termination income for the three months ended September 30, 2006 is not expected to be comparable to future periods, as such income will be dependent upon the execution of lease termination and/or modification agreements that are deemed to be in the best interest of the portfolio over the long-term.

Property operating expenses increased from \$47.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$50.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. This increase relates primarily to increases in certain reimbursable expenses, including utilities, property taxes, and tenant-requested services, and additional costs related to properties acquired or developed subsequent to June 30, 2005. Tenant reimbursement income did not fluctuate commensurate with the increase in property operating costs, primarily due to changes in the amount of reimbursements for nonrecurring tenant-requested services and limitations and/or conditions under which such costs are reimbursable pursuant to the affected leases. Property operating costs represented approximately 34% and 35% of total rental income and tenant reimbursements for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Asset and property management fees increased from \$6.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$7.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. This increase is primarily attributable to a change in the basis on which asset management fees are calculated, partially offset by an annualized reduction of \$1.2 million for 2006 that was negotiated in connection with the renewal of our Asset Management Advisory Agreement in the second quarter of 2006 (see Note 7 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2006). Asset management fees have been calculated for 2006 based on a fixed percentage of the fair market value, as defined, of Wells REIT s properties according to a net asset valuation performed as of September 30, 2005, as compared to the original purchase prices of such assets on which the asset management fees were based prior to 2006. Asset and property management fees as a percentage of total rental income and tenant reimbursements were approximately 5% for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006.

Lease termination expense increased from approximately \$0.06 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to approximately \$2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, and represents the write-off of lease-related assets and liabilities associated with the lease terminations described above. We do not expect these charges to be comparable in future periods, as this expense will be dependent upon the execution of any such future agreements.

Depreciation expense increased from \$22.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$23.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Substantially all of this increase relates to properties acquired or developed subsequent to June 30, 2005. Depreciation expense represented approximately 16% of rental income and tenant reimbursements for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006. Absent changes in the size or composition of our portfolio, we do not expect future depreciation expense to fluctuate significantly.

Amortization expense increased from \$16.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$16.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Substantially all of this increase relates to recognizing a full period of amortization for assets recorded in connection with properties acquired and re-leased during the periods presented. Absent changes in the composition of our leases with tenants, we do not expect future amortization expense to fluctuate significantly.

General and administrative expenses increased from \$3.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$5.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to Tennessee excise taxes (see Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006), as well as an increase in bad debt expense, net of recoveries, the majority of which was related to certain tenants at the 60 Broad Street New York Building. General and administrative expense represents approximately 2% and 3% of total rental and tenant reimbursement income for the three months ended September 30, 2006, respectively.

Interest expense increased from \$13.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$15.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 due to higher average borrowings outstanding and higher weighted-average interest rates during the third quarter of 2006, as compared to the third quarter of 2005. Absent additional borrowings or other changes to our financing structure, we expect that a significant portion of our future interest expense will be comparable to current amounts, as the majority of our borrowings are under long-term, fixed-rate debt facilities. As of September 30, 2006, \$71.2 million, or 6% of our outstanding debt, includes variable-rate lines of credit, which have exposure to rising interest rates.

Interest and other income increased from \$0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to \$0.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Interest income was greater for the three months ended 2006 primarily due to holding higher average cash balances as a result of withholding distributions to owners of the 35 West Wacker Building to fund near-term re-leasing costs (see Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). The level of interest income in future periods will be primarily dependent upon the amount of operating cash on hand and is not expected to be consistent with the amount earned during the three months ended September 30, 2006.

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures remained stable at \$0.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and for the three months ended September 30, 2006. Absent future dispositions or unexpected changes in the operations of the underlying properties, we expect future equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures to be comparable to equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures recognized for the three months ended September 30, 2006.

Income from continuing operations per share remained relatively stable at \$0.07 for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006. Absent significant changes to our tenant base, credit quality, financing structure, or weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, we do not expect net income from continuing operations to fluctuate significantly in the near-term.

#### **Discontinued Operations**

We have classified the operations of properties sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Income from discontinued operations was approximately \$0.8 million and \$13.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and represents operating activity generated prior to sale and the gain recognized on the sale of the Northrop Grumman Building (see Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). We do not expect that income from discontinued operations will be comparable to future periods, as such income is subject to the timing and completion of future property dispositions.

Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2005 versus the nine months ended September 30, 2006

### **Continuing Operations**

Rental income increased from \$327.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$332.4 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2004. Substantially all of this increase relates to properties acquired or developed subsequent to December 31, 2005. Tenant reimbursements remained relatively stable at \$95.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, as compared to \$97.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Lease termination income increased from approximately \$4.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, to approximately \$9.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 relates primarily to the termination of the Novartis lease at the Novartis Atlanta Building and the termination of the Motorola, Inc. lease at the River Corporate Center Building. Lease termination income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 relates primarily to the termination of the HSBC Card Services lease at the 10900 Wayzata Building, and the reduction of leased space at the Agilent Atlanta Building. Lease termination income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 is not expected to be comparable to future periods, as such income will be dependent upon the execution of lease termination and/or modification agreements that are deemed to be in the best interest of the portfolio over the long-term.

Property operating expenses increased from \$137.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$146.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This increase relates primarily to increases in certain reimbursable expenses, including utilities, property taxes, and tenant-requested services, and additional costs related to properties acquired or developed subsequent to December 31, 2004. Tenant reimbursement income did not fluctuate commensurate with the increase in property operating costs, primarily due to changes in the amount of reimbursements for nonrecurring tenant requested services and limitations, and/or conditions under which such costs are reimbursable pursuant to the affected leases. Property operating costs represented approximately 32% and 34% of total rental income and tenant reimbursements for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Asset and property management fees increased from \$20.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$22.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This increase is primarily attributable to a change in the basis on which asset management fees are calculated, partially offset by an annualized reduction of \$1.2 million for 2006 that was negotiated in connection with the renewal of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement with Wells Management in the second quarter of 2006 (see Note 7 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). Asset management fees have been calculated for 2006 based on a fixed percentage of the fair market value, as defined, of our properties according to a net asset valuation performed as of September 30, 2005, as compared to the original purchase prices of such assets on which the asset management fees were based prior to 2006. Asset and property management fees as a percentage of total rental and tenant reimbursement income were approximately 5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Lease termination expense increased from approximately \$1.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to approximately \$4.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and represents the write-off of lease-related assets and liabilities associated with the lease terminations described above. We do not expect these charges to be comparable in future periods, as this expense will be dependent upon the execution of any such future agreements.

Depreciation expense increased from \$65.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$68.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Substantially all of this increase relates to properties acquired or developed subsequent to December 31, 2004. Depreciation expense represented approximately 16% of rental income and tenant reimbursements for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006.

Amortization expense increased from \$48.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$51.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Substantially all of this increase relates to recognizing a full period of amortization for assets recorded in connection with properties acquired and re-leased during the periods presented. Absent changes in the composition of our leases with tenants, we do not expect future amortization expense to fluctuate significantly.

General and administrative expenses increased from \$12.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$13.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to Tennessee excise taxes (see Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006), as well as an increase in bad debt expense, net of recoveries, the majority of which was related to certain tenants at the 60 Broad Street New York Building. General and administrative expense represents approximately 3% of total rental and tenant reimbursement income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, we recognized an impairment loss of approximately \$16.1 million as a result of reducing the intended holding period for the IRS Long Island Building. The decision to reduce the holding period was prompted by the loss of a prospective replacement tenant during the year ended June 30, 2005 for approximately all of the space that became available in July 2005, and the assessment of the leasing assumptions for this building, including market rents and the related costs and downtime necessary to complete the re-leasing. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recognized a casualty loss of approximately \$0.1 million, which represents the unrecoverable costs associated with fire damage at the 4250 North Fairfax Arlington Building.

Interest expense increased from \$36.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$45.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 due to higher average borrowings outstanding and higher weighted-average interest rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2005. Absent additional borrowings or other changes to our financing structure, we expect that a significant portion of our future interest expense will be comparable to current amounts, as the majority of our borrowings are under long-term, fixed-rate debt facilities. As of September 30, 2006, \$71.2 million, or 6% of our outstanding debt, includes variable-rate lines of credit, which have exposure to rising interest rates.

Interest and other income decreased from \$5.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Cash on hand was significantly greater during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2006, due to holding net proceeds generated from the April 2005 27-property sale, which were distributed to our stockholders on June 14, 2005. The level of interest income in future periods will be primarily dependent upon the amount of operating cash on hand and is not expected to be consistent with the amount earned during the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures decreased from \$14.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to \$1.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This decrease is primarily attributable to gains recognized on the sale of four unconsolidated joint ventures as a result of the April 2005 27-property sale during the six months ended June 30, 2005. Absent future dispositions or unexpected changes in the operations of the underlying properties, we expect future equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures to be comparable to equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures recognized for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Income from continuing operations per share was \$0.23 and \$0.20 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The decrease is primarily attributable to the gain recognized on the sale of properties owned through unconsolidated joint ventures included in the April 2005 27-property sale, the increase in interest expense, and the decrease in interest income described above, partially offset by the impairment loss recognized on the IRS Long Island Building in 2005. Absent significant changes to our tenant base, credit quality, financing structure, or weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, we do not expect net income from continuing operations to fluctuate significantly in the near-term.

### **Discontinued Operations**

We have classified the operations of properties sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Income from discontinued operations was approximately \$191.6 million and \$16.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and represents operating activity generated prior to sale and gains recognized from the sales of the 23 wholly owned properties included in the April 2005 27-property sale, the IRS Daycare Building (sold in April 2006), and the Northrop Grumman Building (sold in July 2006) (see Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). We do not expect that income from discontinued operations will be comparable to future periods, as such income is subject to the timing and completion of future property dispositions.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2005 vs. the year ended December 31, 2004

#### **Continuing Operations**

Rental income and tenant reimbursements increased from approximately \$422.1 million and \$120.7 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$435.2 million and \$128.3 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005, substantially all of which relates to properties acquired or developed during 2003, 2004 and 2005. Tenant reimbursements increased at a faster rate than rental income primarily due to the additional increase in recoverable property operating costs, as described below, that are reimbursable by tenants under the terms of the related leases. Rental income and tenant reimbursements are expected to increase in future periods, as compared to prior periods, as a result of income earned for a full period from the properties acquired and put into service during 2005.

Lease termination income decreased from approximately \$8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Unlike the majority of our rental income, lease termination income is not recognized ratably over long-term contracts and, therefore, fluctuates based on the level of lease terminations and restructuring activities that occur in each period. Lease termination income recognized during 2005 relates primarily to the terminations of the following leases: (a) the Novartis lease at the 11695 Johns Creek Parkway Building (formerly known as the Novartis Atlanta Building); (b) the Motorola, Inc. lease at the River Corporate Center Building; and (c) the Westhill Partners, Inc. lease at the 60 Broad Street Building. As of February 2006, the spaces previously leased by Motorola, Inc. and Westhill Partners, Inc. have been re-leased to new tenants, while the space previously leased by Novartis has been partially re-leased. Lease termination income recognized during 2004 primarily relates to the termination of a portion of the Metris Direct, Inc. lease at the 10900 Wayzata Boulevard Building (formerly known as the Metris Minnesota Building). Lease termination income is not expected to be comparable in future periods, as such income will be dependent upon the volume of future termination agreements executed and the terms of such agreements, based on what is deemed to be in the best interests of the portfolio over the long-term.

Property operating costs increased from approximately \$173.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$187.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Of this increase, approximately \$3.8 million relates to properties acquired or developed during 2003, 2004 and 2005, and the remainder relates primarily to an increase in the cost for energy utilities during 2005. Property operating costs represents approximately 32% and 33% of the sum of the rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Property operating costs are expected to increase in future periods as a result of expenses incurred for a full period from the properties acquired and put into service during 2005.

Asset and property management fees increased from approximately \$23.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase relates primarily to the addition of asset and property management fees related to certain properties occupied by government tenants effective July 1, 2004, and the fact that third-party management fees reimbursable by tenants are no longer considered a reduction of management fees payable to Wells Management effective July 1, 2004. Asset and property management fees represent approximately 4% and 5% of the sum of rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Depreciation increased from approximately \$83.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$88.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily due to incurring additional depreciation for properties acquired or developed during 2003, 2004 and 2005. Depreciation expense represents approximately 15% and 16% of the sum of rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Amortization increased from approximately \$58.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$64.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Substantially all of this increase is related to recognizing additional amortization of intangible lease assets related to properties acquired in 2003 and 2004 for a full period during the year ended December 31, 2005. Amortization increased at a higher rate than depreciation because the period of amortization for intangible lease assets is the respective tenant lease term, which is generally shorter than the useful life over which real estate assets are depreciated.

Lease termination expense increased from approximately \$0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Lease termination expense represents the write-off of unamortized balances of tenant-specific deferred costs, included deferred rent receivables, deferred leasing costs and intangible lease assets, in connection with lease terminations. Accordingly, lease termination expense recognized during 2004 relates primarily to the write-off of tenant-specific assets related to a lease with Metris Direct, Inc. Lease termination expense recognized during 2005 relates primarily to the write-off of tenant-specific assets related to leases with Novartis and Westhill Partners, Inc. and Aon Corporation in the 1901 Main Street Irvine Building. Lease termination expense is not expected to be comparable in future periods, as such expense will be dependent upon the volume of future termination agreements executed and the terms of such agreements, based on what is deemed to be in the best interests of the portfolio over the long-term.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized an impairment loss of approximately \$16.1 million as a result of reducing the intended holding period for the IRS Long Island Building. The decision to reduce the holding period was prompted by the loss of a prospective replacement tenant during the quarter ended June 30, 2005 and a reassessment of leasing assumptions for this building, which entailed, among other things, evaluating market rents, leasing costs and the downtime necessary to complete the necessary releasing activities (See Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for further details).

General and administrative expenses remained relatively stable at approximately \$18.0 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Accordingly, general and administrative expense represents approximately 3% of the sum of the rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005.

Interest expense increased from approximately \$38.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$49.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily due to an increase in the level of outstanding borrowings during 2005. This increase is largely attributable to net additional borrowings of approximately \$150 million under long-term, fixed-rate facilities in March 2005. Future levels of interest expense will be dependent upon the amount of borrowings outstanding, current interest rates, and the deferred financing costs associated with obtaining debt facilities. We expect future interest expense to increase as a result of taking out an additional fixed-rate debt facility of \$150.0 million in March 2006.

Interest and other income increased from approximately \$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The majority of this increase is due to having higher average cash balances during 2005 as a result of holding net proceeds from the sale of 23 wholly owned properties included in the April 2005 27-property sale of approximately \$711.9 million from April 13, 2005 until the majority of such proceeds were distributed to stockholders on June 14, 2005. Future levels of interest income will be largely dependent upon the level of cash on hand. In addition, we earned approximately \$0.2 million of take-out fees related to our participation in Wells Capital s Section 1031 exchange program, which is not expected to be indicative of amounts earned in future periods, as we are no longer involved in this program. We expect future interest income to decrease as a result of the nonrecurring interest earned on net sale proceeds during 2005.

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures increased from approximately \$6.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$14.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase is primarily related to the gains recognized on the sale of four properties owned by unconsolidated joint ventures and included in the April 2005 27-property sale. Accordingly, we expect future equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures to decrease as a result of the nonrecurring gains recognized and forgone future operating income related to the properties sold in 2005.

We recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately \$2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004. In May 2004, we repaid in full and terminated our \$500 million credit facility with Bank of America, N.A., and recognized a \$1.7 million write-off of related deferred financing costs. In addition, \$0.4 million of unamortized loan costs related to debt secured by the Nestle property were written off in 2004, as this debt was repaid in full during the first quarter of 2004. Loss on extinguishment of debt is not expected to be indicative of amounts in future periods, as such costs are generally dependent upon altering our financing structure, and we do not expect to make significant changes to our current financing structure in the near-term.

Income from continuing operations decreased from \$0.35 per share for the year ended December 31, 2004 to \$0.30 per share for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily as a result of the impairment loss recognized on the IRS Long Island building, partially offset by an increase in interest income earned as a result of holding net proceeds from the 27-property sale during a portion of 2005. Absent any significant additional dispositions, changes to our tenant base, credit quality, or weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, we do not expect net income from continuing operations to fluctuate significantly in the near-term.

#### **Discontinued Operations**

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we have classified the operations of properties sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Income from discontinued operations increased from approximately \$47.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately \$192.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily as a result of recognizing the gain on the 27-property sale in 2005. These amounts consist entirely of the operations and gains on sale of the Eisenhower Boulevard Building (sold in June 2004) and the 23 wholly owned properties included in the 27-property sale (sold in April 2005). We do not expect future income from discontinued operations to be comparable with prior periods, as such income is subject to existence and timing of future property dispositions.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2004 vs. the year ended December 31, 2003

#### **Continuing Operations**

Rental income and tenant reimbursements increased from approximately \$245.3 million and \$72.0 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$422.1 million and \$120.7 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2004, substantially all of which relates to properties acquired or developed during 2003 and 2004. Tenant reimbursements represented approximately 72% and 70% of the property operating costs for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Lease termination income increased from approximately \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Unlike the majority of our rental income, lease termination income is not recognized ratably over long term contracts and, therefore, fluctuates based on the level of lease termination and restructuring activities that occur in each period. Accordingly, lease termination income recognized during 2003 primarily relates to the termination of the PricewaterhouseCoopers lease in the Aon Center Chicago Building. Lease termination income recognized during 2004 primarily relates to the termination of a portion of the Metris Direct, Inc. lease at the 10900 Wayzata Boulevard Building (formerly known as the Metris Minnesota Building), which was re-leased to a new tenant commensurate with the related termination.

Property operating costs increased from approximately \$100.4 million from the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$173.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Substantially all of the increase relates to properties acquired during 2003 and 2004. Property operating costs represented 32% of the sum of the rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Asset and property management fees increased from approximately \$12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$23.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The majority of this increase is a result of incurring additional fees for properties acquired during 2003 and 2004. Asset and property management fees represent approximately 4% of the sum of rental income and tenant reimbursement revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004.

Depreciation decreased from approximately \$87.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$83.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease is primarily attributable to changing depreciable lives for building assets from 25 years to 40 years effective January 1, 2004, (see Note 2 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003) partially offset by an increase in depreciation expense related to properties acquired or developed during 2003 and 2004.

Amortization increased from approximately \$8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$58.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Substantially all of this increase is related to recognizing additional amortization of intangible lease assets related to properties acquired in 2003 for a full period, and properties acquired in 2004 for a partial period, during the year ended December 31, 2004. Amortization increased at a higher rate than depreciation because the period of amortization for intangible lease assets is the respective tenant lease term, which is generally shorter than the useful life over which real estate assets are depreciated.

Lease termination expense increased from approximately \$54,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$732,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. Lease termination expense represents the write-off of unamortized balances of tenant-specific deferred costs, included deferred rent receivables, deferred leasing costs and intangible lease assets in connection with lease terminations and, as such, is not expected to be comparable in future periods. Accordingly, lease termination expense recognized during 2003 and 2004 relates primarily to the write-off of tenant specific assets related to the leases previously with PricewaterhouseCoopers and Metris Direct, Inc, respectively.

General and administrative expenses increased from approximately \$9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result of the growth in our portfolio of properties. General and administrative expenses represent approximately 3% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004.

Interest expense increased from approximately \$12.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$38.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily due to an increase in the level of outstanding borrowings during 2004 as a result of the growth in our portfolio properties, including properties encumbered with borrowings at acquisition.

Interest and other income increased from approximately \$1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result earning take-out fees related to our participation in the Wells Capital s Section 1031 exchange program of approximately \$0.9 million, which is not expected to be indicative of amounts earned in future periods as we are no longer involved in this program.

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures increased from approximately \$4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase is primarily related to recognizing additional gains resulting from the sale of two properties in 2004, as compared to the sale of one property in 2003.

Loss on extinguishment of debt remained relatively stable at approximately \$2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and approximately \$2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004. In April 2003, we terminated our \$110 million credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. and recognized approximately \$0.5 million in associated unamortized deferred financing costs. Additionally, we recognized approximately \$1.5 million in loan assumption fees incurred as part of the Leo Burnett Building debt refinancing in December 2003. In May 2004, we repaid in full and terminated our \$500 million credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. and recognized approximately \$1.7 million in associated unamortized loan costs associated with the Nestle debt were recognized as the debt was repaid in full.

Income from continuing operations increased from \$0.29 per share for the year ended December 31, 2003 to \$0.35 per share for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result of recognizing lease termination income related to the Metris lease termination. In addition, income from continuing operations per share increased as a result of the increase in the useful life of buildings from 25 years to 40 years, offset by the impact of the additional amortization expense incurred during the year ended December 31, 2004.

**Discontinued Operations** 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we have classified the operations of properties sold as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Income from discontinued operations increased from approximately \$27.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately \$47.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, primarily as a result of recognizing the gain on the sale of the Eisenhower Boulevard Building in 2004 and operations for certain of the 23 wholly owned properties sold in 2005 for a full period in 2004 for the first time, as certain of those properties were acquired in 2003.

### **Funds from Operations**

We believe that funds from operations (FFO) is a beneficial indicator of the performance of any equity REIT. Because FFO calculations exclude such factors as depreciation and amortization of real estate assets and gains or losses from sales of operating real estate assets (which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar conditions based on historical cost accounting and useful-life estimates), they facilitate comparisons of operating performance between periods and with other REITs. Our management believes that accounting for real estate assets in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry investors and analysts have considered the presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves. As a result, we believe that the use of FFO, together with the required GAAP presentation, provides a more complete understanding of our performance relative to our competitors and a more informed and appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving operating, financing, and investing activities. Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance with the current National Association of Real Estate Investment Trust s (NAREIT ) definition (as we do) or may interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do.

FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure and does not represent net income determined in accordance with GAAP. We believe that net income determined in accordance with GAAP is the most relevant measure of our operating performance and, accordingly, believe that FFO should not be viewed as an alternative measurement of our operating performance to net income.

As presented below, certain noncash items such as depreciation, amortization, and gains on the sale of real estate assets (for both wholly owned and unconsolidated joint ventures) are excluded from our calculation of FFO. Income from discontinued operations is included in FFO except for the components of income from discontinued operations resulting from the noncash items mentioned above. Thus, a portion of the depreciation of real estate assets and amortization of deferred leasing costs adjustments below are classified as income from discontinued operations in our accompanying consolidated financial statements (see Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). FFO is not adjusted to reflect impairment losses, the cost of capital improvements or any related capitalized interest, and is presented in the following table (in thousands):

		Months ded	Nine Months Ended		
	September 30,         Septem           2006         2005         2006			ıber 30, 2005	
Net income	\$48,248	\$ 33,550	\$ 107,989	\$ 300,425	
Add:					
Depreciation of real assets wholly owned	23,311	22,522	69,632	68,836	
Depreciation unconsolidated partnerships	363	356	1,081	1,187	
Amortization of lease-related costs wholly owned	18,036	16,242	52,867	50,978	
Amortization unconsolidated partnerships	283	295	818	937	

	Three Mon	ths Ended	Nine Months Ended	
	Septem 2006	ber 30, 2005	Septem 2006	ıber 30, 2005
Subtract:	2000	2005	2000	2005
Gain on sale of properties wholly owned	(13,434)		(14,618)	(177,386)
Gain on sale of properties unconsolidated partnerships		8		(11,944)
FFO	\$ 76,807	\$ 72,973	\$ 217,769	\$ 233,033
Weighted-average shares outstanding	459,656	461,657	461,554	466,482

Set forth below is additional information related to certain significant cash and noncash items included in or excluded from net income above, which may be helpful in assessing our operating results. In addition, cash flows generated from FFO may be used to fund all or a portion of certain capitalizable items that are excluded from FFO, such as capitalized interest, tenant improvements, building improvements, and deferred lease costs. Please see our accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows for details of our operating, investing, and financing cash activities.

#### Noncash Items Included in Net Income:

In accordance with the NAREIT definition, nonrecurring charges that are not classified as extraordinary items, such as impairment losses, are included in the calculation of FFO. As such, the impairment loss on real estate assets of approximately \$16.1 million, recognized in the second quarter of 2005 related to the IRS Long Island Building, is included in net income as well as FFO for the respective periods above. Impairment losses are noncash expenses and, accordingly, do not impact cash flows available for operating activities;

In accordance with GAAP, we recognized straight-line rental revenues of approximately \$4.1 million and \$5.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$10.6 million and \$15.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively;

The amortization of deferred financing costs totaled approximately \$0.4 million and \$0.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$1.4 million and \$1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively; and

The amortization of above-market and below-market in-place leases recorded as a net increase/(decrease) to revenues in our accompanying consolidated statements of income totaled approximately (\$0.5) million and \$0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$0.4 million and \$1.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Cash Item Excluded from Net Income:

Master lease payments under various lease arrangements are not reflected in our net income. Such payments of approximately \$0.2 million and \$1.0 million were received for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively, related to a property acquired during first quarter 2006 (see Note 2 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006). No master lease proceeds or agreements existed during calendar year 2005. Master lease proceeds are recorded as an adjustment to the basis of real estate assets during the period acquired and, accordingly, are not included in net income or FFO. We consider master lease proceeds when determining cash available for dividends to our stockholders.

FFO for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 is presented below. Certain noncash items such as depreciation, amortization, and gains on the sale of real estate assets (for both wholly owned and unconsolidated joint ventures) are excluded from our calculation of FFO. Income from discontinued operations is included in FFO except for the components of income from discontinued operations resulting from the

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

noncash items mentioned above. Thus, a portion of the depreciation of real estate assets and amortization of deferred leasing costs adjustments below are classified as income from discontinued operations in our accompanying consolidated financial statements (see Note 9 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003). FFO is not adjusted to reflect impairment losses, the cost of capital improvements or any related capitalized interest, and is presented in the following table (in thousands):

	For the ye 2005	mber 31, 2003	
Net income	\$ 329,135	\$ 209,722	\$ 120,685
Add:			
Depreciation of real assets wholly owned	91,713	97,425	107,012
Depreciation unconsolidated partnerships	1,544	2,918	3,399
Amortization of deferred leasing costs wholly owned	67,114	65,314	9,325
Amortization -unconsolidated partnerships	1,233	1,242	331
Subtract:			
Gain on sale of properties wholly owned	(177,678)	(11,489)	
(Gain) loss on sale of properties unconsolidated partnerships	(11,941)	(1,842)	165
FFO	\$ 301,120	\$ 363,290	\$ 240,917
Weighted-average shares outstanding	466,285	466,061	324,092

Set forth below is additional information related to certain significant cash and noncash items included in or excluded from net income above, which may be helpful in assessing our operating results. In addition, cash flows generated from FFO may be used to fund all or a portion of certain capitalizable items that are excluded from FFO, such as capitalized interest, tenant improvements, building improvements, and deferred lease costs. Please see our accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows for details of our operating, investing, and financing cash activities:

In accordance with the definition provided by NAREIT, nonrecurring charges not classified as extraordinary items should be included in the calculation of FFO. An impairment charge of approximately \$16.1 million was recognized in 2005 (see Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003);

Straight-line rental revenue of approximately \$18.4 million, \$28.0 million, and \$16.2 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively;

Amortization of deferred financing costs of approximately \$1.8 million, \$2.5 million, and \$2.6 million was recognized as interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively;

Losses on extinguishment of debt of approximately \$0, \$2.1 million, and \$2.0 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively; and

Amortization of intangible lease assets and intangible lease liabilities of approximately \$1.8 million, \$2.8 million, and \$1.3 million was recognized as net increases to rental revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

### **Election as a REIT**

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and have operated as such beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 1998. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding net capital gains attributable to our stockholders. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we may be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income and/or penalties, unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to our stockholders. However, we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and intend to continue to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner that we will remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. No provision for federal income taxes has been made in our accompanying consolidated financial statements, as we made distributions in excess of taxable income for the periods presented. We are subject to certain state

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

and local taxes related to the operations of properties in certain locations, which have been provided for in our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

### Inflation

We are exposed to inflation risk as income from long-term leases is the primary source of our cash flows from operations. There are provisions in the majority of our tenant leases that are intended to protect us from, and mitigate the risk of, the impact of inflation. These provisions include rent steps, reimbursement billings for operating expense pass-through charges, real estate tax and insurance reimbursements on a per square-foot basis, or in some cases, annual reimbursement of operating expenses above a certain per square-foot allowance. However, due to the long-term nature of the leases, the leases may not readjust their reimbursement rates frequently enough to fully cover inflation.

### **Application of Critical Accounting Policies**

Our accounting policies have been established to conform with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied, thus, resulting in a different presentation of the financial statements. Additionally, other companies may utilize different estimates that may impact comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.

The critical accounting policies outlined below have been discussed with members of the audit committee of the Board.

#### Investment in Real Estate Assets

We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our depreciable assets. We consider the period of future benefit of the asset to determine the appropriate useful lives. These assessments have a direct impact on net income. The estimated useful lives of our assets by class are as follows:

Buildings	40 years
Building improvements	5-25 years
Land improvements	20-25 years
Tenant improvements	Shorter of economic life or lease term
Intangible lease assets	Lease term
Allocation of Purchase Price of Acquired Assets	

Upon the acquisition of real properties, we allocate the purchase price of properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and building, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above-market and below-market leases and the value of in-place leases, based in each case on their estimated fair values.

The fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land and building) are determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to land and building based on management s determination of the relative fair value of these assets. We determine the as-if-vacant fair value of a property using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers. Factors considered by us in performing these analyses include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases, including leasing commissions and other related costs. In estimating carrying costs, we include real estate taxes, insurance, and other operating expenses during the expected lease-up periods based on current market conditions.

The fair values of above-market and below-market in-place leases are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (a) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (b) our estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining terms of the leases. The capitalized above-market and below-market lease values are recorded as intangible lease assets or liabilities and amortized as an adjustment to rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases.

The fair values of in-place leases include direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant, opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided by acquiring an in-place lease, and tenant relationships. Direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant include commissions, tenant improvements and other direct costs and are estimated based on our consideration of current market costs to execute a similar lease. These direct costs are included in deferred lease costs in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases. The value of opportunity costs is calculated using the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease over a market absorption period for a similar lease. Customer relationships are valued based on expected renewal of a lease or the likelihood of obtaining a particular tenant for other locations. These lease intangibles are included in intangible lease assets in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the likelihood of obtaining a particular tenant for other locations. These lease intangibles are included in intangible lease assets in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets require us to estimate market lease rates, property operating expenses, carrying costs during lease-up periods, discount rates, market absorption periods, and the number of years the property is held for investment. The use of inappropriate estimates would result in an incorrect assessment of our purchase price allocations, which would impact the amount of our reported net income.

### Valuation of Real Estate Assets

We continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the real estate and related intangible assets, of both operating properties and properties under construction in which we have an ownership interest, either directly or through investments in joint ventures, may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present which suggest that the carrying amounts of real estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable, we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such expected undiscounted fair values, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets*, and recognize an impairment loss. Estimated fair values are calculated based on the following information in order of preference, dependent upon availability: (1) recently quoted market prices, (2) market prices for comparable properties, or (3) the present value of undiscounted cash flows, including estimated salvage value. We have determined that there has been no impairment in the carrying value of real estate assets held by us or any unconsolidated joint ventures at December 31, 2005 or 2004, respectively, except for the impairment charge of approximately \$16.1 million related to the Long Island Building recognized in second quarter 2005.

Projections of expected future operating cash flows require that we estimate future market rental income amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements, property operating expenses, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property and the number of years the property is held for investment, among other factors. The subjectivity of assumptions used in the future cash flow analysis, including discount rates, could result in an incorrect assessment of the property s fair value and could result in the misstatement of the carrying value of our real estate and related intangible assets and net income.

### **Related-Party Transactions and Agreements**

We have entered into agreements with our advisors, Wells Capital and Wells Management, whereby we pay certain fees or reimbursements to Wells Capital and Wells Management, or their affiliates, for asset advisory fees, acquisition and advisory fees, sales commissions, dealer-manager fees, and reimbursement of operating costs. See Note 11 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 included herein for a discussion of the various related-party transactions, agreements and fees.

#### **Commitments and Contingencies**

We are subject to certain contingencies and commitments with regard to certain transactions. Refer to Notes 6 and 11 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 for further explanation. Examples of such commitments and contingencies include:

Letter of credit (Note 6 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003);

Properties under contract (Note 6 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003);

Property under construction (Note 6 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003);

Commitments under existing leasing agreements (Note 6 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006);

Obligations under operating leases (Note 6 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003);

Litigation against Wells Capital and its affiliates (Note 11 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003); and

Tennessee Excise Taxes (Note 8 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006).

### Subsequent Events

# September 30, 2006 Estimated Net Asset Valuation

We recently engaged an independent appraisal firm to perform a valuation of our properties as of September 30, 2006. As a result of this valuation, on January 3, 2007, our Board determined that the estimated net asset value of our shares of common stock, based primarily on the net asset value of our real estate portfolio, was \$8.93 per share. The \$8.93 estimated net asset value per share was provided by an independent third party which based its estimate upon (1) the appraised value of our real estate assets as of September 30, 2006, and (2) consideration of the current value of our other assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006. This estimated net asset value per share is only an estimate, and is based upon a number of assumptions and estimates, which may not be accurate or complete. There were no liquidity discounts applied to this estimated valuation or discounts relating to the fact that we are currently externally managed, and no attempt was made to value the company as an enterprise. Further, this should not be viewed as the amount a stockholder would receive in the event that we were to list our shares in the

# Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form PREM14A

future or to liquidate our assets and distribute the proceeds to our stockholders since, among other things, this valuation was not reduced by potential real estate brokerage commissions or other costs of sale.

### Frank Russell Disposition

On December 15, 2006, we sold the Frank Russell Building for a gross sale price of approximately \$63.7 million, exclusive of closing costs, to an unaffiliated third party. As a result of this sale, we recognized a gain of approximately \$13.1 million, which is subject to change as additional information becomes available in subsequent periods.

### Changes to our Share Redemption Program

On December 14, 2006, our Board amended our current share redemption program to reserve the right to suspend the share redemption program without advance notice in the event that our Board concludes in good faith that we are in possession of undisclosed material information at a time when it also has outstanding redemption requests pending, for such temporary period of time as may be determined by our Board in order to allow us sufficient time to provide disclosure of such information to our stockholders. Further, in accordance with this amendment, effective January 29, 2007, our Board temporarily suspended our share redemption program until March 2007, so that stockholders could be provided material information related to the Internalization Transaction.

# QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

As a result of our debt facilities, we are exposed to interest rate changes. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flow primarily through a low-to-moderate level of overall borrowings. Currently, a significant portion of our debt is based on fixed interest rates to hedge against an anticipated rising interest rate environment.

Additionally, we may enter into interest swaps or other arrangements in order to mitigate our interest rate risk on a related financial instrument. We do not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Our financial instruments consist of both fixed- and variable-rate debt.

As of December 31, 2006, our consolidated debt consisted of the following:

	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	Thereafter	Total
Maturing debt:							
Variable rate	\$	38,000					\$ 38,000
Fixed rate	\$ 117,908	35,379	1,321	1,407	1,502	1,047,686	\$ 1,205,203
A							
Average interest rate:							
Variable rate		6.83%					
Fixed rate	4.43%	6.45%	8.34%	8.34%	8.34%	5.19%	5.16%
As of December 31, 2005, our consolidated debt consisted of the following:							

	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	Thereafter	Total
Maturing debt:							
Variable rate	\$ 21,100						\$ 21,100
Fixed rate	\$ 2,558	117,932	35,331	1,321	1,462	856,608	\$ 1,015,212
Average interest rate:							
Variable rate	5.24%						
Fixed rate	8.37%	4.43%	6.45%	8.34%	8.34%	5.11%	5.08%

As of December 31, 2004, our consolidated debt consisted of the following:

	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	Thereafter	Total
Maturing debt:							
Variable rate	\$	12,984	9,500				\$ 22,484
Fixed rate	\$ 2,485	2,558	117,932	35,331	1,321	708,071	\$ 867,698
Average interest rate:							
Variable rate		3.26%	3.91%				
Fixed rate	8.37%	8.37%	4.43%	6.45%	8.34%	5.08%	5.06%
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the estimated fair value of lines of credit and notes payable above was \$1.0 billion and \$881.7 million							

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the estimated fair value of lines of credit and notes payable above was \$1.0 billion and \$881.7 million, respectively.

The variable-rate debt is based on LIBOR plus a specified margin or prime as elected by us at certain intervals. An increase in the variable interest rate on the variable-rate facilities constitutes a market risk, as a change in rates would increase or decrease interest incurred and therefore cash flows available for distribution to stockholders.

A change in the interest rate on the fixed portion of our debt portfolio impacts the net financial instrument position but has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows.

As of December 31, 2005, a 1% increase in interest rates would result in additional interest expense of approximately \$10.3 million per year with a 1% decrease in interest rates resulting in a decrease in interest expense of approximately \$10.3 million per year.

During 2006, we entered into new financing consisting of long-term, fixed-rate debt facilities to repurchase shares pursuant to our share redemption program to hedge against an anticipated rising interest rate environment, while freeing capacity under our smaller variable-rate lines of credit to fund our short-term working capital needs. The increased percentage of fixed-rate debt may result in above-market interest rates in periods of falling interest rates, but will decrease our exposure to potential increases in interest rates over the next several years.

As of September 30, 2006, substantially all of our outstanding debt was subject to fixed interest rates. Our total outstanding debt, including draws under our line of credit mentioned below, has an average interest rate of approximately 5.24% per annum with expirations ranging from 2007 to 2028. A change in the market interest rate impacts the net financial instrument position of our fixed-rate debt portfolio but has no impact on interest incurred or cash flows. Such agreements may result in higher fixed interest rates in certain periods of lower variable interest rates, but are intended to decrease our exposure to potential increases in interest rates.

As of September 30, 2006, the draws outstanding under our \$85 Million Secured Line of Credit and our \$50.0 Million Secured Line of Credit are based on variable interest rates. As of September 30, 2006, the amounts outstanding under the lines of credit are \$71.2 million and \$0, respectively, and both facilities have a stated variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% per annum. To the extent that we borrow funds in the future under our variable-rate lines of credit, we would have exposure to increases in interest rates, which would potentially increase our cost of debt.

### EXPLANATION OF MARYLAND APPRAISAL RIGHTS STATUTE

You may be entitled to appraisal rights under the Maryland General Corporation Law (the MGCL) in connection with the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal. The preservation and exercise of appraisal rights are conditioned on strict adherence to the applicable provisions of the MGCL. Each stockholder desiring to exercise appraisal rights should refer to Title 3, Subtitle 2, of the MGCL, a copy of which is attached as **Appendix G** to this proxy statement, for a complete statement of their rights and the steps which must be followed in connection with the exercise of those rights. The following summary of the rights of objecting stockholders does not purport to be a complete statement of the procedures to be followed by our stockholders desiring to exercise their appraisal rights.

Under the MGCL, you will be entitled to demand and receive payment of the fair value of your shares of our shares of common stock in connection with the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal if one or both of such proposals are deemed to substantially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. However, if you who want to receive fair value for your shares you must follow specific procedures. These procedures are:

before or at the Special Meeting at which the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal and the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal will be considered, you must file with us a written objection to the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal;

you must not vote in favor of the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, as the case may be; and

you must make written demand on us stating the number and class of shares for which you demand payment, within 20 days after the Pre-Listing Amended and Restated Articles or the Post-Listing Amended and Restated Articles, as the case may be, have been accepted for record by the SDAT.

If you fail to comply with the requirements described above, you will be bound by the terms of the Pre-Listing Amended and Restated Articles or the Post-Listing Amended and Restated Articles, as the case may be.

If you object, we are required to promptly notify you in writing of the date of acceptance of the Pre-Listing Amended and Restated Articles or the Post-Listing Amended and Restated Articles, as the case may be, for record by the SDAT. We may send a written offer to you to pay for your shares of our common stock at what we consider to be the fair value thereof. Within 50 days after the SDAT accepts the Pre-Listing Amended and Restated Articles or the Post-Listing Amended and Restated Articles, as the case may be, for record, either we or any objecting stockholder who has not received payment for its shares may petition a court of equity in the appropriate county in Maryland for an appraisal to determine the fair value of the shares.

We do not presently intend to file an appraisal petition and if you seek to exercise appraisal rights, you should not assume that we will file such a petition or that we will initiate any negotiations with respect to the fair value of such shares. Accordingly, if you desire to have your shares appraised, you should initiate any petitions necessary for the perfection of your appraisal rights within the time periods and in the manner prescribed in the MGCL.

If the court finds that an objecting stockholder is entitled to an appraisal of its shares of our shares of common stock, the court is required to appoint three disinterested appraisers to determine the fair value of the shares on terms and conditions the court determines proper. The appraisers must, within 60 days after appointment (or such longer period as the court may direct), file with the court and mail to each party to the proceeding their report stating their conclusion as to the fair value of such shares.

Fair value is determined as of the close of business on the day the stockholders vote on the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, as the case may be, and may not include any appreciation or depreciation which directly or indirectly results from the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, as the case may be.

Within 15 days after the filing of the report, any party may object to such report and request a hearing on it. The court must, upon motion of any party, enter an order either confirming, modifying or rejecting such report and, if confirmed or modified, enter judgment for the appraised value of the shares of our shares of common stock. If the appraisers report is rejected, the court may determine the fair value of the shares of the objecting stockholders or may remit the proceeding to the same or other appraisers. Any judgment entered pursuant to a court proceeding shall include interest from the date of the stockholders vote on the action to which objection was made. Costs of the proceeding will be determined by the court and may be assessed against us or, if the court finds that your failure to accept an offer was arbitrary and vexatious or not in good faith, you, if you are an objecting stockholder, or both.

At any time after the filing of a petition for appraisal, the court may require objecting stockholders to submit their certificates representing the shares to the clerk of the court for notation of the pendency of the appraisal proceeding.

If you are an objecting stockholder, you will cease to have the right to receive any dividends or distributions payable to stockholders of record after the close of business on the date of the stockholders vote on the Pre-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal or the Post-Listing Charter Amendment Proposal, as the case may be, and will cease to have any right as our stockholder with respect to such shares except the right to receive payment of the fair value thereof.

# IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING DELIVERY OF SECURITY HOLDER DOCUMENTS

The SEC now permits corporations to send a single set of annual disclosure documents to any household at which two or more stockholders reside, unless contrary instructions have been received, but only if the corporation provides advance notice and follows certain procedures. In such cases, each stockholder continues to receive a separate notice of the meeting and proxy card. This householding process reduces the volume of duplicate information and reduces printing and mailing expenses. If your family has multiple accounts holding shares of common stock of Wells REIT, you should have already received a householding notification from Wells REIT. Please contact us directly if you have any questions or require additional copies of the annual disclosure documents. We will arrange for delivery of a separate copy of this Proxy Statement promptly upon your written or oral request. You may decide at any time to revoke your decision to household, and thereby receive multiple copies.

### STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Stockholders interested in nominating a person as a director or presenting any other business for consideration at our annual meeting of stockholders in 2007 may do so by following the procedures prescribed in our current Articles and Bylaws and Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act. In order to be eligible for inclusion in the proxy solicitation materials for our next annual meeting of stockholders in 2007, any director nominations and other stockholder proposals must have been received by our Secretary, Mr. Douglas P. Williams, at Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., 6200 The Corners Parkway, Norcross, Georgia 30092-3365 no later than December 29, 2006. In order to be eligible for presentation at our 2007 annual meeting, our Bylaws require that written notice of any director nominations or other stockholder proposals must be received by our Secretary no later than May 19, 2007, but any such director nominations or stockholder proposals received after December 29, 2006 will not be included in our proxy solicitation materials.

# I NDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Introductory Note	F-1
Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2006 (unaudited)	F-2
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2006	F-3
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited)	F-4
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006	F-5
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2005 (unaudited)	F-6
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2005	F-7
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006	
Consolidated Balance Sheets September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and December 31, 2005	F-8
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and 2005 (unaudited)	F-9
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Year Ended December 31, 2005 and the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited)	F-10
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and 2005 (unaudited)	F-11
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	F-12
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-20
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004	F-21
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	F-22
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	F-23
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	F-24
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-25
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	F-47
Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2005	F-48

## ADVISOR

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Report of Independent Auditors	F-52
Combined Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2006 (unaudited), December 31, 2005 and 2004 (unaudited)	F-53
Combined Statements of Income for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 (unaudited) and 2003 (unaudited)	F-54
Combined Statements of Owner s Deficit for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 (unaudited) and 2003 (unaudited)	F-55
Combined Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (unaudited) and for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 (unaudited) and 2003 (unaudited)	F-56
Notes to Combined Financial Statements	F-57

## 162

#### **Introductory Note**

#### Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Information

#### (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared to give effect to the proposed acquisition of Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. (WREAS) and Wells Government Services, Inc. (WGS), wholly owned subsidiaries of Wells Advisory Services I, LLC (WASI), an entity controlled by Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (WREF). Within the following unaudited proforma consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, references to the Advisor shall include WREAS and WGS and their predecessors including those portions of the operations of WASI, Wells Management and Wells Capital which previously provided advisory and management services to Wells REIT under related management and business advisory agreements (the Agreements). In exchange for acquiring all of the outstanding interests in WREAS and WGS, Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (Wells REIT) intends to issue 19,546,302 shares of its common stock (Wells REIT shares) to WASI (this transaction is referred to as the Internalization). Following the Internalization, Wells REIT intends to perform certain of the services previously performed by WREF for Wells REIT under the Agreements internally and to engage WREF to perform the remainder of those services on a temporary basis under separate transitional and/or support agreements.

The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2006 has been prepared to adjust Wells REIT s historical balance sheet to give effect to (i) the Internalization and (ii) a property acquisition and a property disposition, including related financing activities as if each transaction occurred on that date.

The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 have been prepared to give effect to the following items as if each of the related transactions had occurred on January 1, 2005: (i) in connection with the Internalization, the issuance of the Wells REIT shares, the inclusion of the historical operations of the Advisor and the elimination of certain related-party transactions, (ii) the acquisition of all properties, including the related financing activities, made subsequent to December 31, 2004, and (iii) the disposition of properties owned through unconsolidated joint ventures that were made subsequent to December 31, 2004.

The accompanying pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with Wells REIT s historical financial statements included in our previous filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, such as our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2006 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 8, 2006. The accompanying pro forma consolidated financial statements exclude pro forma adjustments for items or events that are probable of occurring, however, for which the amounts of such pro forma adjustments were not factually supportable at the time at which these pro forma financial statements were prepared, such as additional general and administrative expenses related to, among other things, long-term incentive compensation plans and non-compete agreements. Upon consummation of this transaction and completion of our allocation of the purchase price, we may attribute value to certain other intangible assets. Any value determined to be attributable to such assets would reduce the amount currently allocated to goodwill.

## Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet

## As of September 30, 2006

(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

	Adjustm		ro Forma Istments for Property				The Inte		
			quisitions		Subtotal		The		
	Wells REIT Historical(a)	(Disp	oositions)(b)		before the ternalization		dvisor torical(c)	ro Forma ljustments	Pro Forma Total
Assets:								-	
Real estate assets, at cost:									
Land	\$ 637,069	\$	1,664	\$	638,733	\$		\$	\$ 638,733
Buildings and improvements, less accumulated depreciation of \$372,462 and \$303,552 as of September 30, 2006 and									
December 31, 2005, respectively	3,117,422		26,971		3,144,393				3,144,393
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of \$131,436 and \$104,299 as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively	225,728		12,506		238,234				238,234
Construction in progress	30,435		12,500		30,435				30,435
Construction in progress	50,455				50,455				50,455
Total real estate assets	4,010,654		41,141		4,051,795				4,051,795
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures	57,231		11,111		57,231				57,231
Cash and cash equivalents	37,268		58,959		96,227			(738)(d)	95,489
Due from unconsolidated joint ventures	950		50,959		950			(738)(u)	950
Due from affiliate	180				180		580	(180)(d)	950
	160				100		580	(180)(d) (580)(e)	
Tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,518 and \$689 as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005,									
respectively	108,937		(827)		108,110				108,110
Prepaid expenses and other assets	19,775		(4)		19,771		332		20,103
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of \$6,460 and \$5,099 as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005,									
respectively	9,816				9,816				9,816
Deferred lease costs, less accumulated amortization of \$72,125 and \$51,786 as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005,									
respectively	184,983		(697)		184,286				184,286
Goodwill								177,000(f)	177,000
Total assets	\$ 4,429,794	\$	98,572	\$	4,528,366	\$	912	\$ 175,502	\$ 4,704,780
Liabilities:									
Lines of credit and notes payable	\$ 1,234,519	\$	86,000	\$	1,320,519	\$		\$	\$ 1,320,519
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and									
accrued capital expenditures	73,686		5		73,691		7,037	(5,810)(h)	74,918
Due to affiliates	918				918			(918)(d)	-

Edgar Filing: WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST INC - Form	n PRFM14A
Edgar Filling. WELEO TIERE EOTATE INVEOTIMENT THOOT INO TOT	

Deferred income	21,597		21,597			21,597
Intangible lease liabilities, less accumulated amortization of \$39,807 and \$34,431 as of	21,077		21,077			21,007
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005,	05 410	(12)	05 406			05 406
respectively	95,419	(13)	95,406			95,406
Total liabilities	1,426,139	85,992	1,512,131	7,037	(6,728)	1,512,440
<b>Commitments and Contingencies</b>						
Minority Interest	5,892		5,892		(200)(i)	5,692
Redeemable Common Stock	104,713		104,713			104,713
Stockholders Equity:						
Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 900,000,000						
shares authorized; 462,093,513 shares issued						
and outstanding as of September 30, 2006;						
and 469,423,177 shares issued and						
outstanding as of December 31, 2005	4,621		4,621		22(i)	
					195(j)	4,838
Additional paid-in capital	3,327,530		3,327,530		178(i)	
					174,805(j)	3,502,513
Cumulative distributions in excess of earnings	(334,388)	12,580	(321,808)	(6,125)	7,230	(320,703)
Redeemable common stock	(104,713)		(104,713)			(104,713)
Total stockholders equity	2,893,050	12,580	2,905,630	(6,125)	182,430	3,081,935
- cui scomeraers equity	2,070,000	12,000	2,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	(0,120)	102,100	0,001,000
Total liabilities, minority interest, redeemable						
common stock, and stockholders equity	\$ 4,429,794	\$ 98,572	\$ 4,528,366	\$ 912	\$ 175,502	\$ 4,704,780
1 5						

See accompanying notes.

#### Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet

#### As of September 30, 2006

- (a) Historical balances were extracted from Wells REIT s unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2006, which is included herein on page F-8.
- (b) Reflects adjustments to assets and liabilities resulting property acquisitions and dispositions executed from October 1, 2006 through the date of this filing as if such transactions occurred on September 30, 2006.
- (c) Historical balances were extracted from the Advisor s unaudited combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2006, which is included herein on page F-53.
- (d) Reflects settlement of amounts due from and due to related-parties in connection with the Internalization.
- (e) Reflects the elimination of amounts due from Wells REIT to the Advisor in connection with the Internalization.
- (f) The internalization transaction will be accounted for as the consummation of a business combination between parties with a pre-existing relationship. The purchase consideration has been allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets, with the remainder recognized as goodwill. No amounts were deemed related to the settlement of contracts with the Advisor. Assuming the transaction was consummated on September 30, 2006, the estimated consideration for the Internalization follows (in millions):

Wells REIT shares issued as consideration (19,546,302 shares to be issued at \$8.9531 per share (g))	\$ 175.0
Acquisition costs and fees	2.0
Total cost	\$ 177.0

- (g) Reflects an estimated net asset value per share as of September 30, 2006 of \$8.93, adjusted for the estimated subordinated disposition fees due from Wells REIT to WREF of approximately \$0.02 per share that will be eliminated in connection with the Internalization.
- (h) Reflects an income tax liability of the Advisor, which will be settled by the Advisor and not acquired by Wells REIT.
- (i) Reflects the return of initial invested capital of \$200,000 to an affiliate of WREF through the issuance of 22,339 shares of common stock.
- (j) Reflects the issuance of 19,546,302 shares of common stock in conjunction with the Internalization.

## **Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations**

## For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

		Pro Forma	Pro Forma	The Inter	rnalization	
	Wells	Adjustments for	Subtotal	The		
	REIT Historical(a)	Property Operations(b)	before the Internalization	Advisor Historical(c)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Total
Revenues:		• ``			0	
Rental income	\$ 332,449	\$ 7,286	\$ 339,735	\$	\$	\$ 339,735
Tenant reimbursements	97,566	3,801	101,367			101,367
Lease termination income	9,784		9,784			9,784
	439,799	11,087	450,886			450,886
Expenses:						
Property operating costs	146,109	6,302	152,411			152,411
Asset and property management fees:						
Related-party	18,028	588	18,616		(18,616)(d)	
Other	3,945		3,945			3,945
Depreciation	68,910	1,202	70,112			70,112
Amortization	51,141	2,496	53,637			53,637
Lease termination expense	4,170		4,170			4,170
General and administrative	13,707	(21)	13,686	15,910	(5,702)(d)	
					(5,810)(e)	
					229(f)	18,313(g)
Casualty and impairment losses on real						
estate assets	100		100			100
	306,110	10,567	316,677	15,910	(29,899)	302,688
Real estate operating income	133,689	520	134,209	(15,910)	29.899	148,198
	155,005	520	131,207	(15,510)	29,099	110,170
Other income (expense):						
Interest expense	(45,120)	(3,108)	(48,228)			(48,228)
Interest and other income	1,930	279	2,209	25,157	(25,157)(d)	2,209
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint	1 (22	(20)	1 505			1.505
ventures	1,623	(38)	1,585			1,585
	(41,567)	(2,867)	(44,434)	25,157	(25,157)	(44,434)
	(41,507)	(2,007)	(++,+3+)	25,157	(25,157)	(++,+3+)
Income (loss) before minority interest	92,122	(2,347)	89,775	9,247	4,742	103,764
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities	(492)		(492)			(492)

Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 91,630	\$ (2,347)	\$ 89,283	\$ 9,247	\$ 4,742	\$ 10	3,272
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share - basic and diluted:	\$ 0.20					\$	0.21
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted	461,554					48	1,123

See accompanying notes.

#### Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations

#### For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

- (a) Historical balances were extracted from Wells REIT s unaudited consolidated statement of income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, which is included herein on page F-9.
- (b) Reflects the incremental results of operations from properties acquired through the date of this filing, including the related financing activities, reduced by the results of operations recognized through the respective sale dates for properties owned by unconsolidated joint ventures that were sold during the period.
- (c) Historical balances were extracted from the Advisor s unaudited combined statement of income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, which is included herein on page F-54.
- (d) Reflects the elimination of asset and property management fees and general and administrative expense reimbursements paid from Wells REIT to the Advisor, which will no longer be incurred following the Internalization.
- (e) Reflects income tax expense incurred by the Advisor, which will not be incurred by Wells REIT following the Internalization.
- (f) Reflects base rent payable to WREF for 13,000 square feet of office space in WREF s corporate headquarters located at 6200 The Corners Parkway, Norcross, Georgia, which is calculated at \$25,450 per month. This lease is anticipated to be executed on or prior to closing of the Internalization.
- (g) We do not anticipate incurring material incremental costs from the transitional/support agreements under which Wells REIT intends to engage WREF to provide certain administrative services to Wells REIT following the Internalization. Historical costs comparable to the costs anticipated to be incurred under such agreements in the future are included in Wells REIT s historical general and administrative expenses.

## **Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations**

## For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

(in thousands, except for share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

		Pr	ro Forma	Pro Forma		The Inter	nalization	
	Wells	Adju	stments for	1	Subtotal	The Advisor		
	REIT Historical(a)		Property erations(b)		efore the ernalization	Historical(c)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Total
Revenues:								
Rental income	\$ 435,164	\$	16,662	\$	451,826	\$	\$	\$ 451,826
Tenant reimbursements	128,306		6,824		135,130			135,130
Lease termination income	4,913		500		5,413			5,413
	568,383		23,986		592,369			592,369
Expenses:								
Property operating costs	187,259		10,439		197,698			197,698
Asset and property management fees:	01.005		1 1 7 0		00.050		(00.050) (1)	
Related-party	21,805		1,153		22,958		(22,958)(d)	-
Other	5,538 88,080		2765		5,538 90,845			5,538 90,845
Depreciation Amortization	64,490		2,765		,			,
	1,341		5,970		70,460 1,341			70,460 1,341
Lease termination expense General and administrative	1,341		(26)		1,341	23,657	(9,500)(d)	1,341
General and administrative	10,011		(20)		17,905	25,057	(7,293)(e)	
							305(f)	25,154(g)
Casualty and impairment losses on real estate							505(1)	20,10 ((6)
assets	16,093				16,093			16,093
	-,				- ,			- ,
	402,617		20,301		422,918	23,657	(39,446)	407,129
	,,		20,001			20,007	(0),110)	,
Real estate operating income	165,766		3.685		169,451	(23,657)	39,446	185,240
Real estate operating meone	105,700		5,005		107,451	(23,037)	57,440	105,240
Other income (expanse).								
Other income (expense): Interest expense	(49,320)		(10,956)		(60,276)			(60,276)
Interest expense	5,801		401		6,202	35,263	(35,263)(d)	6,202
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint	5,001		401		0,202	55,205	(33,203)(u)	0,202
ventures	14,765		(12,515)		2.250			2,250
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )	1 1,7 00		(12,010)		2,200			2,200
	(28,754)		(23,070)		(51,824)	35,263	(35,263)	(51,824)
	(20,754)		(23,070)		(31,024)	55,205	(33,203)	(31,024)
Income (loss) before minority interest	137,012		(19,385)		117,627	11,606	4,183	133,416
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated			. , ,					
entities	(611)				(611)			(611)
					. ,			. ,
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 136,401	\$	(19,385)	\$	117,016	\$ 11,606	\$ 4,183	\$ 132,805
	\$ 0.30							\$ 0.27

Income (loss) from continuing operations per share - basic and diluted:

Weighted-average common shares								
outstanding - basic and diluted	466,285	485,854						
See accompanying notes.								

### Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations

#### For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

- (a) Historical balances were extracted from Wells REIT s consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2005, which is included herein on page F-22.
- (b) Reflects the incremental results of operations from properties acquired through the date of this filing, including the related financing activities, reduced by the results of operations recognized through the respective sale dates for properties owned by unconsolidated joint ventures that were sold during the period.
- (c) Historical balances were extracted from the Advisor s combined statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2005, which is included herein on page F-54.
- (d) Reflects the elimination of asset and property management fees and general and administrative expense reimbursements paid from Wells REIT to the Advisor, which will no longer be incurred following the Internalization.
- (e) Reflects income tax expense incurred by the Advisor, which will not be incurred by Wells REIT following the Internalization.
- (f) Reflects base rent payable to WREF for 13,000 square feet of office space in WREF s corporate headquarters located at 6200 The Corners Parkway, Norcross, Georgia, which is calculated at \$25,450 per month. This lease is anticipated to be executed on or prior to closing of the Internalization.
- (g) We do not anticipate incurring material incremental costs from the transitional/support agreements under which Wells REIT intends to engage WREF to provide certain administrative services to Wells REIT following the Internalization. Historical costs comparable to the costs anticipated to be incurred under such agreements in the future are included in Wells REIT s historical general and administrative expenses.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

#### (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

#### (Unaudited)

	Se	eptember 30,		
		2007	D	ecember 31,
Assets:		2006		2005
Real estate assets, at cost:				
Land	\$	637.069	\$	618,054
Buildings and improvements, less accumulated depreciation of \$372,462 and \$303,552 as of September 30,	Ψ	037,007	Ψ	010,051
2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively		3,117,422		3,085,906
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of \$131,436 and \$104,299 as of September 30, 2006		5,117,122		5,005,700
and December 31, 2005, respectively		225,728		235,410
Construction in progress		30,435		20,734
Assets related to discontinued operations, net				32,951
				,
Total real estate assets		4,010,654		3,993,055
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures		57,231		58,817
Cash and cash equivalents		37,268		48,973
Due from unconsolidated joint ventures		950		931
Due from affiliate		180		215
Tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$1,518 and \$689 as of September 30, 2006				
and December 31, 2005, respectively		108,937		97.679
Prepaid expenses and other assets		19,775		22,124
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of \$6,460 and \$5,099 as of September 30, 2006		- ,		,
and December 31, 2005, respectively		9,816		10,233
Deferred lease costs, less accumulated amortization of \$72,125 and \$51,786 as of September 30, 2006 and				,
December 31, 2005, respectively		184,983		165,226
Other assets related to discontinued operations, net				1,312
Total assets	\$	4,429,794	\$	4,398,565
Liabilities:				
Lines of credit and notes payable	\$	1,234,519	\$	1,036,312
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures		73,686		68,057
Due to affiliates		918		4,167
Deferred income		21,597		22,301
Intangible lease liabilities, less accumulated amortization of \$39,807 and \$34,431 as of September 30, 2006				
and December 31, 2005, respectively		95,419		106,158
Total liabilities		1,426,139		1,236,995
Commitments and Contingencies		, ,		
Minority Interest		5.892		5,408
Redeemable Common Stock		104,713		167,015
Stockholders Equity:		10 1,713		107,015
Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 900,000,000 shares authorized; 462,093,513 shares issued and outstanding				
as of September 30, 2006; and 469,423,177 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005		4,621		4,694
Additional paid-in capital		3,327,530		3,391,998

Cumulative distributions in excess of earnings Redeemable common stock	(334,388) (104,713)	(240,530) (167,015)
Total stockholders equity	2,893,050	2,989,147
Total liabilities, minority interest, redeemable common stock, and stockholders equity	\$ 4,429,794	\$ 4,398,565

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	(Unau	dited)	(Unau	udited)
	Septem		Septem	ths Ended iber 30,
Damanua	2006	2005	2006	2005
Revenues: Rental income	¢ 112 004	\$ 108,430	\$ 222 440	\$ 227 208
Tenant reimbursements	\$ 112,004 34,171	\$ 108,430 32,125	\$ 332,449 97,566	\$ 327,298 95,752
Lease termination income	8,439	52,125	97,300	4,308
	0,437		9,704	4,508
E	154,614	140,555	439,799	427,358
Expenses:	50.460	47 420	146 100	127 194
Property operating costs	50,460	47,430	146,109	137,184
Asset and property management fees:	( 150	5 295	10.020	16 450
Related-party	6,158	5,285	18,028	16,459
Other	1,202	1,377	3,945	4,176
Depreciation Amortization	23,311 16,687	22,046 16,223	68,910	65,679 48,374
		10,223	51,141 4,170	48,374
Lease termination expense General and administrative	2,745			
	5,027	3,358	13,707 100	12,262 16,093
Casualty and impairment losses on real estate assets			100	10,095
	105,590	95,783	306,110	301,463
Real estate operating income	49,024	44,772	133,689	125,895
Other income (expense):				
Interest expense	(15,582)	(13,058)	(45,120)	(36,128)
Interest and other income	949	604	1,930	5,125
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures	461	538	1,623	14,354
	(14,172)	(11,916)	(41,567)	(16,649)
Income from continuing operations before minority interest	34,852	32,856	92,122	109,246
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities	(158)	(154)	(492)	(442)
Income from continuing operations	34,694	32,702	91,630	108,804
Discontinued operations:				
Operating income	120	848	1,741	14,235
Gain on sale of real estate assets	13,434		14,618	177,386
Income from discontinued operations	13,554	848	16,359	191,621
Net income	\$ 48,248	\$ 33,550	\$ 107,989	\$ 300,425
Per share information - basic and diluted:				
Income from continuing operations	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.20	\$ 0.23
Income from discontinued operations	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.41

Net income available to common stockholders	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.64
Weighted-average common shares outstanding basic and diluted	459,656	461,657	461,554	466,482

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

## FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

## AND FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	Commo	n Stock		Cumulative			
			Additional	Distributions			Total
			Paid-In	in Excess	Redeemable Common	Other Comprehensive	Stockholders
	Shares	Amount	Capital	of Earnings	Stock	Income	Equity
Balance, December 31, 2004	473,486	\$ 4,735	\$ 4,203,918	\$ (283,184)	\$ (225,955)	\$ 86	\$ 3,699,600
Issuance of common stock	18,834	188	165,331				165,519
Redemptions of common stock	(22,897)	(229)	(217,866)				(218,095)
Redeemable common stock					58,940		58,940
Special distribution (\$1.62 per share)			(748,526)				(748,526)
Dividends (\$0.61 per share)				(286,481)			(286,481)
Commissions and discounts on stock sales			(10,488)				(10,488)
Other offering costs			(371)				(371)
Components of comprehensive income:							
Net income				329,135			329,135
Change in value of interest rate swap						(86)	(86)
Comprehensive income							329,049
Balance, December 31, 2005	469,423	4,694	3,391,998	(240,530)	(167,015)		2,989,147
Issuance of common stock	13,574	136	113,617				113,753
Redemptions of common stock	(20,903)	(209)	(174,966)				(175,175)
Redeemable common stock					62,302		62,302
Dividends (\$0.44 per share)				(201,847)			(201,847)
Commissions and discounts on stock sales			(3,075)				(3,075)
Other offering costs			(44)				(44)
Net income				107,989			107,989
Balance, September 30, 2006	462,094	\$ 4,621	\$ 3,327,530	\$ (334,388)	\$ (104,713)	\$	\$ 2,893,050

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

#### (Unaudited)

#### Nine months ended

	Septem 2006	ber 30, 2005
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:		
Net income	\$ 107,989	\$ 300,425
Operating distributions received from unconsolidated joint ventures	3,474	4,881
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation	69,632	68,836
Other amortization	50,207	49,253
Lease termination expense	4,170	1,236
Casualty and impairment losses on real estate assets	100	16,093
Amortization of deferred financing costs and fair market value adjustments on notes payable	906	876
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures	(1,623)	(14,354)
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated entities	493	442
Gain on sale of real estate assets	(14,618)	(177,386)
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Decrease in due from affiliate	35	21
Increase in tenant receivables, net	(12,968)	(10,453)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets	(11,438)	(14,904)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses	7,093	(13,073)
(Decrease) increase in due to affiliates	(2,091)	446
Decrease in deferred income	(849)	(9,605)
Net cash provided by operating activities	200,512	202,734
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:	,	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
Investment in real estate and earnest money paid	(169,343)	(32,594)
Proceeds from master leases	963	
Net sale proceeds for wholly owned properties	48,302	711,816
Net sale proceeds received from unconsolidated joint ventures		44,872
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures	(284)	(439)
Acquisition and advisory fees paid	(2,485)	(2,995)
Deferred lease costs paid	(20,691)	(4,158)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities	(143,538)	716,502
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:		
Deferred financing costs paid	(944)	(929)
Proceeds from lines of credit and notes payable	470,360	307,116
Repayments of lines of credit and notes payable	(271,698)	(159,904)
Issuance of common stock	112,796	121,157
Redemptions of common stock	(173,593)	(209,774)
Dividends paid	(201,856)	(218,418)
Special distribution	(201,000)	(748,526)
Commissions on stock sales paid	(3,700)	(6,047)
Other offering costs paid	(44)	(327)
Net cash used in financing activities	(68,679)	(915,652)
-		( , , ,
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(11,705)	3,584

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	48,973	39,669
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 37,268	\$ 43,253

See accompanying notes.

### WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### **SEPTEMBER 30, 2006**

#### (unaudited)

## 1. Organization

Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (Wells REIT) is a Maryland corporation that qualifies as a real estate investment trust (REIT) for federal income tax purposes and engages in the acquisition and ownership of commercial real estate properties throughout the United States, including properties that are under construction, newly constructed, or have operating histories. Wells REIT was incorporated in 1997 and commenced operations on June 5, 1998. Wells REIT conducts business primarily through Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), a Delaware limited partnership. Wells REIT is the sole general partner and possesses full legal control and authority over the operations of Wells OP. Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital) is the sole limited partner of Wells OP. Wells OP owns properties directly, through wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with real estate limited partnerships sponsored by Wells Capital, and through certain joint ventures with parties not affiliated with Wells REIT or Wells Capital. References to Wells REIT herein shall include Wells REIT and all subsidiaries of Wells REIT, including consolidated joint ventures, Wells OP, and Wells OP is subsidiaries. See Note 7 for additional information related to Wells Capital.

As of September 30, 2006, Wells REIT owned interests in 84 properties, either directly or through joint ventures, comprising approximately 21.2 million square feet of commercial office and industrial space located in 23 states and the District of Columbia. As of September 30, 2006, these properties were approximately 95% leased.

Since its inception, Wells REIT has completed four public offerings of common stock at \$10 per share. Combined with the dividend reinvestment plan, such offerings have provided approximately \$5.2 billion in total net offering proceeds. From these proceeds, Wells REIT has paid costs related to the offerings of (1) approximately \$171.1 million in acquisition and advisory fees and acquisition expenses; (2) approximately \$477.5 million in commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees; and (3) approximately \$62.7 million in organization and other offering costs. In addition, Wells REIT used proceeds from debt and net offering proceeds of approximately \$568.5 million to redeem shares pursuant to its share redemption program and, in one instance, to repurchase shares resulting from a legal settlement. The remaining net offering proceeds of approximately \$3.9 billion were primarily used to fund the purchase of real estate assets. Wells REIT does not currently anticipate offering additional shares to the public. In addition, on June 14, 2005, Wells REIT distributed approximately \$748.5 million of net sales proceeds to stockholders as a return of invested capital.

Wells REIT registered an additional 100 million shares of common stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) for issuances pursuant to its dividend reinvestment plan under a Registration Statement filed on Form S-3 (Commission File No. 333-114212), which became effective on April 5, 2004.

Wells REIT s stock is not listed on a national exchange. However, Wells REIT s Articles of Incorporation require Wells REIT to begin the process of liquidating its investments and distributing the resulting proceeds to the stockholders if its shares are not listed on a national exchange by January 30, 2008. Wells REIT s Articles of Incorporation can generally only be amended by a proxy vote of Wells REIT s stockholders.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of Wells REIT have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, and do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the statements for the unaudited interim periods presented include all adjustments, which are of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for such periods. Results for these interim periods are not necessarily indicative of a full-year s results. Wells REIT s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Wells REIT, Wells OP, and certain entities in which Wells REIT or Wells OP

has a controlling financial interest. For further information, refer to the financial statements and footnotes included in Wells REIT s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

#### Revenue Recognition

All leases on real estate assets held by Wells REIT are classified as operating leases, and the related base rental income is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Tenant reimbursements are recognized as revenue in the period that the related operating cost is incurred and are billed to tenants pursuant to the terms of the respective leases. Rental income and tenant reimbursements collected in advance are recorded as deferred income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Lease termination income is recognized once the tenant has lost the right to lease the space and Wells REIT has satisfied all obligations under the related lease or lease termination agreement.

In conjunction with a property acquired during the first quarter 2006, Wells REIT entered into a master lease agreement with the seller under which the seller is obligated to pay rent pertaining to certain spaces with near-term rent abatements. This master lease was established in order to mitigate the potential negative effects of lost rental income and expense reimbursements related to these spaces. Wells REIT records payments received under master lease agreements as a reduction of the basis of the underlying property rather than as rental income. Wells REIT received master lease proceeds of approximately \$1.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

#### Income Taxes

Wells REIT has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ), and has operated as such beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 1998. To qualify as a REIT, Wells REIT must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of its adjusted REIT taxable income, as defined by the Code, to its stockholders. As a REIT, Wells REIT generally is not subject to income tax on income it distributes to stockholders. Wells REIT is subject to certain state and local taxes related to the operations of properties in certain locations, which have been provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

#### Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation.

## Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109* (FIN 48), which clarifies the relevant criteria and approach for the recognition, derecognition, and measurement of uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 will be effective for Wells REIT beginning January 1, 2007. Wells REIT is currently assessing the provisions and evaluating the financial statement impact of FIN 48 on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements* (SFAS No. 157), which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures required for fair value measurements under GAAP. SFAS No. 157 emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, as opposed to an entity-specific measurement. SFAS No. 157 will be effective for Wells REIT beginning January 1, 2008. Wells REIT is currently assessing provisions and evaluating the financial statement impact of SFAS No. 157 on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, *Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements* (SAB No. 108), which provides interpretive guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006, and will be effective for Wells REIT beginning December 31, 2006. Wells REIT does not believe the adoption of such guidance will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements.

## 3. Acquisitions of Real Estate Assets

On August 31, 2006, Wells REIT purchased a two-building office complex constructed in 1997 and 1998 totaling approximately 386,000 aggregate rentable square feet located on a 16.8-acre land parcel in Irving, Texas (Las Colinas Corporate Center). Wells REIT purchased Las Colinas Corporate Center for approximately \$60.8 million, exclusive of closing costs, and it is leased to H.D. Vest, Inc. (approximately 21%), Deloitte & Touche USA LLP (approximately 14%), The Feld Group, Inc. (approximately 11%), and various other office tenants (approximately 43%). Approximately 11% of Las Colinas Corporate Center is currently vacant.

## 4. Dispositions of Real Estate Assets

Northrop Grumman Building

On July 6, 2006, Wells REIT sold the Northrop Grumman Building to an unaffiliated third party for approximately \$45.1 million, exclusive of closing costs, and recognized a gain of approximately \$13.4 million, which may be subject to change as additional information becomes available in subsequent periods.

### **Discontinued** Operations

The results of operations for the Northrop Grumman Building (sold in July 2006), the IRS Daycare Building (sold in April 2006), and 23 wholly owned properties included in the April 2005 27-property sale are classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The details comprising income from discontinued operations are provided below (in thousands):

	Three Mon	ths Ended	ed Nine Months End		
	Septem 2006	September 30, 2006 2005		nber 30, 2005	
Revenues:					
Rental income	\$ 139	\$ 1,363	\$ 2,563	\$ 20,299	
Tenant reimbursements	(153)	(70)	86	2,797	
	(14)	1,293	2,649	23,096	
Expenses:					
Property operating costs	(145)	(101)	109	3,499	
Asset and property management fees:					
Related-party				382	
Other		5	3	147	
Depreciation		476	722	3,157	
Amortization	1	19	40	1,907	
General and administrative	10	46	34	245	
	(134)	445	908	9,337	
Real estate operating income	120	848	1,741	13,759	
Other income (expense):					
Interest expense				(1,281)	
Interest and other income				1,757	
Gain on sale of real estate assets	13,434		14,618	177,386	
	13,434		14,618	177,862	
				-	
Income from discontinued operations	\$ 13,554	\$ 848	\$ 16,359	\$ 191,621	

## 5. Lines of Credit and Notes Payable

As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, Wells REIT had lines of credit and notes payable outstanding as follows (in thousands):

	September 30, 2006	December 31, 2005
Secured Pooled Facility	\$ 350,000	\$ 350,000
Aon Center Chicago Mortgage Notes	225,000	200,000

\$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan	125,000	
Leo Burnett Building Mortgage Note	120,000	120,000
WDC Mortgage Note	115,167	115,167
\$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan	105,000	105,000
\$85.0 Million Secured Line of Credit	71,200	
\$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan	45,000	45,000

	September 30, 2006	December 31, 2005
3100 Clarendon Boulevard Building Mortgage Note	34,655	35,110
One Brattle Square Building Mortgage Note	27,824	28,827
1075 West Entrance Building Mortgage Note	15,673	16,108
Merck Construction Loan		21,100
	\$ 1,234,519	\$ 1,036,312

Wells REIT made interest payments, including amounts capitalized, of approximately \$43.7 million and \$36.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

On October 2, 2006, Wells REIT obtained a \$42.5 million long-term, fixed-rate loan from Wachovia Bank, N.A. (the \$42.5 Million Fixed-Rate Loan), which matures on October 11, 2016, and requires interest-only payments each month at a rate of 5.70% per annum. All principal and any unpaid interest are due on the maturity date. From the commencement date through July 2, 2016, Wells REIT may prepay the \$42.5 Million Fixed-Rate Loan with a prepayment penalty fee equal to the greater of an amount calculated to maintain the lender s yield over the term of the loan or 1% of the outstanding principal balance. From July 2, 2016 through the maturity date, Wells REIT may prepay the \$42.5 million loan without a prepayment penalty. The \$42.5 Million Fixed-Rate Loan is secured by mortgages on the Las Colinas Corporate Center (see Note 3 above). Wells REIT used the proceeds from the \$42.5 Million Fixed-Rate Loan primarily to repay draws made on its lines of credit to fund the acquisition of Las Colinas Corporate Center.

## 6. Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities

Outlined below are significant noncash investing and financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

	Nine mon Septemb thous 2006	er 30 ands	, (in
Investment in real estate funded with other assets	\$ 5,000	\$	
Write-off of fully amortized intangible lease assets	\$ 11,698	\$	
Acquisition and advisory fees due to affiliate	\$	\$	562
Acquisition and advisory fees applied to investments	\$ 1,328	\$	2,149
Prepaid and other assets assumed upon acquisition of properties	\$ 74	\$	
Write-off of fully amortized deferred lease costs	\$ 1,400	\$	
Liabilities assumed upon acquisition of properties	\$ 1,158	\$	
Accrued capital expenditures and deferred lease costs	\$ 12,589	\$	1,673
Write-off of fully amortized intangible lease liabilities	\$ 6,107	\$	
Discounts applied to issuance of common stock	\$ 957	\$	5,738
Discounts reduced as a result of redemptions of common stock	\$ 1,582	\$	3,381

Redeemable common stock

\$104,713 \$133,964

## 7. Related-Party Transactions

Asset Management Advisory Agreement

Effective January 1, 2005, Wells REIT entered into the Asset Management Advisory Agreement (the Asset Management Advisory Agreement ) with Wells Management Company, Inc. (Wells Management). Under the terms of the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, Wells REIT incurs asset advisory fees payable to Wells Management for, among other things:

serving as Wells REIT s investment and financial advisor;

managing the day-to-day operations of Wells REIT;

formulating and implementing strategies to administer, promote, manage, operate, maintain, improve, finance and refinance, market, lease, and dispose of properties; and

providing certain accounting, compliance, and other administrative services for Wells REIT. The fees for these services are payable monthly in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 0.5% of the fair market value of all properties owned directly, plus Wells REIT s interest in properties held through joint ventures. This fee is reduced by (i) tenant-reimbursed property management fees paid to Wells Management, and (ii) in the event that Wells Management retains an independent third-party property manager to manage one or more properties currently being managed by Wells Management, the amount of property management fees paid to such third-party property

managers. At the option of Wells Management, up to 10% of such monthly fee may be paid in shares of common stock of Wells REIT. Wells REIT incurred such fees of approximately \$6.2 million and \$5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which are recorded as asset and property management fees-related party. Wells REIT incurred such fees of \$0 for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and \$0.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which are recorded within income from discontinued operations.

Additionally, per the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, Wells Management is entitled to earn the following disposition and incentive fees, which are similar in nature to previous agreements:

For any property sold by Wells REIT, a disposition fee of the lesser of 50% of a competitive real estate commission or 3.0% of the sales price of the property, subordinated to the payment of distributions to stockholders equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital;

Incentive fee of 10% of net sales proceeds remaining after stockholders have received distributions equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital; or

Listing fee of 10% of the excess by which the market value of the stock plus distributions paid prior to listing exceeds the sum of 100% of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital.

Wells REIT incurred no disposition, incentive, or listing fees during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. However, on February 21, 2005, the board of directors of Wells REIT approved a subordinated disposition fee of 0.33% of the gross sale price of the properties sold as part of the April 2005 27-property sale to be paid to Wells Management as a result of the closing of this transaction. Since the above conditions have not been met at this time, this fee was not paid at the closing of the property sale and will be paid only in the event and at the time that the conditions are met.

The Asset Management Advisory Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either side gives notice of its intent to not renew. In addition, either party may terminate the Asset Management Advisory Agreement upon 60 days written notice. In April 2006, Wells REIT s board of directors agreed to renew the existing Asset Management Advisory Agreement for the remainder of calendar year 2006 with stipulations that: (i) the fair market value defined in the Asset Management Advisory Agreement is to be based on the most recent net asset valuation performed on Wells REIT s properties, and (ii) for 2006, a credit of \$1.2 million shall be applied against asset advisory fees otherwise payable under the Asset Management.

#### Acquisition Advisory Agreement

Effective January 1, 2005, Wells REIT entered into the Acquisition Advisory Agreement with Wells Capital. Under the terms of the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, Wells REIT is obligated to pay a fee to Wells Capital for services relating to, among other things, capital-raising functions; the investigation, selection, and acquisition of properties; and certain transfer agent and stockholder communication functions. The fee payable to Wells Capital under the Acquisition Advisory Agreement is 3.5% of aggregate gross proceeds raised from the sale of shares of Wells REIT, exclusive of proceeds received from Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan used to fund repurchases of shares of common stock

pursuant to Wells REIT s share redemption program. On November 15, 2005, the board of directors approved an amendment to the dividend reinvestment plan to, among other things, eliminate acquisition and advisory fees on shares sold under this plan beginning in September 2006. Wells REIT incurred the following acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursement of acquisition expenses for the three months and nine months ended September 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2006	20	005	2006	2005	
Acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursement of acquisition expenses	\$ 0	\$	562	\$ 1,328	\$ 2,149	

#### Master Property Management Agreement

Effective January 1, 2005, Wells REIT entered into the Master Property Management, Leasing, and Construction Management Agreement (the Master Property Management Agreement ) with Wells Management. Under the Master Property Management Agreement, Wells REIT has retained Wells Management to manage, coordinate the leasing of, and manage construction activities related to certain properties of Wells REIT. Any amounts currently paid under the Master Property Management Agreement for properties that were managed by Wells Management on December 31, 2004 under its prior Asset/Master Property Management Agreement (the Existing Portfolio Properties ) have the economic effect of reducing amounts payable for asset advisory services as a credit against amounts otherwise due under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement with respect to such properties. Management and leasing fees payable to Wells Management for properties to be acquired in the future are required to be specified in an amendment to the Master Property Management Agreement, which must be approved by Wells REIT s board of directors and will be payable in addition to fees payable pursuant to the Asset Management Advisory Agreement. Wells REIT anticipates that fees for the management and leasing of properties, other than Existing Portfolio Properties, will be generally consistent with the descriptions set forth below:

For properties for which Wells Management will provide property management services, it is anticipated that Wells REIT will pay Wells Management a market-based property management fee generally based on gross monthly income of the property.

For properties for which Wells Management provides leasing agent services, it is anticipated that Wells REIT will pay (i) a one-time initial lease-up fee in an amount not to exceed one-month s rent for the initial rent-up of a newly constructed building; (ii) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of a new lease (not to exceed ten years); (iii) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of any renewal or extension of any tenant lease; and (iv) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable with respect to expansion space for the remaining portion of the initial lease term.

For properties for which Wells Management provides construction management services, it is anticipated that Wells REIT will pay (i) for planning and coordinating the construction of tenant-directed improvements, that portion of lease concessions for tenant-directed improvements as is specified in the lease or lease renewal, subject to a limit of 5% of such lease concessions; and (ii) for other construction management services, a construction management fee to be determined and agreed to in an appropriate contract amendment.

The Master Property Management Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either party gives notice of its intent not to renew. In addition, either party may terminate the Master Property Management Agreement upon 60 days written notice.

#### Salary and Operating Expense Reimbursements

Under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, and the Master Property Management Agreement, Wells REIT is required to reimburse each service provider for various costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its duties under such agreements, including reasonable wages and salaries and other employee-related expenses such as taxes, insurance, and benefits of employees of the service provider who are directly engaged in providing services for or on behalf of Wells REIT. Under these agreements, reimbursements for such employee-related expenses may not exceed \$8.2 million in aggregate during any fiscal year. Wells REIT incurred salary and operating expense reimbursements of approximately \$2.1 million and \$1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$6.1 million and \$7.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other than the portion of salary and operating expense reimbursements recorded within income from discontinued operations (see Note 4), such reimbursements are recorded as general and administrative expenses. The portion of salary and operating expense reimbursements reimbursable by tenants under the terms of their lease agreements were approximately \$0.2 million and \$0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and approximately \$0.6 million and \$0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and approximately \$0.6 million and \$0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

#### Dealer-Manager Agreement

Wells REIT maintains a dealer-manager agreement with Wells Investment Securities, Inc. (WIS), an affiliate of Wells Capital and Wells Management, whereby WIS performs dealer-manager services for offerings of Wells REIT shares pursuant to its dividend reinvestment plan. For these services, WIS earns selling commissions of 5% of gross offering proceeds raised pursuant to Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan, of which in excess of 99% has been reallowed to participating broker dealers for the periods presented below. On November 15, 2005, the board of directors approved an amendment to the dividend reinvestment plan to, among other things, eliminate selling commissions on shares sold under this plan beginning in September 2006. Wells REIT incurred the following commissions for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively (in thousands):

		nths Ended aber 30,	Nine Mon Septem	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Commissions	\$ 0	\$ 1,871	\$ 3,700	\$ 5,934

#### Assignment of Related-Party Agreements

On December 21, 2005, Wells Capital and Wells Management assigned their respective rights to receive certain fees and reimbursements under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement and the Acquisition Advisory Agreement to Wells Advisory Services I, LLC ( WASI ), an entity affiliated with and controlled by Wells Management and Wells Capital. Effective February 15, 2006, Wells Management further assigned rights to receive certain fees and reimbursements under its Master Property Management Agreement with Wells REIT to WASI. Accordingly, Wells REIT pays acquisition and advisory fees, asset advisory fees, property management fees, and administrative reimbursements to WASI.

Effective October 25, 2006, WASI assigned its rights to receive certain fees and reimbursements under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, and the Master Property Management Agreement with Wells REIT to Wells Real Estate Advisory Services, Inc. (WREAS), a wholly owned subsidiary of WASI. Accordingly, Wells REIT will begin paying asset advisory fees, property management fees, and administrative reimbursements to WREAS beginning in November 2006.

## Due from Affiliate

Due from affiliate is comprised of the following items due from WASI or its affiliates as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Septen	nber 30,	
20	06	nber 31, 005
\$	180	\$ 155
		60
\$	180	\$ 215
	-	Decen 2006 2 \$ 180 \$

#### Due to Affiliates

Due to affiliates is comprised of the following items due to WASI or its affiliates as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

September 30,

2006

2005

Asset advisory fees	\$ 5	\$ 1,572
Acquisition and advisory fees		1,157
Salary reimbursements	566	1,156
Other operating expense reimbursements	352	282
	\$ 918	\$ 4,167

## Economic Dependency

Wells REIT has engaged WASI and its affiliates, including Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS, to provide certain services that are essential to Wells REIT, including asset management services, supervision of the management and leasing of properties owned by Wells REIT, asset acquisition and disposition services, the sale of shares of Wells REIT s common

stock pursuant to its dividend reinvestment plan, as well as other administrative responsibilities for Wells REIT including accounting services, stockholder communications, and investor relations. As a result of these relationships, Wells REIT is dependent upon WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS.

Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS are all owned and controlled by Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (WREF). The operations of Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS represent substantially all of the business of WREF. Accordingly, Wells REIT focuses on the financial condition of WREF when assessing the financial condition of Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS. In the event that WREF were to become unable to meet its obligations as they become due, Wells REIT might be required to find alternative service providers.

Future net income generated by WREF will be largely dependent upon the amount of fees earned by WASI, Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS based on, among other things, the level of investor proceeds raised and the volume of future acquisitions and dispositions of real estate assets by Wells Real Estate Investment Trust II, Inc. (Wells REIT II) and other Wells-sponsored programs. As of September 30, 2006, Wells REIT believes that WREF is generating adequate cash flow from operations and has adequate liquidity available in the form of cash on hand and current receivables necessary to meet its current and future obligations as they become due.

#### 8. Commitments and Contingencies

#### Commitments Under Existing Lease Agreements

Certain lease agreements include provisions that, at the option of the tenant, may obligate Wells REIT to expend certain amounts of capital to expand an existing property, to construct on adjacent property, or to provide other expenditures for the benefit of the tenant. As of September 30, 2006, no tenants have exercised such options that had not been materially satisfied. Under lease amendments executed during third quarter 2006, Leo Burnett and Winston & Strawn, LLP, the principal tenants at the 35 West Wacker Building, are entitled to landlord-funded tenant improvements, leasing commissions, and building improvements totaling approximately \$68.9 million through 2012.

### Tennessee Excise Taxes

In June 2006, Wells OP received a notice of assessment from the Tennessee Department of Revenue related to excise taxes due for the calendar years ended December 31, 2002 through 2004. The Tennessee Department of Revenue allows partnerships owned by REITs, such as Wells OP, to deduct income or gains from their taxable income to the extent that such deducted income is included in the federal taxable income of the owner REIT. To be eligible for this deduction, the owner REIT must be subject to and file a franchise and excise tax return in the State of Tennessee. A REIT is subject to excise taxes if, among other things, it meets the requirement for doing business in Tennessee, as provided for in the Tennessee Code Annotation Section 67-4-2004(9)(A). The notice of assessment contends that Wells REIT did not meet this requirement from 2002 through 2004 and, based on this, owes additional taxes and interest of approximately \$1.0 million. Accordingly, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 5, a reserve of \$1.0 million has been provided for and recorded as general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Effective July 1, 2006, the Tennessee Department of Revenue revoked the option for partnerships owned by REITs to deduct income or gains generated from properties located in the State of Tennessee, subject to certain limitations. As such, Wells REIT will accrue for future Tennessee excise taxes and, accordingly, has recognized additional tax expense of \$0.1 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Consistent with other REITs that received similar notices, Wells REIT believes that it met the requirement for doing business in Tennessee from 2002 through 2004 based on the provisions of the law and by virtue of its general partnership interest in Wells OP, which has ownership in properties and interests in properties located in the State of Tennessee. Negotiations and discussions with the Tennessee Department of Revenue related to the intent and interpretation of the doing business in Tennessee requirement under the Tennessee franchise and excise laws are ongoing.

## Litigation

Wells REIT is from time to time a party to legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Wells REIT is not currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on results of operations or financial condition. Wells REIT is not aware of any legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.

## REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders

Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

Atlanta, Georgia

March 9, 2006,

except for Notes 2, 8, and 9, as to which the date is

January 12, 2007

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	December 31, 2005 2004	
Assets:	2000	2001
Real estate assets, at cost:		
Land	\$ 618,054	\$ 685,841
Buildings and improvements, less accumulated depreciation of \$303,552 and \$261,057 as of December 31, 2005		
and 2004, respectively	3,085,906	3,560,156
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of \$104,299 and \$62,331 as of December 31, 2005 and		
2004, respectively	235,410	313,803
Construction in progress	20,734	22,838
Assets related to discontinued operations, net	32,951	25,591
Total real estate assets	3,993,055	4,608,229
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures	58,817	93,979
Cash and cash equivalents	48,973	39,669
Tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$689 and \$1,093 as of December 31, 2005 and		
2004, respectively	97,679	93,006
Due from affiliate	215	
Due from unconsolidated joint ventures	931	1,458
Prepaid expenses and other assets	22,124	14,246
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of \$5,099 and \$3,317 at December 31, 2005 and 2004,	10 222	11.077
respectively	10,233	11,077
Deferred lease costs, less accumulated amortization of \$51,786 and \$29,423 at December 31, 2005 and 2004,	165 006	106 700
respectively Investments in bonds	165,226	196,709 64,500
Other assets related to discontinued operations, net	1,312	04,300 816
outer assets related to discontinued operations, net	1,512	810
Total assets	\$ 4,398,565	\$ 5,123,689
Liabilities:		
Lines of credit and notes payable	\$ 1,036,312	\$ 890,182
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures	68,057	82,185
Due to affiliates	4,167	3,386
Deferred income	22,301	32,469
Intangible lease liabilities, less accumulated amortization of \$34,431 and \$20,536 at December 31, 2005 and	106 150	100 451
2004, respectively	106,158	120,451
Obligations under capital leases		64,500
Total liabilities	1,236,995	1,193,173
Commitments and Contingencies		
Minority Interest	5,408	4,961
Redeemable Common Stock	167,015	225,955
Stockholders Equity:		
Common stock, \$.01 par value; 900,000,000 shares authorized; 469,423,177 and 473,486,397 shares issued and		
outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively	4,694	4,735
Additional paid-in capital	3,391,998	4,203,918
Cumulative distributions in excess of earnings	(240,530)	(283,184)
Redeemable common stock	(167,015)	(225,955)

Other comprehensive income		86
Total stockholders equity	2,989,147	3,699,600
Total liabilities, minority interest, redeemable common stock, and stockholders equity	\$ 4,398,565	\$ 5,123,689

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

		2005	Years En	ded December ( 2004	31,	2003
Revenues:	<i>ф</i>	105.164	¢	100 100	¢	0.15.0(0)
Rental income	\$	435,164	\$	422,106	\$	245,260
Tenant reimbursements		128,306		120,720		72,003
Lease termination income		4,913		8,672		1,035
Gain on sale				298		
Expenses:		568,383		551,796		318,298
Property operating costs		187,259		173,689		100,366
Asset and property management fees:		107,239		175,009		100,500
Related party		21,805		18,585		8,638
Other		5,538		4,908		3,379
Depreciation		88,080		4,908 83,331		87,379
Amortization		64,490		58,456		8,650
		1,341		732		8,030 54
Lease termination expense		16,093		152		54
Impairment loss on real estate assets General and administrative				19.022		0.072
General and administrative		18,011		18,033		9,073
		402,617		357,734		217,539
Real estate operating income		165,766		194,062		100,759
Other income (expense):						
Interest expense		(49,320)	)	(38,391)		(12,345)
Interest and other income		5,801		2,216		1,087
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures		14,765		6,634		4,751
Loss on extinguishment of debt		,		(2,101)		(1,956)
		(28,754)	)	(31,642)		(8,463)
Income from continuing operations before minority interest		137,012		162,420		92,296
Minority interest in (earnings) loss of consolidated subsidiaries		(611)	)	(572)		842
Income from continuing operations		136,401		161,848		93,138
Discontinued operations:						
Operating income		15,056		36,385		27,547
Gain on sale		177,678		11,489		
Income from discontinued operations		192,734		47,874		27,547
Net income	\$	329,135	\$	209,722	\$	120,685
Net income per common share - basic and diluted:						
Income from continuing operations	\$	0.30	\$	0.35	\$	0.29
Income from discontinued operations		0.41		0.10		0.08
r		01		5.10		0.00

Net income per common share	\$	0.71	\$	0.45	\$	0.37
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic and diluted	466,284,634		466	,060,916	324,	,092,281

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	Commo	n Stock	Additional				Total
			Paid-In Cu	mulative Distribution	s inRedeemableOt	her Comprehensi	vStockholders
	Shares	Amount	Capital	Excess of Earnings	Common Stock	Income	Equity
Balance, December 31, 2002	215,700	\$ 2,157	\$ 1,908,490	\$ (74,310)	\$	\$ (387)	\$ 1,835,950
Issuance of common stock	253,719	2,537	2,534,655				2,537,192
Redemptions of common stock	(4,369)	(44)	(43,646)				(43,690)
Dividends (\$0.70 per share)				(226,636)			(226,636)
Commissions and discounts on							
common stock sales and related							
dealer-manager fees			(239,949)				(239,949)
Other offering costs			(21,533)				(21,533)
Components of comprehensive							
income:							
Net income				120,685			120,685
Change in value of interest rate swap						387	387
Comprehensive income							121,072
Balance, December 31, 2003	465,050	4,650	4,138,017	(180,261)			3,962,406
Issuance of common stock	19,494	195	194,747				194,942
Redemptions of common stock	(9,711)	(97)	(97,018)				(97,115)
Dividends (\$0.67 per share)	(9,711)	())	(97,010)	(312,645)			(312,645)
Commissions and discounts on				(312,043)			(312,043)
common stock sales and related							
dealer-manager fees			(17,617)				(17,617)
Other offering costs			(17,017)				(17,017) (757)
Redeemable common stock			(151)		(225,955)		(225,955)
Shares repurchased upon settlement	(1,347)	(13)	(13,454)		(225,955)		(13,467)
Components of comprehensive income:	(1,547)	(15)	(13,434)				(13,+07)
Net income				209,722			209,722
Change in value of interest rate swap				207,722		86	86
change in value of interest fate swap						00	00
Comprehensive income							209,808
Balance, December 31, 2004	473,486	4,735	4,203,918	(283,184)	(225,955)	86	3,699,600
Issuance of common stock	18,834	188	165,331				165,519
Redemptions of common stock	(22,897)	(229)	(217,866)				(218,095)
Special distribution (\$1.62 per share)	,)	(==>)	(748,526)				(748,526)
Dividends (\$0.61 per share)			(	(286,481)			(286,481)
Commissions and discounts on				(,,			()
common stock sales			(10,488)				(10,488)
Other offering costs			(371)				(371)
Redeemable common stock			( )		58,940		58,940
							2 0,2 10

Components of comprehensive										
income:										
Net income					329,135					329,135
Change in value of interest rate swap									(86)	(86)
Comprehensive income										329,049
Balance, December 31, 2005	469.423	\$ 4,694	\$ 3,391,998	\$	(240,530)	\$	(167,015)	¢		\$ 2,989,147
Balance, December 51, 2005	409,425	\$ 4,094	\$ 5,591,998	ф	(240,330)	Ф	(107,013)	Ф		\$ 2,989,147

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

## (in thousands)

	Yea 2005	rs Ended Decembe 2004	er 31, 2003
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:			
Net income	\$ 329,135	\$ 209,722	\$ 120,685
Operating distributions received from unconsolidated joint ventures	6,107	9,586	7,687
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures	(14,765)	(6,634)	(4,751)
Minority interest in earnings (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries	611	572	(842)
Depreciation	91,713	97,425	107,012
Amortization	66,604	65,050	10,371
Lease termination expense	1,341	732	54
Loss on extinguishment of debt		2,101	1,956
Gain on sale	(177,678)	(11,787)	
Impairment loss on real estate assets	16,093		
Changes in assets and liabilities:			
Increase in tenant receivables, net	(14,039)	(38,440)	(20,823)
(Increase) decrease in due from affiliate	(215)	406	(356)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets	(20,893)	2,376	(10,116)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses	(3,496)	(9,063)	9,977
Increase (decrease) in due to affiliates	1,144	22	(3)
(Decrease) increase in deferred income	(10,168)	7,750	16,387
	(10,100)	1,150	10,507
Net cash provided by operating activities	271,494	329,818	237,238
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:			
Investment in real estate	(53,900)	(238,615)	(1,920,319)
Net sale proceeds from wholly owned properties	711,894	32,996	
Net sale proceeds received from unconsolidated joint ventures	44,874	7,370	2,409
Contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures	(528)	(395)	(24,059)
Acquisition and advisory fees paid	(3,557)	(21,210)	(75,800)
Deferred lease costs paid	(7,093)	(33,488)	(190,668)
	(,,,,,,,)	(00,000)	(-, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	691,690	(253,342)	(2,208,437)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:			
Deferred financing costs paid	(984)	(10,227)	(8,346)
Proceeds from lines of credit and notes payable	307,115	1,019,952	915,601
Repayments of lines of credit and notes payable	(160,985)	(826,100)	(941,647)
Issuance of common stock	159,459	190,339	2,531,345
Redemptions of common stock	(215,015)	(96,806)	(43,690)
Dividends paid to stockholders	(286,643)	(326,372)	(219,121)
Return of capital distribution paid to stockholders	(748,526)		
Commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees paid	(7,930)	(13,936)	(238,463)
Other offering costs paid	(371)	(14,082)	(16,463)
Repurchase of shares upon settlement	()	(12,842)	(,,
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(953,880)	(90,074)	1,979,216
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	9,304	(13,598)	8,017
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	39,669	53,267	45,250

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 48,973	\$ 39,669	\$ 53,267

See accompanying notes.

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004, AND 2003

## 1. ORGANIZATION

Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (Wells REIT) is a Maryland corporation that qualifies as a real estate investment trust (REIT) for federal income tax purposes and engages in the acquisition and ownership of commercial real estate properties throughout the United States, including properties that are under construction, newly constructed, or have operating histories. Wells REIT was incorporated in 1997 and commenced operations on June 5, 1998. Wells REIT conducts business primarily through Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. (Wells OP), a Delaware limited partnership. Wells REIT is the sole general partner and possesses full legal control and authority over the operations of Wells OP. Wells Capital, Inc. (Wells Capital) is the sole limited partner of Wells OP. Wells OP owns properties directly, through wholly owned subsidiaries, through certain joint ventures with real estate limited partnership sponsored by Wells Capital, and through certain joint ventures with parties not affiliated with Wells REIT or Wells Capital. References to Wells REIT herein shall include all subsidiaries of Wells REIT, including Wells OP, its subsidiaries, and consolidated joint ventures. See Note 11 for additional information related to Wells Capital.

As of December 31, 2005, Wells REIT owned interests in 83 properties, either directly or through joint ventures, comprising approximately 20.8 million square feet of commercial office and industrial space, located in 23 states and the District of Columbia. As of December 31, 2005, these properties were approximately 95.5% leased.

Since its inception, Wells REIT has completed four public offerings of common stock for sale at \$10 per share. Combined with Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan, such offerings have provided approximately \$5.1 billion in total net offering proceeds. From these proceeds, Wells REIT has paid costs related to the offerings of (1) approximately \$169.8 million in acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursements of acquisition expenses, (2) approximately \$474.4 million in commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees, and (3) approximately \$62.6 million in organization and other offering costs. In addition, Wells REIT has used approximately \$393.3 million to redeem shares pursuant to Wells REIT s share redemption program, and to repurchase shares resulting from a legal settlement in one instance. The remaining net offering proceeds of approximately \$4.0 billion were invested in real estate. Wells REIT s fourth public offering closed on July 25, 2004, and Wells REIT does not anticipate offering additional shares to the public. In addition, on June 14, 2005, Wells REIT paid approximately \$748.5 million of net sales proceeds to stockholders as a return of invested capital special distribution.

Wells REIT registered an additional 100 million shares of common stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) for issuance pursuant to its dividend reinvestment plan under a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Commission File No. 333-114212), which became effective on April 5, 2004.

Wells REIT s stock is not listed on a national exchange. However, Wells REIT s Articles of Incorporation require Wells REIT to begin the process of liquidating its investments and distributing the resulting proceeds to the stockholders if its shares are not listed on a national exchange by January 30, 2008. Wells REIT s Articles of Incorporation can only be amended by a proxy vote of Wells REIT s stockholders.

## 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

Wells REIT s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and include the accounts of Wells REIT, Wells OP, and any variable interest entities in which Wells REIT or Wells OP is the primary beneficiary, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. (FIN) 46(R), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities*, which supersedes FIN 46 and is an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, *Consolidated Financial Statements* (ARB 51). FIN 46(R) requires the identification of variable interest entities (VIEs), which are defined as entities that have a level of invested equity insufficient to fund future activities on a stand-alone basis or whose equity holders lack certain characteristics of a controlling financial interest. FIN 46(R) requires the consolidation of such VIEs in cases where Wells REIT absorbs a majority of the expected losses and returns and is, therefore, considered the primary beneficiary. The accompanying consolidated financial statements also include the accounts of entities in those situations where FIN 46(R) is not applicable and in which Wells REIT or Wells OP owns a controlling financial interest, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 94, *Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries*, ARB 51, and Statement of Position (SOP) No. 78-9,

Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures. In determining whether Wells REIT or Wells OP has a controlling financial interest, the

following factors are considered, among others: ownership of voting interests, protective rights of investors and participatory rights of investors.

Wells REIT owns interests in four real properties through its ownership in the following entities: Wells 35 W. Wacker, LLC and Wells Washington Properties, Inc. (the Consolidated Joint Ventures ). Wells REIT has evaluated the Consolidated Joint Ventures under the provisions of FIN 46(R) and concluded that neither of these entities are VIEs. Accordingly, upon applying the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 94, *Consolidation of All Majority-owned Subsidiaries*, ARB No. 51, and Statement of Position No. 78-9, *Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures*, Wells REIT has concluded that each of the Consolidated Joint Ventures should be consolidated and has, therefore, included the accounts of the Consolidated Joint Ventures in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### Real Estate Assets

Real estate assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Amounts capitalized to real estate assets consist of the cost of acquisition or construction, application of acquisition and advisory fees incurred, and any tenant improvements or major improvements and betterments, that extend the useful life of the related asset. All repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Additionally, Wells REIT capitalizes interest while the development of a real estate asset is in progress. Approximately \$884,000, \$265,000, and \$728,000 of interest was capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Wells REIT s real estate assets are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Buildings 40 years

Building improvements 5-25 years

Land improvements 20-25 years

Tenant improvements Shorter of economic life or lease term

Intangible lease assets Lease term

Wells REIT continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the real estate and related intangible assets, of both operating properties and properties under construction in which Wells REIT has an ownership interest, either directly or through investments in joint ventures, may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present which suggest that the carrying amounts of real estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable, Wells REIT assesses the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such expected undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, Wells REIT decreases the carrying value of the real estate and related intangible assets to the estimated fair values, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets* (SFAS 144), and recognizes impairment losses. Estimated fair values are calculated based on the following information in order of preference, dependent upon availability: (i) recently quoted market prices, (ii) market prices for comparable properties, or (iii) the present value of undiscounted cash flows, including estimated salvage value.

In the first quarter of 2004, Wells REIT completed a review of its real estate depreciation by performing an analysis of the components of each property type in an effort to determine weighted-average composite useful lives of its real estate assets. As a result of this review, Wells REIT changed its estimate of the weighted-average composite useful lives for building assets. Effective January 1, 2004, for all building assets, Wells REIT extended the weighted-average composite useful life from 25 years to 40 years. The change resulted in an increase to net income of approximately \$56.8 million, or \$0.12 per share, for the year ended December 31, 2004. Wells REIT believes the change more appropriately reflects the estimated useful lives of the building assets and is consistent with prevailing industry practice.

## Allocation of Purchase Price of Acquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of real properties, Wells REIT allocates the purchase price of properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and building, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above-market and below-market leases and the value of in-place leases, based in each case on their estimated fair values.

The fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land and building) are determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, and the as-if-vacant value is then allocated to land and building based on management s determination of the relative fair value of these assets. Management determines the as-if-vacant fair value of a property using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers. Factors considered by management in performing these analyses include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases, including leasing commissions and other related costs. In estimating carrying costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance, and other operating expenses during the expected lease-up periods based on current market conditions.

The fair values of above-market and below-market in-place leases are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management s estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining terms of the leases. The capitalized above-market and below-market lease values are recorded as intangible lease assets or liabilities and amortized as an adjustment to rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases.

The fair values of in-place leases include direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant, opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided by acquiring an in-place lease, and tenant relationships. Direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant include commissions, tenant improvements and other direct costs and are estimated based on management s consideration of current market costs to execute a similar lease. These direct lease origination costs are included in deferred lease costs in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases. The value of opportunity costs is calculated using the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases over a market absorption period for a similar lease. Customer relationships are valued based on expected renewal of a lease or the likelihood of obtaining a particular tenant for other locations. These lease intangibles are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the respective leases.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, Wells REIT recognized gross above-market in-place leases of approximately \$77.4 million and \$85.7 million, respectively, and gross intangible absorption period costs of approximately \$262.3 million and \$290.4 million, respectively, which are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, Wells REIT recognized gross intangible lease origination costs of approximately \$193.9 million and \$201.2 million, respectively, which are included in deferred lease costs, and gross below-market in-place leases of approximately \$140.6 million and \$141.0 million, respectively, which are included in intangible lease liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, Wells REIT recorded amortization expense related to intangible lease origination and absorption period costs of approximately \$63.0 million, \$57.6 million, and \$8.3 million, respectively. In addition, Wells REIT recorded amortization of above-market and below-market in-place lease intangibles of approximately \$2.0 million, \$3.0 million, and \$1.6 million, respectively, as a net increase to rental revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Included in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the years ended 2005, 2004, and 2003 is \$1.7 million, \$6.0 million, and \$0.07 million, respectively, of amortization expense related to intangible lease origination and absorption period costs as well as \$0.06 million, \$0.2 million, and \$0.3 million, respectively, of rental revenue related to amortization of above-market and below-market in-place lease origination.

The remaining unamortized balance for these intangible assets and liabilities will be amortized as follows (in thousands):

	Intangible Lease Assets Above-Market				Ir	tangible
	Lease Assets	Absorption Period Costs		ngible Lease ination Costs		ow-Market e Liabilities
For the year ending December 31:						
2006	\$ 10,794	\$ 37,344	\$	23,140	\$	12,755
2007	9,883	33,048		22,493		12,077
2008	7,813	26,176		19,184		11,987
2009	7,308	21,858		17,357		11,929
2010	5,964	16,620		14,702		11,687
Thereafter	11,283	47,319		49,476		45,723
	\$ 53,045	\$ 182,365	\$	146,352	\$	106,158
Weighted-Average Amortization Period	6 years	7 years		8 years		10 years

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

Wells REIT has interests in certain unconsolidated joint venture partnerships. The joint venture partners of such joint ventures have disproportionate voting rights for certain major decisions relative to their obligations to absorb expected losses and rights to receive residual returns of the venture. However, management has evaluated such joint ventures and determined that they are not VIEs under the provisions of FIN 46(R) because not substantially all of the activities of the joint ventures are conducted on behalf of a joint venture partner with disproportionately few voting rights. Wells REIT has also determined that its joint venture partners are not related parties, as defined in FIN 46(R) and SFAS No. 57, *Related Party Disclosures*. Accordingly, the adoption of FIN 46(R) did not result in the consolidation of any previously unconsolidated entities.

Wells REIT does not have control over the operations of the unconsolidated joint ventures; however, it does exercise significant influence. Accordingly, Wells REIT s investment in unconsolidated joint ventures is recorded using the equity method of accounting, whereby original investments are recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for contributions, distributions and net income (loss) attributable to such joint ventures. Pursuant to the terms of the unconsolidated joint venture agreements, all income and distributions are allocated to the joint venture partners in accordance with their respective ownership interests. Distributions of net cash from operations are generally distributed to the joint venture partners on a quarterly basis.

## Cash and Cash Equivalents

Wells REIT considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments. Short-term investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair value, and consist of investments in money market accounts.

## Tenant Receivables

Tenant receivables are comprised of rent and reimbursement billings due from tenants and the cumulative amount of future adjustments necessary to present rental income on a straight-line basis. Tenant receivables are recorded at the original amount earned, less an allowance for any doubtful accounts, which approximates fair value. Management assesses the collectibility of accounts receivable on an ongoing basis and provides for allowances as such balances, or portions thereof, become uncollectible. Wells REIT adjusted the allowance for doubtful accounts by recording provisions for bad debts of approximately \$102,000, \$658,000, and \$383,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Tenant receivables also include notes receivable from tenants to fund certain expenditures related to the property and are recorded at face amount, less any principal payments through the date of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These notes bear interest at rates comparable to tenants with similar borrowing characteristics; therefore, the carrying amount approximates the fair value of the notes as of the dates of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

## Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets are primarily comprised of prepaid taxes, insurance and operating costs, escrow accounts held by lenders to pay future real estate taxes, insurance and tenant improvements, earnest money paid in connection with future acquisitions, and capitalized acquisition fees that have not yet been applied to investments in real estate assets. Prepaid expenses and other assets will be expensed as incurred or reclassified to other asset accounts upon being put into service in future periods. Balances without a future economic benefit are written off as they are identified.

## Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are comprised of costs incurred in connection with securing financing from third-party lenders and are capitalized and amortized to interest expense on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related financing arrangements. Wells REIT recognized amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 of approximately \$1.8 million, \$2.5 million, and \$2.6 million, respectively, which is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

## Deferred Lease Costs

Deferred lease costs are comprised of costs incurred to acquire operating leases, including opportunity costs avoided by acquiring in-place leases, and are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related leases. Wells REIT recognized amortization of deferred lease costs of approximately \$25.8 million, \$24.9 million, and \$3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, which is included in amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

## Investments in Bonds and Obligations Under Capital Leases

As a result of the purchase of certain real estate assets, Wells REIT has acquired investments in bonds and corresponding obligations under capital leases. Wells REIT records the bonds at net principal value and obligations under capital leases at the present value of the expected payments. The related amounts of interest income and expense are recognized as earned in equal amounts and, accordingly, do not impact net income. As all such investments and obligations were disposed of in connection with a portfolio sale of properties in April 2005, the related amounts of interest income and expense are included in income from discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 (see Note 9).

## Minority Interest

Minority interest represents the equity interests of consolidated subsidiaries that are not owned by Wells REIT. Minority interest is adjusted for contributions, distributions, and earnings (loss) attributable to the minority interest partners of the consolidated joint ventures. Pursuant to the terms of the consolidated joint venture agreements, all earnings and distributions are allocated to the partners of the consolidated joint ventures in accordance with their respective ownership interests. Earnings allocated to such minority interest partners are recorded as minority interest in earnings (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

## Redeemable Common Stock

Wells REIT records redeemable common stock pursuant to Accounting Series Release No. 268, *Presentation in Financial Statements Redeemable Preferred Stock* (ASR 268). Under ASR 268, common stock redemptions that are outside of the control of the issuer are required to be classified as mezzanine or temporary equity. Wells REIT s share redemption program was amended for redemptions paid beginning in January 2004 by, among other things, removing the discretionary feature of approving redemption requests, subject to the board of directors ability to amend, suspend, or terminate the share redemption program at any time upon 30 days notice. Under the amended plan, redemptions are limited to, among other things, the aggregate proceeds received from the dividend reinvestment plan. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the aggregate proceeds received under the dividend reinvestment plan totaled approximately \$546.8 million and \$387.4 million, respectively, and aggregate share redemptions totaled approximately \$379.8 million and \$161.4 million, respectively. Therefore, Wells REIT has recorded redeemable common stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of stockholders equity equal to \$167.0 million and \$226.0 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Effective July 1, 2003, Wells REIT adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 150, *Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity* (SFAS 150), which requires, among other things, that financial instruments which represent a mandatory obligation of the company to repurchase its shares be classified as liabilities and reported at settlement value. Wells REIT s redeemable common shares are contingently redeemable at the option of the holder. As such, SFAS 150 is not applicable until such shares are tendered for redemption by the holder, at which time Wells REIT reclassifies such obligations from mezzanine equity to a liability, based upon settlement value. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, \$0 and approximately \$0.3 million of shares tendered for redemption have not been redeemed, and are, therefore, included in accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

## Preferred Stock

Wells REIT is authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of one or more classes or series of preferred stock with a par value of \$0.01 per share. Wells REIT's board of directors may determine the relative rights, preferences and privileges of each class or series of preferred stock issued, which may be more beneficial than the rights, preferences and privileges attributable to Wells REIT's common stock. To date, Wells REIT has not issued any shares of preferred stock.

#### Common Stock

The par value of investor proceeds raised from the sale of Wells REIT s common stock is classified as common stock, with the remainder allocated to additional paid-in capital.

#### Dividends

As a REIT, Wells REIT is required by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ); to make distributions to stockholders each taxable year equal to at least 90% of its taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding net capital gains attributable to stockholders ( REIT taxable income ).

Dividends to be distributed to the stockholders are determined by the board of directors of Wells REIT and are dependent upon a number of factors relating to Wells REIT, including funds available for payment of dividends, financial condition, the timing of property acquisitions, capital expenditure requirements and annual distribution requirements in order to maintain Wells REIT s status as a REIT under the Code.

## Commissions and Related Dealer-Manager Fees

Pursuant to the dealer-manager agreement (see Note 11), Wells REIT has engaged Wells Investment Securities, Inc. (WIS) to perform all dealer-manager functions for Wells REIT. Commissions and related dealer-manager fees are recorded when incurred, based on the sale of Wells REIT s common shares of stock, as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

#### Other Offering Costs

Other offering costs are comprised of costs associated with the issuance of common stock, including legal and accounting fees, printing costs, sales and promotional costs and expenses, and sales commissions, and are recorded when incurred as a reduction of additional paid-in capital.

#### Interest Rate Swap Agreement

Wells REIT entered into an interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on a variable rate construction loan in 2004. Wells REIT accounted for the interest rate swap agreement in accordance with SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. The fair value of the interest rate swap agreement was recorded as either prepaid expenses and other assets or accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued capital expenditures, and changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement were recorded as other comprehensive income. The interest rate swap expired in July 2005.

#### Financial Instruments

Wells REIT considers its cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, bonds, obligations under capital leases, and notes payable to meet the definition of financial instruments. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, bonds, and obligations under capital leases approximated their fair value. As of

# Table of Contents

December 31, 2005 and 2004, the estimated fair value of lines of credit and notes payable was approximately \$1.0 billion and \$881.7 million, respectively.

#### Revenue Recognition

All leases on real estate assets held by Wells REIT are classified as operating leases, and the related base rental income is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Tenant reimbursements are recognized as revenue in the period that the related operating cost is incurred. Rents and tenant reimbursements collected in advance are recorded as deferred income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Lease termination income is recognized once the tenant has lost the right to lease the space and Wells REIT has satisfied all obligations under the related lease or lease termination agreement.

Wells REIT records the sale of real estate assets pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 66, *Accounting for Sales of Real Estate*. Gains are recognized upon completing the sale and, among other things, determining the sale price and transferring all of the risks and rewards of ownership without significant continuing involvement with the seller. Recognition of all or a portion of the gain would be deferred until both of these conditions are met. Losses are recognized in full as of the sale date.

#### Stock-based Compensation

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting and Disclosure for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123), Wells REIT accounts for its stock options under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25), and the related interpretations. Accordingly, Wells REIT does not recognize compensation cost in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations based upon the fair value of stock based compensation and, instead, provides pro forma disclosures of the unrecorded compensation expense in the notes to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

#### Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Outstanding stock options and warrants have been excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation, as their impact would be anti-dilutive using the treasury stock method because the exercise price of the options and warrants exceed the current offering price of Wells REIT s common stock under Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan.

#### Income Taxes

Wells REIT has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, and has operated as such beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 1998. To qualify as a REIT, Wells REIT must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of its annual REIT taxable income. As a REIT, Wells REIT is generally not subject to federal income taxes. Accordingly, neither a provision nor a benefit for federal income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Wells REIT is subject to certain state and local taxes related to the operations of properties in certain locations, which has been provided for in the financial statements.

#### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment* (SFAS 123-R), which replaces SFAS 123, and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123-R applies to all transactions involving the issuance of equity securities, including, among others, common stock and stock options, in exchange for goods and services. SFAS 123-R requires Wells REIT to recognize expense for all stock options awarded over the respective vesting periods based on their fair values. SFAS 123-R will become applicable to Wells REIT effective January 1, 2006. To date, the options granted by Wells REIT have not had material values. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on Wells REIT s financial statements.

In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, *Accounting Changes and Error Corrections* (SFAS 154), which replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, *Accounting Changes*, and SFAS No. 3, *Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements*. SFAS 154 changes the method to account for and report changes in accounting principles and corrections of errors. Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles required recognition as a cumulative effect adjustment to net income during the period in which the change was adopted. Conversely, in circumstances where applicable accounting guidance does not include specific transition provisions, SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior

periods financial statements unless it is impractical to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, however, does not change the transition provisions of any of the existing accounting pronouncements. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on Wells REIT s financial statements.

In July 2005, the FASB issued a Staff Position related to Statement of Position (SOP) 78-9-1: *Interaction of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants SOP* 78-9 and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 04-5 (FSP). The EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 04-5, *Determining Whether a General Partner or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights*, concluding that a general partner is presumed to control a limited partnership and should, therefore, consolidate the limited partnership unless the limited partners possess substantive kick-out rights or substantive participating rights. This FSP eliminates the concept of important rights provided in SOP 78-9 and replaces it with the concepts of kick-out rights and substantive participating rights, as defined in EITF Issue 04-5. For all new partnerships formed and existing partnerships for which the partnership agreements are modified, this FSP and EITF Issue 04-5 became effective as of June 30, 2005. For all other partnerships, this guidance will become effective as of January 1, 2006. The adoption of this FSP is not expected to have a material effect on Wells REIT s financial statements.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, *Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations* (FIN 47), an interpretation of SFAS No. 143, *Asset Retirement Obligations* (SFAS 143), effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies the definition of a conditional asset retirement obligation provided in SFAS 143, as a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity for which the timing or method of settlement is conditional upon a future event that may or may not be within control of the Wells REIT. An entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Wells REIT has identified asbestos at certain properties and may have undetected asbestos at others. Wells REIT believes that the identified asbestos from any of these properties have indeterminate settlement dates, Wells REIT is unable to reasonably estimate the fair values of these obligations. To the extent that these properties undergo major renovations or demolition, certain environmental regulations are in place, which specify the manner in which the asbestos must be handled and disposed. In such circumstances, sufficient information may become available to reasonably estimate the fair value of the liability. There are currently no plans to undertake a major renovation that would require removal of the asbestos or demolition of a property. The adoption of FIN 47 did not have a material effect on Wells REIT's financial statements. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation.

On April 11, 2006, and July 6, 2006, Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (Wells REIT) closed on the sale of the IRS Daycare Building and the Northrop Grumman Building, respectively, which it owned directly (the 2006 Property Sales). In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets* (FAS 144) and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, *Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transaction* (APB 30), the accompanying consolidated balance sheets have been revised to reclassify the assets and liabilities sold in connection with the 2006 Property Sales as real estate assets related to discontinued operations, net, for all periods presented. Further, the accompanying consolidated statements of operations have been revised to reclassify the revenues and expenses generated by the properties included in the 2006 Property Sales as income from discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Note 9 for additional details regarding the 2006 Property Sales and revisions to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

## 3. IMPAIRMENT OF REAL ESTATE ASSETS

During second quarter 2005, Wells REIT reduced its intended holding period for the IRS Long Island Building, which was purchased in September 2002 and consists of one building comprised of approximately 238,000 square feet. The decision to reduce the holding period was prompted by the loss of a prospective replacement tenant during the quarter ended June 30, 2005 and a reassessment of leasing assumptions for this building, which entailed, among other things, evaluating market rents, leasing costs and the downtime necessary to complete the necessary re-leasing activities.

Based on a comparison of the projected undiscounted future cash flows with the net book value of the real estate and intangible assets, Wells REIT determined that the carrying value of the IRS Long Island Building was not recoverable and, accordingly, recorded an impairment loss on real estate assets in the amount of approximately \$16.1 million to reduce the carrying value of the IRS Long Island Building to its estimated fair value based upon the present value of undiscounted cash flows using the policy further outlined in Note 2.

## 4. UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, Wells REIT owned interests in the following unconsolidated joint ventures with affiliates of Wells Capital (in thousands):

	20	005	2004		
	Amount	Percentage	Amount	Percentage	
Fund XIII and REIT Joint Venture	\$ 25,897	72%	\$ 48,099	72%	
Fund XII and REIT Joint Venture	19,301	55%	27,548	55%	
Fund XI, XII and REIT Joint Venture	6,862	57%	11,260	57%	
Wells/Freemont Associates	5,792	78%	5,884	78%	
Fund IX, X, XI and REIT Joint Venture	935	4%	1,183	4%	
Fund VIII, IX and REIT Joint Venture	30	16%	5	16%	
	\$ 58,817		\$ 93,979		

Through the unconsolidated joint ventures listed above, as of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, Wells REIT owned twelve buildings comprised of approximately 1.13 million square feet and sixteen buildings comprised of approximately 1.74 million square feet, respectively.

#### Due from Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, due from unconsolidated joint ventures is comprised primarily of operating distributions due to Wells REIT from its investments in unconsolidated joint ventures for the fourth quarters of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

## 5. LINES OF CREDIT AND NOTES PAYABLE

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, Wells REIT had the following lines of credit and notes payable outstanding (in thousands):

	Decemb	)
	2005	2004
Secured Pooled Facility	\$ 350,000	\$ 350,000
Aon Center Chicago Mortgage Note	200,000	200,000
Leo Burnett Building Mortgage Note	120,000	120,000
WDC Mortgage Notes	115,167	115,167
\$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan	105,000	
\$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan	45,000	
3100 Clarendon Boulevard Building Mortgage Note	35,110	35,716
One Brattle Square Building Mortgage Note	28,827	30,143
Merck Construction Loan	21,100	12,984
1075 West Entrance Building Mortgage Note	16,108	16,672
\$85.0 Million Secured Line of Credit		9,500
\$50.0 Million Secured Line of Credit		

#### \$ 1,036,312 \$ 890,182

The Secured Pooled Facility represents a non-recourse mortgage note secured by nine properties with a net book value of approximately \$765.7 million. The note requires monthly payments of interest at a fixed rate of 4.84% per annum and payment of principal at maturity (June 2014). All properties securing the note are held in a bankruptcy remote, special-purpose entity.

The Aon Center Chicago, Leo Burnett Building, and WDC Mortgage Notes represent non-recourse loans secured by specific assets. The aggregate book value of properties securing these loans is approximately \$1.0 billion. All of these mortgage notes require monthly payments of interest at fixed rates ranging from 4.4% to 5.1% per annum and principal is due upon

maturity. The Aon Center Chicago and Leo Burnett Building mortgage loans mature in 2014. The WDC Mortgage loan matures in 2007.

The \$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan and the \$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan represent loans obtained during May 2005 to finance the redemption of shares pursuant to the share redemption program. These fixed-rate facilities replaced short-term facilities that were used for the initial funding in March 2005. The notes require monthly payments of interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.195% to 5.29% per annum and principal is due upon maturity. The \$105.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan matures in 2015 and is secured by the U.S. Bancorp Building; while the \$45.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan matures in 2012 and is secured by the 4250 N. Fairfax Building. The aggregate book value of properties securing these loans is approximately \$257.7 million as of December 31, 2005.

The \$85 Million Secured Line of Credit represents a revolving credit facility secured by a pool of borrowing base properties. Under the terms of the facility, Wells REIT may borrow the lesser of (1) an amount equal to 75% of the aggregate appraised value of lender-approved borrowing base properties or (2) \$85 million. As of December 31, 2005, the borrowing base properties included three properties with an aggregate book value of \$113.2 million; and based on the value of these properties, Wells REIT was able to borrow up to the full \$85 million. Interest on the \$85 Million Secured Line of Credit accrues at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% per annum (5.89% as of December 31, 2005). The \$85 Million Secured Line of Credit matures in December 2007.

The \$50 Million Secured Line of Credit represents a revolving credit facility secured by the Cingular Atlanta building. Under the terms of the facility, Wells REIT may borrow the lesser of (1) an amount equal to 75% of the aggregate appraised value of lender-approved borrowing base property or (2) \$50 million. As of December 31, 2005, the borrowing base property had a book value of \$71.6 million; therefore, the full capacity of the line of credit was available. Interest on the \$50 million Secured Line of Credit accrues at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum (6.14% as of December 31, 2005). This facility contains covenants that, among other things, restrict Wells REIT s debt to total assets to 50%. The \$50 Million Secured Line of Credit matures in June 2006.

Wells REIT s weighted-average interest rate as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 for aforementioned borrowings was approximately 5.09% and 5.02%, respectively. Wells REIT made interest payments, including amounts capitalized, of approximately \$49.3 million, \$39.9 million, and \$28.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

A summary of the aggregate principal repayments scheduled for the five years following December 31, 2005 is provided below (in thousands):

2006	\$ 23,658
2007	117,932
2008	35,331
2009	1,321 1,462
2010	1,462
Thereafter	856,608
Total	\$ 1,036,312

## 6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Letter of Credit

A municipality required Wells REIT to obtain a letter of credit from a financial institution in order to ensure that Wells REIT would be able to satisfy contingent obligations related to an easement under which Wells REIT could be required to fund the costs to conform the utilities infrastructure of a property to certain specifications, if and upon being requested by the municipality. As of December 31, 2005, the municipality had the right to draw up to \$383,000 on this letter of credit under certain circumstances. In February 2006, this letter of credit was renewed through February 2007 and will continue to renew automatically for one-year periods each February subject to certain limitations.

## Properties Under Contract

As of December 31, 2005, Wells REIT had entered into a contract to acquire one building for a total purchase price of \$93.0 million, plus closing costs, which was subsequently acquired (see Note 14). As of December 31, 2005, Wells REIT had

placed approximately \$5.0 million of cash in escrow in connection with this contract, which is included in prepaid and other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

#### Properties Under Construction

As of December 31, 2005, Wells REIT remained party to two construction agreements with unrelated third parties for the construction of the Citigroup Fort Mill building and the Merck New Jersey building, both of which were placed into service during 2005. As of December 31, 2005, Wells REIT anticipated incurring aggregate additional costs under these agreements of approximately \$0.8 million.

#### Commitments Under Existing Lease Agreements

Certain lease agreements include provisions that, at the option of the tenant, may obligate Wells REIT to expand an existing property, construct on adjacent property, or provide other expenditures for the benefit of the tenant in favor of additional rental revenue. As of December 31, 2005, no tenants have exercised such options, which have not been fully satisfied as of that date.

#### **Operating Lease Obligations**

Certain properties are subject to ground leases with expiration dates ranging between 2048 and 2083. As of December 31, 2005, the remaining required payments under the terms of these operating leases are presented below (in thousands):

2006	\$ 563
2007	563 563 563 629
2008	563
2009	563
2010	629
Thereafter	62,607
Total	\$ 65,488

Ground rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was approximately \$618,000, \$754,000, and \$758,000, respectively, and is included in property operating costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The net book value of the related real estate subject to operating leases is approximately \$31.4 million and \$126.8 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

#### Litigation

Wells REIT is from time to time a party to legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Wells REIT is not currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition of Wells REIT. Wells REIT is not aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.

## 7. STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

2000 Employee Stock Option Plan

On June 28, 2000, the stockholders approved the 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (the Employee Option Plan ), which provides for grants of non-qualified stock options to be made to selected employees of Wells Capital and Wells Management Company, Inc. (Wells Management ), subject to the discretion of our compensation committee of Wells REIT s board of directors and the limitations of the Employee Option Plan. A total of 750,000 shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance under the Employee Option Plan. As of December 31, 2005, no stock options have been granted or exercised under the Employee Option Plan.

Under the Employee Option Plan, the exercise price for options shall be the greater of (1) \$11.00 per share, or (2) the Fair Market Value, as defined in the Employee Option Plan, of the shares on the date the option is granted. Our compensation committee has the authority to set the

term and vesting period of the stock option except that no option shall have a term greater than five years from the later of (1) the date Wells REIT s shares are listed on a national securities exchange, or (2) the date the stock option is granted. In the event that our compensation committee determines that the potential benefits of

the stock options may be inappropriately diluted or enlarged as a result of a certain corporate transaction or event, our compensation committee may adjust the number and kind of shares or the exercise price with respect to any option. Upon exercise, the employee agrees to remain in the employment of Wells Capital or Wells Management for a period of one year after the date of grant. No stock option may be exercised if such exercise would jeopardize Wells REIT s status as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. No option may be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred by an employee in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

#### Independent Director Stock Option Plan

On June 16, 1999, the stockholders approved the Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. Independent Director Stock Option Plan (the Independent Director Plan), which provides for grants of stock to be made to independent non-employee directors of Wells REIT. A total of 100,000 shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance under the Independent Director Plan.

Under the Independent Director Plan, options to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock at the greater of (1) \$12 per share or (2) the Fair Market Value, as defined, are granted upon initially becoming an independent director of Wells REIT. Of these shares, 20% are exercisable immediately on the date of grant. An additional 20% of these shares become exercisable on each anniversary following the date of grant for a period of four years. Additionally, effective on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders of Wells REIT, each independent director will be granted an option to purchase 1,000 additional shares of common stock. These options are 100% exercisable at the completion of two years of service after the date of grant. All options granted under the Independent Director Plan expire no later than the date immediately following the tenth anniversary of the date of grant and may expire sooner in the event of the disability or death of the independent director or if the independent director ceases to serve as a director. No option may be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred by an independent director in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent or distribution.

A summary of Wells REIT's stock option activity under its Independent Director Plan for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 is as follows:

			Number of
	Number of Options	Exercise	Options
	Outstanding	Price	Exercisable
Outstanding as of December 31, 2002	41,000	\$ 12	21,500
Forfeited in 2003	(6,500)	12	
Granted in 2003	10,500	12	
Outstanding as of December 31, 2003	45,000	12	28,500
Granted in 2004	8,000	12	
Outstanding as of December 31, 2004	53,000	12	35,500
Granted in 2005	8,000	12	
Outstanding as of December 31, 2005	61,000	12	43,500

In accordance with SFAS 123, Wells REIT estimated the fair value of the stock options granted in 2005, 2004, and 2003 as of the dates of the respective grants using the Black-Scholes-Merton model with the following assumptions:

	2005	2004	2003
Risk-free rate	3.81%	3.88%	2.73%
Projected future dividend yield	7.00%	7.00%	7.00%
Expected life of the options	6 years	6 years	6 years
Volatility	0.168	0.212	0.210

As none of the options described above have been exercised, Wells REIT does not have relevant historical data on which to base an estimate of the expected life of the independent director options. The expected life of such options has been estimated to equal to one-half of the sum of the contractual term (10 years), plus the weighted-average vesting period (2 years). As Wells REIT s common stock is not publicly traded, Wells REIT does not have relevant historical data on which to base an estimate of volatility in the value of such options. The volatility of such options has been estimated to equal the average fluctuations in historical stock prices of publicly traded companies that are otherwise similar to Wells REIT. Based on the above assumptions, the fair value of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was insignificant. The weighted-average contractual remaining life for options that were exercisable as of December 31, 2005 was approximately five years.

#### Independent Director Warrant Plan

The Independent Director Warrant Plan (the Independent Director Warrant Plan ), which was approved by the stockholders on June 28, 2000, provides for the issuance of one warrant to purchase common stock for every 25 shares of common stock purchased by the independent director. A total of 500,000 warrants have been authorized and reserved for issuance under the Independent Director Warrant Plan. The exercise price of the warrants is \$12 per share. The warrants are exercisable until the dissolution, liquidation, or merger or consolidation of Wells REIT where Wells REIT is not the surviving corporation. No warrant may be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred by an independent director in any manner other than by the laws of descent or distribution. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 6,600 warrants have been earned and issued under the Independent Director Warrant Plan.

In accordance with SFAS 123, Wells REIT estimated the fair value of the director warrants granted in 2005, 2004, and 2003 as of the dates of the respective grants using the Black-Scholes-Merton model with the following assumptions:

	2005	2004	2003
Risk-free rate	3.81%	3.88%	2.73%
Projected future dividend yield	7.00%	7.00%	7.00%
Expected life of the options	5 years	5 years	5 years
Volatility	0.168	0.212	0.210

As none of the warrants described above have been exercised, Wells REIT does not have relevant historical data on which to base an estimate of the expected life of the independent director warrants. The expected life of such warrants has been estimated to equal to one-half of the sum of the contractual term (10 years), plus the weighted-average vesting period (0 years). As Wells REIT s common stock is not publicly traded, Wells REIT does not have relevant historical data on which to base an estimate of volatility in the value of such warrants. The volatility of such warrants has been estimated to equal the average fluctuations in historical stock prices of publicly traded companies that are otherwise similar to Wells REIT. Based on the above assumptions, the fair value of the warrants granted during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was insignificant.

#### Dealer Warrant Plan

Under the terms of each offering of Wells REIT s stock, warrants to purchase shares of Wells REIT s stock were delivered to WIS, as the dealer-manager in the offering of Wells REIT s stock. Currently such warrants are issued in book form only and warrant certificates are not issued. Each warrant provides the right to purchase one share of Wells REIT s common stock at a price of \$12 during the time period beginning one year from the effective date of the respective offering and ending on the date five years after the effective date. To date, no dealer warrants have been exercised, and all warrants related to the first, second, and third offerings have expired. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 5.9 million warrants related to the fourth offering are outstanding and will expire on July 26, 2007.

In accordance with EITF No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services, Wells REIT estimated the fair value of the dealer warrants granted in 2003 as of the dates of the grants using the Black-Scholes-Merton model with the following assumptions:

Risk-free rate	1.77%
Projected future dividend yield	7.00%
Expected life of the warrants	2.5 years
Volatility	0.210

Based on these assumptions, the fair value of the dealer warrants granted during the year ended December 31, 2003 was insignificant.

## Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Wells REIT s board of directors authorized a dividend reinvestment plan (the DRP), pursuant to which common stockholders may elect to reinvest an amount equal to the dividends declared on their common shares into additional shares of Wells REIT s common stock in lieu of receiving cash dividends. The shares may be purchased at a fixed price per share and participants in the DRP may purchase fractional shares so that 100% of the dividends will be used to acquire shares of Wells REIT s stock. With respect to such shares, Wells REIT currently pays selling commissions of 5%, acquisition and advisory fees and acquisition expenses of 3.5% of the DRP proceeds, except to the extent such proceeds are used to fund shares repurchased under Wells REIT s share redemption program (see below for additional information). The board of directors, by majority vote, may amend or terminate the DRP for any reason upon 10 days notice to the participants of the DRP.

As a result of the return of invested capital special distribution paid to stockholders on June 14, 2005, the board of directors elected to reduce the offering price under the DRP from \$9.55 per share to \$8.00 per share effective for dividends declared for the second quarter 2005 and reinvested in June 2005. On November 15, 2005, the board of directors subsequently approved additional amendments to the DRP, which have resulted in (1) changing the offering price under the DRP from \$8.00 per share to 95.5% of the then-current estimated share valuation, as determined by the board of directors, effective for dividends declared for the fourth quarter of 2005 and reinvested in December 2005, from time to time, or \$8.31 per share, and (2) eliminating selling commissions and acquisition and advisory fees on shares sold under the DRP effective for dividends declared for the third quarter of 2006 and reinvested in September 2006.

## Share Redemption Program

As Wells REIT s stock is currently not listed on a national exchange, there is no market for Wells REIT s stock. As a result, there is risk that a stockholder may not be able to sell Wells REIT s stock at a time or price acceptable to the stockholder. During 2000, Wells REIT s board of directors authorized a common stock redemption program for investors who held the shares for more than one year, subject to the limitations that (i) during any calendar year, Wells REIT may not redeem in excess of 3% of the weighted-average common shares outstanding during the prior calendar year, and (ii) in no event shall the aggregate amount of redemptions under the Wells REIT share redemption program exceed aggregate proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to the DRP. The one-year period may be waived by the board of directors in certain circumstances, including death or bankruptcy of the stockholder. Wells REIT redeems shares pursuant to the share redemption program at the amount contributed by the stockholder, including any commissions paid at issuance. The board of directors, by majority vote, may amend, suspend, or terminate Wells REIT s share redemption program at any time upon 30 days notice.

On February 23, 2005, the board of directors approved amendments to the share redemption program, which have resulted in: (i) reducing the price at which shares will be redeemed by the amount of any net sales proceeds from the sale of Wells REIT s properties previously distributed to stockholders (on a per share basis) effective beginning in March 2005; (ii) increasing the maximum number of shares that may be redeemed from 3.0% to 5.0% of the number of weighted-average shares outstanding during the prior calendar year effective for the year ended December 31, 2005; and (iii) decreasing the percentage of funds to be reserved in calendar year 2005 from 20% to 15% of the total pool of shares available for redemption for (a) redemptions upon the death of a stockholder, and (b) redemptions for certain stockholders to satisfy minimum distribution requirements as set forth under Sections 401(a)(9), 403(b)(10), 408(a)(6), 408(b)(3), and 408(A)(c)(5) of the Code (Death and RMD redemptions). On July 19, 2005, the board of directors reduced the percentage of the total pool of shares available for Death and RMD redemptions for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 15% to 12%.

## 8. OPERATING LEASES

Virtually all of Wells REIT s real estate assets are leased to tenants under operating leases for which the terms and expirations vary. The leases frequently have provisions to extend the lease term, options for early termination after paying a specified penalty, and other terms and conditions as negotiated. Wells REIT retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the real estate assets leased to tenants. Amounts required as security deposits vary depending upon the terms of the respective leases and the creditworthiness of the tenant, but generally are not significant amounts. Therefore, exposure to credit risk is limited to the extent that the receivables exceed this amount. Security deposits related to tenant leases are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Wells REIT s tenants are generally of investment-grade quality, and there are no significant concentrations of credit risk within any particular tenant or any industry. Wells REIT s properties are located in 23 states and the District of Columbia. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 25.7% and 15.4% of Wells REIT s total real estate assets are located in metropolitan Chicago and metropolitan Washington, D.C., respectively.

The future minimum rental income from Wells REIT s investment in real estate assets under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding properties under development, as of December 31, 2005 is presented below (in thousands):

Years ending December 31:	
2006	\$ 407,084
2007	398,716
2008	380,621
2009	362,334
2010	323,292
Thereafter	829,369
Total	\$ 2,701,416

## 9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On April 13, 2005, Wells REIT, along with certain unconsolidated joint ventures (see Note 4), sold 27 properties from its existing portfolio (the Portfolio Disposition ) for a gross sale price of \$786.0 million, excluding closing costs and brokerage fees, to an unaffiliated third party, of which approximately \$760.8 million is attributable to Wells REIT. These properties were originally purchased from various unaffiliated entities for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$609.7 million, of which approximately \$587.1 million is attributable to Wells REIT. As a result of the Portfolio Disposition, Wells REIT recognized a gain of approximately \$189.5 million, of which approximately \$11.8 million is included in equity in income of unconsolidated joint ventures, and received net sales proceeds of approximately \$756.8 million.

In accordance with SFAS 144, Wells REIT has classified the results of operations related to the 23 wholly owned properties included in the Portfolio Disposition, as well as the results of operations for the Eisenhower Boulevard Building which was sold in June 2004, as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for all periods presented.

On April 11, 2006, Wells REIT sold the IRS Daycare Building to an unaffiliated third party for a gross sales price of \$3.8 million, excluding closing costs and recognized a gain of approximately \$1.2 million, which is subject to change as additional information becomes available in subsequent periods. See Note 2 above for more detail.

On July 6, 2006, Wells REIT sold the Northrop Grumman Building (formerly known as TRW Denver Building ) to an unaffiliated third party for a gross sales price of \$45.1 million, excluding closing costs and recognized a gain of approximately \$13.4 million, which is subject to change as additional information becomes available in subsequent periods. See Note 2 above for more detail.

As described in Note 2, in accordance with FAS 144, the results of operations of the properties included in the sale of the IRS Daycare Building and the Northrop Grumman Building are classified as income from discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for all periods presented, and assets and liabilities related to these properties are classified as assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets for all periods presented.

		Years Ended December 3		
Revenues:	2005	2004	2003	
Rental income	\$ 21,626	\$ 63,922	\$ 52,900	
Tenant reimbursements	3 21,020	\$ 03,922 8,672	\$ 32,900 9,572	
Lease termination income	2,909	148	9,372	
		140	05	
	24 (15	70 740	() 555	
Expanses	24,615	72,742	62,555	
Expenses: Property operating costs	3,707	11,152	10,574	
Asset and property management fees	5,707	11,132	10,374	
Related-party	383	2,952	2,418	
Other	152	496	495	
Depreciation	3,633	14,095	19,632	
Amortization	1,927	6,858	676	
General and administrative expenses	234	804	939	
	201	001	,	
	10,036	36,357	34,734	
Real estate operating income	14,579	36,385	27,821	
Other income (expense):	17,577	50,505	27,021	
Interest expense	(1,281)	(4,523)	(4,160)	
Interest and other income	1,758	4,523	3,886	
Gain on sale	177,678	11,489	2,000	
	,	,,		
	178,155	11,489	(274)	
	170,155	11,709	(274)	
Income from discontinued operations	\$ 192,734	\$47.874	\$ 27.547	
Income from discontinued operations	۵ 192,734 ¢	φ4/,0/4	\$ 21,341	

## 10. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES

Significant noncash investing and financing transactions for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 (in thousands) are outlined below:

	2005	2004		2003
Acquisition and advisory fees applied to investments	\$ 3,306	\$ 3,370	\$	88,771
Accrued capital expenditures and deferred lease costs	\$ 3,010	\$ 11,429	\$	6,050
Assumption of investments in bonds and related obligations under capital leases in connection with				
property acquisitions	\$	\$	\$	10,000
Write-off of fully amortized deferred lease costs	\$ 4,048	\$ 422	\$	74
Disposition of investments in bonds and related obligations under capital leases in connection with sale of properties	\$ 64,500	\$	\$	
Assumption of notes payable in connection with property acquisitions	\$	\$ 83,815	\$ :	390,364
Assumption of other liabilities in connection with property acquisitions	\$	\$	\$	38,688
Net fair market value adjustments to increase notes payable in connection with property acquisitions	\$	\$ 8,739	\$	

Acquisition and advisory fees due to affiliate	\$	1,157	\$	1,408	\$ 19,185
Discounts reduced as result of redemptions of common stock	\$	3,389	\$		\$
Accrued redemptions of common stock	\$		\$	309	\$
Dividends payable	\$		\$		\$ 13,562
Commissions on common stock payable to affiliate	\$		\$	113	\$ 409
Discounts applied to issuance of common stock	\$	6,060	\$	4,603	\$ 5,847
Other offering expenses due to affiliate	\$		\$		\$ 13,325
Redeemable common stock	\$ 1	67,015	\$ 2	25,955	\$
Discounts reduced as result of shares repurchased upon settlement	\$		\$	625	\$

## 11. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Due from Affiliate

Due from affiliates is primarily comprised of the following items due from Wells Management as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

	Decemb	ver 31,
	2005	2004
Property insurance reimbursements	\$ 155	\$
Property management fee overpayments	60	
	\$ 215	\$

#### Due to Affiliates

The detail of amounts due to affiliates is provided below as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

	Decem 2005	ber 31, 2004
Asset advisory fees due to Wells Management	\$ 1,572	\$
Acquisition and advisory fees due to Wells Capital	1,157	1,408
Administrative reimbursements due to Wells Capital and Wells Management	1,156	1,810
Other reimbursable non-salary operating expenses due to Wells Capital	282	55
Commissions and dealer-manager fees due to WIS		113
	\$ 4,167	\$ 3,386

2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement

The 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement is an agreement between Wells REIT and Wells Management. Under the terms of the 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement, Wells REIT pays asset advisory fees to Wells Management for, among other things:

serving as Wells REIT s investment and financial advisor;

managing the day-to-day operations of Wells REIT;

formulating and implementing strategies to administer, promote, manage, operate, maintain, improve, finance and refinance, market, lease, and dispose of properties; and

providing certain accounting, SEC compliance, and other administrative services for Wells REIT.

The fee for these services is payable monthly in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 0.5% of the fair market value of all properties owned by Wells REIT plus its interest in properties held through joint ventures. This fee is reduced by (i) tenant reimbursed property management fees paid to Wells Management, and (ii) in the event that Wells Management retains an independent third-party property manager to manage one or more properties being managed by Wells Management as of January 1, 2005, the amount of property management fees paid to such third-party property management fees paid to such third-party property management. At the option of Wells Management, up to 10% of such monthly fee may be paid in shares of common stock of Wells REIT.

These fees are recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of income as asset and property management fees-related party. Wells REIT incurred \$22.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, of which approximately \$0.4 million is included in income from discontinued operations (see Note 9). Under the 2004 Asset/Master Property Management Agreement, Wells REIT incurred \$23.1 million and \$13.3 million in total asset and property management fees for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of which approximately \$2.8 million and \$2.2 million is included in income from discontinued operations.

```
F-41
```

Additionally, per the 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement, Wells Management earned the following disposition and incentive fees, which are similar in nature to previous agreements:

For any property sold by Wells REIT, a disposition fee of the lesser of 50% of a competitive real estate commission or 3.0% of the sales price of the property, subordinated to the payment of distributions to stockholders equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital;

Incentive fee of 10% of net sales proceeds remaining after stockholders have received distributions equal to the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital; or

Listing fee of 10% of the excess by which the market value of the stock plus distributions paid prior to listing exceeds the sum of the stockholders invested capital plus an 8% return on invested capital.

Wells REIT incurred no disposition, incentive, or listing fees during the year ended December 31, 2005. However, on February 21, 2005, the board of directors of Wells REIT approved a subordinated disposition fee of 0.33% of the gross sale price of the properties sold (see Note 9) to be paid to Wells Management as a result of the closing of this transaction. Since the conditions (mentioned above) have not been met at this time, this fee was not paid at the closing of the property sale but will be paid only in the event and at the time that the conditions are met.

The 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either side gives notice of its intent not to renew. In addition, either party may terminate the 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement upon 60 days written notice. On February 7, 2006, the board of directors agreed to extend the existing Asset Management Advisory Agreement with Wells Management on a temporary basis until April 30, 2006, with the stipulation that the asset management advisory fee payable to Wells Management be based, at least on a temporary basis, on the gross purchase price of Wells REIT s properties, as opposed to being based on the net asset valuation performed on Wells REIT s properties as of September 30, 2005. Once the final determination and agreement as to the fees payable under the Asset Management Advisory Agreement has been reached, any adjustment to fees payable would be made retroactive to January 1, 2006.

#### 2005 Acquisition Advisory Agreement

The 2005 Acquisition Advisory Agreement is an agreement between Wells REIT and Wells Capital. Under the terms of the Acquisition Advisory Agreement, Wells REIT pays a fee to Wells Capital for services relating to, among other things, capital-raising functions; the investigation, selection, and acquisition of properties; and certain transfer agent and stockholder communication functions. The fee payable to Wells Capital under the Acquisition Advisory Agreement is 3.5% of aggregate gross proceeds raised from the sale of shares of Wells REIT, exclusive of proceeds received from the Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan used to fund repurchases of shares of common stock pursuant to the Wells REIT s share redemption program. Acquisition and advisory fees and acquisition expenses are shown below for the years presented (in thousands):

	Years Ended December 31,		
	2005	2004	2003
Acquisition and advisory fees and reimbursement of acquisition expenses	\$ 3,306	\$ 6,759	\$ 87,300

On November 15, 2005, the board of directors approved amendments to the dividend reinvestment plan to (1) change the share price for shares offered and sold pursuant to the dividend reinvestment plan from \$8.00 per share to 95.5% of the then-current estimated share valuation determined by the board of directors from time to time effective for dividends declared and paid beginning in December 2005, and (2) eliminate selling commissions and acquisition and advisory fees paid on such sales beginning in September 2006.

#### 2005 Master Property Management Agreement

The 2005 Master Property Management Agreement is an agreement between Wells REIT and Wells Management. The 2005 Master Property Management Agreement retained Wells Management to manage, coordinate the leasing of, and manage construction activities related to certain properties of Wells REIT. Any amounts paid under the 2005 Master Property Management Agreement for properties being managed by Wells

Management on December 31, 2004 under the 2004 Asset/Master Property Management Agreement (the Existing Portfolio Properties ) has the economic effect of reducing amounts payable for asset advisory services with respect to such properties under the 2005 Asset Management Advisory

Agreement. Management and leasing fees payable to Wells Management for properties to be acquired in the future shall be specified in an amendment to the 2005 Master Property Management Agreement, which must be approved by Wells REIT s board of directors and will be payable in addition to fees payable pursuant to the 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement. Wells REIT anticipates that fees for the management and leasing of properties other than Existing Portfolio Properties will be generally consistent with the descriptions set forth below:

For properties for which Wells Management provides property management services, Wells REIT pays Wells Management a market-based property management fee generally based on gross monthly income of the property.

For properties for which Wells Management provides leasing agent services, Wells REIT pays (i) a one-time initial lease-up fee in an amount not to exceed one-month s rent for the initial rent-up of a newly constructed building; (ii) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of a new lease (not to exceed ten years); (iii) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable during the term of any renewal or extension of any tenant lease; and (iv) a market-based commission based on the net rent payable with respect to expansion space for the remaining portion of the initial lease term.

For properties for which Wells Management provides construction management services, Wells REIT pays (i) for planning and coordinating the construction of tenant-directed improvements, that portion of lease concessions for tenant-directed improvements as is specified in the lease or lease renewal, subject to a limit of 5% of such lease concessions; and (ii) for other construction management services, a construction management fee to be determined and agreed to in an appropriate contract amendment.
Wells REIT incurred property management fees of approximately \$24,000 under this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2005, related to the 11695 Johns Creek Parkway (formerly known as Novartis) and Agilent Atlanta properties. Previously, these properties were hybrid properties, co-managed by Wells Management and an unrelated third party. During 2005, the board of directors approved Wells Management s authority to take full responsibility for managing these properties, as well as receiving the fee which was paid previously to the third-party manager. There is no net increase in total management fees paid for these properties as a result of this change as compared to previous periods. Wells REIT incurred approximately \$543,000 in construction management and leasing services under this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The 2005 Master Property Management Agreement has a one-year term and automatically renews unless either party gives notice of its intent not to renew. In addition, either party may terminate the 2005 Master Property Management Agreement upon 60 days written notice.

Under the 2005 Asset Management Advisory Agreement, the 2005 Acquisition Advisory Agreement and the 2005 Master Property Management Agreement, Wells REIT is required to reimburse each service provider for various costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its duties under such agreements, including reasonable wages and salaries and other employee-related expenses such as taxes, insurance, and benefits of employees of the service provider who are directly engaged in providing services for or on behalf of Wells REIT. Under these agreements, reimbursements for employee-related expenses may not exceed \$8.2 million in the aggregate during any fiscal year. Wells REIT incurred approximately \$8.7 million, \$9.2 million, and \$4.5 million in such reimbursements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, of which approximately \$0.3 million, \$0.7 million, and \$0.8 million are included in income from discontinued operations for the same respective periods (See Note 9). Of the employee-related expense reimbursements mentioned above, approximately \$0.9 million, \$0.9 million, and \$0.7 million, respectively, were reimbursed by tenants under the terms of their respective lease agreements. Additionally, Wells REIT incurred approximately \$0.5 million, \$0.4 million, and \$0 in non-salary administrative reimbursement fees for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. These reimbursements are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

## Dealer-Manager Agreement

Wells REIT maintains a dealer-manager agreement with WIS, whereby WIS performs dealer-manager services for offerings of Wells REIT shares related to its dividend reinvestment plan. For these services, WIS earns selling commissions of 5% of gross offering proceeds raised pursuant to Wells REIT s dividend reinvestment plan, the majority of which are reallowed to participating broker dealers. The amount of commissions incurred related to WIS is shown below for the periods presented (in thousands):

	Years	Years Ended December 31,			
	2005	2004	2003		
Commissions	\$7,817	\$10,947	\$177,600		
Portion of commissions reallowed	In excess of	In excess of	In excess of		
	99%	99%	99%		

On November 15, 2005, the board of directors approved amendments to the dividend reinvestment plan to eliminate selling commissions paid on such sales beginning in September 2006.

#### Assignment of Related-Party Agreements

On December 21, 2005, Wells Capital and Wells Management assigned rights to receive certain fees and reimbursements to Wells Advisory Services I, LLC ( WASI ), an entity affiliated with and controlled by Wells Management and Wells Capital. Accordingly, Wells REIT will make all future payments of acquisition and advisory fees, asset advisory fees, and administrative reimbursements to WASI.

#### Economic Dependency

Wells REIT has engaged Wells Capital and its affiliates, Wells Management and WIS, to provide certain services that are essential to Wells REIT, including asset management services, supervision of the management and leasing of properties owned by Wells REIT, asset acquisition and disposition services, the sale of shares of Wells REIT common stock pursuant to its dividend reinvestment plan, as well as other administrative responsibilities for Wells REIT including accounting services, stockholder communications, and investor relations. These agreements are terminable by either party on 60 days written notice. As a result of these relationships, Wells REIT is dependent upon Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS.

Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS are all owned and controlled by Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (WREF). The operations of Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS represent substantially all of the business of WREF. Accordingly, Wells REIT focuses on the financial condition of WREF when assessing the financial condition of Wells Capital, Wells Management, and WIS. In the event that WREF was to become unable to meet its obligations as they become due, Wells REIT might be required to find alternative service providers.

Future net income generated by WREF will be largely dependent upon the amount of fees earned by Wells Capital and Wells Management based on, among other things, the level of investor proceeds raised from the sale of common stock of Wells Real Estate Investment Trust II, Inc., an entity affiliated with Wells REIT through common management, and the volume of future acquisitions and dispositions of real estate assets by Wells-sponsored programs. As of December 31, 2005, we believe that WREF has adequate cash flow from operations and has adequate liquidity available in the form of cash on hand and current receivables necessary to meet its current and future obligations as they become due.

## Litigation Against Related Parties

During early 2004, a putative class action complaint was filed against, among others, Leo. F. Wells, III, the president and a director of Wells REIT, Wells Capital, and Wells Management (Hendry et al. v. Leo F. Wells, III et al., Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia, Civil Action No. 04-A-2791-2). The Court granted the plaintiffs motion to permit voluntary dismissal of this suit, and the case was subsequently dismissed without prejudice. In November 2004, the same plaintiffs filed a second putative class action complaint against, among others, Mr. Wells, Wells Capital, and Wells Management (Hendry et al. v. Leo F. Wells, III et al., Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia Civil Action No. 04A-13051-6). The second action alleges, among other things, that: (i) Mr. Wells and Wells Capital breached their fiduciary duties to the limited partners of Wells Real Estate Fund I (Fund I), a previously syndicated real estate partnership sponsored by Wells Capital and Mr. Wells, in connection with certain disclosures and prior actions relating to the distribution of net sale proceeds, (ii) the defendants breached an alleged contract arising out of a June 2000 consent solicitation to the limited partners of Fund I relating to an alleged waiver of deferred management fees, and (iii) certain misrepresentations and omissions in an April 2002 consent solicitation to the limited partners of Fund I caused that consent solicitation to be materially misleading. The plaintiffs seek, among other remedies, judgment against Mr. Wells and Wells Capital, jointly and severally, in an amount to be proven at trial; punitive damages; disgorgement of fees earned by the general partners of Fund I; enforcement of the alleged contract relating to the alleged waiver of deferred management fees; and an award to the plaintiffs of their attorneys fees, costs, and expenses. On January 28, 2005, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment and motions to dismiss the plaintiffs claims. Pursuant to orders entered July 1, 2005, the Court granted the defendants motions to dismiss and for summary judgment on all counts in the complaint. Thus, this action has now been dismissed, subject to the plaintiffs right to file a notice of appeal within the required time period. On August 3, 2005, the plaintiffs filed a motion requesting the Court

to vacate and re-enter the orders to give the plaintiffs an opportunity to file a motion for reconsideration or notice of appeal. On February 15, 2006, the Court heard argument on the plaintiffs motion to vacate and to re-enter the judgments previously entered on July 1, 2005. Following the argument, the Court stated orally from the bench that he would grant the motion, so the judgments could be re-entered to allow the plaintiffs thirty days within which to file a notice of appeal.

## 12. INCOME TAX BASIS NET INCOME

Wells REIT s income tax basis net income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 is calculated as follows (in thousands):

	2005	2004	2003
GAAP basis financial statement net income	\$ 329,135	\$ 209,722	\$ 120,685
Increase (decrease) in net income resulting from:			
Depreciation and amortization expense for financial reporting purposes in excess of amounts for			
income tax purposes	40,738	40,386	43,817
Rental income accrued for income tax purposes less than amounts for financial reporting purposes	(18,773)	(22,038)	(3,946)
Net amortization of above/below-market lease intangibles for financial reporting purposes in excess of			
amounts for income tax purposes	1,462	1,131	6,410
Expenses for financial reporting purposes, in excess of (less than) amounts for income tax purposes	20,260	273	(13,466)
Gain on sale of property for financial reporting purposes in excess of amounts for income tax purposes	(11,078)	(4,140)	
Taxable income of Wells Washington Properties, Inc. in excess of amount for financial reporting			
purposes	3,546	5,336	11
Income tax basis net income, prior to dividends paid deduction	\$ 365,290	\$ 230,670	\$ 153,511

For income tax purposes, dividends to common stockholders are characterized as ordinary income, capital gains, or as a return of a stockholder s invested capital. Wells REIT s distributions per common share are summarized as follows:

	2005	2004	2003
Ordinary income	19%	70%	70%
Capital gains	17%	3%	
Return of capital	64%	27%	30%
	100%	100%	100%

At December 31, 2005, the tax basis carrying value of Wells REIT s total assets was approximately \$4.23 billion.

## 13. QUARTERLY RESULTS (unaudited)

Presented below is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, in thousands, except per share data:

		2005							
	First	Third	Fourth						
Revenues	\$ 142,327	\$ 144,477	\$ 140,554	\$ 141,025					
Discontinued operations	\$ 10,925	\$ 179,848	\$ 848	\$ 1,113					
Net income	\$ 50,723	\$216,152	\$ 33,550	\$ 28,710					

Basic and diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.47	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.06
Dividends per share	\$ 0.17	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.14

	2004							
	First Second Th			Third	ird Fourth			
Revenues	\$13	4,018	<b>\$</b> 1	143,743	\$ 3	135,388	\$	138,647
Discontinued operations	\$	9,450	\$	20,668	\$	9,007	\$	8,749
Net income	\$5	2,624	\$	65,045	\$	44,066	\$	47,987
Basic and diluted earnings per share	\$	0.11	\$	0.14	\$	0.09	\$	0.11
Dividends per share	\$	0.18	\$	0.18	\$	0.18	\$	0.13

## 14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

#### Acquisition of the 400 Bridgewater Building

On February 17, 2006, Wells REIT purchased an eight-story office building containing approximately 297,000 aggregate rentable square feet located on an approximate 10.2-acre tract of land at 400 Crossing Boulevard in Bridgewater, New Jersey (the 400 Bridgewater Building ). The purchase price of the 400 Bridgewater Building was approximately \$93.0 million, plus closing costs. The 400 Bridgewater Building, which was completed in 2002, is leased to Aventis Inc. (approximately 53%), King Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (approximately 26%) and Infosys Technologies, Ltd (approximately 6%). Approximately 15% of the 400 Bridgewater Building is currently vacant.

## Dividend Declaration

On March 3, 2006, the board of directors of Wells REIT declared dividends for the first quarter of 2006 in the amount of \$0.1467 (14.67 cents) per share on our outstanding common stock to all stockholders of record of such shares as shown on the books at the close of business on March 15, 2006.

## New Financing Obtained

On March 8, 2006, Wells REIT obtained a \$25.0 million long-term, fixed-rate loan from Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (the \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan ). The \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan is an addition to an existing \$200.0 million long-term, fixed-rate loan previously extended by the same lender on April 20, 2004; as such, the aggregate amount now owed to this lender is \$225.0 million. The \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan matures on May 1, 2014, and requires payments of interest only each month at a rate of 5.70% per annum, with all principal and any unpaid interest due on the maturity date. During the 90-day period prior to the maturity date, Wells REIT can prepay the \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan without incurring a prepayment penalty fee. Commencing on October 1, 2007, Wells REIT can prepay the \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan with a prepayment penalty fee equal to the greater of an amount calculated to maintain the lender s yield over the term of the loan or 1% of the outstanding principal balance. The Aon Center Chicago Building, an 83-story office building containing approximately 2.4 million aggregate rentable square feet, located at 200 East Randolph Drive in Chicago, Illinois, secures the aggregate \$225.0 million of indebtedness to the lender.

On March 8, 2006, Wells REIT obtained a \$125.0 million long-term, fixed-rate loan from Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (the \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan ). At closing, Wells REIT obtained the full principal amount of this loan. The \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan matures on April 1, 2016, and requires payments of interest only each month at a rate of 5.50% per annum, with all principal and any unpaid interest due on the maturity date. During the 90-day period prior to the maturity date, Wells REIT can prepay the \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan without incurring a prepayment penalty fee. Commencing on April 1, 2009, Wells REIT can prepay the \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan with a prepayment penalty fee equal to the greater of an amount calculated to maintain the lender s yield over the term of the loan or 1% of the outstanding principal balance. The Stone & Webster Building, the 1055 East Colorado Building, and the Windy Point I&II Buildings secure the \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan. The Stone & Webster Building is a 6-story office building containing approximately 313,000 rentable square feet located at 1430 Enclave Parkway in Houston, Texas. The 1055 East Colorado Building is a 5-story office building containing approximately 174,000 rentable square feet located at 1055 East Colorado Boulevard in Pasadena, California. The Windy Point I & II Buildings are 7 and 11-story office buildings, respectively, containing approximately 187,000 and 300,000 rentable square feet, respectively, located at 1500 and 1600 McConnor Parkway in Schaumburg, Illinois.

Wells REIT used the funds obtained from the \$25.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan and the \$125.0 Million Fixed-Rate Loan primarily to pay down draws under its existing lines of credit. The funds previously drawn from the existing lines of credit had been used to pay for redemptions of Wells REIT s hares pursuant to the share redemption program, as well as for the purchase of the 400 Bridgewater Building (mentioned above).

## WELLS REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.

## SCHEDULE II

## VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

## FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(Thousands of dollars)

		Additions Deductions			uctions			
	Bal	Balance at Charged to		Charged to			В	alance
	Begi	nning of	Costs and	Other	Write-Offs and		A	t End
	Period		Expenses	Accounts	Reclassification		Of Perio	
December 31, 2005								
Allowances deducted from assets to which they apply								
Allowances for doubtful accounts	\$	1,093	\$ 82	\$	\$	486	\$	689
December 31, 2004								
Allowances deducted from assets to which they apply								
Allowances for doubtful accounts	\$	444	\$ 649	\$	\$		\$	1,093
December 31, 2003								